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São Paulo, February 17, 2012. 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

 

I am pleased to invite you to the combined Annual and Extraordinary Shareholdersõ Meetings 

of BM&FBOVESPA S.A. ð Bolsa de Valores, Mercadorias e Futuros, which are set to 

convene on March 27, 2012, at 10 a.m., at the registered office of the Company located at 

Praça Antonio Prado 48,  downtown in São Paulo, State of São Paulo, as per the  call notice 

for the meeting to be published in the òValor Econômicoó newspaper and the Official Gazette 

of the State of São Paulo on February 23, 2012.  

 

The matters to be addressed in the Shareholdersõ Meetings are described in the Call Notice 

and in this Practical Guide. 

 

The effective participation of the shareholders in these Meetings is extremely important. It is a 

unique venue to vote and discuss the matters addressed, considering the information disclosed 

for a conscious decision-making.  

 

Therefore, as part of our commitment to follow best corporate governance and transparency 

practices, once more we will be making available to you the òOnline General Meetingsó 

platform provided by Assembleias Online® for electronic voting or voting by electronic proxy 

form, which you may access at www.onlinegeneralmeetings.com or 

www.assembleiasonline.com.br for instructions in English or in Portuguese, as you prefer.  

 

Furthermore, I would recommend that you read the Practical Guide to the Meetings carefully, 

as well as other documents and information you may access at our investor relations gateway 

at www.bmfbovespa.com.br/ri/ , or the Companyõs website at www.bmfbovespa.com.br or 

that of the Brazilian Securities Commission (Comissão de Valores Mobiliários), or CVM, at 

www.cvm.gov.br.  

 

Yours sincerely,  

 

 

Arminio Fraga Neto 

Chairman of the Board of Directors 

 

 

http://www.onlinegeneralmeetings.com/
http://www.assembleiasonline.com.br/
http://www.bmfbovespa.com.br/ri/
http://www.bmfbovespa.com.br/
http://www.cvm.gov.br/


2 

 

 

TABLE  OF CONTENTS  

 

A. A practical guide ................................................................................................... 3 

B. Annual Shareholdersõ Meeting ............................................................................. 3 

C. Extraordinary Shareholdersõ Meeting ééééééééééééééééé.4 

D.  How to Participate; Appointing a Delegate ......................................................... 5 

D.1. Proxy (power of attorney) ............................................................................................... 6 

D.1.1. Electronic proxy form. .................................................................................... 6 

D.1.1.1. Online General Meetings platform ð First-time registrants. ................... 7 

D.1.1.2. Online General Meetings platform ð Previously registered shareholders  . 8 

D.1.2 Paper proxy form. ............................................................................................. 8 

D.1.2.1. Prior registration. ........................................................................... 12 

D.2. Public proxy solicitation ................................................................................................ 13 

E. Order of Business of the Combined Annual and Extraordinary Shareholdersõ 

Meetings  .................................................................................................................. 14 

E.1. Proposals Requiring Your Vote at the Annual Meetingéé........................................ 14 

E.2. Proposals Requiring Your Vote at the Extraordinary Meetingéé ............................ 18 

F.  Documents Pertaining to Proposals Requiring Your Vote in the Combined Annual 

and Extraordinary Shareholderõs Meetings  ............................................................ 20 

Attachments .................................................................................................................................. 20 

Attachment I ð Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operations of BM&FBOVESPA  ............................................................................................. 22 

Attachment II ð Net Income Allocation Proposal (CVM Instruction 481/09) ................. 53 

Attachment III ð Executive Compensation Discussion and Analysis (Reference Form, 

Section 13)  .................................................................................................................................... 59 

Attachment IV ð Comparative Table of Current Bylawsõ Provisions and Proposed 

Amendments  ................................................................................................................................ 87 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

PRACTICAL GUIDE TO THE COMBINED ANNUAL AND EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS 

MEETINGS TO BE HELD ON 03/27/2012 
 

3 

 

PRACTICAL GUIDE TO THE  

COMBINED ANNUAL AND EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERSõ 

MEETINGS OF BM&FBOVESPA TO BE HELD ON MARCH 27, 2012  

 

 

A. A PRACTICAL GUIDE  

 

This guide contains practical and substantive information aimed to facilitate attendance to, 

and participation in the combined Annual and Extraordinary Shareholdersõ Meetings of 

BM&FBOVESPA called to convene on March 27, 2012, as well as information on the matters 

and proposals to be voted.  

 

This initiative brings together communication practices adopted by the Company in the 

interest of enhanced transparency to shareholders and for compliance with the formal 

requirements of Law No. 6,404 dated December 15, 1976, as amended (òBrazilian Corporate 

Lawó), and Instruction 481 dated December 17, 2009 (òCVM Instruction 481ó), issued by the 

Brazilian Securities Commission (Comissão de Valores Mobiliários), or òCVMó. 

 

 

B. ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERSõ MEETING  

 

In compliance with the Brazilian Corporate Law, BM&FBOVESPA has called an Annual 

Shareholdersõ Meeting, which is scheduled to be held on:  

 

Date: March 27, 2012 

Place: Praça Antonio Prado 48, downtown in 

São Paulo, state of São Paulo 

Time: 10h00min 

 

The agenda for the annual meeting includes receiving, considering and deciding on the 

following matters and proposals:  

 

(1) To receive the management report, and to receive, review and judge the Financial 

Statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011;  

 

(2) Proposal on allocation of net income for the year ended December 31, 2011; and 
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(3) Proposal on aggregate compensation payable in 2012 to members of the board of 

directors and board of executive officers.  

 

Substantive information on each of these matters and proposals is provided in item E.1. 

 

 

C. EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERSõ MEETING  

 

The Extraordinary Shareholdersõ Meeting was convened along with the Annual Shareholdersõ 

Meeting, for the same date, place and time, as permitted under Brazilian Corporate Law, in 

order to simplify the participation of the shareholders:  

 

Date: March 27, 2012 

Place: Praça Antonio Prado 48, downtown in 

São Paulo, state of São Paulo 

Time: 10h00min 

 

The agenda for the Extraordinary Meeting calls shareholders to consider and vote on the 

following: 

 

(1) Amendments to provisions of the bylaws of BM&FBOVESPA, as per Management 

Proposal:  

 

(a) Article 5 ð amendment to state the modified number of shares currently issued and 

outstanding;  

 

(b) Article 46 ð the following amendments are proposed for consistency with recently 

promulgated CVM regulatory rules governing the Audit Committee (a standing committee):  

(i) to modify the main provision of article 46 and paragraphs 1, 2 (indents ôeõ and ôhõ) and 3 

(indent ôcõ); (ii) to add indents õf õand ôgõ to paragraph 2 and a new paragraph 5 (references as 

renumbered),  (iii) to eliminate paragraph 3 (reference per existing wording), and  (iv) to 

renumber the enumeration of indent ôhõ of paragraph 2 and paragraphs 3 and 4 (references as 

renumbered); 

 

(c) Article 47 - the following amendments are also proposed for consistency with recently 

promulgated CVM regulatory rules governing the Audit Committee (a standing committee):  
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(i) to modify the main provision of article 47 and indents ôa,õ ôc,õ ôf,õ ôg,õ and ôjõ of the main 

provision, and paragraph 1;  (ii) to add indents ôb,õ ôd,õ ôe,õ ôk,õ ôl,õ and ômõ of the main provision, 

renumbering the other indents, as well as adding paragraphs 2 and 3 (references as 

renumbered), renumbering the former sole paragraph now in paragraph 1;  (iii) to eliminate 

indent ôdõ (reference per existing wording); 

 

(d) Article 48, sole paragraph ð amendment likewise proposed for consistency with 

recently promulgated CVM regulatory rules governing the Audit Committee;  

 

(e) Article 64, main provision ð amendment proposed for consistency with article 4th of 

Brazilian Corporate Law (Law No. 6,404/76, as amended) and article 16 of CVM Instruction 

361/02; 

 

(f) Article 67 - amendment to clarify who is ultimately responsible for the settlement of 

the tender offer of the Companyõs shares; and  

 

(g) Article 79 ð amendment to state clearly that where the bylaws are silent on an issue, 

the Shareholdersõ Meeting speaks whereas giving due regard to the provisions of the Novo 

Mercado Listing Rules.  

 

Additional information regarding the Extraordinary Shareholdersõ Meeting are in item E.2 of 

this Practical Guide. 

 

 

D. H OW TO PARTICIPATE   

 

Your participation is extremely important to us. 

 

A quorum to convene the annual shareholdersõ meeting requires attendance by holders of 

record representing at least 25% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock, such 

that, absent a quorum, the Company will announce another date for the annual meeting to 

convene on second call with any number of attending shareholders.  

 

Likewise, under paragraph 6 of article 12 of the Bylaws, a quorum to convene the 

extraordinary shareholdersõ meeting called to amend the bylaws of the Company requires 

attendance by holders of record representing at least 2/3 of the issued and outstanding shares 
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of capital stock, such that, absent a quorum, the Company will announce another date for the 

extraordinary meeting to convene on second call with any number of attending shareholders.  

 

Shareholders may attend and participate in person, or as represented by a duly appointed 

delegate1.  

 

Attendees will be required to present the following documents at the meeting, as applicable: 

 

Natural Persons  Identification document (either the original or a 

certified copy) of the shareholder or, as the case may 

be, identification document of the appointed 

delegate and the proxy form (power of attorney). 

Legal Persons  Corporate documents evidencing capacity to act 

as legal representative of the shareholder or proxy 

form appointing a delegate to act on behalf of the 

shareholder (either the original or a certified 

copy)  

 Identification document of the legal 

representative or appointed delegate, as 

applicable (either the original or a certified copy). 

 

D.1. PROXY (POWER OF ATTORNEY )  

 

D.1.1  Electronic Proxy Form  

 

In order to facilitate attendance and encourage shareholder participation, BM&FBOVESPA 

will again be making available to you the òOnline General Meetingsó platform provided by 

Assembleias Online® for electronic voting or voting by electronic proxy form.  Shareholders 

that wish to vote by electronic proxy may do so using a valid digital certificate, whether 

issued by a private certificate provider or by ICP Brasil, the certification authority for the 

Brazilian public key infrastructure, established pursuant to Provisional Measure No. 2200-2 

dated August 24, 2001.  

 

In any event, whether to vote or to lodge the electronic proxy form, you will be required to 

register at the Assembleias Online® to apply for a cost free certificate (or register your existing 

                                                 
1
 Attorney-in-fact, as a delegate or proxy would qualify under Brazilian law. 
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ICP Brasil-issued certificate) and take other steps prior to the date of the meeting.  

 

Digital certification for this purpose is free of cost. Assembleias Online® is prepared to start 

your registration process, and you may do so now by accessing their website at 

www.onlinegeneralmeetings.com or www.assembleiasonline.com.br, as you prefer.  In the 

former gateway instructions are provided in English; in the latter, instructions are in 

Portuguese.  

 

D.1.1.1  Online General Meetings platform ð First-time registrants  

 

Step 1 ð Registration: 

  

a) Access the site at www.onlinegeneralmeetings.com for instructions in English, and click 

on òregister and receive your digital certificate for free.ó Select òI already have a certificateó or, as the 

case may be, òI do not have a certificate.ó You will be asked to select your investor profile as a 

Brazilian resident or non-resident individual (retail) investor, or as a local or foreign 

institutional investor.  

 

b) You should fill out the registration form, enter the form, and confirm your data. You will 

then be given access to the terms of adherence form, if you are an ôindividual investor,õ or a 

corporate representation form, if you are a legal person. You must print the form, initial all 

pages, sign it and have your signature certified by a notary. 

 

If you currently hold a certificate issued by ICP-Brasil, you may register and then have the 

terms of adherence digitally signed.  This will qualify you to vote remotely at this website. 

Then you may proceed as set forth in Step 3.  

 

Step 2 ð Registration validation process; Issuance of digital certificate: 

 

a) In response to your registration, Assembleias Online® will send you an email listing the 

documentation required for the registration validation, including the terms of adherence 

form. These documents must be sent by mail to Assembleias Online®, at the address stated in 

the email.  

 

b) Promptly upon verifying the documents and validating your registration, Assembleias Online® 

will send you confirmation by email, indicating the procedure regarding issuance of the digital 

certificate to you.  

http://www.onlinegeneralmeetings.com/
http://www.assembleiasonline.com.br/
http://www.onlinegeneralmeetings.com/
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c) Following the certificate issuance you will be qualified to participate in the electronic voting 

process of the shareholdersõ meetings of BM&FBOVESPA.  

 

Step 3 ð Electronic proxy form: 

 

a) After completing the above steps, in order to vote by proxy you will log in at 

www.onlinegeneralmeetings.com (in English) or www.assembleiasonline.com.br (in 

Portuguese), as you prefer, select the link to òshareholdersõ meeting of BM&FBOVESPA,ó 

vote and lodge the proxy form by adding your digital signature; 

 

b) Assembleias Online® will provide you with email confirmation that your vote has been 

registered.  

 

The window to appoint your delegate and lodge the proxy form through the Assembleias 

Online® website will open on March 12 and close at 6 p.m. (Brasilia time) March 26, 2012. 

 
 

D.1.1.2  Online General Meetings platform ð Previously registered shareholders  

 

If you have previously accomplished steps 1 and 2 of item D.1.1.1 above, you should be sure 

to check that your digital certificate is still valid; if the digital certificate is not valid, please 

make sure to renew it.  

 

If you hold a Certisign-issued digital certificate, you should  click on the tag to the right of 

your screen after select òregister and receive your digital certificate for freeó in the Assembleias Online® 

home page Online. Please be advised that in this case instructions are in Portuguese only.  

 

After completing the certificate renewal, you should proceed as indicated under Step 3 of the 

preceding item D.1.1.1 (òfirst-time registrantsó) in order to lodge the proxy form. 

 

 

D.1.2 Paper proxy form  

  

If you would rather appoint a delegate by means of a paper proxy form (or power of attorney, 

as a proxy qualifies under local legislation) you may do so by appointing any of the persons 

listed under article 126, paragraph 1 of Brazilian Corporate Law, i.e., by appointing another 

http://www.onlinegeneralmeetings.com/
http://www.assembleiasonline.com.br/
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shareholder, or a lawyer, financial institution, or director or officer of the Company as your 

delegate, as long as such persons has been appointed no longer than 1 year before the 

shareholdersõ meeting.  

 

In any event, if you cannot attend the meeting or find it difficult to select a delegate to vote 

for you at the shareholdersõ meeting, the Company offers you the alternative of appointing 

three of our executive officers, who would vote your shares pursuant to your voting 

instructions and the proxy form provided below.  The executive officers that would act as 

your delegates are:  

 

1) to vote òIN FAVORó of the proposals and matters included in the order of business: 

 

Edemir Pinto, Brazilian, married, economist, member of the Companyõs Management, 

domiciled in the Capital City of the State of São Paulo, at Praça Antonio Prado, 48, bearer of 

Identity Card RG No. 6.572.298 and enrolled with the Individual Taxpayersõ Registry under 

CPF/MF No.614.304.988-20; 

 

2) to vote òAGAINSTó of the proposals and matters included in the order of business: 

 

Eduardo Refinetti Guardia, Brazilian, married, economist, member of the Companyõs 

Management, domiciled in the Capital City of the State of São Paulo, at Praça Antonio Prado, 

48, bearer of Identity Card RG No. 11.329.884-5, and enrolled with the Individual Taxpayersõ 

Registry under CPF/MF No. 088.666.638-40; 

 

3)  to òABSTAIN FROM VOTINGó regarding the proposals and matters included in the 

order of business: 

 

Cícero Augusto Vieira Neto, Brazilian, married, economist, member of the Companyõs 

Management, domiciled in the Capital City of the State of São Paulo, at Praça Antonio Prado, 

48, bearer of Identity Card RG No. 14.189.028-9, and enrolled with the Individual Taxpayersõ 

Registry under CPF/MF No. 128.501.208-98. 

 

The proxy form is provided below. 

 

The final proxy form will not require notarization or consularization.  
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MODEL PROXY FORM (POWER OF ATTORNEY)  
 

 
PROXY FORM (POWER OF ATTORNEY)  

 

NAME OF SHAREHOLDER], [IDENTIFICATION INFORMATION] (hereinafter the 
òPrincipaló), acting in its/his/her capacity of holder of record of shares issued by 
BM&FBOVESPA S.A. - Bolsa de Valores, Mercadorias e Futuros, (the òCompanyó), 
hereby names and appoints: 
 
Edemir Pinto, Brazilian, married, economist, member of the Companyõs Management, 
domiciled in the Capital City of the State of São Paulo, at Praça Antonio Prado, 48, bearer 
of Identity Card RG No. 6.572.298, enrolled with the Individual Taxpayersõ Registry under 
CPF/MF No.614.304.988-20, to vote òIN FAVORó of the proposals and matters included 
in the order of business, strictly in accordance with the express voting instructions of the 
Principal, as provided and set forth below.   
 
Eduardo Refinetti Guardia, Brazilian, married, economist, member of the Companyõs 
Management, domiciled in the Capital City of the State of São Paulo, at Praça Antonio 
Prado, 48, bearer of Identity Card RG No. 11.329.884-5, enrolled with the Individual 
Taxpayersõ Registry under CPF/MF No. 088.666.638-40, to vote òAGAINSTó the 
proposals and matters included in the order of business, strictly in accordance with the 
express voting instructions of the Principal, as provided and set forth below. 
 
Cícero Augusto Vieira Neto, Brazilian, married, economist, member of the Companyõs 
Management , domiciled in the Capital City of the State of São Paulo, at Praça Antonio 
Prado, 48, bearer of Identity Card RG No. 14.189.028-9, enrolled with the Individual 
Taxpayersõ Registry under CPF/MF No. 128.501.208-98, to òABSTAIN FROM VOTINGó 
regarding the proposals and matters included in the order of business, strictly in accordance 
with the express voting instructions of the Principal, as provided and set forth below. 
 
Each of the above to act as proxy and attorney-in-fact for, and represent the Principal in 
its/his/her capacity of shareholder of the Company, for which purpose the Principal hereby 
grants them powers to attend and represent it/him/her in the Combined Annual and 
Extraordinary Shareholdersõ Meetings of the Company called to convene on March 27, 
2012, at 10 a.m., in the registered office premises located at Praça Antonio Prado 48,  
Downtown, City of São Paulo, State of São Paulo, and therein to attend, review and speak 
in the name and on behalf of the Principal and, in particular, to vote regarding the proposals 
and matters included in the meeting agenda, doing so strictly in accordance with the express 
voting instructions of the Principal, as provided and set forth below. 

Order of Business 

(I) At the Annual Shareholdersõ Meeting: 

 
(1)  To receive the management report, and to receive and vote on the financial 
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011; 

In favor ( ) Against ( ) Abstain ( ) 
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(2)  To vote on the proposal on allocation of net income for the year ended December 
31, 2011; and 

In favor ( ) Against ( ) Abstain ( ) 

 
(3)  To set the aggregate compensation payable in 2012 to members of the board of 
directors and the board of executive officers, pursuant to a Management proposal. 

In favor ( ) Against ( ) Abstain ( ) 

(II) At the Extraordinary Shareholdersõ Meeting: 

(1)  To vote on Managementõs proposal to amend the following provisions of the Bylaws 

of BM&FBOVESPA: 

(a) Article 5 ð amendment to state the modified number of shares currently issued and 
outstanding; 

In favor ( ) Against ( ) Abstain ( ) 

 
(b) Article 46 ð the following amendments are proposed for consistency with recently 
promulgated CVM regulatory rules governing the Audit Committee (a standing committee):  
(i) to modify the main provision of article 46 and paragraphs 1, 2 (indents ôeõ and ôhõ) and 3 
(indent ôcõ); (ii) to add indents õf õand ôgõ to  
paragraph 2 and a new paragraph 5 (references as renumbered),  (iii) to eliminate paragraph 
3 (reference per existing wording), and  (iv) to renumber indent ôhõ of paragraph 2 and 
paragraphs 3 and 4 (references as renumbered); 

In favor ( ) Against ( ) Abstain ( ) 

 
(c) Article 47 - the following amendments are also proposed for consistency with recently 
promulgated CVM regulatory rules governing the Audit Committee (a standing committee):  
(i) to modify the main provision of article 47 and indents ôa,õ ôc,õ ôf,õ ôg,õ and ôjõ of the main 
provision, and paragraph 1;  (ii) to add indents ôb,õ ôd,õ ôe,õ ôk,õ ôl,õ and ômõ of the main 
provision, renumbering the other indents, as well as adding paragraphs 2 and 3 (references 
as renumbered), renumbering the former sole paragraph now in paragraph 1; and (iii) to 
eliminate indent ôdõ (reference per existing wording); 

In favor ( ) Against ( ) Abstain ( ) 

 
(d) Article 48, sole paragraph ð amendment likewise proposed for consistency with recently 
promulgated regulatory CVM rules governing the Audit Committee; 

In favor ( ) Against ( ) Abstain ( ) 

 
(e) Article 64, main provision ð amendment proposed for consistency with article 4 of 
Brazilian Corporate Law (Law No. 6,404/76, as amended) and article 16 of CVM 
Instruction No. 361/02; 

In favor ( ) Against ( ) Abstain ( ) 

 
(f) Article 67 - amendment to clarify who is ultimately responsible for the settlement of the 
tender offer of the Companyõs shares; and 

In favor ( ) Against ( ) Abstain ( ) 
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(g) Article 79 ð amendment to state clearly that where the bylaws are silent on an issue, 
the Shareholdersõ Meeting speaks whereas giving due regard to the provisions of the Novo 
Mercado Listing Rules. 

In favor ( ) Against ( ) Abstain ( ) 

 
For purposes of this power of attorney, the powers granted herein are meant only for the 
proxies (attorneys-in-fact) appointed herein to attend the Combined Annual and 
Extraordinary Shareholdersõ Meetings, whether on first or second call, and vote the Shares 
pursuant to the voting instructions set forth hereinabove.  This instrument neither includes 
nor assumes any right or obligation for any proxy to take any action other than as strictly 
required for the faithful performance hereof.  The proxies appointed herein are hereby 
authorized to abstain from voting the Shares on any matter concerning which, in his 
discretion, proper and sufficiently detailed voting instructions have not been provided. 
 
This power of attorney has a term of effectiveness of two (2) months commencing from the 
date hereof. 

 

[City], [Month] [day], [2012] 

 

______________________________________________ 

By Principal: [Principalõs Name] 

Name: [legal representative, if Principal is a legal person] 

Title: [title of legal representative] 

 

D.1.2.1. PRIOR REGISTRATION   

 

In case you elect to issue a paper proxy form, the original or certified copies of the documents 

listed under òDó and òD.1.2ó (Paper Proxy Form) above may be delivered to the registered 

office of BM&FBOVESPA up until before the meetings on March 27.  

 

However, in the interest of a smooth admittance process on the date of the meeting, a special 

request is kindly made for these documents to be delivered to the Company as soon as 

practical starting from March 12, 2012.  

 

Furthermore, you should bear in mind that a hardcopy (original or certified copy) of any 

documents transmitted by fax or email will still be required to be delivered to the registered 

office of BM&FBOVESPA before the meetings. 

 

Documents addressed to the Company are to be delivered to: 
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BM&FBOVESPA S.A. ð Bolsa de Valores, Mercadorias e Futuros 

Praça Antonio Prado, 48, 4º andar, Centro,  

CEP: 01010-901, São Paulo, SP ð Brazil 

Care of:  Investor Relations Department  

Telephone numbers:  +55 11 2565-5133;   +55 11 2565-5151;   + 55 11 2565-5152 

Fax number:  +55 11 3101-0028 

Email: ri@bmfbovespa.com.br 

 

 

D.2. PUBLIC PROXY SOLICITATION  

 

Pursuant to Brazilian Corporate Law and CVM Instruction 481, shareholders whose interest 

in BM&FBOVESPA shares exceeds half a percent (0.5%) of the shares of stock may enter 

proxy solicitations in the Assembleias Online® system.  

 

Proxy solicitations should include a draft proxy form and the information and documents 

required under CVM Instruction 481, in particular under Annex 23 of the Instruction, and are 

to be delivered to: Praça Antonio Prado, 48, 7º andar, Centro, CEP: 01010-901, São Paulo, SP 

ð Brazil - Care of:  Mr. Eduardo Refinetti Guardia, Chief Financial, Corporate Affairs and 

Investor Relations Officer. 

 

The Company and its directors and officers bear no responsibility for any information 

included in any proxy solicitations from shareholders.  

 

The Company will take steps to have public proxy solicitations from shareholders entered in 

the Assembleias Online® system within two (2) business days after receipt thereof, and be given 

the same visibility as any other document the Company is making available in that platform. 

 
  

mailto:ri@bmfbovespa.com.br
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E. ORDER OF BUSINESS FOR THE COMBINED ANNUAL AND EXTRAORDINARY 

SHAREHOLDERSõ MEETINGS  

 

E.1 ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERSõ MEETING  

 

Under Brazilian Corporate Law a corporation is required to hold the annual shareholdersõ 

meeting within four months after the end of the year, at which shareholders typically review 

and judge the financial statements; decide on the allocation of net income for the year; 

establish the aggregate annual compensation payable to directors and officers, elect the 

directors from time to time and, as the case may be, elect the fiscal council members.  

 

Set forth below you will find information on each of the matters listed in the order of business 

for the annual shareholdersõ meeting:   

 

First item:  To receive the management report, and to receive, review and judge the 

financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011. 

 

At a meeting held on February 14, 2012, the board of directors approved the management 

report, the financial statements and related notes prepared under Managementõs responsibility 

as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011, which in conjunction with the independent 

auditorsõ report and the audit committee report have been published in the issues dated 

February 15, 2012 of the òValor Econômicoó newspaper and the Official Gazette of the State of 

São Paulo.  

 

Financial Statements  

The annual financial statements express the financial condition and results of operations of 

BM&FBOVESPA, and the changes in shareholdersõ equity from the prior year, permitting 

shareholders to assess the financial condition, results of operations, net equity and profitability 

of the Company.  

 

Our financial statements include the balance sheet statement, the statement of income, the 

statement of changes in shareholdersõ equity, the statement of cash flows, and the statement 

of value added. These financial statements are supplemented by related notes added to the 

financial statements as an additional source of information for shareholders and for 

clarification on line-items that are part of the financial statements.  

 

Management report 



 

PRACTICAL GUIDE TO THE COMBINED ANNUAL AND EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS 

MEETINGS TO BE HELD ON 03/27/2012 
 

15 

The management report is a section of the Companyõs Financial Statements which discusses 

and analyzes the financial and operating performance, and the results of operations of the 

Company, including the main line items of the statement of income, in addition to providing 

additional statistical and operating information.  It also typically discusses the Company in 

other dimensions, which may include, for example, the industry landscape, the capital markets 

landscape, the subsidiaries and affiliates, the employees, corporate governance, sustainability 

and corporate responsibility, among other things.  

 

Independent auditorsõ report  

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores Independentes has audited our financial statements and 

issued a report stating that in their judgment the financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position and results of operations of the Company and its 

subsidiaries. 

 

Documents the Management is submitting to shareholders  

Available at the Companyõs registered office, in the investor relations website, and in the 

websites of BM&FBOVESPA and the CVM, are the following documents related to this item 

of the agenda for the annual meeting: 

 

(a) Management report; 

(b) financial statements and related notes; 

(c) Managementõs discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations, 

consistent with the information required under section 10 of the Reference Form 

adopted pursuant to CVM Instruction 480 dated December 7, 2009 (òCVM 

Instruction 480ó). The managementõs discussion and analysis is attached hereto as 

Attachment I; 

(d) Independent auditorsõ report; 

(e) Annual financial information form known as Standard Financial Statements 

(demonstrações financeiras padronizadas, or DFP) required by the CVM; and 

(f) Audit committee report, which presents the committeeõs findings and conclusions 

regarding the internal audit of the Company performed over the previous year (2011). 

 

 

Second item  To consider the proposal on allocation of net income for the year 

ended December 31, 2011 

 

Rather shortly put, BM&FBOVESPAõs net income for the year ended December 31, 2011, in 
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the amount of R$1,047,998,623.27 corresponds to income after corporate income tax and 

social contribution.  

 

At a meeting held on February 14, 2012, the board of directors approved and put forward to 

shareholders, in the Annual Shareholdersõ Meeting, the Management proposal to allocate out 

of net income for 2011 an amount of R$135,725,623.27 to the bylaws reserve, and all of the 

remaining R$912,273,000.00 to dividends attributable to shareholders (dividend account). 

 

It should be noted that previous payouts, out of this amount of R$912,273,000.00, include 

distributions of R$535,546,000.00 by way of interim dividends and R$150,000,000.00 by way 

of interest on shareholdersõ equity. The balance of R$226,727,000.00 Management proposes to 

distribute as dividends, pending approval by the shareholders. This is the proposal 

Management is submitting to the annual meeting, which also sets April 30, 2012, as dividend 

payment date. As currently estimated by Management, the proposal would result in 

distribution of R$0.11754690 per share (which amount may change as a result of treasury 

stock being reissued for fulfillment of stock options exercised pursuant to the Companyõs 

stock options plan, and additional repurchases under the current share buyback program). 

 

Attachment II to this practical guide sets forth the proposal on net income allocations and 

other information required under Annex 9-1-II of CVM Instruction 481.  

 

 

Third item: To set the aggregate compensation payable to members of the board of 

directors and the board of executive officers in 2012 

 

At their February 14, 2012 meeting, the board of directors approved and put forward to the 

Annual Shareholdersõ Meeting a compensation proposal for the Company to pay to members 

of the board of directors an aggregate annual amount up to R$4,787,000.00  and to members 

of the board of executive officers an aggregate annual amount up to R$15,963,000.00.  

 

The table below sets forth the financial data related to the compensation proposal: 
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COMPENSATION PROPOSAL FOR 2012 

(IN R$ THOUSANDS) 

DIRECTORS AND  

EXECUTIVE 

OFFICERS 

Fixed 

Compensation 
Benefits 

Short-term 

Variable 

Compensation 

TOTAL 

Board of Directors 4,787 - - 4,787 

Officers 4,339 646 10,978 15,963 

TOTAL  9,126 646 10,978 20,750 

 

FIXED REMUNERATION   

The fixed remuneration of the Executive Officers is paid in 13 installments and adjusted on a 

yearly basis, as required under the collective bargaining agreement.  

 

For the members of the Board of Directors is assigned a fixed monthly compensation and an 

additional fixed monthly compensation for the members who participate in committees of the 

Company. 

 

BENEFITS  

Package of Benefits, consisting of health and dental care plan, medical check-up, life 

insurance, meal vouchers, use of company car (including parking privileges), mobile phone, 

and pension fund. The benefits package has been designed to attract and retain top executive 

talent, and offer executive officers advantages at least comparable to market practices at the 

level of senior management.  

 

SHORT -TERM VARIABLE COMPEN SATION   

Short-term variable compensation is based on performance target indicators and goals which 

are taken into account for purposes of compensation allocation and determination, in line 

with our variable compensation policy, as applied using salary multiples that differ in 

correlation to seniority, and on the basis of individual performance evaluations (which assess 

function-related factors and job level) and the Companyõs overall performance (actual versus 

target indicators), as further detailed below.  
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The aggregate amount of the 2012 short-term variable compensation established by the Board 

of Directors,  payable to officers and employees of the Company will calculated on the basis 

of actual adjusted net income (GAAP net income), taking into account the level of spending 

vis-à-vis the operating expense budget for 2012. Thus, assuming the spending target is met the 

variable compensation should represent 3.5% of GAAP net income. However, if spending 

exceeds the target, meaning the 2012 budget, the amount attributable to officers and 

executives by way of variable compensation will decrease by a given reduction factor. 

 

Set forth in Attachment III to this practical guide is the executive compensation discussion and 

analysis required under section 13 of the Reference Form adopted pursuant to CVM Instruction 

480. 

 

E.2 EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERSõ MEETING  

 

Under Brazilian Corporate Law, a corporation is required to hold an extraordinary 

shareholdersõ meeting at any time shareholder action may be necessary in respect of any 

matter other than those that are typically decided in an annual meeting (meaning judging the 

financial statements; deciding on allocations of net income for the year; establishing the 

aggregate annual compensation of directors and officers; electing the directors from time to 

time and, as the case may be, electing also the fiscal council members).  

 

An extraordinary meeting has been called at this time in order to decide on certain proposed 

amendments to the bylaws of BM&FBOVESPA.  

 

Set forth below you will find additional information on each of the proposed amendments to 

the bylaws included in the agenda for the extraordinary meeting:  

 

First Item:  (a) Article 5 ð amendment to state the modified number of shares currently 
issued and outstanding; 

 
At a Board meeting held on December 13, 2011, the directors approved a cancellation of 
64,014,295 shares of treasury stock amassed through repurchases carried out within the scope 
of the Companyõs share buyback program.  No reduction of the capital stock amount ensued 
from this cancellation.  
 
 
Second item (b) Article 46 ð the following amendments are proposed for consistency with 

recently promulgated CVM regulatory rules governing the Audit Committee 
(a standing committee):  (i) to modify the main provision of article 46 and 
paragraphs 1, 2 (indents ôeõ and ôhõ) and 3 (indent ôcõ); (ii) to add indents õf õand 



 

PRACTICAL GUIDE TO THE COMBINED ANNUAL AND EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS 

MEETINGS TO BE HELD ON 03/27/2012 
 

19 

ôgõ to paragraph 2 and a new paragraph 5 (references as renumbered),  (iii) to 
eliminate paragraph 3 (reference per existing wording), and  (iv) to renumber 
indent ôhõ of paragraph 2 and paragraphs 3 and 4 (references as renumbered);  

 

Changes proposed for consistency with the requirements of CVM Instruction No. 509 dated 

November 16, 2011 applicable to standing audit committees. 

 

 

Third  item (c) Article 47 - the following amendments are also proposed for consistency 
with recently promulgated CVM regulatory rules governing the Audit 
Committee (a standing committee):  (i) to modify the main provision of 
article 47 and indents ôa,õ ôc,õ ôf,õ ôg,õ and ôjõ of the main provision, and 
paragraph 1;  (ii) to add indents ôb,õ ôd,õ ôe,õ ôk,õ ôl,õ and ômõ of the main 
provision, renumbering the other indents, as well as adding paragraphs 2 and 
3 (references as renumbered), renumbering the former sole paragraph now in 
paragraph 1; and (iii) to eliminate indent ôdõ (reference per existing wording); 

 

Changes proposed for consistency with the requirements of CVM Instruction 509, of 

November 16, 2011. 

 

 

Forth item (d) Article 48, sole paragraph ð amendment likewise proposed for consistency 
with recently promulgated CVM regulatory rules governing the Audit 
Committee;  

 

Changes proposed for consistency with the requirements of CVM Instruction 509. 

 

 
Fifth  item (e) Article 64, main provision ð amendment proposed for consistency with 

article 4 of Brazilian Corporate Law (Law No. 6,404/76, as amended) and 
article 16 of CVM Instruction No. 361/02;;  

 
Changes proposed for consistency with the provisions of paragraph 4 of article 4 of Brazilian 

Corporate Law and article 16 of CVM Instruction 361/02. 
 
 
Sixth item (f) Article 67 - amendment to clarify who is ultimately responsible for the 

settlement of the tender offer of the Companyõs shares; and 

 

Wording amendment in order to clarify that the parties charged with conducting a tender offer 
may arrange for a third party to settle the offer, but shall continue to bear 
its/his/her responsibilities for the fulfillment of the tender offer. It is 
proposed to exclude the Companyõs possibility to replace the shareholders in 
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the settlement of the tender offer, in case the Company is not charged to 
conduct it. 

 

 

Seventh item (g) Article 79 ð amendment to state clearly that where the bylaws are silent on 
an issue, the Shareholdersõ Meeting speaks whereas giving due regard to the 
provisions of the Novo Mercado Listing Rules. 

 

Change proposed for clarification that the shareholders must give regard to the Novo Mercado 

Listing Rules in settling issues on which the bylaws are silent, because 

BM&FBOVESPA is bound by terms of this listing regulation. 

 

Set forth in Attachment IV to this practical guide is a comparative table of current bylawsõ 

provisions, proposed amendments and related justifications.  

 

 

F. DOCUMENTS PERTAINING TO PROPOSALS REQUIRING YOUR VOTE AT THE 

COMBINED ANNUAL AND EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERSõ MEETINGS  

 

The following documents are available to shareholders at the Companyõs registered office, and 

in the investor relations website (www.bmfbovespa.com.br/ri/), the Companyõs website 

(www.bmfbovespa.com.br) or that of the CVM (www.cvm.gov.br): 

 

 Call Notice  

 Financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011 (management report, 

financial statements and related notes, independent auditorsõ report and audit committee 

report) 

 Annual financial information form known as Standard Financial Statements (demonstrações 

financeiras padronizadas), or DFP Form 

 Audit committee report 

 Minutes of the Board of Directorsõ Meeting held on February 14, 2012 with the proposal 

for allocation of the Net Income related to the year ended 12/31/2011. 

 Managementõ Proposal on Net Income Allocations, as required under Annex 9-1-II of 

CVM Instruction 481. 

 Managementõs Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, 

pursuant to Section 10 of the Reference Form required under CVM Instruction 480. 

 Managementõs Discussion and Analysis of Executive Compensation, pursuant to Section 13 

http://www.bmfbovespa.com.br/ri/
http://www.bmfbovespa.com.br/
http://www.cvm.gov.br/
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of the Reference Form required under CVM Instruction 480. 

 Comparative Table of Current Bylawsõ Provisions, Proposed Amendments, and Related 

Justifications. 

 

For any additional clarification you should contact the investor relations department through 

the phone (+55 11 2565-4007, 2565-4729, 2565-4418 or 2565-4834) or by e-mail addressed to 

ri@bmfbovespa.com.br. 
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ATTACHMENT I  
Managementõs discussion and analysis, pursuant to Section 10 of the 

Reference Form required under CVM Instruction 480 

 
10.  Managementôs discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations  
 

10.1  The following discussion and comparative analysis have been based on our 
consolidated financial statements for the periods presented.  

 

a. financial condition and net equity position  

Year ended December 31, 2011 compared with year ended December 31, 2010.  
 

After two years of feeble and uneven recovery from the financial crisis, the global economic and financial 
landscape in 2011 unveiled persistent weaknesses in developed economies.  Events as the Eurozone 
sovereign debt crisis and market mistrust that European policy makers would successfully implement 
necessary fiscal adjustment programs in countries as Italy, Spain and Portugal, but particularly in Greece; 
the downgrading of the U.S. credit rating; the problem of deterio rating output growth; and fears about 

Chinaôs economic slowdown, whose uncertainties lie in its size, all made up for an uneasy economic 
landscape.   
 

Meanwhile, in the domestic front, the economy experienced contrasting half -year periods as Brazilôs 
government made sensitive trade-offs between objectives and implemented measures shifting policy 
directions. Over the first half of the year, signaling conc ern about existing inflationary pressures, the 
government repeatedly raised the benchmark interest rate (Selic), adopting macroprudential measures to curb 
credit growth and consumer demand, and to arrest the persistent currency appreciation, in the latter case by 
expanding the taxation of financial transactions (IOF) and increasing the rates of existing IOF levies, among 
other things.  
 

In the second half of the year, as the U.S. debt -ceiling crisis threatened global markets, and the Eurozone 
sovereign debt crisis deepened, putting the global economies, including Brazil, in further peril; and as 
expectations for domestic GDP growth in 2011 and 2012 pointedly declined (see the chart below), while 
industrial production weakened, the Brazilian government responded with fresh urgency in ratcheting the 
benchmark rate, shifting policies to incentivize consumer spending on durables, cutting taxes and loosening 
credit restrictions in an effort to stave off economic slowdown.  Some of the governmentôs macroprudential 
measures had a direct impact on the domestic capital markets, including markets BM&FBOVESPA operates.  
Such was the case, for example, when in July 2011, seeking to stem hot money inflows to halt the currency 
appreciation, the government broadened its financial transactions tax (IOF tax) to charge increases in short 
dollar exposures at a 1% rate.  On the other hand, in December, a welcomed switch happened when the 
government removed the 2% IOF tax charged on hot money inflows for investments in equity secur ities and 
equity-based derivatives.  
 

Against this backdrop, our 2011 consolidated revenues were virtually unchanged from the prior year after 
registering a slight 0.2% year -on-year rise (to R$2,111,983 thousand versus R$2,115,539 thousand earlier) 
attribu table primarily to (i) a 5.3% climb in revenues from fees earned on trading and clearing/settlement 

transactions within our BM&F segment (derivatives markets and related clearing facilities) (ii) a 15.0% jump in 
other revenues unrelated to trading volumes and (iii) an 8.1% decline in revenues from fees on trading or 
clearing and settlement transactions within our Bovespa segment (equities markets and related clearing 
facilities), which dive substantially quashed the revenue increases in the other two line i tems.  
 

Total consolidated expenses rose 28.9% year-on-year, to R$816,664 thousand from R$633,504 thousand one 
year ago, with a caveat, however, as the figure for 2011 includes a one -off expense of R$92,342 thousand 
from the transferring of restricted fund s to BM&FBOVESPA Market Surveillance (BM&FBOVESPA Supervisão de 
Mercado), or BSM, which were reserved and designed as a guarantee fund for use within the scope of BSM (in 
the óContribution to MRPô line).  Therefore, after eliminating the passing of restric ted funds to BSM, total 
expenses for 2011 were up to R$724,322 thousand, up 14.3% year-on-year, due mainly to increases in the 
ópersonnelô and ódepreciationô expense line items, both of which were to be expected on account of our 
significant investments in technology (which include the internalization of IT personnel).  
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The consolidated net income attributable to shareholders fell 8.4% while EBITDA2 dropped 11.4% from the 
prior year, shooting the EBITDA Margin3 down to 61.6% from 69.7% one year ago, which however did not 
adversely affected our financial position.  
 

Year ended December 31, 2010 compared with year ended December 31, 2009.  
 

The Brazilian economy consolidated in 2010 the recovery that started late in 2009 in the wake of the global 
economic downturn driven by the 2008 international financial crisis. This economic environment had a 
positively impact on the average daily volume traded on BM&F segment markets, which soared 64.7% year-
on-year, and the average daily value traded on Bovespa segment markets, which surged 22.7% from one 
year ago.  
 

This strong operating performance resulted in a 25.6% rise in our gross revenues, a 29.9% jump in net 
income4 and 34.7% increase in EBITDA, which shot EBITDA Margin to 69.7% from 65.1% in the prior year.  
 

In the Bovespa segment, two primary factors influenced our financial performance:  

 a protracted market overhang sparked by uncertainties around a then -upcoming Petrobras offering 
slowed trading volumes significantly, but trading volumes sprang back promptly after the offering 
closed.  

 a rebound in the market prices for stocks followed, boosting trading volumes further, such that, while 
at year-end the Ibovespa, or  Bovespa Index, the primary index of the Brazilian stock market, had 
climbed just 1.0% year -on-year, the average Ibovespa had risen 27.8% over the 2009 average.  

 

Volume growth in the BM&F segment, in turn, was driven primarily by strong trading in Brazilia n-interest rate 
futures contracts, the most actively traded group of contracts, whose average daily volume traded rose nearly 
100%, mainly as a result of increased credit availability and volatility pushed by differing perceptions and 
expectations about the Central Bankôs decisions on the direction and size of the Selic rate, which is the 
Brazilian base interest rate. 
 

Further denoting the economic recovery was the rebound seen in the equity offering market, where IPOs, 

follow-on and seasoned offerings made for the best year on record, placing the Brazilian equity offering 
market as the third largest worldwide by gross proceeds from offerings, in no small part due to the largest 
ever equity offering conducted by Brazilôs oil and gas giant Petrobras.  
 

Moreover, having previously completed our initial efforts to consolidate the integration of BM&F and Bovespa, 
the two formerly independent exchanges, we shifted our focus towards (i) enhancing our technology 
infrastructure through adoption of an investment progr am designed to support our future growth (ii) pursuing 
opportunities in international markets, in particular by strengthening our strategic partnership with the CME 
Group (iii) spurring growth in the equity offering market by increasing the number of listi ngs, (iv) developing 
new products, and, in particular (v) investing in financial education and forming an investment -minded middle 
class so as to widen capital markets penetration, which in the long run should revert to us in the form of a 
broader investing public.  
 

b.  Capital structure  and likelihood of redemption of shares, including : 

The composition of our consolidated capital structure at December 31, 2011, was  81.6% common equity and 

18.4% short - and long-term debt versus 85.8%  common equity and 14.2% short - and long-term debt at 
December 31, 2010 and 92.8% common equity and 7.2% short - and long-term debt at December 31, 2009.  
The table below sets forth comparative information on the composition of our capital structure.  

 

 

 

                                                 
2
 EBITDA means earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. 

3
 EBITDA Margin is calculated as EBITDA divided by net revenues. 

4
 Net income attributable to BM&FBOVESPA shareholders. 
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Capital Structure 2011  2010  2009 

 (in thousands of Brazilian Reais, except as otherwise indicated) 
            

Current and noncurrent 
liabilities 

4,332,431  18.4%  3,214,927  14.2%  1,494,946  7.2% 

{ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ Ŝǉǳƛǘȅ 19,257,491  81.6%  19,419,048  85.8%  19,342,893  92.8% 
            

¢ƻǘŀƭ [ƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ 
equity 

23,589,922  100.0%  22,633,975  100.0%  20,837,839  100.0% 
            

 

Additionally, a substantial portion of our total onerous liabilities (short - and long-term debt) correlates with 
debt issued abroad in the form of global senior notes issued in our July 16, 2010 (see subsection 10.1(f) of this 
Reference Form): 

Onerous Liabilities 2011  2010  2009 
 (in thousands of Brazilian Reais, except as otherwise indicated) 
            

Total onerous liabilities 1,172,225  5.7%  1,043,213  5.1%  11,790  0.1% 
Interest payable on debt issued 
abroad and loans 

33,566    33,154    9,295   

Debt issued abroad and loans  1,138,659    1,010,059    2,495   

{ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ Ŝǉǳƛǘȅ 19,257,491  94.3%  19,419,048  94.9%  19,342,893  99.9% 
            

Total onerous liabilities and 
ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ Ŝǉǳƛǘȅ 

20,429,716  100.0%  20,462,261  100.0%  19,354,683  100.0 
            

 

Based on the above data, i.e., whether taking into account our total liabilities (current and noncurrent 
liabilities) or our onerous liabilities (short - and long-term debt and interest paying on our debt),  it is clear we 
practice conservative leveraging. 
 

i.  events of redemption  
ii.  redemption price calculation method  

 

Other than as legally prescribed, we are not contemplating any share redemption, nor anticipate any event 
occurring that could trigger redemption rights.  
 

c. Capacity to service the debt.  
 

We have an established track record of strong cash flow generation proven by EBITDA for the year of 
R$1,173,105 thousand versus R$1,324,031 thousand in 2010 and R$983,133 thousand in 2009, and EBITDA 
Margins of 61.6% at the year -end versus 69.7% in 2010 and 65.1% in 2009, whereas net income attributable 
to shareholders for 2011 amounted to R$ R$1,047,999 thousand versus R$1,144,561 thousand and 
R$881,050 thousand for 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
 

Additionally, consistent with the nature of our business, we work to sustain a healthy cash position where 
financial investments (short- and long-term) typically correlate with highly liquid investments.  Thus, at 
December 31, 2011, our cash and cash equivalents plus short- and long-term financial investments totaled 
R$3,782,411 thousand (and accounted for 16.0% of total assets), as compared to R$3,435,345 thousand 
(15.2% of total assets) in 2010 and R$3,931,783 thousand (18.9% of total assets) in 2009.  As a result, we 
also recognized net income interest amounting to R$280,729 thousand in 2011 versus R$289,039 thousand 

and R$245,837 thousand in 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
 

Our net debt closing balance at December 31, 2011, was R$2,610,186 thousand, negative, which compares 
with equally negative numbers in 2010 and 2009 (respectively R$2,392,132 thousand and R$3,919,993 
thousand, negative), in each case denoting low financial leveraging and our very solid capacity to pay the 
service of our debt. 
 

Given the nature of our available cash flows, which include our own financial resources as well as cash 
pledged as collateral by customers, our policy calls for lower-risk investing of cash balances, which we 
typically accomplish by seeking very conservative, highly liquid and safe investments, often by taking positions 
in Brazilian government bonds and debt-securities whose yield and coupon rates typically track the base or 
benchmark rates (interbank deposit rates or Selic rate), whether or not including a spread.  We therefore 
believe our Company is fully capable of servicing its debt both in the short - and long-term. 
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d.  Sources of working capit al and capital expenditure financing.  
 

We typically finance working capital and capital expenditure requirements primarily from our operating cash 
flow, which is sufficient to support all of the former and most of the latter.  However, on occasion  we have 
also accessed the capital markets (as in July 2010, when we issued global senior notes) and entered into 
lease agreements as an alternative to finance certain noncurrent assets. For additional information on the 
nature and characteristics of debt obligations, see the discussion under subsection 10.1(f) below.  
 

e. Sources of working capital and capital expenditure financing that the company 
intends to use to cover liquidity deficiencies.  

 

As previously noted, operating cash flow generated by us constitutes the primary source for funding our own 
working capital and capital expenditure requirements. In addition, we may in certain cases consider 
alternative sources of funding, which include ta king bank loans or accessing government financing programs 
or the domestic or international capital markets.  
 

In any event, while there are no reasons to believe we could experience liquidity deficiencies, should there be 
any need for us to source additional funding in order to cover deficiencies, we would benefit from investment 
grade ratings5 (foreign and local currency) assigned to us and our global senior notes by Moody's and 
Standard & Poorôs in order to obtain financing through any of the aforementioned sources.  
 

f.  Indebtedness level and characteristics of existing debt obligations   
 

On July 16, 2010 BM&FBOVESPA completed an offering of global senior unsecured notes priced at 99.635% 
of the aggregate principal nominal amount of US$612,000 thousand, which after deducting underwriting 
discounts netted proceeds of US$609,280 thousand (at the time equivalent to R$1,075,323 thousand). The 
notes, which mature on July 16, 2020, were issued with interest of 5.50% per annum payable every six 
months, in January and July. However, as computed to include the transaction expenses, in particular 
underwriting discounts, commissions paid to the arranging and structuring banks and other offering 
expenses, listing fees, legal fees, rating fees paid to Standard & Poorôs and Moodyôs, and ongoing 
administration and custody expenses, the actual cost will represent a rate of 5.64 % per annum.  Effective 

July 16, 2010, we used the offering proceeds to purchase additional interest in the shares of the CME Group, 
which increased to 5% our ownership interest in CME shares (from 1.78% previously) . 
 
As translated into Brazilian reais and including accrued interest of R$33,566 thousand, the balance of our 
debt under the global senior notes as of December 31, 2011, was R$1,172,225 thousand, as compared to 
R$1,043,213 thousand at December 31, 2010 (including interest then accrued of R$33,154 thousand).  
 
Starting from the notesô issue date, i.e., July 16, 2010, we have designated as hedging instrument that 
portion of the principal under the notes which correlates with changes in exchange rates in order to hedge 
the foreign currency risk affec ting that portion of our investment in the CME Group Inc which correlates with 
the notional amount of US$612,000 thousand (a hedging instrument in a hedge of net investment in a 
foreign operation, per Note 7 to our financial statements as of and for Decemb er 31, 2010). Accordingly, we 
have adopted net investment hedge accounting pursuant to accounting standard CPC-38 (Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement), for which purpose the hedging relationship has been formally 
designated and documented, including as to (i) risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the 
hedge, (ii) category of hedge, (iii) nature of the risk being hedged, (iv) identification of the hedged item, (v) 
identification of the hedging instrument, (vi) evidence of the actual statistical relationship between hedging 
instrument and hedged item (retrospective effectiveness test) and (vii) a prospective effectiveness test.  
 
Under CPC 38 we are required to assess the hedge effectiveness periodically by conducting retrospective and 
prospective tests. On testing backward-looking effectiveness, we adopt the ratio analysis method, also called 
dollar offset method, as applied on a cumulative and spot -rate basis. In other words, this method compares 
changes in fair values of the hedging instrument and hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, as 
measured on a cumulative basis over a given period (from the hedge inception to the reporting date) using 

                                                 
5
 {ǘŀƴŘŀǊŘ ϧ tƻƻǊΩǎ ς Counterparty credit rating of BBB+  / Notes issue rating of A2 ς Outlook: Stable; and  

   Moody´s  ς Issuer ratings of A1 on the global scale and Aaa.br on the Brazilian national scale / Notes rating raised to Baa1 - Outlook: 
.Positive 
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the foreign currency spot exchange rate as of each relevant date in order to det ermine the ratio of 
cumulative gain or loss on the notesô principal amount to cumulative gain or loss on the net investment in a 
foreign operation over the relevant period. And on testing forward -looking effectiveness, we adopt stress 
scenarios which we apply to the hedged variable in performing foreign currency sensitivity analysis to 
determine degree of sensitivity to changes in exchange rates.  We have tested the hedge effectiveness 
retrospectively and prospectively, having determined that at December 31 , 2011, there was no realizable 
ineffectiveness.  
 
Moreover, the year-end fair value of our debt under the senior notes, as determined based on market data, 
was R$1,190,534 thousand (Source: Bloomberg). 
 
Other than debt issued abroad, in previous years we entered into funding transactions in the form of 
computer equipment finance leases, which have since expired (April 2011) and were not renewed. The 
balance of such leases at December 31, 2010 and 2009, totaled R$2,975 thousand and R$11,790 thousand, 
respectively. 
 
The table below sets forth our principal total indebtedness indicators.  

Indebtedness ratios Year ended December 31, 

 2011 2010 2009 

Total-Debt-to- EBITDA ratio 1.0 0.8 - 

EBITDA-to-Interest Coverage ratio 35 40 - 

Net Debt(* ) (in R$ thousands) (2,610,186) (2,392,132) (3,919,993) 
    

(* ) Net Debt = Remunerated Debt ς (Cash and cash equivalents + Financial investments) 

 
g.  Restrictions on use of the proceeds of financing previously undertaken.  

 
The indenture governing our issuance of senior unsecured notes includes certain limitations and requirements 
customary in similar transactions found on international debt markets, which we believe will not restrict our 
normal operating and financial activities. Provisions containing such limitations and requirements include 
mainly the following:  

 Limitation on liens ï a provision limiting our and our subsidiariesô ability to secure debt by creating liens 
(other than certain permitted liens, as defined);  

 Limitation on sale and lease-back transactions; 

 General liens basket ï a provision  permitting us to undertake additional debt provided the sum of (a) 
the aggregate principal amount of all debt obligations secured by liens other than certain permitted 
liens (as defined), and (ii) debt attributable to all o ur and our subsidiaryôs sale and lease-back 
transactions (with certain exceptions), should not exceed 20% of our consolidated net tangible assets 
(as defined);  

 Limitation on mergers, consolidations or business combinations ï a provision restricting our ability to 
merge, consolidate or otherwise combine with any other person unless the resulting or surviving 
company assumes obligation to repay the principal and pay interest on the notes, and meets certain 
other requirements designed to ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of the indenture.  

However, these limitations and requirements include a number of exceptions which are set forth in the indenture 
for our global senior notes.  
 

h.  Significant changes to line items of the financial reports.  
 
Our consolidated financial statements as of and for December 31, 2011, and the comparative financial 
statements as of and for December 31, 2010 and 2009, have been prepared and are presented in accordance 
with the accounting standards generally accepted in Brazil, observing the accounting guidelines provided by 
Brazilian Corporate Law (Law No.6,404/76, as amended and including the provisions introduced by Law No. 
11,638/07 and Law No. 11,941/09), as supplemented by accounting standards, implementation guidance and 
interpretations issued by the Brazilian Accounting Standards Board (Comitê de Pronunciamentos Contábeis), 
or CPC, approved for promulgation pursuant to resolutions of the Brazilian Federal Council of Accounting 
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(Conselho Federal de Contabilidade), or CFC, and the rules promulgated by the Brazilian Securities 
Commission (Comissão de Valores Mobiliários), or Brazilian Securities Commission. 
 

Until six months ended June 30, 2010, the Company presented its financial statements in accordance with 
accounting practices adopted in Brazil that incorporated the changes introduced by Laws 11.638/07 and 
11.941/09 supplemented by pronouncements of the CPC, approved by resolutions of CFC and CVM regulations 
until December 31, 2008, which included the adoption of the CPC 01-14. As required by CVM Resolution 
609/09 (37 CPC - First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards) and CVM 610/09 (CPC 
43 - Initial Adoption of Technical Pronouncements), international standards and/or chan ges in practices have 
been implemented retroactively from January 1, 2009.  
 

Additionally, for clearer presentation of our consolidated financial information, in 2010 and 2009 we 
reclassified certain line items within the revenues group, with no impact on net income, shareholdersô equity 
or cash flows. For additional information on accounting reclassification, see Note 26 to our financial 
statements as of and for December 31, 2010. 
 

Moreover, starting from the year ended December 31, 2011, we reclassified t he results (net income or 
loss) ascertained by the BM&F Settlement Bank from the financial services it provides (custody services 
and local representation for nonresident investors) to recognize them under the ñother revenuesò line 
item, ultimately with no  impact on net income or shareholdersô equity.  Previously, we recognized these 
results under the óinterest income, netô line item.  Accordingly, for comparability purposes, our 
comparative consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2010 and 2009, presented herein, have 
been revised and adjusted for retrospective recognition of the results of BM&F Settlement Bank under 
the ñother revenuesò line item.  At December 31, 2010 and 2009, these results amounted to R$8,985 
thousand and R$8,025 thousand, respectively. This reclassification changed the amounts previously 
recorded under the line items ógross revenues,ô óother revenues,ô and óinterest income, net,ô of our 
consolidated statements of income and our EBITDA for 2010 and 2009. 
 

The tables below set forth selected financial information extracted from our consolidated statements of 
income and balance sheet at December 31, 2011, and retrospective consolidated statements of income and 

balance sheet at December 31, 2010 and 2009, revised and adjusted as previously discussed. For better 
comparability and understanding of the effects of this reclassification, the tables below set forth data related 
only to the principal line items of the statements of income and balance sheet, and the changes to these line 
items, as selected by management, as explained below.  

 Selected financial information extracted from the consolidated statements of income. This table 
presents only the revenue lines which accounted for over 3.5% of our net revenues, the expense lines 
which accounted for over 2.5% of total expenses, the other results and taxes line items at December 
31, 2011, and information related to one -off, extraordinary or non -recurring events which are likely to 
provide a clearer understanding of the statements of income ; 

Selected Financial Information  
(from the Consolidated Statements of Income)            

  Years ended December 31,    

  
2011 AV% 

 

2010 
AV/
% 

 

2009 AV% 
 Variation Variation 

     

2011/20
10 

2010/20
09 

  
(In R$ 

thousands) (%)  

(In R$ 
thousands) (%)  

(In R$ 
thousands) (%)  (%) (%) 

            

Gross Revenues  2,115,983 111.1  2,111,539 111.2  1,680,919 111.3  0.2 25.6 
            

Revenues from trading and/or settlement 
systems -  
   BM&F segment  760,245 39.9  722,065 38.0  534,189 35.4  5.3 35.2 

 Derivatives 744,018 39.1  701,545 36.9  513,185 34.0  6.1 36.7 
            

Revenues from trading and/or settlement 
systems -  
   Bovespa segment  964,702 50.6  1,049,300 55.3  837,326 55.4  -8.1 25.3 

 Transaction revenues - trading fees 540,391 28.4  737,074 35.8  605,244 40.1  -26.7 21.8 

 

Transaction revenues ς clearing and settlement 
fees 396,023 20.8  254,904 13.4  207,914 13.8  55.4 22.6 

 Other 28,288 1.5  57,322 3.0  24,168 1.6  -50.7 
137.

2 
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Other revenues 391,036 20.5  340,174 17.9  309,404 20.5  15.0 9.9 

 Securities lending fees 74,030 3.9  49,443 2.6  32,989 2.2  49.7 49.9 

 Listing  44,841 2.4  44,392 2.3  39,549 2.6  1.0 12.2 

 Depository, custodian and back-office services 91,353 4.8  88,263 4.6  72,167 4.8  3.5 22.3 

 BM&F Settlement Bank  20,461 1.1  17,028 0.9  16,315 1.1  20.2 4.4 

 Other revenues 40,190 2.1  19,516 1.0  30,537 2.0  105.9 -36.1 
            

Deductions from revenues (211,299) -11.1  (212,797) -11.2  (170,350) -11.3  -0.7 24.9 
            

Net revenue 1,904,684 100.0  1,898,742 100.0  1,510,569 100.0  0.3 25.7 
            

Expenses (816,664) -42.9  (633,504) -33.4  (569,832) -37.7  28.9 11.2 

 Administrative and general            

    Personnel and related expenses (351,608) -18.5  (290,107) -15.3  (289,806) -19.2  21.2 0.1 

    Data processing (104,422) -5.5  (101,690) -5.4  (102,596) -6.8  2.7 -0.9 

    Depreciation and amortization (75,208) -3.9  (54,818) -2.9  (42,396) -2.8  37.2 29.3 

    Outsourced services (51,803) -2.7  (48,102) -2.5  (45,495) -3.0  7.7 5.7 

    Communications (22,959) -1.2  (25,819) -1.4  (23,428) -1.6  -11.1 10.2 

    Marketing and promotion (38,609) -2.0  (42,376) -2.2  (19,555) -1.3  -8.9 
116.

7 

 Contribution to MRP (92,342) -4.8  -  0.0  -  0.0    
            

Profit (loss) on equity-method investment 219,461 11.5  38,238 2.0  -  0.0  

473.
9  

            

Interest income, net  280,729 14.7  289,039 15.2  245,837 16.3  -2.9 17.6 

 Interest revenues  357,720 18.8  329,084 17.3  262,518 17.4  8.7 25.4 

 Interest expenses  (76,991) -4.0  (40,045) -2.1  (16,681) -1.1  92.3 
140.

1 
            

Income (loss) before taxation on profit  1,588,210 83.4  1,592,515 83.9  1,186,574 78.6  -0.3 34.2 
            

  Income and social contribution taxes  (539,681) -28.3  (448,029) -23.6  (304,505) -20.2  20.5 47.1 

 Current  (49,422) -2.6  (5,408) -0.3  32,085 2.1  813.9  

 Deferred  (490,259) -25.7  (442,621) -23.3  (336,590) -22.3  10.8 31.5 
            

Net income (loss) for the year  1,048,529 55.1  1,144,486 60.3  882,069 58.4  -8.4 29.8 

 

Net income attributable to  
  BM&FBOVESPA shareholders 1,047,999 55.0  1,144,561 60.3  881,050 58.3  -8.4 29.9 

            

 

 Selected financial information extracted from the consolidated balance sheet statements. This table 
presents only the line items that accounted for over 4.5% of total assets line items at December 31, 
2011, and information related to extraordinary, non -recurring and other events which are likely to 
provide a clearer understanding of the balance sheet.  

Selected Financial Information  
(from the  

Consolidated Balance Sheet Statements)            

    Years ended December 31,    

    
2011 AV%  2010 AV/%  2009 AV%  Variation Variation 

       2011/2010 2010/2009 

    (In R$ thousands) (%)  

(In R$ 
thousands) (%)  

(In R$ 
thousands) (%)  (%) (%) 

Assets            
            

 Current assets 2,401,134 10.2  2,547,589 11.3  3,468,852 16.6  -5.7 -26.2 
            

   Cash and cash equivalents 64,648 0.3 
 

104,017 0.5 
 

50,779 0.2 
 

-37.8 104.8 

   Financial investments 2,128,705 9.0 
 

2,264,408 10.0 
 

3,295,356 15.8 
 

-6.0 -31.3 
               

 Noncurrent assets 21,206,839 89.9  20,086,386 88.7  17,368,987 83.4  5.6 15.6 
             

  Long-term receivables 1,767,411 7.5  1,216,812 5.4  958,993 4.6  45.2 26.9 
            

   Financial investments 1,598,058 6.7 
 

1,066,920 4.7 
 

585,648 2.8 
 

48.9 82.2 
               

  Investments 2,710,086 11.5  2,286,537 10.1  39,723 0.2  18.5 5,656.2 
            

   Investment in associate 2,673,386 11.3 
 

2,248,325 9.9 
 

-  0.0 
 

18.9  
               

  Intangible assets 16,354,127 69.3  16,215,903 71.6  16,128,332 77.4  0.9 0.5 
            

   Goodwill 16,064,309 68.1 
 

16,064,309 71.0 
 

16,064,309 77.1 
 

0.0 0.0 

   Software and projects 289,818 1.2 
 

151,594 0.7 
 

64,023 0.3 
 

91.2 136.8 
               

 Total assets 23,589,922 100.0  22,633,975 100.0  20,837,839 100.0  4.2 8.6 
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[ƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ Ŝǉǳƛǘȅ            
              

 Current liabilities 1,929,946 8.2  1,416,204 6.3  1,142,074 5.5  36.3 24.0 
            

  Collaterals for transactions 1,501,022 6.4 
 

954,605 4.2 
 

810,317 3.9 
 

57.2 17.8 
              

 Noncurrent liabilities 2,402,485 10.2  1,798,723 7.9  352,872 1.7  33.6 409.7 
            

  Debt issued abroad and loans 1,138,659 4.8 
 

1,010,059 4.5 
 

2,495 0.0 
 

12.7 40,383.3 

  Deferred income tax and social contribution 1,204,582 5.1 
 

732,074 3.2 
 

300,930 1.4 
 

64.5 143.3 
              

 {ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ equity 19,257,491 81.6  19,419,048 85.8  19,342,893 92.8  -0.8 0.4 
              

 

COMPARATIVE  ANALYSIS  OF STATEMENTS OF INCOME  

Year ended December 31, 2011 compared with year ended December 31, 2010  

Gross revenues  
Gross revenues of R$2,115,983 thousand in 2011 were up by just 0.2% from R$2,111,539 thousand one year 
ago. The 5.3% increase in revenues from fees earned in our BM&F segment transactions and 15.0% climb in 
other revenues were counterbalanced by an 8.1%drop in revenues from fees earned in our Bovespa segment.  

Transaction revenues - Trading fees or clearing and settlement fees ï BM&F segment 
Revenues from trading or clearing and settlement fees earned on transactions within the BM&F segment 
totaled R$ 760,245 thousand, up 5.3% from R$722.065 thousand one year ago, due mainly to a 6.1% year -
on-year climb in revenues from trading fees charged on derivatives transactions (R$744,018 thousand versus 
R$701,545 thousand earlier) driven by a 7.8% rise in average dai ly trading volume. The latter, however, was 
partially quashed by a 2.5% stumble in average revenue per contract.  

Transaction revenues - Trading fees or clearing and settlement fees ï Bovespa segment 
Revenues from trading or clearing and settlement fees earned on transactions within the Bovespa segment 
amounting to R$964,702 thousand shrank 8.1% from R$1,049,300 thousand the year before, due to average 
trading volume virtually unchanged from the prior year, tough still enough to hit an all -time record, coupled 
with a fall in basis point margin (5.79 bps versus 6.19 bps one year ago). This margin tumble, in turn, is 
explained primarily by the larger share of overall volume attributable to high frequency and day trading, from 
which we derive fees at lower-than-average margins, and a stumble in average volumes traded in equity-

based derivatives on options and forward markets, where we derive higher -than-average fees. Moreover, 
these falls were topped off wi th a collapse in revenues from fees earned on clearing and settlement of equity 
offerings due to slow market conditions.  

Trading Fees ï trading systems 
This revenue line item went down 26.7% year -on-year, to R$ R$540,391 thousand from R$737,074 thousand 
earlier, driven by our pricing policy implemented in September 2011, which rebalanced the price structure in 
line with our cost structure (see subsection 10.2(b) below), ultimately pulling down the average rate for 
trading, whereas pushing up the average fees for clearing and settlement transactions, such that the cost of 
trading for investors would not be impacted.  

Transaction fees ï clearing and settlements systems 
Revenues from fees earned by our equities clearing house on clearing and settlement transactions related to 
trades carried out on equities markets (Bovespa segment) surged 55.4% year-on-year, to R$ R$396,023 
thousand from R$ R$254,904 thousand previously, which is explained by the same factors discussed above in 
connection with our new pricing p olicy. 

Other revenues from trading or clearing and settlement fees  
Revenues from fees earned on other transactions carried out within the Bovespa segment took a 50.7% year -
on-year dive, to R$28,288 thousand from R$57,322 thousand in the earlier year, due m ainly to a collapse in 
number (volume) of equity offerings, with the caveat, however, that in the comparative year to December 31, 
2010, the same line item had ballooned on hefty revenue from settlement fees charged on the massive 
seasoned offering of Brazilôs oil and gas giant, Petrobras. 

Other revenues  
Other revenues unrelated to trading and/or clearing & settlement within the Bovespa and BM&F segments 
climbed 15.0% year-on-year to R$391,036 thousand from R$340,174 thousand one year earlier. This increase 
is attributable mainly to the factors discussed below.  
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Securities lending services 
Revenues from securities lending services amounting to R$74,030 thousand soared 49.7% from R$49,443 
thousand in the prior year due mainly to a 47.1% upsurge in the avera ge financial value of open interest 
positions, which rose to R$30.2 billion from R$20.5 billion one year earlier.  

Listing fees 
Revenues from listing fees amounting to R$44,841 thousand went up slight 1.0% from R$44,392 thousand 
one year earlier due mainly to the end of discounts in listing annuities that were in effect in the two previous 
years. 

Depository, custody, back office services 
This line item climbed 3.5% year -on-year, to R$91,353 thousand from R$88,263 thousand earlier. Revenues 
derived from the o perations of our central securities depository rose 2.1% year -on-year primarily on account 
of a 2.3% rise in average number of custody accounts (624.7 thousand accounts in 2011 versus 610.8 
thousand accounts one year ago) and a 0.7% year-on-year lift in av erage financial value of financial assets 

under custody (R$476.2 billion in 2011 versus R$472.6 billion in 2010), not including custody of ADRs and 
custody services provided to nonresident investors. In addition, the revenues from custody of government 
bonds traded on the Treasury Direct platform surged 8.1% year -on-year. 

Settlement Bank  
The revenues from financial services fees earned by BM&F Settlement Bank surged 20.2% year-on-year, to 
R$20,461 thousand from R$17,028 thousand one year ago due to the increase in volume of custody services 
and legal representation provided to nonresident investors.  

Other revenues 
Other revenues soared 105.9% year-on-year, to R$40,190 thousand from R$19,516 thousand previously, 
mainly because of the impact of approximately R$22,600 thousand in extraordinary revenues related to the 
reversal of the provision for legal contingencies and the receipt of our credit against a corporate bankruptcy 
estate.  

Deductions from revenue 
Deductions from revenue dropped 0.7% year-on-year to R$211,299 thousand from R$212,797 thousand one 
year ago, primarily as a result of a cut in service tax rate (which fell to 2.0% from 5.0% at end -July 2011).  
However, the changes in our pricing policy counterbalanced the effects of this tax cut on the reve nues of our 
Bovespa and BM&F segments for the months of August and October, respectively. 

Net income 
As a result of the changes in revenue line items discussed above, net income amounted to R$1,904,684 
thousand, up 0.3% from R$1,898,742 thousand in the pri or year.  

Expenses 
Expenses totaled R$816,664 thousand surging 28.9% year-on-year from R$633.504 thousand earlier. The 
principal changes in expense line items are set forth below.  

Personnel and related expenses 
Personnel and related expenses of R$351,608 thousand jumped 21.2% year-on-year from R$290,107 
thousand one year ago. This movement is explained by factors as (i) the August 2011 salary increase required 
under the existing collective bargaining agreement, w hich represented a 7.0% increase in payroll; (ii) the 
effects of a 17.8% year -on-year climb in headcount over the course of 2011, to a total of 1,426 employees 

(most new hirings adding to the technology and business development staffs) versus 1,211 employees one 
year ago (including the 2010 internalization of 143 previously outsourced IT providers); and (iii) the increase 
in expenses recognized in connection with stock options plan, which soared 73.4% year-on-year, to R$53,630 
thousand from R$30,921 thousand earlier, merely because differently from 2011 there were no option grants 
one year ago.  Each of these factors accounted for about a third of the increase in expenses for 2011.  

Data processing  
Data processing expenses totaling R$104,422 thousand went up 2.7% from R$101,690 thousand in the prior 
year. The internalization of technology personnel (discussed above) was a determinant factor in stifling 
further increases in time billed by outsourced providers, as we are in the process of executing capital -
intensive projects to overhaul, modernize and strengthen our technology infrastructure and resources.  
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Depreciation and amortization 
The expenses with depreciation and amortization went up 37.2% year -on-year, to R$75,208 thousand from 
R$54,818 thousand one year ago, primarily as a result of the upturn in capital expenditures over the course of 
2010 in connection with our capital -intensive technology projects.  

Outsourced services 
Expenses with outsourced services went up 7.7% year-on-year, to R$51,803 thousand from R$48,102 
thousand previously, primarily as a result of an upsurge in consulting fees paid over the year, including in 
connection with IT and internal controls audits of brokerage firms carried out within the scope of our 
Operating Qualification Program, known as PQO (Programa de Qualificação Operacional).  

Communications 
Expenses with communications fell 11.1% year-on-year to R$22,959 thousand from R$25.819 thousand in the 
prior year, due mainly to a fall in the volume of correspondence mailed to inv estors, which includes execution 
confirmation notices and custody account statements.  

Marketing and promotion 
Marketing and promotion expenses hit R$38,609 thousand from R$42,376 thousand one year ago, a 8.9% 
decline primarily due to a shift in policy whi ch redirected the expenses with financial education initiatives and 
marketing campaigns to more affordable channels.  

Contribution to MRP (Guarantee Fund transferred to BSM) 
 This expense results from an extraordinary and non-recurring transfer related to R$92,342 thousand in 
restricted funds passed to BSM. These restricted funds had been segregated from our assets and reserved as 
a Guarantee Fund within the scope of an investor compensation scheme in the case of claims against the MRP 
(Investor Compensation Mechanism Fund) managed by BSM. We had control of the Guarantee Fund. In line 
with our policy to strengthen and consolidate BSM as an autonomous and financially independent self-
regulatory organization, enforcer and overseer of the markets, we transferre d control and management of the 
Guarantee Fund and passed the funds to BSM, unifying the management of resources related to MRP. In 
doing so, we also passed on behalf of BSM any interest income earning on future financial investments of 
these funds. 

Gain (loss) on equity-method investment (equity in the results of subsidiaries and investees) 
Starting from the third quarter of 2010, when we increased to 5.0% our ownership interest in shares of the 
CME Group, we now account for this investment under the equity method of accounting and recognize gains 
and losses through profit or loss in the statement of income. Our gain from the investment in CME Group 
totaled R$219,461 thousand, up 473.9% from R$38,238 thousand one year ago, due to (i) an incremental 
gain in the CME Group results from an extraordinary reversal of provision for taxes; but also (ii) because our 
investment in CME Group shares began to be accounted for as an equity-method investment only in the third 
quarter of 2010, whereas the 2011 figure accounts for a full-year recognition of our share in the results of the 
investee, thereby affecting the year -on-year comparability of this line item .  

It is worth noting that this line item includes our recognition of R$62,987.3 thousand worth of tax benef it in 
the form of income tax to offset against income tax paid abroad. Of this amount, R$44,936.4 thousand were 
offset against current income tax and social contribution payable, as discussed below in the óincome tax and 
social contributionô line item, under óincome before taxation on profitô in the statement of income. 

Interest income, net  
Net interest income of R$280,729 thousand shed 2.9% from R$298,039 thousand one year ago. Interest 
revenue climbed to R$357,720 thousand from R$329,084 thousand the year before influenced by an increase 
in average interest rate earned on financial investments and higher average cash invested in short- and long-
term investments. However, the interest revenues were negatively impacted by an increase in interest 
expenses, which climbed to R$76,991 thousand from R$40,045 thousand one year ago due to coupon 
payments required to be made to global senior notes issued in our July 2010 cross-border offering.  

Income before taxation on profit  
Income before taxation on profit fell s lightly, by 0.3% year -on-year, to R$1,588,210 thousand from 
R$1,592,515 thousand the year before, explained primarily by proportionally higher year -on expenses over a 
substantially unchanged revenue base, particularly the one-off effect of the passing of a  Guarantee Fund 
(R$92,342 thousand) to BSM, coupled with the year-on increase in expenses with our stock options plan and 
the equity pickup on our equity -method investment, as previously discussed.  
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Income tax and social contribution  
Income tax and social contribution for the year totaled R$539,681 thousand, up 20.5% from R$448,029 
thousand in the prior year. This line item comprises current income tax and social contribution amounting to 
R$49,422 thousand, including R$44,936.4 thousand which we offset against income tax paid abroad (such as 
discussed previously under the ógain (loss) on equity-method investmentô line item), such that just the 
difference of R$4,485.6 thousand had an impact on cash flow generation.  

Additionally, the line item ódeferred income tax and social contributionô amounted to R$490,259 thousand, 
comprised of  

 Recognition of deferred tax liabilities of R$498,252 thousand related to temporary differences 
attributable mainly to amortization of goodwill for tax purpos es, with no impact on cash flow for the 
year; and 

 Recognition of deferred tax assets amounting to R$7,993.0 thousand related to tax losses, negative 
tax base and tax credits related to other temporary provisions.  

Net income for the year  
Net income for the year declined 8.4% year-on-year to R$1,048,529 thousand at December 31, 2011 from 
R$1,144,486 thousand one year ago.  

Net income attributable to BM&FBOVESPA shareholders  
Net income attributable to BM&FBOVESPA shareholders of R$1,047,999 thousand was down 8.4% year-on-
year from R$1,144,561 thousand the year before, primarily due to proportionally higher expenses having 
taken a larger share of a virtually unchanged revenue base, with a note concerning the one -off expense 
recognized in connection with the passing of restricted funds (Guarantee Fund) to BSM and the expenses with 
the stock options plan, both discussed previously herein.  
 
MAIN  LINE  ITEMS  OF THE BALANCE SHEET STATEMENT 

Year ended December 31, 2011 compared with year ended December 31, 2010.  

TOTAL ASSETS  
At R$ 23,589,922 thousand, total assets climbed 4.2% from R$22,633,975 thousand one year ago.  

Current assets 
Current assets fell 5.7% year-on-year to R$2,401,134 thousand from R$2,547,589 thousand the year before.  

Cash and cash equivalents; short-and long-term financial investments 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, in addition to short- and long-term 
liquid investments with prime banks and in financial investment funds, government bonds and other financial 
assets (thus encompassing short- and long-term financial investments registered under current and 
noncurrent assets). At December 31, 2011, cash and cash equivalents and (short- and long-term) financial 
investments totaled R$3,782,411 thousand, a 10.1% year-on-year rise from R$3,435,345 thousand one year 
ago.  

Noncurrent assets 
Noncurrent assets of R$21,206,839 thousand climbed 5.6% year-on-year from R$20,086,386 thousand one 
year ago. Set forth below is a brief discussion of the main changes to line items under noncurrent assets not 
previously discussed.  

Investments 
This line item increased 18.5% year-on-year to R$2,710,086 thousand from R$2,286,537 thousand previously. 
The óinvestmentsô line item substantially consist of investment in associate which we account for under the 
equity method of accounting, and relate to  ownership interest (5.0%) we hold in shares of the CME Group, 
which at December 31, 2011, was recorded at R$2,673,386 thousand. The year-on-year change first noted 
above is attributable primarily to devaluation of the Brazilian real against the U.S. dollar over the year and our 
recognition of the gain on equity -method investment.  

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets were up slightly, by 0.9% year -on-year, to R$16,354,127 thousand from R$16,215,903 
thousand previously.  Intangible assets consist of (i) good will, which kept a steady line at R$16,064,309 
thousand by year-end in each year, and accounted for 68.1% and 71.0% of total assets at December 31, 
2011 and 2010, respectively; and (ii) software and projects, which soared 91.2% year -on-year to R$289,818 
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thousand from R$151,594 thousand earlier due mainly to acquisition, implementation and development of 
new software applications and systems. 

Current liabilities 
Current liabilities rose 36.3% year-on-year to R$1,929,946 thousand from R$1,416,204 thousand the year 
before. Set forth below is a brief description of the main changes to line items under current liabilities.  

Collateral for transactions 
Collateral for transactions at year-end amounting to R$1,501,022 thousand jumped 57.2% from R$954,605 
thousand one year ago. This change is due mainly to a year-on upsurge in cash collateral pledged as margin 
by participants. 

Noncurrent liabilities 
Noncurrent liabilities of R$2,402,485 thousand surged 33.6% from R$1,798,723 thousand in the prior year.  
Set forth below is a brief description of the main changes to line items under noncurrent liabilities.   

Debt issued abroad and loans 
Loans and financing amounting to R$1,138,659 thousand rose 12.7% from R$1,010,059 thousand one year 
earlier, primarily on account of the devaluation of Brazilian reais (our functional currency) against the U.S. 
dollar, which is the transaction currency for our global senior notes issued abroad (in a cross-border bond 
offering completed on July 16, 2010).  

Deferred income tax and social contribution  
Deferred income tax and social contribution liabilities amounted to R$1,204,582 thousand versus R$732,074 
thousand one year ago, a 64.5% year-on-year surge resulting from recognition of the temporary difference 
between the tax base of goodwill and its balance sheet carrying value (as while goodwill continues to be 
amortized for tax purposes, starting from January 1, 2009, it is no longer amortized for accounting purposes, 
thus resulting in a goodwill tax base that is lower than its carrying valu e). 

Shareholdersô equity 
Shareholdersô equity of R$19,257,491 thousand was virtually unchanged with a scanty 0.8% year-on-year 
drop from R$19,419.048 thousand earlier.  
 
COMPARATIVE  ANALYSIS  OF STATEMENTS OF INCOME   

Year ended December 31, 2010 compared wi th year ended December 31, 2009.  

Gross revenues  
Gross revenues of R$2,111.539 thousand in 2010 were up 25.6% from R$1,680,919 thousand one year 
earlier primarily due to 22.7% and 64.7% rebounds in volumes traded on equities and derivatives markets, 
respectively.  

Transaction revenues - Trading fees or clearing and settlement fees ï BM&F segment 
Revenues from trading or clearing and settlement fees derived in the BM&F segment totaled R$722.065 
thousand, having soared 35.2% year-on-year from R$534,189 thousand in the prior year due primarily to a 
64.7% rise in average volumes traded in derivatives (to R$701.545 thousand from R$513.185 thousand in the 
prior year), which was partially counterbalance by a 16.9% decline in average rate per contract (RPC).  

Transaction revenues - Trading fees or clearing and settlement fees ï  Bovespa segment 
Revenues from trading or clearing and settlement fees derived in the Bovespa segment climbed 25.3% year-
on-year, to R$1,049,300 thousand versus R$837,326 thousand in the prior year, explained mainly by changes 
to the following line items under ótransaction revenues ï Bovespa segment.ô  

Trading Fees ï trading systems 
This revenue line item was up 21.8% year -on-year, to R$737,074 thousand from R$605,244 thousand earlier, 
reflecting a 22.7% surge in total value traded in the yea r. However this growth in revenues from trading fees 
was somewhat curbed by a drop in margin attributable to the mix of investors more actively trading in the 
period, including increased volume and value traded by domestic institutional investors, from who m we 
charged lower average fee rates. 

Transaction fees ï clearing and settlements systems 
Revenues from fees our equities clearing house charged on clearing and settlement transactions relative to 
trades in Bovespa segment markets were up 22.6% year-on-year, to R$254,904 thousand from R$207,914 
thousand previously, which is explained by the same factors discussed above.  
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Other revenues from trading or clearing and settlement fees  
Revenues from other trading or clearing and settlement fees earned in the segment soared 137.2% year -on-
year to R$57,322 thousand from R$24,168 thousand in the earlier year primarily due to the increase in 
number of equity offerings (and largely on account of the massive seasoned offering of Petrobras), which 
resulted in clearing and settlement revenues of R$47,394 thousand, as compared with R$14,228 thousand 
one year earlier. 

Other revenues  
Other revenues climbed 9.9% to R$340,174 thousand from R$309,404 thousand in the prior year. Set forth 
below is a brief description of the main changes to line items under other revenues.  

Securities lending services 
Revenues from securities lending services amounting to R$49,443 thousand were up 49.9% from R$32,989 
thousand in the prior year due mainly to a 61.5% upsurge in the average financial value of open interest 
positions, which rose to R$20.5 billion from R$12.7 billion one year earlier. 

Listing 
Revenues from listing amounting to R$44,392 thousand were up 12.2% year -on-year from R$39,549 
thousand earlier due mainly to revenues from offering registration application fees, which soared 83.6% year -
on-year, the revenues from listin g annuities, which went up 7.5% from the prior year; and a reduction in 
discounts previously granted on listing annuities. 

Depository, custody, back office services 
This line item climbed 22.3% year -on-year, to R$88,263 thousand from R$72,167 thousand earlier. Revenues 
from services provided by our central securities depository rose 18.4%, to R$69,169 thousand from R$58,404 
thousand in the prior year primarily on account of a 10.3% rise in average number of custody accounts (610.8 
thousand accounts in 2010 versus 553.7 thousand accounts the year before) and a 25.8% lift in average 
financial value of assets under custody (R$472.6 billion versus R$375.6 billion in the prior year), not including 
custody of ADRs and custody services provided to nonresident investors. 

Settlement Bank  
The revenues from financial services fees earned by the BM&F Settlement Bank were up 4.4% year-on-year, 
to R$17,028 thousand from R$16,315 thousand one year earlier. The results ascertained by the BM&F 
Settlement Bank for the years 2010 and 2009, of R$8,985 thousand and R$8,025 thousand, respectively, 
were previously recorded under net interest income and in 2011 were reclassified and recognized under óother 
revenuesô, with no impact on net income or shareholdersô equity. 

Other revenues  
Other revenues dropped 36.1% year-on-year to R$19,516 thousand from R$30,537 thousand for the earlier 
year, mainly because we no longer report dividends received from the CME Group under this line item, since 
starting from July 2010 our investment in s hares of the CME Group is accounted for under the equity method 
of accounting. In addition, in 2009 we reported revenues from a Campos do Jordão congress organized by us, 
which are not annually recurring as these congresses take place every two years.   

Deductions from revenue 
Deductions from revenue totaled R$212,797 thousand from R$170,350 thousand the year before, a 24.9% 
climb consistent with the increase in gross revenues for the year.  

Net income  
As a result of the changes in revenue line items discussed above, net income amounted to R$1,898,742 
thousand, up 25.7% from R$1,510,569 thousand in the prior year.  

Expenses 
Expenses totaled R$633.504 thousand, a year-on-year climb of 11.2% from R$569,832  thousand in the earlier 
year. The principal changes in expense line items are set forth below. 

Personnel and related expenses 
Expenses with personnel and related expenses of R$290,107 thousand increased slight 0.1% year-on-year, 
virtually unchanged from R$289,806 thousand previously. This movement is explained by factors as the 
August 2010 salary increase required under our existing collective bargaining agreement, which represented a 
6% increase in payroll; a 12.3% year -on-year climb in headcount, in line with our growth strategy, such that 
most new hirings occurred in technology areas and the business development department. Expenses with the 
stock options plan in turn dropped 48.1% year -on-year, to R$30,921 thousand from R$59,634 thousand 
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earlier. In add ition, in 2009, personnel expenses were impacted by first -quarter severance payments in the 
aggregate of R$18,000 thousand due to terminations on account of a functional restructuring process . 

Data processing  
Data processing expenses totaling R$101,690 thousand were substantially flat (0.9% drop) from R$102,596 
thousand in the prior year. The slight drop is due to an increase in time billed by outsourced providers in 
connection with certain capital expenditure projects (the costs of which are allocated to the relevant projects), 
counterbalanced by rent payments (starting from July 2010) for the premises at which our new backup data 
center is located. 

Depreciation and amortization 
The expenses with depreciation and amortization went up 29.3% year -on-year, to R$54,818 thousand from 
R$42,396 thousand one year earlier, primarily as a result of a 51.7% increase in property and equipment over 
the year.  

Outsourced services 
Expenses with outsourced services went up 5.7% year-on-year, to R$48,102 thousand from R$45,495 
thousand previously, primarily as a result of legal fees paid in connection with international partnership 
agreements we entered into over the year.  

Communications 
Expenses with communications rose 10.2% year-on-year to R$25.819 thousand from R$23,428 thousand in 
the prior year, due mainly to the increase in number of trades on Bovespa markets, as the Exchange sends 
investors, by mail, execution confirmation notices and custody account statements.   

Marketing and promotion 
Marketing and promotion expenses reached R$42,376 thousand soaring 116.7% year-on-year from R$19,555 
thousand previously, as a result mainly of redoubled financial education initiatives and marketing campaigns, 
in particular those that are designed to attr act prospective retail investors.  

Gain (loss) on equity-method investments (equity in the results of subsidiaries and investees) 
Starting from the third quarter of 2010, when we increased to 5.0% our ownership interest in shares of the 
CME Group, we now account for this investment under the equity method of accounting and recognize gains 
and losses through profit or loss in the statement of income. For the year ended December 31, 2010, we 
recognized a profit on the investment amounting to R$38,238 thousand .  

Interest income, net  
Net interest income of R$289,039 thousand climbed 17.6% year-on-year, from R$245,837 thousand one year 
earlier. Interest revenues for the year increased to R$329,084 thousand from R$262,518 thousand in the prior 
year influenced by the rising interest rates earned on financial investments and higher average cash invested. 
In turn, net interest income was impacted by an increase in interest expenses for the year, which shot to 
R$40,045 thousand from R$16,681 thousand in the prior year due to the recognition of coupon payments 
made on global senior notes issued in a bond offering we completed in July 2010.  

Income before taxation on profit  
Income before taxation on profit climbed 34.2% year -on-year, to R$1,592,515 thousand from R$1,186,574 
thousand the year before, and correlates primarily with our low operating leverage, as evidenced by 
proportionally higher revenues as compared to the increase in expenses. 

Income tax and social contribution  
Income tax and social contribution for the ye ar totaled R$448,029 thousand, up 47.1% from R$304,505 
thousand in the prior year. Income tax and social contribution breaks down as follows:  

 The line item for current income tax and social contribution registered an expense of R$5,408 thousand 
at December 31, 2010, as compared to revenue of R$32,085 thousand in the prior year . 

 The line item for deferred income tax and social contribution registered an expense R$442,621 
thousand at December 31, 2010, as compared to expense of R$336,590 thousand at December 31, 
2009, a 31.5% year -on-year rise. This line item substantially correlates with deferred tax liabilities 
related to temporary differences from amortization of goodwill for tax purposes, with no impact on 
cash flow, and amounting to R$445.155 thousand at December 31, 2010 versus R$333,917 thousand 
in the prior year.  
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Net income for the year  
Net income for the year increased 29.8% year-on-year to R$1,144,486 thousand at December 31, 2010, from 
R$882,069 thousand in the earlier year. 

Net income attributable to BM&FBOVESPA shareholders  
Net income attributable to shareholders went up 29.9% year -on-year, to R$1,144,561 thousand from 
R$881,050 thousand earlier, primarily due to the 25.6% increase in gross revenues, 17.6% rise in net incom e 
interest and R$38,238 thousand worth of profit on equity -method investment, which we now recognize in the 
income statement. 
 
MAIN  LINE  ITEMS  OF THE BALANCE SHEET STATEMENT 

Year ended December 31, 2010 compared with year ended December 31, 2009  

TOTAL ASSETS  
At R$ R$22,633,975 thousand, total assets climbed 8.6% from R$20,837,839 thousand one year ago.  

Current assets 
Current assets at December 31, 2010, fell 26.6% year-on-year to R$2,547,589 thousand from R$3,468,852 
thousand the year before. 

Cash and cash equivalents; financial investments 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, in addition to short- and long-term 
liquid investments with prime banks and in financial investment funds, government bonds and other financ ial 
assets. As of December 31, 2010, cash and cash equivalents and financial investments amounted to 
aggregate R$3,435,345 thousand, which accounted for 15.2% of our total assets at that date and represented 
decline of 12.6% from R$3,391,783 thousand one y ear earlier, when they accounted for 18.9% of total 
assets.  The primary factor justifying the fall in total cash and cash equivalents and financial investments was 
the account reclassification of our increased ownership interest in shares of the CME Group, now accounted 
for under the equity method of accounting in the óinvestmentsô line item (investment in associate) and 
recorded for R$695,572 thousand at December 31, 2010. 

Noncurrent assets 
Noncurrent assets climbed 15.6% year-on-year to R$20,086,386 thousand from R$17,368,987 thousand the 
year before. Set forth below is a brief discussion of the main changes to line items under noncurrent assets 
not discussed previously herein.  

Investments 
Investments totaling R$2,286,537 thousand substantially consist of investment in associate and relate to 
ownership interest we hold in shares of the CME Group, which at December 31, 2010, was recorded at 
R$2,248,325 thousand.  In July 2010, after we increased our overall equity interest in CME shares to 5% 
(from 1.8% e arlier) the investment was reclassified from óavailable-for-sale financial investmentô to 
óinvestment in associateô and is now accounted for under the equity method of accounting. 

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets went up slightly by 0.5% year -on-year to R$16,215,903 thousand R$16,128,332 thousand 
previously. Intangible assets consist of (i) goodwill, which kept a steady line at R$16,064,309 thousand by 
year-end in each year, and accounted for 71.0% and 77.1% of total assets at December 31, 2010 and 2009,  
respectively; and (ii) software and projects, which surged 136.8% to R$151,594 thousand in 2010 from 

R$64,023 thousand one year earlier due mainly to acquisition, implementation and development of new 
software applications and systems. 

Current liabilities 
Current liabilities rose 24.0% to R$1,416,204 thousand at December 31, 2010 from R$1,142,074 thousand 
one year earlier. Set forth below is a brief description of the main changes to line items under current 
liabilities. 

Collateral for transactions 
Collateral for transactions which at year -end amounted to R$954,605 thousand jumped 17.8% as compared 
to R$810,317 thousand one year earlier. This change is due to increase in cash collateral pledged as margin 
by participants and correlates with the yearly surge in number of transactions within the scope of our clearing 
houses and central securities depository. 
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Noncurrent liabilities 
Noncurrent liabilities in the amount to R$1,798,723 thousand at December 31, 2010 soared 409.7% when 
compared to R$352,872 thousand one year earlier. This change is due primarily to debt we undertook in our 
July 2010 cross-border bond offering, and to our having recognized deferred income tax and social 
contribution amounting to R$257,216 thousand at year -end, as resulting from tempora ry differences between 
the tax base of goodwill and its balance sheet carrying value (since while goodwill continues to be amortized 
for tax purposes, starting from January 1, 2009, it is no longer amortized for accounting purposes, thus 
resulting in a goodwill tax base that is lower than its carrying value).  

Debt issued abroad and loans  
Loans and financing amounted to R$1,010,059 thousand at December 31, 2010, as compared to R$2,495 
thousand the year before, primarily on account of debt we undertook from  issuing global senior notes abroad 
in a US$612 million bond offering completed on July 16, 2010, as funding for our acquisition of additional 
ownership interest in the shares of the CME Group, which investment currently represents 5.0% of the CME 
shares (up from 1.8% previously).  For additional information on this acquisition, see subsection 10.1(f) of 
this form.  

Shareholdersô equity 
Shareholdersô equity rose 0.4% year-on-year to R$19,419.048 thousand from R$19,342,893 thousand in the 
prior year. This slight increase resulted from incremental allocation to our statutory reserve (under the 
órevenue reserveô line item) for the funding of safeguard mechanisms and guarantee funds we keep in 
connection with clearing and settlement activities and as part of an investor compensation mechanism, as 
required under our bylaws, which was counterbalanced by an increase in the ótreasury sharesô line item 
attributable to implementation of our share buyback program.  
 

10.2.  Managementôs discussion and analysis of  

a. The results of operations and, in particular : 

i.  Material revenue components  

Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to year ended December 31, 2010  

Our consolidated gross operating revenues climbed by flimsy 0.2% year-on-year R$ R$2,115,983 thousand 
from R$2,111.539 thousand one year ago. 

 Transaction revenues derived from trading or clearing and settlement fees charged within our Bovespa 
segment declined 8.1% year -on-year and amounted to R$964,702 thousand, reflecting a combination of 
virtually unchanged average trading volume and a fall in average basis point margin (to 5.79 bps from 
6.19 one year ago). The relatively subdued financial value (volume) traded and this margin fall were due 
mainly to the larger share of overall volume attributable to high frequency and day trading, from which 
we derive fees at lower-than-average margins, coupled with a stumble in average volumes traded in 
equity-based derivatives on options and forward markets, where we earn higher -than-average fees. 
Another factor further reining in revenues was the slow equity offering market as prospective issuers 
responded to worsening market conditions by taking a wait -and-see attitude (with the caveat, however, 
that in the comparative year to December 31, 2010, the revenues from clearing and settlement fees 
earned on equity offerings had ballooned on account of the massive seasoned offering implemented by 
Petrobras.  

 Transaction revenues derived from trading or clearing and settlement fees charged within our BM&F 
segment jumped 5.3% year -on-year, to R$760.245 thousand, due primarily to a 7.8% year -on-year 
upsurge in volumes traded, which however was not fully captured as revenue due to a 2.5% drop in 
average rate per contract (RPC).   

 Revenues unrelated to trading or clearing and settlement activities soared 15.0% year -on-year to 
R$391.036 thousand and accounted for 20.6% of total gross revenues.  

Year ended December 31, 2010 compared to  year ended December 31, 2009  

Consolidated gross operating revenues of R$2,111,539 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2010, up 
25.6% from R$1,680,919 thousand one year ago primarily due to the recovery in volumes traded on both 
stock and derivatives markets (Bovespa and BM&F segments, respectively). 
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 Transaction revenues derived from trading or clearing and settlement fees charged within our Bovespa 
segment climbed 25.3% year-on-year, to R$1,049.300 thousand, reflecting the 22.7% year -over-year 
rise in average value traded, in addition the rise in number of equity offerings, from which we derived 
settlement revenues of R$47,395 thousand, as compared to R$14,228 thousand  one year ago. 
However, our margins dropped as a result of a change in the mix type s of investors more actively 
trading in the period, including a boom in trading activities by domestic institutional investors, from 
whom we charge lower average fee rates.  

 Transaction revenues derived from trading or clearing and settlement fees charged within our BM&F 
segment soared 35.2% year-on-year, to R$722.065 thousand, due primarily to a 64.7% year -on-year 
upsurge in volumes traded, which was not captured in full due to a 16.9% drop in average rate per 
contract (RPC).  

 Revenues unrelated to trading or clearing and settlement fees rose 9.9% year -on-year to R$340.174 
thousand from R$309.404 thousand one year earlier.  

 

ii.  Factors materially influencing the results of operations  
 

Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to year ended December 31, 2010  
After two years of feeble and uneven recovery from the financial crisis, the global economic and financial 
landscape in 2011 unveiled persistent weaknesses in developed economies.  Events as the Eurozone 
sovereign debt crisis and market mistrust that European policy makers would successfully implement 
necessary fiscal adjustment programs in countries as Italy, Spain and Portugal, but particularly in Greece; the 
downgrading of the U.S. credit rating; the problem of deteriorating output growth; and fears abou t Chinaôs 

economic slowdown creating, whose uncertainties lie in its size, all made up for an uneasy 
economic landscape. 

Meanwhile, in the domestic front, the economy experienced contrasting half -year periods as Brazilôs 
government made sensitive trade-offs between objectives and implemented measures shifting policy 
directions.  Over the first half of the year, signaling concern about existing inflationary pressures, the 
government repeatedly raised the benchmark interest rate (Selic), adopting macroprudent ial measures to curb 

credit growth and consumer demand, and to arrest the persistent currency appreciation, in the latter case by 
expanding the taxation of financial transactions (IOF) and increasing the rates of existing IOF levies, among 
other things.  

In the second half of the year, as the U.S. debt -ceiling crisis threatened global markets, and the Eurozone 
sovereign debt crisis deepened, putting the global economies, including Brazil, in further peril; and as 
expectations for domestic GDP growth in 2011 and 2012 pointedly declined (see the chart below), while 
industrial production weakened, the Brazilian government responded with fresh urgency in ratcheting the 
benchmark rate, shifting policies to incentivize consumer spending on durables, cutting taxes and loosening 
credit restrictions in an effort to stave off economic slowdown.  Some of the governmentôs macroprudential 
measures had a direct impact on the domestic capital markets, including markets BM&FBOVESPA operates.  
Such was the case, for example, when in July 2011, seeking to stem hot money inflows to halt the currency 
appreciation the government broadened its financial transactions tax (IOF tax) to charge increases in short 
dollar exposures at a 1% rate.  on the other hand, in December, a welcomed  switch happened when the 
government removed the 2% IOF tax charged on hot money inflows for investments in equity securities and 
equity-based derivatives.  

Against this backdrop, the average trading volume for the stock market (Bovespa segment) was virtua lly 
unchanged from the earlier year, though still an all -time record, which is explained by a number of reasons 
but primarily ï and more so towards the latter half of the year ï by dwindling expectations that market 
forecasts could still be beaten.  Additionally, the average basis point margin for markets comprising the Bovespa 
segment fell to 5.79 bps from 6.19 one year ago, pushed mainly by the larger share of overall volume 
attributable to high frequency and day trading, from which we derive fees at lowe r-than-average margins, 
coupled with a stumble in average volumes traded in equity -based derivatives on options and forward markets, 
where we earn higher-than-average fees.  The combination of these factors resulted in an 8.1% year -on-year 
decline in our revenues for the segment. Moreover, the after -effects of the IOF tax removal implemented by 
end-2011 (relative to trading in equity securities and equity -based derivatives by nonresident investors) will 
only materialize in any measurable way over the first few months of 2012.  
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In turn, the average daily volume traded in derivatives on markets comprising the BM&F segment rose 7.8% 
year-on-year in the wake of further growth in foreign trade and credit availability (particularly through fixed -
rate loan facilities) and the windings of the monetary policy over the year, all conducive to heightened 
hedging activity.  Moreover, the governmentôs policy shifts and turnabout moves translated into heightened 
volatility and successive changes in the mix of derivatives contracts more actively traded, from which we 
derive fees at varying rates.  Ultimately, this led to a 2.5% tumble in average rate per contract (RPC).  
Additionally, the intr oduction in July of an IOF tax levy on increases in short dollar exposures significantly 
depressed the volumes traded in forex contracts; so much so that a month -on-month comparison of periods 
of roughly similar volatility levels before and after the new t ax (i.e., May and October 2011) point to a 20.0% 
plunge in average volume.  The combination of these factors resulted in a 5.3% year -on-year rise in our 
revenues for the segment. 

Other factors that materially impacted our results of operations for 2011 as compared to 2010 include: 

 The one-off passing of the Guarantee Fund (R$92,342 thousand) to BSM, which we recognized as an 
extraordinary expense and increased our total expenses for 2011 by R$92,342 thousand;  

 The increase in expenses with the employee stock options plan, which soared 78.5% year-on-year, to 
R$55,191 thousand from R$30,921 thousand earlier, because differently from 2011 there were no option 
grants one year ago.  

 

Year ended December 31, 2010 compared to year ended December 31, 2009  

The Brazilian economy consolidated in 2010 the recovery started earlier in the aftermath of the global 
economic downturn driven by the international financial crisis of 2008. While other countries still wrestled with 
the longer-term effects of the downturn and E uropean policy makers tackled market mistrust trying to prevent 
a sovereign-debt collapse driven by the additional economic difficulties faced by certain eurozone countries, 
the Brazilian economy was visibly coming around. Evidencing the recovery, the Brazilian economy grew, credit 
availability and domestic consumption increased, and the Brazilian real registered strong appreciation against 
the U.S. dollar.  

This economic environment has positively impacted on our financial and operating performance. Volumes 
traded in 2010 hit unprecedented record highs in both the stock market (Bovespa segment) and the 
derivatives markets (BM&F segment). 

In the Bovespa segment, where for months market overhang sparked by uncertainties around the then -
upcoming Petrobras offering had slowed trading significantly, but deal flows sprang back promptly after the 
offering closed. In addition, a subsequent rebound in the market prices for stocks positively influenced 
volumes traded on the equities markets.  

In the BM&F segment, heightened credit availability and volatility driven by differing perceptions and 
expectations about the Central Bankôs decisions on the direction and size of the Selic rate, which is the 
Brazilian base interest rate, coupled with a boost in foreign trad e, pushed the volumes traded decisively. 

However, while not having affected the fundamentals of the Brazilian economy, the international economic 
landscape did impact on our markets, particularly the stock market, as the eurozone crisis sparked by the 
sovereign debt crisis among EU nations deepened, leading to uncertainties about the future of the Euro, to 
negative market sentiment and high volatility. In addition, the October 2010 changes in IOF taxation (tax on 
financial transactions), which the Brazilian government adopted in an exercise designed to curb the 
appreciation of the Brazilian real against the U.S. dollar, affected trading volumes negatively by containing 

market sentiment on account of uncertainties about additional future measures towards the same end.  
 

b.  Changes in revenues attributable to fluctuations in market prices, exchange 
rates, inflation rates, changes in volumes and offerings of new products or 
services   

 

Year ended December 31, 2010 compared to year ended December 31, 2009  

Changes in revenues attributable to changes in our pricing policies or to fluctuations in exchange rates 
include: 

 Trading and post-trade transactions within the Bovespa segment.  In August 2011 we announced the 
results of a comprehensive review of our pricing policy for the segment, which was designed to eliminate 
cross subsidies embedded in fee rates across our trading and post-trade business lines.  In reviewing 
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this policy, we were concerned to ensure it would have óneutral effectô relative to overall cost-by-trade 
for market participants and investors (per then existing pricing structure), while adequately rebalancing 
the fee structure to correct price distortions . As a result of this review and rebalancing effort, the 
aggregate of trading and settlement fees we no w charge account for average 30% of the overall cost -
by-trade within the Bovespa segment, which is in line with international pricing practices and has not 
adversely affected the overall cost-by-trade for investors.  

 Trading and post-trade transactions within the BM&F segment.  In October 2011, with similar objectives 
as discussed above, we announced the results of a similar comprehensive review of our pricing policy for 
the segment.  Under the new pricing structure, after our rebalancing effort, the aggreg ate of the fees we 
charge for trading and post -trade services now account for average 40% of the overall cost -by-trade for 
the segment.  

 Listing.  The discounts previously granted on listing annuities came to an end, as announced in 2009 
when we implemented a change in policy for phased-out termination of annuity discounts.  

 Market data sales.  The change in pricing policies implemented in August 2010 slashed the fees we 
charge from traders doing business through our Home Broker platform and impacted our re venues from 
market data sales for the full year, thus affecting the year -over-year comparability.  

 Participant access (order entry and other fees charged within Bovespa segment).  Aimed at boosting 
trading volumes, we reviewed our pricing policies and revised the market access price schedule to cut 
fee rates for unexecuted orders in excess of the order-per-trade cap (implemented in March and 
December 2011).  We also revised the price schedule for technology services we provide to brokerage 
firms, which included cuts in fees for use of the Sinacor system (our integrated system for brokerôs 
management of back, middle and front -office activities) and for connection to the BM&FBOVESPA 
Communications Network, or RCB (in March 2011). 

 Depository, custody and back-office services (Treasury Direct platform) .  This is a program we 
established in cooperation with the Brazilian Treasury and a platform we operate through our central 
securities depository for retail investors to trade in government bonds through the Internet.  In 
December 2010 we announced a program designed to expand the Treasury Direct (Tesouro Direto) 
investor base, encourage long-term household savings and increase the savings rate. For this purpose, 
the program included incentives to custodians (banks and brokerage firms) for government bonds and 
treasury bills traded on this platform, in the form of a 0.15% credit on the overall financial value 
(volume) of trades allocated by  custodian.  As a result of this successful strategy, the number of retail 
traders actively doing business through this platform soared 57.0% from the earlier year.  We have since 
extended the program through 2012, with a 0.10% credit over total volume by custodian.  

We should note the above changes were designed not to have, and had no significant impact on our 
consolidated results for 2011.  

 
Year ended December 31, 2010 compared to year ended December 31, 2009  

Changes in revenues attributable to changes in our pricing policies or to fluctuations in exchange rates 
include: 

 Listing.  We implemented a reduction in discounts granted on listing annuities as part of the policy 

announced in 2009 for phased out termination of the annuity discounts.  

 Market data sales.  In August 2010 we implemented a new pricing policy designed to attract retail 
trading through our ñHome Brokerò system. Also, the revenues derived from market data Sales was 
negatively impacted by a 11.7% currency apprecisation, once foreign clients represent one third of the 
revenues in this business. Market participant access fees: We implemented a new pricing policy for the 
technology package used by market participants, which reduced prices for some services. 

 High Frequency Traders: under our new policy for high frequency traders operating in either the 
Bovespa or BM&F segments, which took effect in November 2010, high frequency traders holding HFT 
registration accounts are granted progressive discounts based on intraday trading volume bands.  

We should note the above changes were designed not to have, and had no significant impact on our 
consolidated results for 2010.  
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c. Impact on financial condition and results of operations attributable to inflation 
rate; changes in market prices for the principal raw materials and other 
supplies; changes in exchange and interest rates.   

Not applicable. 
 

10.3.  Managementôs discussion and analysis of actual or expected material effects of the 
factors set forth below on the financial statements or results of operations.   

a. Creation or disposition of operating segment.  

No new operating segment has been created or sold in the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009. 
Accordingly, no such event has had or is expected to have any effects on our financial statements, financial 
condition or results of operations.  
 

b.  Company organization; acquisition or disposition of ownership interest.  

No event entailing the organization of a company has occurred in the prior year, no r any acquisition or 
disposition of ownership interest carried out in the year ended December 31, 2011.  

In July 2010 we acquired an additional 3.2% interest in the shares of the CME Group, thereby raising our 
aggregate ownership interest to 5% of the shar es (from 1.78% previously) and making BM&FBOVESPA CMEôs 
largest shareholder6. Following this additional acquisition, the investment has been accounted for under the 
equity method of accounting, and the effects of thereof were recognized and accounted for i n the year ended 
December 31, 2010. 

No event entailing the organization of a company has occurred in the prior year, nor any acquisition or 
disposition of ownership interest carried out in the year ended December 31, 2009.  
 
 

c. Unique or extraordinary events  or transactions.  

10.4.  There have been no one-off or other extraordinary events or transactions related to us or our 

activities in the years to December 2011, 2010 and 2009, which has or is expected to have a material 
effect on our financial statements or results of operations. Discussion and analysis of  

a. Significant changes in accounting practices  

There were no significant changes to our accounting practices in the year ended December 31, 2011.  

Our consolidated financial statements as of and for December 31, 2010, were the initial consolidated 
financial statements prepared and presented under Brazilôs CPC and IFRS.  The consolidated financial 
statements were prepared and presented in accordance with accounting standards CPC 37 (IFRS 1 ï 
First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards)  and CPC 43 (First-time Adoption of 
Brazilian Accounting Standards CPC 15 to 41),  in addition to IFRS 1 (First-time Adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards). For additional information see subsection 10.1(h) under 
the heading ñSignificant changes to line items of the financial reportsò. 

The transition date for adoption of international financial reporting standards is January 21, 2009. 
Accordingly, Management prepared the opening balance sheet in accordance with Brazilôs CPC and 

IFRS applied retrospectively to January 1, 2009. 
 

b.  Significant effects of changes in accounting practices  

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of shareholdersô equity and net income for the year from previous 
Brazilian GAAP to IFRS. 

 

 

 

                                                 
6
 Source: Thomson Reuters 
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BM&FBOVESPA 

 
Consolidated 

  
(in R$ thousands) 

{ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ Ŝquity reconciliation  
At December 31, 

 
At January 1, 

 
2009 

 
2009 

     

{ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ Ŝǉǳƛǘȅ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎ Brazilian GAAPΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΦΦΦ 
 

19,709,749 
 

19,291,724 
     

Impairment loss on investment in CME Group shares  
(a)

 ΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΦΧΧΦΦ 
 

(460,610) 
 

(460,610) 

Adjustment for mark-to-market measurement of shares in CME Group classified 

as available for sale  
(b)

 ΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΦΧΦΦ  
77,396 

 
- 

Dividend recognized in excess of the mandatory dividend at the balance sheet 

date  
(c)

 ΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΦΧΦΦΧ  
20,000 

 
200,001 

Contribution to establishing BSM previously treated as ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘΧΦΧΧΧΧΦΧΦΦΦ 
 

(20,000) 
 

(20,000) 
     

  
19,326,535 

 
19.011.115 

     

Non-controlling interests  
(d)

 ΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΦΦ 
 

16,358 
 

15,339 
     

{ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ Ŝǉǳƛǘȅ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ LCw{ΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧ 
 

19,342,893 
 

19.026.454 

 

  
Consolidated 

  
(in R$ thousands) 

Net Income reconciliation 
 

At December 31, 
2009 

   

Net income disclosed in accordance with previous Brazilian 
GAAPΧΧΧΧΦΦΧΧ  

881,050 

   

Non-controlling interests  
(d)

 

ΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΦΧΧΦ  
1,019 

   

Net income disclosed in accordance with 
IFRSΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧΧ  

882,069 

________________________________ 

(a)  Under previous GAAP, which were effective through December 31, 2009, the investment in CME 

was recorded at historical cost under noncurrent assets, in accordance with CPC 14 (IAS 39 and 32- 
parts) ï Financial Instruments: Recognition, Measurement and Disclosures, such that the investment 
was subject impairment testing using the discounted cash flow method to determine value in use, 
according to as required under CPC 01 (IAS 36)  - Impairment of Assets in connection with 
investments valued at cost. 

After CPC 38 (IAS 39) took effect in 2010, the investment was reclassified under the ófinancial 
instrumentsô group, designated as available-for-sale financial asset, and adjusted to fair value. Thus, 
for purposes of fair value measurements the adopted standard was that of quoted market price in an 
active market (stock exchange). 

Thus, after the investment was designated an available-for-sale financial asset, impairment tests 
would compare the market value of the shares at the valuation base date with the investment 
acquisition cost (CPC 38/IAS 39), using ósignificant or sustained declineô in market price as indication 
of impairment loss.  

As a result, given the significant decline in the market price for CME shares over the last quarter of 
2008, BM&FBOVESPA adjusted the investment in CME Group to its recoverable value recognizing 
impairment loss of R$697,893 thousand and deferred tax asset amounting to R$237,283 thousand, 
with net -of-tax impact of R$460,610 in equity for 2008.  

After the acquisition of additional owner ship interest in the CME Group in July 2010, the aggregate 
investment was re-designated as investment in associate under CPC 18 (IAS 28) ï Investment in 
Associates  and accounted for under the equity method of account, whereas the net -of-tax impairment 
loss of R$460,610 thousand previously registered was reversed against equity, establishing the new 
cost basis for the investment.  

(b)  Mark-to-market measurements over 2009 for comparison with the new cost basis established for 
the investment in CME Group shares resulted in a positive effect, net of taxes, amounting to R$77,396 
thousand. 
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Then, starting from July 2010, as a result of the increase in the aggregate ownership interest in CME 
shares (to 5% from 1.8% previously), we began to account for this investment u nder the equity 
method of accounting.  

(c)  According to the CPC Interpretation 08, or ICPC 08 - Accounting for Dividend Payment Proposal, 
that portion of net income which is in excess of the annual mandatory dividend (as computed to 
include interest on shareholdersô equity) should be kept in equity, under a special account, pending 
final decision by the shareholders. Under CPC 25 (IAS 37) - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets, a provision should be recognized only where there is liability proper, i.e., a present 
obligation resulting from past events.  

(d)  CPC 26 (IAS 1) ï Presentation of Financial Statements. ñNon-controlling interestsò (the new name 
for minority interests) are now presented within equity.  

(e)  The following CPCs (IFRSs) accounting standards have been implemented with no impact on equity 
or net income:  

i. Segment Information (CPC 22/IFRS 8 ï Operating Segments) ï The consolidated financial 
statements of BM&F BOVESPA have been prepared and are presented by operating segment (Note 
24);  

ii. Earnings per share, or EPS (CPC 41/IAS 33 ï Earnings per Share) - Earnings per share are now 
presented as straightforward per -share profit or loss for the period attributable to shareholders and as 
divided by the weighted average number of shares outstandi ng (the denominator) during the period, 
not including treasury stock. In addition, we present diluted EPS as calculated by adjusting the 
earnings and number of shares for the effects of dilutive options and other potentially dilutive 
securities (as calculated after giving effect to outstanding securities convertible, exchangeable or 
exercisable for newly-issued shares). 

(f)  Optional exemptions to full retrospective application of CPCs/IFRSs. Consistent with CPC 37 (IFRS 
1 ï First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards), in preparing our initial and 
comparative financial information under current Brazilian and international financial reporting 
standards (CPCs/IFRSs), we applied mandatory exceptions to, and certain optional exemptions from 
the general principle of retrospective application.  Set forth below are the main exemptions under CPC 
37/IFRS 1 which are not applicable to us. 

i Business combinations ï We elected to adopt the exemption permitting BM&FBOVESPA to 
forgo application restating b usiness combination transactions (mergers) occurred prior to the 
transition date and opening balance sheet date of January 1, 2009;  

ii Deemed cost of fixed assets - We elected to adopt the exemption permitting BM&FBOVESPA to 
forgo the deemed-cost exemption, and preferring rather to adopt the carrying value for which our 
fixed assets had been registered under previous GAAP; 

iii Leases ï We elected to revisit existing contracts and, consistent with IFRIC 4 issued by the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretati ons Committee, reconsider whether in light of facts and 
circumstances as of the transition date any arrangement contained a lease not previously recognized 
as such, having found that all had been properly identified and recognized under previous GAAP, 
which in this regard were in line with the international financial reporting standards (CPCs/IFRSs);  

iv Share-based payments ï Share-based payments had been accounted for under previous GAAP, 
which in this regard were in line with the international financial repo rting standards (CPCs/IFRSs); and 

v Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries ï First-time adoption of IFRS has been implemented 
concurrently and consistently by us and all our subsidiaries.  

(g)  Exceptions to retrospective application of CPCs/IFRSs. The estimates we used in preparing our 
opening and comparative financial statements as of January 1, 2009, and December 31, 2009, are 
consistent with estimates used as of the same dates under previous GAAP. Other mandatory 
exceptions to retrospective application were not applicable as there were no significant differences in 
accounting practices under previous GAAP and current CPCs/IFRSs.  
 

c. Qualifications and emphasis of matter paragraphs included in the 
independent auditorsô report 

The independent auditorsô report on our financial statements as of and for the year ended December 
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31, 2011, released on February 14, 2012, includes an emphasis of matter paragraph as follows:  

The unconsolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the accounting 
practices adopted in Brazil.  In the case of BM&FBOVESPA S.A. ï Bolsa de Valores, Mercadorias 
e Futuros, those practices differ from IFRS applicable to separate financial statements only in 
reference to the accounting for the inve stments in subsidiaries and affiliates under the equity 
method, since IFRS would require them to be carried at cost or fair value. Our opinion is not 
qualified with respect to this matter.ò 

 

10.5.  Critical accounting policies and analysis, in particular, of acco unting estimates 
requiring Management to exercise judgment and make subjective assumptions about 
future events and uncertainties which can materially influence the financial condition 
and results of operations. Critical accounting estimates may relate to p rovisions, 
contingencies, recognition of revenues, tax credits, long -term assets, the useful life of 
noncurrent assets, pension schemes, adjustments for foreign currency translations, 
environmental recovery costs, impairment and recoverability testing stan dards for 
fair value measurement of assets and financial instruments, among other things.  

 

a. Financial instruments. 

(i)  Recognition and measurement 

The Company classifies financial assets under the following categories: designated at fair value through 
profit or loss; loans and receivables; held to maturity and available -for-sale.  The classification depends on 
the purpose for which a financial asset is acquired. Management determines a financial asset classification 
at the time of initial recognition.  

Thus, given the we are a securities, commodities and derivatives Exchange, both in legal nature and 
corporate purpose, and considering, further, the nature and objectives of our financial investments, 
Management typically determines that we recognize our financial investments as financial assets 
designated at fair value through  profit or loss upon initial recognition.  

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss  

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for active and 
frequent trading or assets we designate as measurable at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition. Derivatives may also classify as held-for-trading and, as such, are recorded under this 
category and classified under current assets. A gain or loss on a financial asset classified at fair value 
through profit or loss, which results from changes in fair value, is recognized in profit or l oss in the 
statement of income under the ñinterest incomeò line item, in the period in which these changes occur.  

Loans and receivables 

These comprise loans granted and receivables that are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments, not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are recorded under current 
assets, except for those maturing more than 12 months after the balance sheet date (which are classified 
under noncurrent assets). Our loans and receivables comprise trade accounts receivable and other 
accounts receivable. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost on an effective interest rate 
basis.  

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives designated on initial recognition as available for sale, 
or any other instruments not classified under any other category. They are recorded under noncurrent 
assets, unless management intends to sell the investment within 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Interest on available-for-sale securities, as 
computed using the effective interest method, is recognized in the statement of income as interest 
revenue. The cumulative holding (unrealized) gain or loss from changes in fair value is recognized in 
comprehensive income, in a fair value adjustment account, and recognized through profit or loss when 
realized upon a sale or impairment of the relevant available-for-sale financial asset. 

Fair value measurements  

Fair value measurements of securities quoted in an active market are based on current market prices. If a 
market for a financial instrument is not active or a security is unquoted, fair value is measured through 
valuation techniques, such as, for example, option pricing models.  
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At the balance sheet date, Management makes an objective assessment to determine whether a given 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  

(ii)  Derivative instruments and hedging activities 

Derivatives are recorded at fair value on initial recognition, as of the date of the derivatives instrument, 
and subsequently measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized through profit or loss, 
except where a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge.  

(iii)  Hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation  

A gain or loss on a hedging instrument attributable to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in 
comprehensive income. A gain or loss attributable to any ineffective portion of the hedge is promptly 
recognized through profit or loss under the ñother gains (losses), net" line item. Cumulative gains or losses 
recognized in equity are recognized through profit or loss in the statement of income at the time all or 
some of the foreign operation (the hedged item) is sold or otherwise disposed of.  We have designated as 
hedging instrument that portion of the principal owing under our global senior notes which correlates with 

changes in exchange rates in order to hedge the foreign currency risk affecting that p ortion of our 
investment in the CME Group which correlates with the notional amount of US$612,000 thousand (a 
hedging instrument in a hedge of net investment in a foreign operation),  and accordingly, have adopted 
net investment hedge accounting pursuant to  accounting standard CPC-38 (Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement).  

(iv)  Testing hedge effectiveness (hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation)  

Under CPC 38 (IAS 39) we are required to assess the hedge effectiveness periodically by conducting 
retrospective and prospective effectiveness tests. On testing backward-looking effectiveness, we adopt the 
ratio analysis method, also called dollar offset method, as applied on a cumulative and spot -rate basis.  In 
other words, this method compa res changes in fair values of the hedging instrument and hedged item 
attributable to the hedged risk, as measured on a cumulative basis over a given period (from the hedge 
inception to the reporting date) using the foreign currency spot exchange rate as of  each relevant date in 
order to determine the ratio of cumulative gain or loss on our senior notesô principal amount to cumulative 
gain or loss on the net investment in a foreign operation over the relevant period.  On testing forward -
looking effectiveness, we adopt stress scenarios which we apply to the hedged variable (margin of 

effectiveness) in performing foreign currency sensitivity analysis to determine degree of sensitivity to 
changes in exchange rates. 

b. Intangible assets. 

Goodwill  

Goodwill or negative goodwill on the acquisition of an investment is calculated as the difference between 
the consideration paid or payable for a business at the acquisition date and the net fair value of the assets 
and liabilities of the entity acquired. Goodwill paid for control of an entity (subsidiary) is recognized under 
ñintangible assets.ò  In turn, negative goodwill paid for a subsidiary is a gain recognized immediately 
through profit or loss for the period (as determined by the acquisition date). W e assess goodwill for 
impairment on an annual basis. Goodwill is stated at cost less impairment losses. Additionally, recognized 
impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.  
Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units (CGU) for impairment testing purposes. Specifically, 
allocations are made to such cash generating units as are expected to benefit from the business 
combination originating goodwill, which are identified based on operating segment.  

Software and projects 

Software licenses we acquire are capitalized at cost incurred and amortized over the estimated useful life.  

Software development or maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Expenditures related directly to 
unique, identifiable software we control, and which are likely to generate econ omic benefits greater than 
the costs over a one-year period, are recognized as intangible assets. Direct expenditures include 
remuneration paid to the software development team.  

Expenditures with development of software recognized as assets are amortized using the straight -line 
method over the software useful life.  

c. Affiliates - Step Acquisitions 

The cost of an affiliate acquired in stages is measured by the total amount paid under each transaction.  
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Cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in comprehensive income, while classified as an available-
for-sale asset, is subsequently reversed against the investment account and restated as part of the 
acquisition cost. 

Goodwill is calculated at each acquisition step as the difference between acquisition cost and the fair value 
of net assets in proportion to interest acquired.  

The investment total book value is assessed for impairment by comparing carrying value and recoverable 
value (determined as the higher of selling value less costs to sell or value in use) when the requirements 
of the CPC 38/IAS 39 suggest an impairment loss on the investment may have occurred. 

d. Contingent assets and liabilities; legal obligations  

The recognition, measurement, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and legal obligations 
observe the criteria defined in CPC 25/IAS 37.  

 Contingent assets  - These are not recognized unless management has full control over their 

realization, or there are secured guarantees, or a final, unappealable court decision is in place, 
permitting assumption that a gain will materialize. Contingent assets whose realization is deemed to be 
probable, where applicable, are just disclosed in the financial statements.  

 Contingent liabilities  - These are recognized based on a number of factors, including the opinion of 
counsel; the nature of the lawsuit; existing similar or issue connected lawsuits; complexity of the 
proceedings; and court precedents. Contingent liabilities are recognized where a loss is assessed as 
probable, since this would imply probable outflow of funds for settlement of the obligation, provided a 
sufficiently reliable estimate of amount can be made. Contingent liabilities assessed as a possible loss 
are not recognized but are disclosed in notes to financial statements, whereas those that are assessed 
as a remote loss are neither recognized nor disclosed.  

 Legal obligations  - Legal obligations result from tax lawsuits in which our Company is discussing the 
legality, validity or constitutionality of certain taxes and charges. These are fully recognized regardless 
of any assessment as to the prospects for a win or defeat.  

 Other Provisions  - Provisions are recognized where BM&FBOVESPA has a present obligation, 

whether legal or constructive, resulting from past events, and it is probable an outflow of funds will be 
required to settle the obligation, provided a reliable estimate of amount can be made.  

e. Impairment of assets  

Assets with indefinite useful life, such as goodwill, are not amortized but assessed for impairment on an 
annual basis. Assets that are subject to amortization are assessed for impairment at any time events or 
changes in circumstances suggest the carrying value may not be fully recoverable. Where carrying value 
exceeds recoverable value the impairment loss is recognized. Recoverable value is defined as the higher of 
fair value less costs to sell or value in use. For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units, or CGUs). 
An impairment loss for a non-financial asset (except for goodwill) is subsequently reversed if at the 
relevant reporting date there has been a change in the estimates used to determine recoverable value.  

f. Deferred income tax and social contribution 

Deferred taxes are calculated on income tax and social contribution losses and the temporary differences 
between the tax calculation bases of assets and liabilities and the respective book values in the financial 
statements. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable sufficient future taxable profit will be 
available to be offset against temporary differences and/or tax losse s, considering projections of future 
income performed on the basis of internal assumptions and forward -looking economic scenarios which 
present uncertainties and may ultimately differ from actual events.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized in relation to all taxable temporary differences, that is, differences 
that should result in taxable amounts in determining taxable profit (tax loss) of future periods when the 
carrying value of an asset or liability is recovered or settled.  

Deferred income tax and social contribution are not recorded if resulting from initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination, which at the time of the transaction 
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does not affect net income or taxable income (tax loss).  Deferred income tax and social contribution are 
determined using tax rates (and tax laws) promulgated, or substantially promulgated at the balance sheet 
date, which are applied when the related deferred tax asset is realized or the deferred tax liability is 
settled.  

g. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

i) Equity method of accounting 

We apply the equity method in accounting for its investments when it has the ability to exercise significant 
influence over the operations and financial policies of the investee. Managementôs judgment regarding the 
degree of influence we exercise over an investee considers key factors as proportionate interest in the 
shares, representation at board level, whether or not we have a say in defining business guidelines, 
corporate and financial policies, or material intercompany transactions.  

ii) Impairment  

We assess the assets for impairment on an annual basis, including in particular goodwill and fixed assets, 
which are tested pursuant to the accounting practices set forth under subsection 10.5(b).  

iii) Recognition of financial instruments 

We classify financial assets under the following categories: (i) measured at fair value through profit or loss 
and (ii) available for sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which these financial assets were 
acquired. Management determines the designation of financial assets upon initial recognition. For 
additional information on the treatment and management of these assets, see subsection 10.5(a).  

iv) Stock options plan  

Our employees and executives enjoy the benefit of a stock options plan. The fair value of these options is 
recognized as expense in the period in which the option is granted. Management revisits its estimate of 
the number of options that are likely to meet vesting requirements and subsequently recognizes the 
effects of changes in initial estimates, if any, in t he statement of income, with an offset to the capital 
reserve account in equity. 

 

10.6.  Internal controls adopted to ensure reliable financial reporting   

a. Degree of effectiveness of the internal controls; deficiencies and corrective 
actions.  

The improvements and automation of internal controls processes under responsibility of the financial 
department were consolidated over the course of 2011, giving Management more efficient and reliable tools 
to better control expenses and prioritize project s.  

The initiatives implemented over the year include highlights as automated budget control and management 
mechanisms for operating expenses and capital expenditures, a process for sustained improvement to internal 
payment policies; and improvements to activity based costing methods. 

In addition, consistent with our commitment to pursue sustained improvements in internal controls 
effectiveness, in the process of preparing our 2012 budget proposal we adopted heightened management and 
mid-management accountability standards and detailed reporting guidelines, in addition to improving costing 
by activity methods.  

b.  Remarks on internal controls  deficiencies and recommendations included in the 
independent auditorsô report. 

Our independent auditors have conducted a survey and assessment of our accounting and internal controls 
systems in connection with their audit of our financial statements with the aim of determining the nature, 
timing and extent of audit procedures and substantive testing, but not for the purpose  of expressing any 
opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls.  

Accordingly, we have received recommendations on possible improvements to our internal controls system. 
These recommendations were given due consideration and incorporated into an action plan for additional 
improvements to our internal controls, the implementation of which is under supervision of our internal 
auditors. 
 

10.7.  Discussion of any offering previously completed.  

See subsection 10.1(f) of this form.  
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10.8.  Description of off -balance s heet arrangements.  

a. Off -balance sheet items.  

Collaterals for transactions 

Customer transactions carried out in markets we operate are secured by collateral customers are required to 
pledge as margin or otherwise. Collaterals consist mainly of cash, government bonds, corporate debt 
securities, bank letters of guarantee and stocks, among other things. These collaterals are segregated and 
treated off -balance sheet, except for cash collateral deposited as margin. For additional information, see the 
discussion under subsection 10.9 below. 

b.  Other off -balance sheet arrangements  

The BM&F Settlement Bank manages the BM&F FoF (ñFIC BM&Fò), a fund of funds called Fundo BM&F 
Margem Garantia Referenciado DI Fundo de Investimento em Cotas de Fundos de Investimento, with net 
assets of R$212,968 thousand at December 31, 2011 (versus R$173,365 thousand and R$97,376 at year-end 
in 2010 and 2009, respectively).  In addition, in the course of business the Settlement Bank provides financial 
services and frequently operates as custodian for financial assets (including within the scope of services and 
local legal representation provided for nonresident investors).  

Set forth below is summary information on the financial value of assets held in custody by the Settlement 
Bank at year-end and the comparative years of 2010 and 2009. 

 Securities held in custody on behalf of nonresident investors totaled R$117,815 thousand (versus 
R$118,610 thousand and R$77,229 thousand in the previous two years, respectively); 

 Agricultural securities registered with the custody registration system operated by our Company totaled 
R$ 16,216 thousand (versus R$51,216 thousand and R$260,606 thousand in the two earlier years, 
respectively). 

 

10.9.  Discussion of off -balance sheet arrangements reported under subsection 10.8   
 

Central counterparty risk 

BM&FBOVESPA operates four central counterparty clearing facilities, which the Central Bank considers to 
perform systemically material roles.  We call them (i) equities and corporate fixed -income clearing house 
(locally known as CBLC, it tackles transactions carried out on cash, forwards, options and futures markets 
for securities and equity-based derivatives and corporate debt securities, in addition to securities lending 
and borrowing transactions), (ii) derivatives clearing house (for transactions carried out on futures, 
forward, options and swap markets); (ii) FX clearing house (for spot FX market transactions); and (iii) 
government bonds clearing house (transactions in, or based in government bonds, notes and treasury bills 
carried out on cash and forwards, in addition to repo transactio ns and lending and borrowing transactions. 

Through these clearing facilities, BM&FBOVESPA acts as central counterparty to ensure multilateral clearing 
and settlement (CCP) for transactions carried out on these markets.  This means that in acting as central  
counterparty we ensure full completion to transactions carried out or registered in our trading and registration 
systems and, therefore, to a substantial portion of all trading activity taking place in the domestic capital 
markets. 

Our central counterparty clearing facilities are responsible for providing efficiency and stability to the market 

by ensuring trades are properly cleared and settled. A CCP interposes itself between counterparties to 
financial transactions, becoming the buyer to the sellers and the seller to the buyers.  Acting in the capacity of 
central counterparty, we absorb the risk of the counterparties in -between a trade transaction and its clearing 
and settlement, carrying out multilateral activities for financial settlement and clearing o f securities and 
financial assets.  In modeling and managing CCP risks, we focus on calculation, control and mitigation of 
credit risk related to clearing participants.  

For proper risk mitigation, each clearing facility has its own risk management system a nd safeguard structure. 
Each of these structures comprises the universe of mechanisms and remedies a clearing house may resort to 
in order to cover losses due to default, including collateral pledged by market participants as margin or 
otherwise, special funds designed to cover losses, and co-liability undertaken by brokers and clearing agents 
regarding transactions they intermediate or clear.  
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To a large extent each of these safeguard structures adopts a ódefaulter paysô model, meaning a loss-sharing 
arrangement whereby each participant is required to collateralize, to a high degree of reliability, any 
exposures it creates for other participants, such that losses possibly resulting from a partyôs default are borne 
by the defaulting party.  

Transactions carried out on our markets are typically secured by collateral pledged as margin in the form of 
cash, government bonds and treasury bills, corporate debt securities, bank letters of guarantee and stocks, 
among other things.  At December 31, 2011, the aggregate financial value of cash and other collateral 
pledged to our clearing houses totaled R$178,556,455 thousand (versus R$143,087,657 thousand at 
December 31, 2010 and R$101,640,805 thousand at December 31, 2009), with all cash collateral registered in 
the ócollateral for transactionsô line item under current liabilities in our balance sheet, whereas the remainder, 
i.e., non-cash collateral amounting to R$177,055,433 thousand (versus R$142,133,052 thousand and 
R$100,830,488 thousand at year-end in 2010 and 2009, respectively) was registered in such off -balance sheet 
non-cash collateral accounts.  

For additional information on collateral pledged to our clearing houses and our safeguard structures, see Note 
17 to our Financial Statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011.  
 

10.10.  Key components of the business plan.  

a. Investments  

i)  Quantitative and qualitative description of ongoing and planned 
investments.  

Since early 2010 we have been investing heavily in setting up a streamlined, efficient, modern technology 
infrastructure, with IT resources to match, with the aim of establishing a solid foundation on which to capture 
growth opportunities to better execute  our strategy and build our future. These capital expenditures should 
further boost our strategic position and sharpen our competitive edge.  

Our 2010-2013 strategic growth plan calls for R$1 billion worth in investments, of which R$268,362 thousand 
and R$204,041 thousand were implemented in 2010 and 2011, respectively. The larger part of this plan 
includes investments in technology to be implemented and executed within a 2 -year or more time horizon.  
Moreover, we have redoubled our focus on pursuing new growth opportunities in Brazil and elsewhere; on 
realizing our clear objective of investing in financial education and forming an investment -minded middle class 
so as to widen the capital marketsô penetration; on spurring growth in the equity offering market to widen the 
issuer base by promoting equity financing as one of the cheapest and more flexible sources of finance, and on 
developing new products and markets that give us the ability to meet or anticipate demand as trading 
strategies become more elaborate and the capital markets grow.  

Technology Developments 

BM&FBOVESPA aims to offer prime information technology resources and services to customer market 
participants and investors. To this end, our investments in multiple information technology projects i n 2010 
and 2011 totaled R$219.261 thousand and R$183,444 thousand, respectively. The discussion below highlights 
the main projects we have been on whose implementation we have been working.  

The PUMA Trading SystemÊ, our new multi-asset class trading platform.  

In the first half of 2010, consistent with our partnership agreement with the CME Group, we started the joint 
development of a multi -asset class trading platform for the trading of equities, derivatives, fixed income 

securities and other exchange-traded or OTC-traded assets, which is co-owned by our Company and the CME 
Group.  Planned for a three-stage implementation, the Puma trading system will ultimately replace our 
existing trading systems.  This new trading platform will give us a state -of-the-art technology structure and 
technology independence, will provide customers and participants with streamlined, efficient access to deal-
making across markets, and place BM&FBOVESPA high amongst the fastest, most reliable, efficient and 
technologically advanced exchange-based marketplaces in our industry.  

In the second half of 2011 we completed the implementation of the first stage, the derivatives module, which 
is fully now operational. The equities module is set to implement in the last quarter of 2012 , and the fixed -
income module at a later date.  

Integrated Central Clearing Facility.  
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Our project to combine the four clearing houses we operate into a single, fully -integrated, central clearing 
facility made headway in the fourth quarter of 2011, when we  announced a partnership with Cinnober, a 
Sweden-based global provider of advanced financial technology, which will include a perpetual license for use 
of TRADExpress RealTime Clearing®, their high performance, multi -asset, clearing and real-time risk 
management system. The RealTime Clearing system (RTC) will be the backbone our future multi-asset, multi-
market, integrated clearing facility for its technologically innovative, high performing capabilities, capacity, 
stability and security features. In additi on, in the second quarter of 2011 we announced to domestic and 
international markets the development of CORE, or CloseOut Risk Evaluation, our new central counterparty 
multi-asset, multi-market risk management framework, and the lynchpin of a solid risk ma nagement system 
architecture, with performance to match the RTC system.  Our new central clearing facility has been planned 
to give us highly efficient, multi -asset, multi-market integrated risk management capabilities and the ability to 
offer highly effic ient clearing and settlement services to market participants and investors. 

New Data Center 

Since 2010 we have been making substantial investments in our technology infrastructure. This is part of our 

efforts towards reorganizing and streamlining our data centers to benefit from a truly modern, efficient, safe 
and high-performing technology platform, which will be better prepared to support our future growth.  We 
centered our strategy on two primary data centers, one designed for our trading systems and app lications, 
the other planned to house our post -trade systems and applications. One such data center has been 
operational since June 2010 after having relocated, along with some of our IT team, to a leased high -capacity 
hosting facility. The other data cent er will be a brand new, especially planned and designed facility, tailor -
made to meet our specific needs and demands. The construction of our new data center is set to begin soon 
(in 2012) and should complete in 2013.  

New OTC trading platform 

In November 2011, in the context of our project for a new, streamlined, state -of-art OTC platform for fixed -
income and other derivatives, we announced a partnership with Calypso Technology, Inc., a global application 
software provider of an integrated suite of trading and risk applications to financial and capital market 
institutions.  The Calypso system will give us a new operating model for registration and treatment of OTC 
transactions, risk calculation and collateral management, while offering nimble, flexible and c ost efficient 
features and capabilities. The new OTC platform is set to implement late in 2012.  

Other improvements to technology infrastructure; IT services.  

In addition, in 2010 we retained an international consulting firm to assess our technology infrastructure, IT 
processes and electronic trading support services. We were presented with a report on their findings, which 
includes certain improvement recommendations to both the infrastructure and the technology support 
services provided to market participants, which we integrated into a number of action plans for staged -
implementation. Consistent with the expertsô recommendations, the five action plans we regarded as top 
priorities were selected for prompt implementation, which we completed over 2011, as follows: (i) model of a 
customer and electronic trading support center, (ii) IT performance management, (iii) IT monitoring strategy,  
(iv) knowledge transfer r egarding our new electronic trading platform, and (v) crisis management. We are set 
to implement other action plans over the course of 2012.  
 

ii)  sources of financing for these investments.  

The primary source of funds we currently use to finance our strategic  investment plans is operating cash flow. 
We may also consider alternative sources of financing, such as bank loans or a government or development 

bank financing program, or we may elect to source funds by accessing the domestic or international capital 
markets. In 2010, with the aim of sourcing funds with which to pay for an additional interest in CME shares, 
we carried out a cross-border offering of global senior notes.  
 

iii)  planned and ongoing material divestments.   

Not applicable. 
 

b.  Disclosed acquisitions of  plants, equipment, patents and other assets, which 
are expected to materially influence production capacity.  

New trading platform . In the first half of 2010, consistent with our partnership agreement with the CME 
Group, we have started the joint developme nt of a multi -asset class trading platform for the trading of 
equities, derivatives, fixed income securities and other exchange-traded or OTC-traded assets, which is set for 



 

PRACTICAL GUIDE TO THE COMBINED ANNUAL AND EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS 

MEETINGS TO BE HELD ON 03/27/2012 
 

51 

phased implementation over the course of the coming year, as it will ultimately re place the four existing 
trading systems.  

Purchase of land for the new data center. We have recently purchased 20,000 square meters of land in 
Santana do Parnaíba, state of São Paulo, Brazil, where we intend to build our new data center. Construction is 
set to start in 2011 and should be completed by the second half of 2012.  
 

Integrated clearing facility.  In the fourth quarter of 2011, we announced a partnership with Cinnober, which 
will include a perpetual license for use of TRADExpress Real Time Clearing to accelerate the integration 
project of the clearings, which will continue throughout 2012, with implementation scheduled for 2013.  
 

New OTC trading platform. In second half of 2011, we announced a partnership with Calypso Technology for 
licensing and development a platform for registration and management of over the counter operations. The 
new OTC platform is set to be operational late in 2012. 
 

c. new offerings of products and services, including : 

i)  previously disclosed and ongoing product research.  

Not applicable. 

ii)  total expenses incurred in research for development of new products or 
services.   

Not applicable. 

iii)  previously disclosed and ongoing  development projects.  

BM&F Segment:  

V Cross-listing arrangement with the Chicago Mercantile Exchange (CME Group).  The project 
contemplates the cross-listing of exchange-traded derivatives, starting with futures on Bovespa index 
(Ibovespa) in Chicago, and cash-settled soybean futures and e-mini S&P-500 futures contracts in Brazil; 
and  

V Cross-listing arrangement with exchanges of the BRICS emerging market bloc.  BM&FBOVESPA, Russiaôs 
MICEX (Moscow Interbank Currency Exchange), the National Stock Exchange of India (NSE), BSE India 
(formerly, the Bombay Stock Exchange), the Hong Kong Exchange (HKEx) initially representing China, 
and the Johannesburg Stock Exchange of South Africa are working on a project contemplating cross-
listings of benchmark stock index derivatives denominated in the exchangesô local currencies.  

Bovespa Segment: 

V Market making program for options on single stocks;   
V Brazil Easy Investing ï a data feed and order routing system designed to convert stock quotes into 

different foreign currencies in real time giving foreign investors the ability to enter orders in their local 
currencies;; 

Both segments: 

V New multi-asset class trading platform; 
V Integrated central clearing facility, which will permit cross -margining, improve risk management 

processes and the management of cash participants pledge as collateral; 
V New data centers: lease of the premises for our new backup center; purchase of land for construction of 

the primary data center;  
V New OTC platform new: this will be a state -of-art OTC platform for fixed -income and other derivatives, 

which will give us a new operating model for registration and treatment of OTC transactions, risk 
calculation and collateral management, while offering nimble, flexible and cost efficient features and 
capabilities. 

 

iv)  total expenses incurred in developing n ew products or services.  

Total capital expenditures over the course of 2011 amounted to R$204,041 thousand, where R$183,444 
thousand were invested in the execution of technology projects such as the implementation of the derivatives 
and forex module of our  new multi -asset class trading platform, the integration of our clearing facilities into a 
single central clearing facility and the new OTC platform.  
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Over the year to December 2010 we disbursed R$219,261 thousand in IT projects (total amount R$268,362 
thousand), such as the development of a new multi -asset class trading platform, a joint cooperation with the 
CME Group within the scope of the global preferred strategic partnership we have mutually agreed in 
February 2010, the expansion of our throughput cap acity in both segments and the purchased of land, where 
we intend to build our new data center.  
 

10.11.  Discussion of additional factors materially influencing operating performance and 
not previously identified or discussed in this section.  

Not applicable.  
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ATTACHMENT II  
Net Income Allocation Proposal  

(information pursuant to the requirements of Annex 9-1-II  
of CVM Instruction No. 481 dated December 17, 2009) 

 

1. State the net income for the year.  

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2011, amounted to R$1,047,998,623.27 

2. State the proposed total dividend distribution and dividend per share amounts, as 

including interim dividends and interest on shareholdersô equity previously declared.  

The aggregate amount proposed to be allocated to the dividend account is 

R$912,273,000.00.  

Assuming the Annual Shareholdersô Meeting of March 27, 2012 approves the proposed 

dividend distribution, the aggregate distribution for 2011 (by way of dividends or interest 

on shareholdersô equity), on a per share basis, would be R$0.471069, which thus includes 

interim dividends and interest on shareholdersô equity previously declared, as set forth in 

the table below.  This amount represents our best estimate of dividends per share, because 

the balance of net income for the year, currently in the amount of R$0.11754690 per share, 

may change on account of treasury stock reissued for fulfillment of stock options exercised 

within the scope of the Companyôs Stock Option Plan and repurchases possibly 

implemented within the scope of the Share Buyback Program. 

Description 
Gross yearly dividend 

per share 
Total gross yearly dividend 

 
(in Brazilian reais) (in Brazilian reais) 

 

  

Interest on shareholdersô equity 0.025461 50,000,000.00 

Interest on shareholdersô equity 0.051128 100,000,000.00 

Dividends 0.034054 66,605,000.00 

Dividends 0.121740 235,336,000.00 

Dividends 0.121139 233,605,000.00 

Subtotal 0.353522 685,546,000.00 
   

Proposed dividends 0.117547 226,727,000.00 
 

  

Total proposed distribution for 2011 0.471069 912,273,000.00 

 

3. State the ratio of dividends to net income for the year: 

Assuming the Annual Shareholdersô Meeting to be held on March 27, 2012 approves the 

proposed dividend distribution, the aggregate yearly dividend distribution would account 

for 87% of net income for the year ended December 31, 2011. 

4. State the aggregate and per share amounts proposed to be paid out of retained 

earnings (income ascertained in previous years). 

No distribution is being proposed based on retained earnings.  

5. State the following, net of interim dividends and interest on shareholdersô equity 

previously paid out to shareholders: 
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a. Gross amount of dividends and interest on shareholdersô equity, as segregated by 

kind and class of shares. 

Assuming the Annual Shareholdersô Meeting to be held on March 27, 2012 approves the 

proposed dividend distribution, the gross amount proposed to be distributed as dividends 

would be R$0.11754690 per common share (best estimate of dividends per share, because 

the balance of net income for the year may change on account of treasury stock reissued 

for fulfillment of stock options exercised within the scope of the Companyôs Stock Option 

Plan and repurchases implemented within the scope of the Share Buyback Program). 

b. Date and manner of payment of dividends and interest on shareholdersô equity 

being distributed. 

Contingent on the proposed dividend distribution being approved at the Annual 

Shareholdersô Meeting to be held on March 27, 2012, payment is scheduled to take place at 

April 30, 2012. 

c. Possible adjustments for inflation or interest payable on dividend and interest on 

shareholdersô equity distributions. 

Payments made by way of dividends and interest on shareholdersô equity would not 

include adjustments for inflation or interest accruals.  

d. Date of dividend or interest on shareholdersô equity declaration, for identification 

of ownership structure and the shareholders entitled to payouts (book closure date). 

Contingent on the proposed dividend distribution being approved at the March 27 annual 

shareholdersô meeting, the book closing date that would determine the ownership structure 

pursuant to which holders of record would be entitled to declared dividends is March 29, 

2012. 

6. In case interim dividends or interest on shareholdersô equity have been declared 

previously based on income determined in semiannual or other interim financial 

reports: 

a. State the amounts declared by way of dividends and interest on shareholdersô 

equity.  

See the table below.  

b. State the payout date(s).  

Distribution description  BVMF BDM (* ) date Payment date 

Gross 

dividend 

per share  

Total Gross  

Distribution  

   
(In R$) (In R$) 

Interest on shareholdersô equity BDM ï February 17, 2011 March 10, 2011 0.025461 50,000,000.00 

Interest on shareholdersô equity BDM ï May 12, 2011 July 5, 2011 0.051128 100,000,000.00 

Dividends BDM ï May 12, 2011 July 5, 2011 0.034054 66,605,000.00 

Dividends BDM ï August 9, 2011 October 3, 2011 0.121740 235,336,000.00 

Dividends BDM ï November 8, 2011 January 31, 2012 0.121139 233,605,000.00 

Total dividend distribution for 2011 
  

685.546.000.00 
(
*

)
 BDM = Board of Directors Meeting 
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7. Provide a table setting forth the following comparative data, by type and class of 

shares: 

In order to release earnings per share information, basic earnings per share is calculated as 

a division of net income attributable to BM&FBOVESPA shareholders by the yearly 

weighted average of common shares outstanding, in accordance with criteria set out in 

accounting standard CPC 41 (IAS 33) ï Earnings per Share issued by the Brazilian 

Accounting Standards Board (Comitê de Pronunciamentos Contábeis), or CPC, and 

applied retrospectively to the financial statements for the year of 2009. 

a. Net income for the year and for the three (3) preceding years. 

 Years ended December 31,  

 2011 2010 2009 

 
(In R$) (In R$) (In R$) 

Net income for the year 1,047,998,623.27 1,144,560,312.60 881,050,370.16 

Weighted average of comm. shares outstanding  1,948,718,753 2,000,777,767 2,002,462,000 

Earnings per share 0.537789 0.572058 0.439984 

b. Dividends and interest on shareholdersô equity declared in the three (3) most recent 

years.  

Distribution description  Gross dividend per share Type of shares
(
*

)
 Total Gross Distribution  

 
(In R$) 

 
(In R$) 

Interest on shareholdersô equity 0.055931 common shares 112,000,000.00 

Interest on shareholdersô equity 0.070653 common shares 141,500,000.00 

Dividends 0.016727 common shares 33,500,000.00 

Dividends 0.074888 common shares 150,000,000.00 

Interest on shareholdersô equity 0.009976 common shares 20,000,000.00 

Dividends 0.123516 common shares 248,000,000.00 

Total dividend distribution for 2009   705,000,000.00 
(
*

)
 Under the Bylaws and the Novo Mercado Listing Regulation BM&FBOVESPA issues common stock only.  

Distribution description  Gross dividend per share Type of shares Total Gross Distribution 

 
(In R$) 

 
(In R$) 

Interest on shareholdersô equity 0.014951 common shares 30,000,000.00 

Interest on shareholdersô equity 0.029890 common shares 60,000,000.00 

Interest on shareholdersô equity 0.068231 common shares 137,000,000.00 

Interest on shareholdersô equity 0.022422 common shares 45,000,000.00 

Dividends 0.098957 common shares 198,600,000.00 

Dividends 0.119101 common shares 235,875,000.00 

Interest on shareholdersô equity 0.016156 common shares 32,000,000.00 

Dividends 0.207025 common shares 406,085,312.60 

Total dividend distribution for 2010   1,144,560,312.60 
 

Distribution description  Gross dividend per share Type of shares Total Gross Distribution 

 
(In R$) 

 
(In R$) 

Interest on shareholdersô equity 0.025461 common shares 50,000,000.00 

Interest on shareholdersô equity 0.051128 common shares 100,000,000.00 

Dividends 0.034054 common shares 66,605,000.00 

Dividends 0.121740 common shares 235,336,000.00 

Dividends 0.121139 common shares 233,605,000.00 

Total dividend distribution for 2011   685,546,000.00 
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8. In case of a net income allocation to the legal reserve: 

a. State the amount of the net income allocation to the legal reserve. 

Pursuant to paragraph 1 of article 193 of Brazilian Corporate Law (Law No. 6.404/76), no 

allocation is proposed to be made to the legal reserve based on net income for the year to 

December 2009 because the sum of the balances recorded in the legal reserve and in the 

capital reserves foreseen in paragraph 1 of article 182 of Brazilian Corporate Law currently 

exceeds 30% of the capital stock, therefore dispensing with this otherwise mandatory 

allocation.   

b. Detail the form of calculation of the allocation to legal reserve. 

Pursuant to item óaô above, no allocation is proposed to be made to the legal reserve.  

9. In  case the capital stock is represented also by shares of preferred stock bearing 

rights to fixed or minimum dividends: 

a. Describe the form of calculation of fixed or minimum dividends. 

b. State whether net income for the year suffices to pay the full amount attributable to 

fixed or minimum dividends.  

c. Clarify whether or not any amount of dividend not being paid is a cumulative 

amount.  

d. State the aggregate dividend amount by class of preferred stock entitled to fixed or 

minimum dividends.  

e. State the amount per share, by class of preferred stock, payable by way of fixed or 

minimum dividends. 

Not applicable, given that under the Bylaws the Company issues shares of common stock 

only. 

10. With regard to the mandatory dividend: 

a. Describe the form of calculation established in the Bylaws. 

Under article 55 of the Bylaws, the balance of net income after the allocation to the legal 

reserve must be adjusted for allocations to contingency reserves or reversals of previously 

reserved and unused amounts, if any. The balance of net income then outstanding will be 

available for distribution of the yearly mandatory dividend.  

b. State whether the mandatory dividends are set to be paid in full. 

The mandatory dividend is being paid in full. As supplemented by previous interim 

distributions, the yearly dividend distribution now proposed accounts for 80% of net 

income for the year ended December 31, 2011.  

c. State the amount of any profit retention. 

No profit retention or recommendation for retention has been made. 

11. In case net income is to be retained in lieu of the mandatory distribution due to 

circumstances related to the financial condition of the Company:  

a. State the retention amount. 
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b. Give a detailed account of the financial condition of the Company, addressing also 

aspects related to the analysis of liquidity, working capital (net current assets) and 

positive cash flows.   

c. Justify the profit retention.  

Not applicable. 

12. If the proposal includes any allocation to a contingency reserve: 

a. State the amount allocated to the contingency reserve. 

b. Identify the anticipated losses that are deemed probable, stating the reasons for 

anticipating said losses. 

c. Explain why the losses are deemed probable. 

d. Justify the formation of a contingency reserve. 

No proposal has been made for allocations of net income to contingency reserves.  

13. If the proposal includes any allocation to the unrealized profit reserve: 

a. State the amount allocated to the unrealized profit reserve. 

b. Clarify the nature of the unrealized profits being reserved. 

No proposal has been made for allocations of net income to unrealized profit reserves. 

14. In case of any net income allocation to a bylaws reserve 

a. Identify the Bylawsô provisions that establish the bylaws reserve. 

Under article 55 of the bylaws, after the allocation to the legal reserve, the balance of net 

income must be adjusted for allocations to contingency reserves or write-backs, if any, and 

subsequent allocations are as follows: (i) at least a 25% allocation for distribution and 

payment of the yearly mandatory dividend (which may be limited to the amount of any 

órealizedô profits for the year, such that any óunrealizedô profits are reserved in an 

unrealized profit reserve, until their realization); and (ii ) all of the remainder is to be 

allocated to bylaws reserves for future investments in the business and also, due to the 

nature of the business, for the special safeguard funds and other clearing and 

settlement mechanisms adopted by the Company, so it can ensure full completion 

(clearing and settlement) to transactions carried out on, or registered in its trading 

and registration systems. 

The allocations to bylaws reserves may not exceed the capital stock amount.  

In addition, where the board of directors concurs with management that amounts 

previously allocated to one or more bylaws reserves are sufficient to meet the Companyôs 

business requirements, it may (i) propose net income allocations to bylaws reserves at 

lower amounts than otherwise required under the Bylaws, or (ii) propose allocations as 

provided in the bylaws; or (iii) propose a write-back of previously reserved funds for the 

same to be distributed as dividends to the shareholders.  

b. State the amount allocated to the bylaws reserve. 

The aggregate amount proposed to be allocated to bylaws reserves is R$135,725,623.27. 
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c. Explain the calculation of the allocation amount. 

 Calculation of aggregate allocations to bylaws reserves R$ 

Net income for 2011            1,047,998,623.27  

Dividends              (762,273,000.00) 

Interest on shareholdersô equity              (150,000,000.00) 

Bylaws Reserve            135,725,623,27  
 

15. In case any profit retention is contemplated in a capital expenditure budget:  

a. State the amount of the retention. 

b. Provide a copy of the capital expenditure budget. 

No profit retention has been proposed. 

16. In case of any net income allocation to a tax incentive reserve: 

a. State the amount allocated to the tax incentive reserve. 

b. Explain the nature of the allocation. 

No allocation has been proposed regarding any tax incentive reserve. 
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ATTACHMENT III  
Information on compensation of directors and executive officers, pursuant 
to Section 13 of the Reference Form required under CVM Instruction 480. 

 
13.  Management Compensation  
 
13.1  Compensation policy for the Board of Directors, statutory and non -statutory executive 

officers, the Supervisory Board, statutory committees, and the Audit, Risk, Financial and 
Compensation Committees, addressing the following aspects:  

 
a. Objectives of compensation policy or practice  
 
The aim of the companyôs compensation policy is to foster the alignment of its objectives with the productivity 
and efficiency of management and staff, and to maintain its competitivene ss in the market in which it 
operates.  
 
b. Composition of compensation  
 
(i) Description of the elements of compensation and the objectives of each one  
 
Board of Directors:  All members of the Board of Directors receive a fixed monthly salary. The Chairman 
receives an additional fixed semiannual payment equivalent to twice the salary received in each six-month 
period. This fixed compensation is designed to remunerate board members adequately for their participation 
in meetings, while the purpose of the additional fee paid to the Chairman is to remunerate him for the larger 
number of duties he is required to perform.  
 
Statutory (employee) and non -statutory executive officers:  Total compensation for executive officers 
comprises the following components: 

 Salaries disbursed in thirteen payments per annum to remunerate executives directly for the 
services provided, in line with market practice;  

 Benefits including medical and dental care, life insurance, meal tickets, retirement pension, 
company car, parking, medical check-ups, and company cell phone, all of which aims to 
provide an attractive package minimally compatible with industry standards for senior 
executives;  

 Variable semiannual payments distributed under the companyôs profit-sharing program 
(PLR), in accordance with Law 10101, dated December 19, 2000. The companyôs profit-
sharing program (PLR) is based on a salary ratio formula tied to company earnings as well 
as individual job level and performance, aligning senior executives with the companyôs 
short- and medium-term results;  

 Long-term compensation structured by a stock option plan tied to company earnings as well 
as individual job level and performance, to align senior executives with the companyôs long-
term results and foster retention of key personnel.  

 
Committees:  Members of the committees that report to the Board of Directors receive fixed monthly 

compensation. Members of the Board who sit on company committees receive additional fixed monthly 
compensation. No one may sit on more than three committees. The company currently has an Audit 
Committee, a Nomination & Corporate Governance Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Risk 
Committee reporting to the Board of Dire ctors. The following committees report to the Chief Executive Officer: 
the Agribusiness Committee, Market Committee, Market Risk Technical Committee, Athletics Club Committee 
and Regulatory Committee. Only members of the Regulatory Committee receive fixed monthly compensation. 
No statutory or non -statutory directors or other employees who sit on any committee are entitled to additional 
compensation. The purpose of the fixed compensation mentioned above is to remunerate the professionals 
concerned for participating in meetings.  
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Supervisory Board (Conselho Fiscal) :
*
 The company has not set up a Supervisory Board. The 

compensation policy for members of any Supervisory Board set up in future will be established in compliance 
with the applicable legislation. In the companyôs view the functions of a Supervisory Board are adequately 
fulfilled by the Audit Committee that has been set up and exercises the duties stipulated in article 47 of the 
companyôs bylaws, which match those of a Supervisory Board as laid out in Brazilian company law (Lei das 
SA). The companyôs Audit Committee is a statutory body that reports directly to the Board of Directors. It has 
five members, all independent. Four are external and one is an independent member of the Board. All 
members of the Audit Committee are nominated by the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee 
and elected by the Board for a two -year term of office. External members must have expertise and/or 
experience in auditing, compliance, controls, accounting, taxation and related activities, and must fulfill the 
independence requirements specified in article 46 of the companyôs bylaws to ensure that they perform their 
duties impartially and serve the interests of the company and its shareholders.  
 
(ii) Proportion of each element in total compensation 
 
The average proportions of each element of compensation in 2011 according to the compensation policy in 
force are shown in the table below.  

 
2011 Salary, 

fees  
Participation 

in 
committees  

Benefits  Variable 
compensation, 

short - term 
(PLR)  

Variable 
compensation, 

long -term ( stock 
options )  

Total  

Board of 
Directors 

89.33% 10.67% 0% 0% 0% 100% 

Executive 
Officers 

24.86% 0% 4.06% 31.26% 39.82% 100% 

Committees 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 

 

Percentages may vary from one year to the next, especially in the case of variable elements.  
 

(iii) Methodology for calculating and reviewing each element of compensation 
 
Members of the Board of Directors and Executive Board have their compensation reviewed annually by the 
Compensation Committee in accordance with the powers of this committee stipulated in article 49, 1 (a) of 
the companyôs bylaws, subject to approval by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in accordance with 
Law 6404 (1976). Members of the Audit, Nomination and Corporate Governance, Risk and Compensation 
Committees also have their compensation reviewed annually by the Compensation Committee, which submits 
proposals to the Board of Directors. In the case of executive officers, t heir fixed monthly compensation or 
salary is adjusted as agreed with the relevant labor union in an annual collective bargaining agreement and 
may also be raised for individual merit in accordance with the companyôs pay policy. With regard to short-term 
variable compensation under the profit -sharing plan (PLR) and long-term variable compensation under the 
stock option plan, the rules and definitions are proposed by the Compensation Committee as part of its 
regular duties and approved by the Board of Directors. Long-term compensation follows the guidelines of the 
Stock Option Plan approved by the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held on May 8, 2008, and 
amended by the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held on April 18, 2011. 
 

The company periodically conducts salary surveys in order to maintain the competitiveness of its fixed and 
variable compensation strategy and assure alignment with best practice in the industry. The surveys cover a 
sample of companies in the financial services industry that are of a similar size to this company. The findings 
are adjusted by job matching to enable a comparison of jobs and job titles in the company with those of its 
peers across the industry. The adjusted results are submitted to the Compensation Committee for its approval 
and ratified by the Board of Directors.  
 

                                                 
*
 Under Brazilian company law, the Conselho Fiscal is a corporate governance body independent of management and 

external auditors. It is not mandatory but may be established according to the bylaws. Its responsibilities and duties are 
similar to those of an audit committee.  
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Benefits are adjusted whenever deemed necessary to maintain competitiveness on the basis of regular 
reviews and surveys of market practice. 
 
(iv) Rationale for composition of compensation 
 
The primary goal of the companyôs compensation strategy is to offer short-, medium- and long-term elements 
that assure alignment with its objectives, maintain competitiveness in the marketplace, attract and retain 
executives, and remunerate the professionals who work for the company in accordance with the 
responsibilities of their job descriptions and with their individual performance. To this end the companyôs 
compensation strategy aims to pay executives the median salary for the industry, with additional short- and 
long-term variable compensation linked to the companyôs overall performance and to the performance of each 
individual.  
 
c. Key performance indicators taken into consideration to determine each element of 
compensation  
 
With regard to short -term variable compensation, i.e. profit sharing, and long -term variable compensation, i.e. 
stock options, the key performance indicators taken into consideration to determine compensation are (i) 
individual performance assessments based on factors proper to each job description or level, and (ii) the 
companyôs overall performance indicators. These indicators are taken into consideration to determine both the 
total amount of profit shared and stock option eligibility and grants.  
 
In 2009 the company chose EBITDA margin as its overall key performance indicator. In 2010 the overall KPI 
established by the Board became adjusted net income reported every quarter. Thus the total amount of short -
term variable compensation received by executive officers and other employees in each year is calculated on 
the basis of the companyôs adjusted net income in the period, corresponding to 3.5%.  
 
In 2010 the companyôs results fell within the expected range, which was between 70% and 130% of the 
target set for the corresponding fina ncial year. Thus the total amount of short -term compensation paid to 
executive officers and other employees for 2010 was calculated on the basis of the companyôs adjusted net 

income in the period, corresponding to 3.5%.  
 
In 2011 the Board of Directors rati fied the Compensation Committeeôs proposal, based on adjusted net 
income and operating expenditure compared with the target, to allocate 3.2% of adjusted net income to 
short-term variable compensation. This amount was recognized in the course of 2011. 
 
In 2012 the total amount of short -term variable compensation to be paid to executive officers and other 
employees will be based on adjusted net income, corresponding to 3.5% provided the expenditure limit 
established in the annual budget is not surpassed. If actual expenditure exceeds the budget, a 5% reduction 
factor will be applied to the above -mentioned adjusted net income for every 1% of excess expenditure over 
budget. Part of the total will be distributed to executive officers in accordance with the salar y ratio formula 
and individual performance. 
 
In the case of long -term compensation (stock options), in addition to the criteria for determining grants 
mentioned in the first paragraph of this item, it should be noted that stock options constitute a real be nefit 

only if the companyôs share price rises so that the grantee can sell the stock for more than the exercise price 
once restrictions on options exercise or share transfer have expired. Thus the potential gains to stock option 
grantees depend on appreciation in the price of shares issued by the company.  
 
Performance indicators are not taken into consideration when determining fixed compensation or benefits. 
These elements of compensation are tied to the level of responsibility involved in the individualôs job. In the 
specific case of fixed compensation, the individualôs qualifications to perform the job in question are also 
taken into consideration. 
 
d. Structure of compensation to reflect evolution of KPIs  
 
In accordance with our policy for short - and long-term variable compensation, the profit -sharing and stock 
options pool is affected by the extent to which the company achieves its overall targets for adjusted net 
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income and operating expenditure. In other words, the size of the pool is determined on th e basis of the 
companyôs performance against the overall targets set for the period concerned.  
 
Furthermore, the companyôs policy provides for differentiated levels of compensation as a reward for 
individual performance by executive officers and employees based on key performance indicators (KPIs) for 
the respective jobs, functions and responsibilities.  
 
e. Alignment of compensation policy with companyôs short-, medium - and long -term interests  
 
The company aims to offer compensation that is market competitive in order to retain and attract talent in 
support of its short -, medium- and long-term objectives. Given the long cycles of sustained growth intrinsic to 
the companyôs business model, which aims to strengthen, develop and expand the markets in which it 
operates, it is vital to address the challenge of retaining professionals, and its compensation strategy must 
therefore include ways and means of encouraging them to stay with the company for a long time.  
 
This compensation strategy seeks to balance fixed compensation, in the form of a basic salary, with the short -
term compensation represented by profit sharing (PLR), and medium- to long-term compensation in the form 
of stock options. The aim is to give employees an incentive to achieve and surpass the semiannual and annual 
targets tied to the PLR Program, and to foster the implementation of medium - and long-term actions that add 
value for the company and will be reflected in the appreciation of its stock market value, which in turn will 
bolster the value of the stock options granted to executives.  
 
f. Existence of compensation supported by subsidiaries, affiliates and direct or indirect 
controlling shareholders  
 
The company does not have compensation supported by subsidiaries, affiliates and direct or indirect 
controlling shareholders. 
 
g.  Existence of any compensation or benefit tied to the occurrence of specific corporate actions, 

such as the sale of a controlling share in equity  
 
The company does not have compensation or benefits tied to the occurrence of corporate actions such as the 
sale of a controlling share in its equity or the announcement of a strategic partnership.  
 
The stock option plan contains a provision stating that in the event of dissolution, liquidation, adjustment, 
acquisition, merger, recapitalization, stock splits, reorganization or any other change in the company's capital 
structure after which the company  is not the surviving entity or survives without having its stock listed on a 
stock exchange, any outstanding stock options may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, be transferred 
to the successor entity or vest at an earlier date so that they can  be exercised by the respective beneficiaries 
for a specified period, after which the stock option plan will end and any stock options not exercised will 
forfeit without consideration.  
 
13.2  Board of Directors, executive officers and Supervisory Board com pensation recognized in 

income statements for years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2010 and 
December 31, 2011, and projected for current year.  

 
The tables and notes below present the annual compensation received by the Board of Directors, executive 
officers and Audit Committee (recalling that the company has not set up a Supervisory Board but that its 
functions are performed by the Audit Committee, which is a permanent statutory body) (i) recognized in the 
income statements for the years ended December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 

based on the average number of members of each body as shown in the next table;
7
 and (ii) projected for 

the current financial year.   
 
 

                                                 
7 The sum of the number of members in each body in each of the months of 2011 divided by 12 (months). This calculation 

is performed by a company department, as required by CVM Circular Letter SEP/N.º 07/2011. 
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Year ended December 31, 2011 ï Average no. of members  

Month Board of  Directors  Executive Board  

Jan 10 6 

Feb 10 6 

Mar 10 6 

Apr 11 6 

May 11 6 

Jun 11 6 

Jul 11 6 

Aug 11 6 

Sep 11 5 

Oct 11 5 

Nov 11 5 

Dec 11 5 

Total 129 68 

Average  10.75  5.67  

 
In accordance with a decision taken by the Board of Directors, stock options relating to FY2010 were granted 
in January 2011, with effects on FY2011. These options corresponded to 3,420,000 shares, or 0.17% of the 
total number of shares issued by the company. The fair market price for stock options granted in 2011 
(ñBVMF Stock Option Program 2010ò) was calculated based on market variables at the time of the grant, 
giving a final price of R$4.50, substantially higher than the fair price calculated for the st ock options granted 
under BVMF Stock Option Program 2009. It should be noted that the pricing model was not altered; the 
difference derived mainly from the variation in market conditions during the period, as discussed in 13.6 and 

13.9 below. 

 
Year ended December 31, 2011  

 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  

Supervisory 
Board*  Total  

No. of members 10.75 5.67 n/a 16.42 
Annual fixed compensation (R$) R$ 4,019,685.04 R$ 5,171,880.30 n/a R$ 9,191,565.34 

Salary, fees R$ 3,590,871.09 R$ 4,561,959.75 n/a R$ 8,152,830.84 
Direct & indirect benefits  n/a R$ 609,920.55 n/a R$ 609,920.55 
Participation in committees R$ 428,813.95 n/a n/a R$ 428,813.95 
Other n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Variable compensation (R$) n/a R$ 9,302,085.66 n/a R$ 9,302,085.66 
Bonuses n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Profit sharing n/a R$ 8,702,085.66 n/a R$ 8,702,085.66 
Participation in meetings n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Commissions n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Other (1)  n/a R$ 600,000.00 n/a R$ 600,000.00 

Post-employment benefits n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Job termination benefits  n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Compensation based on stock n/a R$ 15,390,000.00 n/a R$ 15,390,000.00 
Amount of compensation R$ 4,019,685.04 R$ 29,863,965.96 n/a R$ 33,883,651.00 

 
(1) Severance dues and additional sign-on bonuses. 
 
* As described in item 13.1 above, the company has not set up a Supervisory Board but its responsibilities are 
adequately fulfilled by the Audit Committee that has been set up and exercises the duties stipulated in article 
47 of the companyôs bylaws, which match those of a Supervisory Board as laid out in Brazilian company law 
(Lei das SA). The companyôs Audit Committee has five members, all independent. Four are external and one is 
an independent member of the Board. All members of the Audit Committee serv e a two-year term of office. It 
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is important to note that the compensation paid to external members in 2011 totaled R$973,513.44 and is not 
included in the above table. 

 
Year ended December 31, 2010 ï Average no. of members  

Month Board of Directors  Executive Board  

Jan 11 6 

Feb 11 6 

Mar 11 6 

Apr 11 6 

May 11 6 

Jun 11 6 

Jul 11 6 

Aug 11 6 

Sep 11 6 

Oct 11 6 

Nov 11 6 

Dec (*)  11 6 

Total 132 72 

Average  11  6.00  

 
(*) Fabio de Oliveira Barbosa resigned from the Board at end-December 2010 and received the complete fee 
for December.  
 
In accordance with a decision taken by the Board of Directors, stock options relating to FY2010 were granted 

in January 2011, with effects on FY2011.  

 
Year ended December 31, 2010  

 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  

Supervisory 
Board*  Total  

No. of members 11 6 n/a 17 
Annual fixed compensation (R$) R$ 3,835,734.86 R$ 5,288,126.90 n/a R$ 9,123,861.76 

Salary, fees R$ 3,399,044.36 R$ 4,611,216.86 n/a R$ 8,010,261.22 
Direct & indirect benefits  n/a R$ 676,910.04 n/a R$ 676,910.04 
Participation in committees R$ 436,690.50 n/a n/a R$ 436,690.50 
Other n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Variable compensation (R$) n/a R$ 9,592,419.87 n/a R$ 9,592,419.87 
Bonuses n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Profit sharing n/a R$ 8,416,729.19 n/a R$ 8,416,729.19 
Participation in meetings n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Commissions n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Other (1)  n/a R$ 1,175,690.68 n/a R$ 1,175,690.68 

Post-employment benefits n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Job termination benefits  n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Compensation based on stock n/a 0,00 n/a 0,00 
Amount of compensation R$ 3,835,734.86 R$ 14,880,546.77 n/a R$ 18,716,281.63 

 
(1) Severance dues and additional sign-on bonuses. 
 
* As described in item 13.1 above, the company has not set up a Supervisory Board but its responsibilities are 
adequately fulfilled by the Audit Committee that has been set up and exercises the duties stipulated in article 
47 of the companyôs bylaws, which match those of a Supervisory Board as laid out in Brazilian company law 
(Lei das SA). The companyôs Audit Committee has five members, all independent. Four are external and one is 
an independent member of the Board. All members of the Audit Committee serv e a two-year term of office. It 
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is important to note that the compensation paid to external members in 2010 totaled R$814,941.08 and is not 
included in the above table.  

 
Year ended December 31, 2009 ï Average no. of members  

Month Board of Directors  Executive Board  

Jan 11 8 

Feb 11 6 

Mar 11 6 

Apr 10 6 

May 11 5 

Jun 11 5 

Jul 11 6 

Aug 11 6 

Sep 11 6 

Oct 11 6 

Nov 11 6 

Dec 11 6 

Total 131 72 

Average  10.92  6.00  

 
The following table presents information on the compensation of the companyôs Board of Directors, Executive 
Board and Audit Committee in FY2009. Compensation in stock recognizes options corresponding to 2,490,000 
shares, or 0.12% of the total number of sha res then issued by the company, granted on March 1, 2009, at a 
fair price of R$2.93 (as per 13.6 and 13.9 below).  
 
It is important to note that calculation of the fair price in accordance with accounting rules must take into 
consideration the market outlook at the time the stock options are granted, as per 13.6 and 13.9 below.  

 
Year ended December 31, 2009  

 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  

Supervisory 
Board*  Total  

No. of members 10.92 6.00 n/a 17 
Annual fixed compensation (R$) R$ 3,702,348.37 R$ 4,855,869.38 n/a R$ 8,558,217.75 

Salary, fees R$ 3,362,935.80 R$ 4,249,518.66 n/a R$ 7,612,454.46 
Direct & indirect benefits  n/a R$ 606,350.72 n/a R$ 606.350.72 
Participation in committees R$ 339,412.57 n/a n/a R$ 339,412.57 
Other n/a n/a n/a 0 

Variable compensation (R$) n/a R$ 5,674,487.40 n/a R$ 5,674,487.40 
Bonuses n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Profit sharing n/a R$ 5,674,487.40 n/a R$ 5.674.487.40 
Participation in meetings n/a n/a  0 
Commissions n/a n/a n/a 0 
Other n/a n/a n/a 0 

Post-employment benefits n/a n/a n/a 0 
Job termination benefits n/a n/a n/a 0 
Compensation based on stock n/a R$ 7,295,700.00 n/a R$ 7,295,700.00 
Amount of compensation R$ 3,702,348.37 R$ 17,826,056.78 n/a R$ 21,528,405.15 

 
 
The table and note below present information on the projected compensation of the companyôs Board of 
Directors, Executive Board and Audit Committee in FY2012, subject to approval by the Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders to be held on March 27, 2012. Given that the short-term variable compensation 
(PLR) received by executive officers is linked to achievement of the companyôs overall target for the year, the 
projections in the table below assume a probable results scenario and may change in accordance with actual 
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adjusted net income and expenditure, which are the basis for determining the PLR pool. For example, under 
the rule described in 13.1 (c) above, if year -end adjusted net income is 10% above the projected amount 
bearing in mind the limit for expenditure set in the annual budget, t he amount of short -term variable 
compensation (PLR) will increase by R$998,002.34, or 10% of the projected total according to the rule 
described in 13.1 (c) above. 
 
With regard to long -term compensation in the form of stock options granted under the Stock Option Plan, it is 
important to note that in accordance with a decision taken by the Board of Directors the grants for the current 
financial year will always be made at the start of the next financial year. Thus stock options relating to FY2011 
were granted in January 2012, with effects on FY2012. In 2011, in accordance with the guidelines of the 
Stock Option Plan approved by the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held on May 8, 2008, and 
amended by the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held on April 18, 2011, a new program 
(Additional Stock Option Program) was adopted to create a mechanism to retain the companyôs key 
professionals. Accordingly, in exchange for the grant of stock options the companyôs executives undertake to 
disburse their own funds to purchase Own Shares and to continue holding these throughout the vesting 
period specified by the Program on pain of losing the right to exercise the options granted.  
 
Thus two stock option grants were made for FY2011, one under ñBVMF Stock Option Program 2011ò and the 
other under ñBVMF Additional Stock Option Program 2011ò. The options granted to executive officers with 
effects on FY2012, as approved by the Board of Directors, corresponded to 3,250,000 shares under ñBVMF 
Stock Option Program 2011ò, or 0.16% of the total number of shares issued by the company, and 1,337,170 
shares under ñBVMF Additional Stock Option Program 2011ò, or 0.07% of the total number of shares issued 
by the company. The exercise price for the options in each of the  aforementioned Programs was established 
in accordance with the rules laid down in the Stock Option Plan, as per 13.6 and 13.9 below.  

It is worth noting that the fair market prices for stock options granted under BVMF Stock Option Program 
2011 and BVMF Additional Stock Option Program 2011 were calculated based on market variables at the time 
of the grant and the specific characteristics of each Program, giving final prices of R$2.79 and R$4.19 
respectively. 

 

Current financial year ï 2012 Budget  

 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  

Supervisory  
Board*  Total  

No. of members 11 5 n/a 16 
Annual fixed compensation (R$) R$ 4.786.617,96 R$ 4.985.405,07 n/a R$ 9.772.023,03 

Salary, fees R$ 3.933.928,68 R$ 4.339.374,06 n/a R$ 8.273.302,74 
Direct & indirect benefits n/a R$ 646.031,01 n/a R$ 646.031,01 
Participation in committees R$ 852.689,28 n/a n/a R$ 852.689,28 
Other n/a n/a n/a 0 

Variable compensation (R$) n/a R$ 9.980.023,41 n/a R$ 9.980.023,41 
Bonuses n/a n/a n/a 0 
Profit sharing n/a R$ 9.980.023,41 n/a R$ 9.980.023,41 
Participation in meetings n/a n/a n/a 0 
Commissions n/a n/a n/a 0 
Other n/a n/a n/a 0 

Post-employment benefits n/a n/a n/a 0 
Job termination benefits n/a n/a n/a 0 
Compensation based on stock n/a R$ 14.670.242,30 n/a R$ 14.670.242,30 
Amount of compensation R$ 4.786.617,96 R$ 29.635.670,78 n/a R$ 34.422.288,74 

 
* As described in item 13.1 above, the company has not set up a Supervisory Board but its responsibilities are 
adequately fulfilled by the Audit Committee that has been set up and exercises the duties stipulated in article 
47 of the companyôs bylaws, which match those of a Supervisory Board as laid out in Brazilian company law 
(Lei das SA). The companyôs Audit Committee has five members, all independent. Four are external and one is 
an independent member of the Board. All members of the Audit Committee serv e a two-year term of office. It 
is important to note that the compensation paid to external members in 2012 is projected to total 
R$1,023,749.40.  
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13.3  Variable compensation in financial years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2010, 
and December 31,  2011, and projected for current financial year.  

 
The companyôs variable compensation policy for executive officers is based on salary ratios, which vary 
according to the seniority of each job, as well as individual performance assessments differentiating the 
professionals within each job level.  
 
The tables below present information on the variable compensation received by the companyôs executive 
officers, (i) as recognized in the income statements for the years ended December 31, 2011, December 31, 
2010, and December 31, 2009, based on the number of members of each body who received variable 
compensation in the years concerned, and (ii) as projected for the current financial year.  

 
Year ended December 31, 2011  

 

Board of 
Directors  

Executive  
Board  

Supervisory  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 5.67 n/a 5.67 
Bonuses (R$)   n/a  

Minimum amount projected in 
compensation plan 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Maximum amount projected in 
compensation plan 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Amount projected in 
compensation plan if targets 
were achieved 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Amount actually recognized in 
income statement 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Profit sharing (R$)     
Minimum amount projected in 
compensation plan 

n/a R$ 8,668,042.47  n/a R$ 8,668,042.47 

Maximum amount projected in 
compensation plan 

n/a R$ 10,488,331.39 n/a R$ 10,488,331.39 

Amount projected in 
compensation plan if targets 
were achieved 

n/a R$ 9,534,846.72 n/a R$ 9,534,846.72 

Amount actually recognized in 
income statement 

n/a R$ 9,302,085.66 n/a R$ 9,302,085.66 

 
Year ended December 31, 2010  

 

Board of 
Directors  

Executive  
Board  

Supervisory  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 6 n/a 6 
Bonuses (R$)   n/a  

Minimum amount projected in 
compensation plan 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Maximum amount projected in 
compensation plan 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Amount projected in 
compensation plan if targets 
were achieved 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Amount actually recognized in 
income statement 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Profit sharing (R$)     
Minimum amount projected in 
compensation plan 

n/a R$ 8,308,036.10  n/a R$ 8,308,036.10 

Maximum amount projected in 
compensation plan 

n/a R$ 10,154,266.35 n/a R$ 10,154,266.35 

Amount projected in 
compensation plan if targets 
were achieved 

n/a R$ 9,231,151.23 n/a R$ 9,231,151.23 

Amount actually recognized in 
income statement 

n/a R$ 8,416,729.19 n/a R$ 8,416,729.19 
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Year ended December 31, 2009  

 

Board of 
Directors  

Executive  
Board  

Supervisory  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 6 n/a 6 
Bonuses (R$)   n/a  

Minimum amount projected in 
compensation plan 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Maximum amount projected in 
compensation plan 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Amount projected in 
compensation plan if targets 
were achieved 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Amount actually recognized in 
income statement 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Profit sharing (R$)     
Minimum amount projected in 
compensation plan 

n/a R$ 4,353,266.96 n/a R$ 4,353,266.96 

Maximum amount projected in 
compensation plan 

n/a R$ 6,097,751.36 n/a R$ 6,097,751.36 

Amount projected in 
compensation plan if targets 
were achieved 

n/a R$ 5,890,667.01 n/a R$ 5,890,667.01 

Amount actually recognized in 
income statement 

n/a R$ 5,674,487.40 n/a R$ 5,674,487.40 

 
The table below presents information on the projected variable compensation for FY2012. Given that the 
short-term variable compensation (PLR) received by executive officers is linked to achievement of the 
companyôs overall target for the year, the projections in the table below assume a probable results scenario 
and may change in accordance with actual adjusted net income and expenditure, which are the basis for 
determining the PLR pool. Under the rule described in 13.1 (c) above, the total amount of short -term 
compensation paid to executive officers and other employees in FY2012 will be calculated on the basis of the 
companyôs adjusted net income in the period, corresponding to 3.5% provided the expenditure limit 

established in the annual budget is not surpassed. Part of the total will be distributed to executive officers in 
accordance with the salary ratio formula plus a reward for individual performance. If actual expenditure 
exceeds the budget, a 5% reduction factor will be applied to the above -mentioned adjusted net income for 
every 1% of excess expenditure over budget.  
 
With regard to minimum and maximum amounts, it is important to note that profit sharing under the above 
rules is directly affected by adjusted net income taking into account the expenditure limit established in the 
annual budget so that: (i) if there is no net incom e, the amount distributed as profit sharing under the PLR 
program may be zero; (ii) no ceiling has been set and the distribution rules are as described above. The 
minimum and maximum amounts shown in the following table were projected assuming adjusted net  income 
respectively 10% above and 10% below the target for the PLR program approved by the Board of Directors.  
 

Current financial year  ï 2012 Budget  

 

Board of 
Directors  Executive Board  

Supervisory 
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 5 n/a 5 
Bonuses (R$)     

Minimum amount projected 
in compensation plan 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Maximum amount projected 
in compensation plan 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Amount projected in 
compensation plan if 
targets were achieved 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Amount actually recognized 
in income statement 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Profit sharing (R$)     
Minimum amount projected 
in compensation plan 

n/a R$ 9,072,748.56 n/a R$ 9,072,748.56 
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Current financial year  ï 2012 Budget  

 

Board of 
Directors  Executive Board  

Supervisory 
Board  Total  

Maximum amount projected 
in compensation plan 

n/a R$ 10,978,025.75 n/a R$ 10,978,025.75 

Amount projected in 
compensation plan if 
targets were achieved 

n/a R$ 9,980,023.41 n/a R$ 9,980,023.41 

Amount actually recognized 
in income statement 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

 
 
13.4  With regard to the compensation plan based on actions of the Board of Directors and 

Executive Board in force during the last financial year and projected for the current 
financial year:  

 
a. General terms and conditions  
 
The company has a Stock Option Plan (ñOption Planò) approved by an Extraordinary General Meeting of 
Shareholders held on May 8, 2008, and amended by an Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held 
on April 18, 2011, under which the directors and exec utive officers of the company and its subsidiaries and 
affiliates, as well as employees and service providers in special cases, when nominated by the Chief Executive 
Officer (ñBeneficiariesò), are eligible to receive options to buy common stock issued by the company.  
 
The Option Plan delegates broad powers to the Board of Directors to approve grants of options and 
administer them through stock option programs (ñProgramsò) which must define, among other specific 
conditions, (i) the respective Beneficiaries; (ii) the total number of shares in the company covered by the 
options granted; (iii) how the shares covered by the options granted are divided into lots, if any; (iv) the 
exercise price; (v) the vesting schedule; (vi) any restrictions on transferring the shares received when options 
are exercised; and (vii) any provisions on penalties. 
 
The Plan also empowers the Board of Directors to approve options grants on special terms to certain 
Beneficiaries (ñAdditional Optionsò). Granting or exercising Additional Options is necessarily conditional upon 
(i) acquisition by the Beneficiaries of shares issued by the company using their own funds and in compliance 
with the percentages and other terms and conditions defined in each Program (ñOwn Sharesò); and (ii ) 
observance of a ban on selling Own Shares during a specified period (ñlock-upò). 
 
The Board of Directors may delegate its powers to the Compensation Committee. The Board is currently 
assisted by the Compensation Committee in defining the terms and conditions of option grants in accordance 
with the provisions in the bylaws that establish the responsibilities of the Compensation Committee.  
 
In addition, the Option Plan states that each Program may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors 
(assisted by the Compensation Committee in formulating the corresponding proposals) and with the consent 
of the Chief Executive Officer, establish a percentage increase in the standard number of options to be 
granted to each Beneficiary based on company and/or individual performance against the respective targets, 
provided the total number of options to be granted under each Program is not exceeded.  

 
When each Program is issued, the Board of Directors establishes the terms and conditions for the options 
granted in a specific agreement (ñStock Option Agreementò or ñAgreementò) entered into by and between the 
company and each Beneficiary. The Agreement includes provisions concerning at least the following items: 

a) The number of shares the Beneficiary is entitled to buy or subscrib e for when exercising the option and 
the price per share according to the corresponding Program; 
b) The percentage increase in the standard number of options to be granted to the Beneficiary and the 
criteria and performance assessment period to be used to determine it;  
c) The initial period during which the option may not be exercised, the vesting schedule specifying the 
dates for total or partial exercise, and the date(s) at which the rights deriving from the option will expire;  
d) Any restrictions on the transfer of shares received as a result of exercising the options and/or the 
transfer of Own Shares, as well as penalties for infringing such restrictions;  
e) Any other terms and conditions that do not conflict with the Option Plan or the respective Progra m. 
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The shares acquired by exercising an option enjoy the rights established in the Option Plan and in the 
respective Program and Stock Option Agreement and are always assured the right to receive any dividends 
distributed after being bought or subscribed for, as the case may be. 
 
The companyôs Stock Option Programs and Stock Option Agreements are also subject to the following general 
conditions: 

a) No shares are delivered to a Beneficiary as a result of option exercise unless all legal and regulatory 
requirements have been met in every respect;  
b) No provision of the Option Plan or of any Program or Agreement may be construed as a guarantee that 
any Beneficiary will be entitled to remain as an executive officer or employee of the company or interfere 
in any way with the companyôs right to interrupt an executiveôs mandate or an employeeôs employment 
contract at any time;  
c) Neither the stock options granted in accordance with the terms of the Option Plan nor their exercise by 
Beneficiaries have any relation or link to their fixed compensation or variable compensation in the form of 
profit sharing;  
d) Beneficiaries enjoy none of the rights or privileges of shareholders in the company except those to 
which the Option Plan refers with regard to the options c overed by the relevant Agreement;  
e) Beneficiaries acquire shareholder rights and privileges only when they subscribe for or effectively 
acquire shares as a result of options exercise. 

 
There are currently five Stock Option Programs, approved by the Board of Directors as ñBVMF Option Program 
2008ò, ñBVMF Option Program 2009ò, ñBVMF Option Program 2010ò, ñBVMF Option Program 2011ò and ñBVMF 
Additional Option Program 2011ò. The terms and conditions of these Programs are detailed below. 
 
Besides the companyôs Option Plan, in taking over BM&F S.A. the company also took over the latterôs Option 
Plan (ñBM&F Option Planò), approved by a General Meeting of Shareholders in BM&F S.A. held on September 
20, 2007. As a result the company assumed 19,226,388 options representing the same number of shares in 
the company. These shares are not included in the limit specified by the companyôs current Option Plan. 
 

Finally, it should be noted that as decided by the Board of Directors on February 23, 2010, option grants 
referring to the current financial year will always be made in the subsequent financial year, so that options for 
FY2010 were granted in January 2011 with effects on FY2011 and options for FY2011 were granted in 
January 2012 with effects on FY2012. 
 
b. Key objectives of the Option Plan  
 
The prime objective of the companyôs Stock Option Plan, instituted in accordance with article 168 (3) of Law 
6404 (1976), known as the Corporation Law, is to give the executive officers, employees and service providers 
of the company, its subsidiaries and affiliates an opportunity to become shareholders in the company. This is 
expected to align the interests of executives, employees and contractors more closely with the interests of the 
companyôs shareholders, while also sharing the risks posed by the capital markets and enabling the company 
and its subsidiaries and affiliates to attract and retain executives, employees and service providers.  
 
c. How the Plan helps achieve these objectives  
 
The objective of fostering closer alignment of interests is achieved by offering executives, employees and 
contractors an opportunity to become shareholders in the company. It is important to note in this regard that 
the options granted under the plan are formatted in such a way as to enabl e Beneficiaries to obtain possible 
gains in the medium to long term, as the companyôs stock price rises, so that they are encouraged to commit 
themselves to the companyôs long-term objectives and to create value during the period.  
 
Moreover, the obligation for Beneficiaries to remain in service with the company in order to exercise options is 
designed to retain talented professionals as part of the companyôs key executive staff. In short, the possibility 
of future gains conditional upon continuing to work for the company is expected to retain Beneficiaries over 
the long run.  
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In the specific case of the Additional Stock Option Program, Beneficiaries also undertake to buy and hold 
shares in the company (ñOwn Sharesò) as a condition for being granted options and later exercising them. 
This leads to more intense alignment of the interests of Beneficiaries with those of the company, as they 
become partners and highly committed to long -term results. Because this Program is designed for a key group 
in the organization and involves a stronger commitment as well as a longer vesting period, it reinforces the 
effect of retaining professionals critical to short -, medium- and long-term value creation. 
 
d. How the Plan fits into the companyôs compensation policy  
 
The Option Plan contributes to the composition of the total compensation received by the companyôs 
executive officers. In this way it is part of the compensation policyôs goal of harnessing individual performance 
to the companyôs objectives, giving executives an additional incentive to implement medium - and long-term 
actions that add value to the company. The incentive consists of the opportunity for gains deriving from 
appreciation of the companyôs stock in the marketplace. Furthermore, by offering a chance to realize gains 
only via a long-term commitment the options granted serve as a means of attracting and retaining talent.  
 
e.  How the Plan aligns the interests of executive officers with those of the company in the short, 

medium and long term  
 
The Option Plan entails different levels of gain as a function of performance, making it an incentive to the 
achievement of the companyôs overall targets and the pursuit of medium- and long-term actions that add 
value to the company and are reflected in growth of the companyôs market value. In this way the companyôs 
executives are encouraged to pursue sustainable results that add value to the company over time. The Option 
Plan aligns the interests of executives with the companyôs interests insofar as it enables them to become 
shareholders in the company and encourages them to be efficient managers, while also attracting and 
retaining highly qualified professionals and fueling growth and value creation for the company. The 
mechanisms that foster the alignment  of the interests of Beneficiaries over time include, for example, the 
period during which options cannot be exercised and the vesting schedule that determines the pace at which 
they can be exercised. The division of options into lots to be exercised parti ally over time serves as a stimulus 
to the retention of professionals during the period concerned, enabling them to increase their shareholdings 

gradually and obtain steadily higher gains in proportion to the length of their service with the company.  
 
To strengthen still further the alignment between the companyôs interests and those of its executives, a new 
Option Program (Additional Stock Option Program) has been implemented, requiring Beneficiaries to disburse 
their own funds to purchase Own Shares and to continue holding these throughout the vesting period 
specified by the Program on pain of losing the right to exercise the options granted. This leads to more 
intense alignment of the interests of Beneficiaries with those of the company, as they become p artners and 
highly committed to long -term results. Because this Program is designed for a key group in the organization 
and involves a stronger commitment as well as a longer vesting period, it reinforces the effect of retaining 
professionals critical to short-, medium- and long-term value creation. 
 
f. Maximum number of shares involved  
 
The Option Plan approved by the Extraordinary General Meeting held on May 8, 2008, and amended by the 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on April 18, 2011, limits option grants to a maximum of 2.5% of the 

companyôs share capital on the date of each grant. Based on the number of shares issued by the company 
until December 31, 2011, the limit for the Option Plan is 49.5 million shares. The number of shares 
represented by options outstanding is 20,494,092, so that the company can still grant options corresponding 
to 29,005,908 shares in FY2012 before reaching the 2.5% limit.  
 
Besides the aforementioned limit, the Option Plan also specifies that following the takeover of BM&F S.A. by 
the company on May 8, 2008, the formerôs option plan (ñBM&F Planò) was also taken over by the company, so 
that the Beneficiaries of the BM&F Plan are also entitled to stock options granted by the company. As a result 
the company assumed 19,226,388 options representing the same number of shares in the company. Of these, 
1,924,000 were still outstanding on December 31, 2011. These shares are not included in the 2.5% specified 
in the companyôs Option Plan. 
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g. Maximum number of options to be granted  
 
The Option Plan approved by the Extraordinary General Meeting held on May 8, 2008, and amended by the 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on April 18, 2011, limits option grants to a maximum of 2.5% of the 
companyôs share capital on the date of each grant. Based on the number of shares issued by the company 
until December 31, 2011, the limit for the Option Plan is 49.5 million shares. The number of shares 
represented by options outstanding is 20,494,092, so that the company can still grant options correspon ding 
to 29,005,908 shares in FY2012 before reaching the 2.5% limit.  
 
h. Conditions for stock purchase  
 
The rules in the existing Option Plan require the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee, as the 
case may be, to create stock option programs (ñProgramsò) from time to time and in so doing to define (i) the 
Beneficiaries; (ii) the total number of shares in the company covered by the options granted; (iii) how the 
shares covered by the options granted are divided into lots, if any; (iv) the exerci se price; (v) the vesting 
schedule; (vi) any restrictions on transferring the shares received when options are exercised; and (vii) any 
provisions on penalties.  
 
The Plan also empowers the Board of Directors to approve options grants on special terms to certain 
Beneficiaries (ñAdditional Optionsò). Granting or exercising Additional Options is necessarily conditional upon 
(i) acquisition by the Beneficiaries of shares issued by the company using their own funds and in compliance 
with the percentages and other terms and conditions defined in each Program (ñOwn Sharesò); and (ii ) 
observance of a ban on selling Own Shares during a specified period (ñlock-upò). In addition, at the discretion 
of the Board of Directors (assisted by the Compensation Committee in formulating the corresponding 
proposals) and with the consent of the Chief Executive Officer, each Program may establish a percentage 
increase in the standard number of options to be granted to each Beneficiary based on company and/or 
individual performance against the respective targets, provided the limits in the Plan are observed. For more 
information on the conditions for stock purchase under the Option Plan and the respective Programs, see 
especially 13.4 (a) above, and 13.4 (i) and (j) below.  
 

i. Cri teria for establishing the exercise price  
 
The Option Plan states as a general rule that the exercise price for all options granted by the company 
corresponds to the average market price of the companyôs stock in the last 20 trading sessions prior to the 
date on which the grant is made. On issuing each Program, however, the Board of Directors may determine a 
discount of up to 20% on this average price for Beneficiaries who exercise their options. The fact that a 
discount is awarded in any Program does not oblige the company to award a discount of any size in future 
Programs. No discounts have been awarded in any of the Programs issued to date, including the 2011 
Program. 
 
In the specific case of the Additional Option Program, the exercise price discount may be higher than 20% at 
the discretion of the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee, as the case may be, provided the 
following conditions stipulated by the Program are observed: (i) acquisition by the Beneficiaries of shares 
issued by the company using their own funds and in compliance with the percentages and other terms and 
conditions defined in each Program (ñOwn Sharesò); and (ii) observance of a ban on selling Own Shares 

during a specified period (ñlock-upò). In the specific case of BVMF Additional Stock Option Program 2011, a 
50% discount was awarded on the standard exercise price calculated in accordance with the above 
methodology (as the average of the closing price for the companyôs stock in the 20 trading sessions prior to 
the date on which t he option was granted).  
 
j. Criteria for establishing vesting periods  
 
The Option Plan rules state that options may be exercised totally or partially in accordance with the vesting 
periods established in each Program and the respective Stock Option Agreements at the discretion of the 
Board of Directors or Compensation Committee, as the case may be. In any event, when setting a vesting 
schedule these bodies must take into consideration the objectives of the Option Plan to ensure that vesting 
periods are aligned with the companyôs medium- and long-term interests and its talent retention strategy.  
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Under all currently existing Programs except the Additional Option Program, Beneficiaries can exercise options 
granted to date at a rate of one -fourth (¼) per year.   
 
The vesting schedule for BVMF Option Program 2011 is as follows: (i) ¼ from January 2, 2013; (ii) ¼ from 
January 2, 2014; (iii) ¼ from January 2, 2015; (iv) ¼ from January 2, 2016. The vesting schedule for BVMF 
Option Program 2010 is as follows: (i) ¼ f rom January 3, 2011; (ii) ¼ from January 3, 2012; (iii) ¼ from 
January 3, 2013; (iv) ¼ from January 3, 2014. The vesting schedule for BVMF Option Program 2009 is as 
follows: (i) ¼ from December 30, 2009; (ii) ¼ from December 30, 2010; (iii) ¼ from December  30, 2011; 
(iv) ¼ from December 30, 2012. The vesting schedule for BVMF Option Program 2008 is as follows: (i) ¼ 
from June 30, 2009; (ii) ¼ from June 30, 2010; (iii) ¼ from June 30, 2011; (iv) ¼ from June 30, 2012.  
 
The Programôs terms and conditions also stipulate that options can be exercised at the end of a specified 
vesting period, limited to a maximum of seven years from the grant date.  
 
The vesting period is longer in the specific case of the Additional Option Program, which is designed to create 
a mechanism for the retention of key professionals in the organization. The vesting schedule for BVMF 
Additional Option Program 2011 is as follows: (i) ½ from January 2, 2015; (ii) ½ from January 2, 2017. This 
Program also stipulates that options can be exercised at the end of each vesting period, limited to a maximum 
of seven years from the date on which they were granted, i.e. until January 2, 2019.  
 
Additional Options may be exercised only in compliance with the following conditions: ( i) acquisition by the 
Beneficiaries of shares issued by the company using their own funds and in compliance with the percentages 
and other terms and conditions defined in each Program (ñOwn Sharesò); and (ii ) observance of a ban on 
selling Own Shares during a specified period (ñlock-upò). 
 
At the start of the vesting period and provided the specific requirements of each Program have been met, the 
respective options can be exercised totally or partially. If options are exercised parti ally, the holder may 
exercise the remainder in accordance with the respective vesting schedule. Options not exercised in 
accordance with the vesting schedule and other conditions stipulated in the respective Programs are 
considered automatically cancelled without consideration.  

 
k. Settlement  
 
Beneficiaries who wish to exercise options granted to date must notify the company in writing by filing an 
ñExercise Notificationò. This notification must state the number of shares the Beneficiary wishes to buy. 
Exercise Notifications are deemed valid and effective only if they are delivered in accordance with the 
timetable determined by the company, given the need for planning and organization to make shares available 
for purchase under the terms of the Programs. Upon receiving an Exercise Notification, the company is 
obliged to inform the Beneficiary of the exercise price, and management is required to take the necessary 
action to formalize stock acquisition and option exercise. Beneficiaries effect payment for shares at the 
exercise price in the manner stipulated by the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee, as the case 
may be.  
 
Once an option is exercised, the company, Beneficiary and any other parties involved sign the necessary 
documents to formalize acquisition of the stock as required by law and the companyôs rules and regulations, 

and also observing the legal restrictions on trading of the stock concerned. The stock concerned confers the 
same rights as all other stock of the same type issued by the company. 
 
The company may determine temporary suspension of the right to exercise options in situations deemed to 
restrict or prevent trading in stock by the Beneficiaries concerned, according to the applicable legislation or 
rules. Beneficiaries pay the exercise price in a lump sum. No stock is delivered to Beneficiaries as a result of 
option exercise unless all legal and regulatory requirements have been completely met.  
 
l. Restrictions on the transfer of shares  
 
The Option Plan empowers the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee, as the case may be, to 
establish a lock-up period during which Beneficiaries may not sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of stock 
acquired under the Option Plan, any stock acquired via bonuses, stock splits, subscription and other forms of 
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acquisition that do not involve disbursement of additional funds belonging to them, or securities that confer 
the right to subscribe for or buy stock if such stock or securities accrue to them as a consequence of their 
ownership of stock under the Option Plan. The lock-up period is never more than two years starting on the 
date on which options are granted.  
 
Nevertheless, at any time Beneficiaries may sell shares in the amount necessary to pay the exercise price of 
options exercised in toto or a minimum installment if payment by installment is allowed.  
 
If staggered payment of the exercise price is allowed, the stock acquired by exercising options under the 
Option Plan may not be sold until all installments have been paid in, unless such sales is authorized by the 
Board of Directors or proposed by the Compensation Committee, in which case the proceeds of the sale must 
preferentially be used to settle the Beneficiaryôs debt to the company. 
 
In the specific case of the Additional Option Program, Beneficiaries may not sell, transfer or otherwise dispose 
of Own Shares in any stock acquired via bonuses, stock splits, subscription and other forms of acquisition that 
do not involve disbursement of additional funds belonging to them, or securit ies that confer the right to 
subscribe for or buy stock if such stock or securities accrue to them as a consequence of their ownership of 
stock under the Option Plan until the expiration of any lock -up period established for the Program concerned 
at the discretion of the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee, in which case it must coincide with 
and be proportional to vesting periods for Additional Options so that the sale of Own Shares can occur 
proportionally provided stock has already been acquired by exercising Additional Options. 
 
If any Beneficiary sells or in any other way disposes of Own Shares before they are fully vested, all options 
not yet exercised are forfeited without consideration whether  or not they have vested, unless the Board of 
Directors or Compensation Committee decides otherwise for each specific case.  
 
Beneficiaries also undertake not to encumber stock for which payment has not yet been made in full or Own 
Shares during a lock-up period, and not to pledge them or place on them any other lien that could prevent 
compliance with any of the provisions of the companyôs Option Plan. 
 

m. Criterion for suspending, altering or discontinuing the plan  
 
The Option Plan can be discontinued at any time by the Board of Directors without affec ting lock-up periods 
or other insider trading restrictions and without altering the rights and obligations arising from any existing 
stock option agreement. 
 
Furthermore, in the event of dissolution, liquidation, adjustment, acquisition, merger, recapitali zation, stock 
splits, reorganization or any other change in the company's capital structure after which the company is not 
the surviving entity or survives without having its stock listed on a stock exchange, the stock options granted 
by the company may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors or if proposed by the Compensation 
Committee, be transferred to the successor entity or vest at an earlier date so that they can be exercised by 
the respective Beneficiaries for a specified period, after which the stock option plan will end and any stock 
options not exercised will forfeit without consideration . Beneficiaries will be given reasonable notice in 
advance of any such event so that they can exercise their options at their own discretion and in accordance  
with a timetable determined by the Board of Directors or proposed by the Compensation Committee, as the 

case may be. 
 
n.  Effects of an executive officerôs departure from a company body on the rights provided for by 

the compensation plan based on stock op tions  
 
If an executive officerôs mandate is terminated for breach of duty or he or she is dismissed with cause, and if 
a service agreement is terminated with cause in accordance with Brazilian civil and labor law, any unexercised 
options are forfeited without consideration whether or not the options concerned have vested.  
 
In the case of Beneficiaries who resign from the company or whose relationship with the company is 
terminated with or without cause, including by termination of the respective service  agreement, (i) any 
options that have vested may be exercised within ninety days starting on the date of the event that gives rise 
to termination of their relationship with the company, provided the time limit for exercise established in the 
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respective Program is observed, and (ii) any options that have not yet vested are forfeited without 
consideration. 
 
In the case of Beneficiaries who die or are permanently disabled and cannot perform their duties as 
executives or employees of the company, the rights att ached to stock options can be exercised by the 
Beneficiaries concerned or by their heirs and successors, whether or not they have vested, for a one-year 
period starting on the date of death or permanent disability, after which they are cancelled without 
consideration. A decedentôs options can be exercised totally or partially but lump-sum payment is required in 
either case, and the right to shares is apportioned among the heirs and successors according to the 
decedentôs last will and testament or the laws of intestate succession. Any stock subscribed for by a disabled 
Beneficiary or his or her heirs or successors is deemed free and clear of liens and encumbrances and can be 
sold at any time.  
 
The above provisions also apply when a Beneficiary retires, provided the Beneficiary undertakes to refrain for 
at least 120 days from providing services with or without an employment relationship to companies or 
institutions that operate even indirectly in the same markets as the company.  
 
No provisions of the Option Plan or of any Program or Agreement governed by the Option Plan may be 
construed as assuring any Beneficiaryôs right to remain as an executive officer or employee of the company 
and in any event cannot interfere with the companyôs right to interrupt an executiveôs mandate or an 
employeeôs employment contract. 
 
13.5  Number of shares and convertible securities issued by company, subsidiaries and 

affiliates and held directly or indirectly in Brazil and abroad by members of Board of 
Directors, executive officers and members of Supervisory Board, grouped by governance 
body, at end of last financial year.  

 
2011  

Body  
Shares of company stock  (%)  

Board of Directors 1,091,302 0.055% 
Executive Board 3,236,884 0.163% 
Supervisory Board n/a n/a 
Total  4,328,186  0.218%  

 
13.6  Stock -based compensation of directors and executives recognized in financial years 

ending December 31, 2009, December 31, 2010, and December 31, 2011, and projected 
for current financial year.  

 
 
The tables below present information on the stock-based compensation received by the companyôs executive 
officers, (i) as recognized in the income statements for the years ended December 31, 2011, December 31, 
2010, and December 31, 2009, based on the number of members of each body to which such compensation 
was actually allocated in the years concerned, and (ii) as projected for the current financial year.  
 
 
It is important to note that stock option grants referring to FY2010 occurred in January 2011 with effects on 
FY2011, pursuant to decisions by the Board of Directors.  
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Year ended December 31, 2011  

 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 6 6 

Option grants    

Grant date  n/a Jan. 3, 2011 Jan. 3, 2011 

No. of options granted n/a 3,420,000 3,420,000 

Vesting date n/a 855,000 - Jan. 3, 
2011 

855,000 - Jan. 3, 
2012 

855,000 - Jan. 3, 
2013 

855,000 - Jan. 3, 
2014 

 

Expiration date n/a Jan. 3, 2018 Jan. 3, 2018 

Lock-up period n/a n/a n/a 

Weighted average exercise  
price of  

n/a R$ 12.91 R$ 12.91 

- options outstanding at start of financial 
year 

n/a R$ 12.91 R$ 12.91 

- lost during financial year n/a R$ 12.91 R$ 12.91 

- exercised during financial year n/a R$ 12.91 R$ 12.91 

- expired during financial year n/a R$ 12.91 R$ 12.91 

Fair price on grant date n/a R$ 4.50 R$ 4.50 

Potential dilution if all  
options granted are exercised  

n/a 0.17% 0.17% 

  

 

Year ended December 31, 2010  

 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 0 0 

Option grants    

Grant date n/a n/a n/a 

No. of options granted n/a n/a  n/a 

Vesting date n/a n/a n/a 

Expiration date n/a n/a n/a 

Lock-up period n/a n/a n/a 

Weighted average exercise  
price of 

n/a n/a n/a 

- options outstanding at start of financial 
year 

n/a n/a n/a 

- lost during financial year n/a n/a n/a 

- exercised during financial year n/a n/a n/a 

- expired during financial year n/a n/a n/a 

Fair price on grant date n/a n/a n/a 

Potential dilution if all  
options granted are exercised 

n/a n/a n/a 
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Year ended December 31, 2009  

 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 6 6 

Option grants    

Grant date n/a Jan. 1, 2009 Jan. 1, 2009 

No. of options granted n/a 2,490,000 2,490,000 

Vesting date n/a 622,500 - Dec. 30, 
2009 

622,500 - Dec. 30, 
2010 

622,500 - Dec. 30, 
2011 

622,500 - Dec. 30, 
2012 

 

Expiration date n/a Dec. 30, 2016 Dec. 30, 2016 

Lock-up period n/a n/a n/a 

Weighted average exercise  
price of 

n/a R$ 6.60 R$ 6.60 

- options outstanding at start of financial 
year 

n/a R$ 6.60 R$ 6.60 

- lost during financial year n/a R$ 6.60 R$ 6.60 

- exercised during financial year n/a R$ 6.60 R$ 6.60 

- expired during financial year n/a R$ 6.60 R$ 6.60 

Fair price on grant date n/a R$ 2.93 R$ 2.93 

Potential dilution if all  
options granted are exercised 

n/a 0.12% 0.12% 

  
 
On December 19, 2008, the company granted 1,540,000 options under the Option Plan with an exercise price 
of R$5.174 per share, corresponding to the average closing price for the 20 trading sessions prior to the grant 
date, and with four vesting dates over a four -year period (ñBVMF Option Program 2008ò). 
 
Lots 1, 2 and 3 have now vested and some holders of options granted under BVMF Option Program 2008 are 
entitled to exercise their options. On December 31, 2011, 105,000 of the options granted under BVMF Option 
Program 2008 had not yet vested.  
 
On March 1, 2009, the company granted 1,490,000 options under the Option Plan with an exercise price of 
R$6.60 per share (ñBVMF Option Program 2009ò). No more grants or alterations to the vesting schedule were 
made under this Program. On December 31, 2011, 287,500 of the options granted had not yet vested.  
 
On January 3, 2011, the company granted 3,420,000 options under the Option Plan with an exercise price of 
R$12.91 per share (ñBVMF Option Program 2010ò). No more grants or alterations to the vesting schedule 
were made under this Program. On December 31, 2011, 1,777,500 of the options granted had not yet vested.  
 
It should be noted that as decided by the Board of Directors option grants referring to the current financial 

year will always be made in the subsequent financial year, so that options for FY2011 were granted in January 
2012 with effects on FY2012. 
 
On January 2, 2012, the number of options granted to executive officers under BVMF Option Program 2011 
and BVMF Additional Option Program 2011, as approved by the Board of Directors, corresponded respectively 
to 3,250,000 and 1,337,170 shares, representing 0.16% and 0.07% of the total number of shares issued by 
the company. The exercise prices for the options granted under the aforementioned Programs were calculated 
in accordance with the Option Plan. 
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Year ending December 31, 2012 ï Projections for Stock -Based Compensation  

BVMF Option Program 2011 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 5 5 

Option grants    

Grant date n/a Jan. 2, 2012 Jan. 2, 2012 

No. of options granted n/a 3,250,000 3,250,000 

Vesting date n/a 812,500 - Jan. 2, 
2013 

812,500 - Jan. 2, 
2014 

812,500 - Jan. 2, 
2015 

812,500 - Jan. 2, 
2016 

 

Expiration date n/a Jan. 2, 2020 Jan. 2, 2020 

Lock-up period n/a n/a n/a 

Weighted average exercise  
price of 

n/a R$ 10.07 R$ 10.07 

- options outstanding at start of financial 
year 

n/a R$ 10.07 R$ 10.07 

- lost during financial year n/a R$ 10.07 R$ 10.07 

- exercised during financial year n/a R$ 10.07 R$ 10.07 

- expired during financial year n/a R$ 10.07 R$ 10.07 

Fair price on grant date n/a R$ 2.79 R$ 2.79 

Potential dilution if all  
options granted are exercised 

n/a 0.16% 0.16% 

  

 

Year ending December 31, 2012 ï Projections for Stock -Based  Compensation  

BVMF Additional Option Program 2011 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 5 5 

Option grants    

Grant date n/a Jan. 2, 2012 Jan. 2, 2012 

No. of options granted n/a 1,337,170 1,337,170 

Vesting date n/a 668,585 - Jan. 2, 15 
668,585 - Jan. 2, 17 

 

Expiration date n/a Jan. 2. 2019 Jan. 2. 2019 

Lock-up period n/a n/a n/a 

Weighted average exercise  
price of 

n/a R$ 5.04 R$ 5.04 

- options outstanding at start of financial 
year 

n/a R$ 5.04 R$ 5.04 

- lost during financial year n/a R$ 5.04 R$ 5.04 

- exercised during financial year n/a R$ 5.04 R$ 5.04 

- expired during financial year n/a R$ 5.04 R$ 5.04 

Fair price on grant date n/a R$ 4.19 R$ 4.19 

Potential dilution if all  
options granted are exercised 

n/a 0.07% 0.07% 

 
13.7  Outstanding stock options held by directors and executive officers at end of last financial 

year  
 
The tables below present information on the stock options granted to members of the Board of Directors and 
executive officers of the company outstanding on December 31, 2011, based on the number of members of 
each body who actually received variable compensation. 
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With regard to long -term compensation in the form of stock options granted under the Stock Option Plan, it is 
important to note that  as decided by the Board of Directors the grants for the current financial year will 
always be made at the start of the next financial year. Thus stock options relating to FY2011 were granted in 
January 2012, with effects on FY2012. 
 

Year ended December 31 , 2011  

BVMF Option Program 2010 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 5.67 5.67 

Unvested options    

Quantity n/a 1,777,500 1,777,500 

Vesting date n/a 592,500 - Jan. 3, 
2012 

592,500 - Jan. 3, 
2013 

592,500 - Jan. 3, 
2014 

n/a 

Expiration date n/a Jan. 3, 2018 Jan. 3, 2018 

Lock-up period n/a n/a n/a 

Weighted average exercise price n/a R$ 12.91 R$ 12.91 

Fair price on last day of financial year  R$ 4.50 R$ 4.50 

Vested options 

   

Quantity n/a 592,500 592,500 

Expiration date n/a Jan. 3, 2018 Jan. 3, 2018 

Lock-up period  n/a n/a n/a 

Weighted average exercise price n/a R$ 12.91 R$ 12.91 

Fair price on last day of financial year n/a R$ 4.50 R$ 4.50 

Fair price of all options on 
 last day of financial year 

n/a R$ 4.50 R$ 4.50 

 

Year ended December 31, 2011  

BVMF Option Program 2009 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 5.67 5.67 

Unvested options    

Quantity 

n/a 287,500 
287,500 - Dec. 30, 

2012 

287,500 

Vesting date n/a   

Expiration date n/a Dec. 30, 2016 Dec. 30, 2016 

Lock-up period n/a n/a n/a 

Weighted average exercise price n/a R$ 6.60 R$ 6.60 

Fair price on last day of financial year  R$ 2.93 R$ 2.93 

Vested options 

   

Quantity n/a 287,500 287,500 

Expiration date n/a Dec. 30, 2016 Dec. 30, 2016 

Lock-up period  n/a n/a n/a 

Weighted average exercise price n/a R$ 6.60 R$ 6.60 

Fair price on last day of financial year n/a R$ 2.93 R$ 2.93 

Fair price of all options on 
 last day of financial year 

n/a R$ 2.93 R$ 2.93 
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As a result of the merger with BM&F S.A., the company assumed 19,226,388 stock options, of which 
7,859,384 had been granted to executives of BM&F S.A. and conferred the right to buy the same number of 
shares issued by the company at the exercise price of R$1.00 per share. On December 31, 2011, no unvested 
options and 337,500 vested options remained outstanding. 
 
On December 19, 2008, the company granted 1,540,000 options under the Option Plan with an exercise price 
of R$5.174 per share, corresponding to the average closing price for the 20 trading sessions prior to the grant 
date, and with four vesting dates over a four -year period (ñBVMF Option Program 2008ò). On December 31, 
2011, 105,000 unvested options and 35,000 vested options remained outstanding. 
 
13.8  Options exercised by and shares delivered to directors and executive officers as stock -

based compensation in years ending December 31, 2009, December 31, 2010, and 
December 31, 2011.  

 
The tables below present information on the options exercised by and shares delivered to members of the 
Board of Directors and executive officers of the company as stock-based compensation in the financial years 
ended December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010, and December 31, 2009, considering the number of 
members of each body who actually exercised options and received shares. 
 
As a result of the merger with BM&F S.A., the company assumed 19,226,388 stock options, of which 
7,859,384 had been granted to executives of BM&F S.A. and conferred the right to buy the same number of 
shares issued by the company at the exercise price of R$1.00 per share. During the financial year ended 
December 31, 2011, 1,127,346 options were exercised at a weighted average price of R$1.00. The difference 
between the exercise price and market price of the shares acquired by exercising these options yielded gains 
amounting in aggregate to R$10,281,395.52. 
 

Year ended December 31, 2011  

 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 5.67 5.67 

Options exercised    

No. of shares n/a 497,500 497,500 

Weighted average exercise price n/a R$ 6.40 R$ 6.40 

Total value of difference between exercise 
and 
market prices of shares acquired by 
exercising options 

n/a R$ 2,934,395.00 
 

R$ 2,934,395.00 

Shares delivered n/a 0 0 

No. of shares n/a 0 0 

Weighted average exercise price n/a 0 0 

Total value of difference between exercise 
and 
market prices of shares acquired by 
exercising options 

n/a 0 0 

 

Year ended December 31, 2010  

 

Board  
of Directors  

Executive  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 6 6 

Options exercised    

No. of shares n/a 547,500 547,500 

Weighted average exercise price n/a R$ 6.05 R$ 6.05 

Total value of difference between exercise 
and 
market prices of shares acquired by 
exercising options 

n/a R$ 3,581,148.80 R$ 3,581,148.80 

Shares delivered n/a 0 0 
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Year ended December 31, 2010  

 

Board  
of Directors  

Executive  
Board  Total  

No. of shares n/a 0 0 

Weighted average exercise price n/a 0 0 

Total value of difference between exercise 
and 
market prices of shares acquired by 
exercising options 

n/a 0 0 

 

Year ended December 31, 2009  

 

Board  
of Directors  

Executive  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 6 6 

Options exercised    

No. of shares n/a 280,000 280,000 

Weighted average exercise price n/a R$ 5.17 R$ 5.17 

Total value of difference between exercise 
and 
market prices of shares acquired by 
exercising options 

n/a R$ 1,124,480.00 R$ 1,124,480.00 

Shares delivered n/a 0 0 

No. of shares n/a 0 0 

Weighted average exercise price n/a 0 0 

Total value of difference between exercise 
and 
market prices of shares acquired by 
exercising options 

n/a 0 0 

 
13.9  Summary of information required to understand data disclosed in 13.6 -13.8 above, 

including explanation of methodology for pricing options and shares  
 
a. Pricing model  

 
Taking into consideration the factors described in (b) and (c) below, the fair price of the options granted was 
determined using the binomial tree option pricing model developed by Hull. This model produces results 
equivalent to those of the Black-Scholes model for simple European options with the advantage of capturing 
the effects of early exercise and dividend payments associated with the options concerned.  
 
b.  Data and assumptions used in pricing model, including weighted average share price, 

exercise pric e, expected volatility, option life, expected dividends and risk -free interest rate  
 

The main assumptions used in pricing the options were as follows: 
 

 Option pricing took into account the market parameters in force on the grant date for each Stock 
Option Program 

 Risk-free interest rates were computed with reference to the interest -rate futures contracts traded 
for the expiration date of each option  

 Share prices were adjusted for the effect of dividend payments  
 Expected volatility was determined as explained in (d) below  
 Option life was equivalent to the period ending at the expiration date  

 
Other classic assumptions associated with option pricing models also taken into consideration were the 
absence of arbitrage opportunities and constant volatility over time.  
  
The table below summarizes the main data and assumptions: 
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Data & Assumptions  2011 Program  

Grant date Jan. 2, 2012 
Share price (R$) 9.80 
Exercise price (R$) 10.07 
Expected volatility (year) 29.99% 

Option life (last vesting date)  Jan. 2, 2020 

Expected dividend (payout) 80.00% 

Risk-free interest rate (p.a., 252 trading days)  11.07% 

 
Data & Assumptions  

2011 Additional 
Program  

Grant date Jan. 2, 2012 
Share price (R$) 9.80 
Exercise price (R$) 5.04 
Expected volatility (year) 29.99% 

Option life (last vesting date)  Jan. 2, 2019 

Expected dividend (payout) 80.00% 

Risk-free interest rate (p.a., 252 trading days)  11.05% 

 
Data &  Assumptions  2010 Program  

Grant date Jan. 3, 2011 
Share price (R$) 13.40 
Exercise price (R$) 12.91 
Expected volatility (year)  25.00% 

Option life (last vesting date)  Jan. 3, 2018 

Expected dividend (payout) 80% 

Risk-free interest rate (p.a., 252 trading days)  11.78% 

 
Data & Assumptions  2009 Program  

Grant date Mar. 2, 2009 
Share price (R$) 5.80 
Exercise price (R$) 6.60 
Expected volatility (year) 67.57% 

Option life (last vesting date)  Dec. 30, 2016 

Expected dividend (payout) 50% 

Risk-free interest rate (p.a., 252 trading days)  13.47% 

 
c. Method used and assumptions for capturing expected effects of early exercise  
 
The options granted by the company are European-style (early exercise not allowed) until the vesting date 
and American-style (early exercise allowed) between vesting and expiration. Options with these characteristics 
are known as Bermudan or Mid-Atlantic options. They should by construction be priced between European 
and American options with equivalent characteristics. As for dividend payments, two effects on option pricing 
should be taken into consideration: (i) a fall in the share price after ex -dividend dates; (ii) the influence of 
dividend payments on a decision to exercise early.  
 
Taking into consideration the above factors, the fair price of the options granted was determi ned using the 

binomial model. This model produces results equivalent to Black-Scholes for simple European options with the 
advantage of simultaneously capturing the effects of early exercise and dividend payments associated with 
the options concerned.  
 
The main assumptions used in pricing the options were as follows: 
 

a) Option pricing took into account the market parameters in force on the grant date for each Stock 
Option Program 

b) Risk-free interest rates were computed with reference to the interest -rate futu res contracts traded 
for the expiration date of each option  

c) Option life was equivalent to the period ending at the expiration date  
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Other classic assumptions associated with option pricing models also taken into consideration were the 
absence of arbitrage opportunities and constant volatility over time.   
 
d.  Method for determining expected volatility  
 
Because the liquidity of the shares represented by the options was low at the time they were granted under 
the respective Programs, implied volatility was not representative and could not be used to estimate volatility. 
Moreover, the company had only recently listed at the time the Stock Option Programs were introduced, so 
that historical volatility does not provide sufficient information on the volatility of th e companyôs share price, 
especially considering the relatively long life of the options concerned. In light of these factors, 
BM&FBOVESPA estimates the volatility of its stock using implied volatility for similar entities (exchanges in 
other countries) wit h sufficient liquidity to guarantee the quality of the data processed.  
 
e. Other characteristics of the options taken into consideration when determining fair price  
 
All key characteristics of the options are described and analyzed above. 
 
13.10  Pension plans  in force for Board of Directors and executive staff  

 

 

Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  Total  

No. of members n/a 5.67 5.67 

Name of plan  Mercaprev  

No. of executives eligible for retirement  n/a 1 1 

No. of executives eligible for early retirement  n/a n/a n/a 

Present value of contributions paid into pension plan until 
end of last financial year, discounting contributions made 
directly by executives  

n/a 3,238,204.68 3,238,204.68 

Total cumulative value of contributions paid into pension 
plan during last financial year, discounting contributions 
made directly by executives 

n/a 526,500.56 
 

526,500.56 

Early redemption allowed? On  
what terms?  

n/a Yes. Employee 
portion only 

- 

 
13.11  Average compensation paid to directors and executive officers (Board of Directors, 

Executive Board, Supervisory Board)  
 
With regard to long -term compensation in the form of stock options granted under the Stock Option Plan, it is 
important to note that by decision of the Board of Directors the grants for the current financial year will 
always be made at the start of the next financial year. Thus stock options relating to FY2010 were granted on 
January 3, 2011, with effects on FY2011, and stock operations relating to FY2011 were granted on January 2, 
2012, with effects on FY2012. 
 
In the case of the Executive Board, owing to restructuring in September 2011, when three executive officers 
resigned and two new executive officers were later appointed, the three m embers who effectively performed 
their duties in the 12 -month period were taken into consideration for the purpose of determining the lowest 

compensation. The highest compensation is reported below on the basis of all compensation recognized in the 
income statement for the financial year ended December 31, 2011. The executive officer with the highest 
compensation performed his duties throughout the year from January through December.  
 
With regard to the Board of Directors, it is important to note that one member of this body received no 
compensation in FY2011 and that the lowest compensation is reported below on the basis of the nine 
members who did receive compensation for all 12 months, recalling that an election to the Board was held in 
April 2011. The highest compensation is based on all compensation recognized in the income statement. The 
director with the highest compensation performed his duties throughout 2011. The average compensation 
received in FY2011 was R$412,275.39. 
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Year ended December 31, 2011  

 Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  

Supervisory 
Board*  

No. of members 10.75 5.67 n/a 
Value of highest individual compensation (R$) 1,509,368.77 10,805,969.27 n/a 
Value of lowest individual compensation (R$) 219,300.00 4,003,528.08 n/a 
Average value of individual compensation (R$) 373,924.19 5,270,111.64 n/a 

 
* As described in item 13.1 above, the company has not set up a Supervisory Board but its responsibilities are 
adequately fulfilled by the Audit Committee that has been set up and exercises the duties stipulated in article 
47 of the companyôs bylaws, which match those of a Supervisory Board as laid out in Brazilian company law 
(Lei das SA).  
 
The companyôs Audit Committee has five members, all independent. Four are external and one is an 
independent member of the Board. All members of the Audit Committee serve a two-year term of office. The 

values shown below take into consideration the four external members who received compensation during the 
entirety of FY2011. The highest compensation recognized in FY2011 was R$287,136.99; the lowest was 
R$228,792.15. The average compensation recognized in FY2011 was R$243,378.36.  
 
In 2010, in the case of the Executive Board, owing to the departure of two executive officers, one in April and 
the other in June, and the appointment of a new executive officer in April and  another in June, the four 
members who effectively performed their duties in the 12 -month period were taken into consideration for the 
purpose of determining the lowest compensation. The highest compensation is reported below on the basis of 
all compensation recognized in the income statement for the financial year ended December 31, 2010. The 
executive officer with the highest compensation performed his duties throughout the year from January 
through December. 
 
One member of the Board of Directors received no compensation in 2010. The average compensation 
received in FY2010 was R$383,573.49. 
 

Year ended December 31, 2010  

 Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  

Supervisory 
Board*  

No. of members 11.00 6.00 n/a 
Value of highest individual compensation (R$) 1,403,705.84 4,208,247.98 n/a 
Value of lowest individual compensation (R$) 204,000.00 1,769,140.17 n/a 
Average value of individual compensation (R$) 348,703.17 2,480,091.13 n/a 

 
* As described in item 13.1 above, the company has not set up a Supervisory Board but its responsibilities are 
adequately fulfilled by the Audit Committee that has been set up and exercises the duties stipulated in article 
47 of the companyôs bylaws, which match those of a Supervisory Board as laid out in Brazilian company law 
(Lei das SA).  
 
The companyôs Audit Committee has five members, all independent. Four are external and one is an 
independent member of the Board. All members of the Audit Committee serve a two-year term of office. The 
values shown below take into consideration the four external members who received compensation during the 
entirety of FY2010. The highest compensation recognized in FY2010 was R$241,352.46; the lowest was 
R$190,194.02. The average compensation recognized in FY2010 was R$203,735.27.  
 
In the case of the Board of Directors, owing to a change in its composition in April 2009, only the five 
members who effectively performed their duties in the 12 -month period were taken into  consideration for the 
purpose of determining the lowest compensation. The highest compensation is reported below on the basis of 
all compensation recognized in the income statement for the financial year. However, the director with the 
highest compensation performed his duties from May through December.  
 
In the case of the Executive Board, owing to the departure of two executive officers, one in February and the 
other in May, and the appointment of a new executive officer in July, the five members who effe ctively 
performed their duties in the 12 -month period were taken into consideration for the purpose of determining 
the lowest compensation. The highest compensation is reported below on the basis of all compensation 
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recognized in the income statement for t he financial year ended December 31, 2009. The executive officer 
with the highest compensation performed his duties throughout the year from January through December.  
 
Two members of the Board of Directors received no compensation in 2009. The average compensation 
received in FY2009 was R$415,061.48. 
 
It is important to note that the composition of the compensation paid in 2009 includes long -term 
compensation in the form of stock options calculated on the basis of the fair price of the options concerned, 
as described in 13.4, 13.6, 13.7, 13.8 and 13.9 above.  
 

Year ended December 31, 2009  

 Board of  
Directors  

Executive  
Board  

Supervisory 
Board  

No. of members 10.92 6.00 n/a 
Value of highest individual compensation (R$) 936,091.88 5,453,734.08 n/a 
Value of lowest individual compensation (R$) 204,000.00 2,326,769.28 n/a 
Average value of individual compensation (R$) 339,042.89 2,971,009.46 n/a 

 
The companyôs Audit Committee has five members, all independent. Four are external and one is an 
independent member of the Board. All members of the Audit Committee serve a two -year term of office. The 
values shown take into consideration the three externa l members who received compensation during the 
entirety of FY2009. The highest compensation recognized in FY2009 was R$224,939.30; the lowest was 
R$191,835.85. The average compensation recognized in FY2009 was R$202,870.33.  
 
13.12  Contractual arrangements , insurance policies and any other instruments that structure 

compensation or consideration mechanisms for directors and officers in the event of 
dismissal or retirement, and the financial consequences for the company.  

 
The company has no specific policies governing compensation and/or consideration for directors and 
executive officers in the event of dismissal or retirement, with the exception in the latter case of the benefits 

provided by the pension plans in force, as described in 13.10 above. It is wort h noting that the Directors & 
Officers (D&O) liability insurance policy taken out by the company does not cover dismissal or retirement, but 
aims to assure financial protection and security to safeguard senior managers against claims arising from day-
to-day decisions so that they can perform their duties with serenity, as well as providing a competitive benefit 
designed to foster the retention of qualified professionals.  
 
13.13  Percentage of total compensation for each governance body recognized in income 

statement referring to members of Board of Directors, Executive Board and Supervisory 
Board who are related parties to direct or indirect controlling shareholders, as defined in 
relevant accounting rules .  

 
The company does not have controlling shareholders and hence no compensation is recognized in the income 
statement referring to members of Board of Directors, Executive Board and Supervisory Board who are related 
parties to direct or indirect controlling shareholders.  
 
13.14  Amounts recognized in income s tatement as compensation received by members of 

Board of Directors, Executive Board and Supervisory Board, grouped by governance 
body, for any reason other than their position in the company, such as commissions and 
fees for consulting or advisory services . 

 
No amounts are recognized in the income statement referring to compensation received by members of the 
Board of Directors or Executive Board for any reason other than the position they hold in the company.  
 
13.15  Amounts recognized in the income statements of direct or indirect controlling 

shareholders in other companies they also control as compensation received by members 
of the companyôs Board of Directors, Executive Board and Supervisory Board, grouped by 
governance body, specifying reasons fo r such recognition.  
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The company does not have controlling shareholders and therefore there are no other companies with the 
same controlling shareholders. No amounts are recognized in the financial statements of the companyôs 
subsidiaries or affiliates as compensation received by members of the companyôs Board of Directors and 
Executive Board. 
 
13.16  Other information deemed relevant  
 

No other information regarding the compensation received by management is deemed relevant in addition to 
the information pro vided above. 
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ATTACHMENT I V 
 

DRAFT BYLAWS OF BM&FBOVESPA  PROPOSING AMENDMENTS  TO BE SUBMITTED TO T HE EXTRAORDINARY SHA REHOLDERSɀ MEETING OF M ARCH 27, 2012 

 

BYLAWS  AMENDED BYLAWS  JUSTIFICATION  
   

CORPORATE BYLAWS OF BM& FBOVESPA S.A. ɬ 

BOLSA DE VALORES, MERCADORIAS e FUTUROS  

CORPORATE BYLAWS OF BM&FBOVESPA S.A. ɬ 

BOLSA DE VALORES, MERCADORIAS e FUTUROS  
 

   

CHAPTER I CHAPTER I  

NAME, HEADQUARTERS, VENUE, PURPOSE AND 

DURATION  

NAME, HEADQUARTERS, VENUE, PURPOSE AND 

DURATION  
 

   

Article 1 . BM&FBOVESPA S.A. ɬ BOLSA DE VALORES, 

,$1" #.1( 2ɯ$ɯ%4341.2ɯȹɁ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɂȺɯÐÚɯÈɯÊÖÙ×ÖÙÈÛÐÖÕɯ

governed by these Bylaws and by applicable law. 

Article 1 . BM&FBOVESPA S.A. ɬ BOLSA DE VALORES, 

,$1" #.1( 2ɯ$ɯ%4341.2ɯȹɁ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɂȺɯÐÚɯÈɯcorporation 

governed by these Bylaws and by applicable law. 

 

Sole paragraph . The shares of BM&FBOVESPA S.A. ɬ Bolsa 

ËÌɯ5ÈÓÖÙÌÚȮɯ,ÌÙÊÈËÖÙÐÈÚɯÌɯ%ÜÛÜÙÖÚɯȹɁ!,ȫ%!.5$2/ ɂȺȮɯÛÏÌɯ

Brazilian Securities and Derivatives Stock Exchange, have 

been listed to trade on the Stock Exchange special listing 

segment named Novo Mercado. Accordingly, the Company, 

the shareholders, the Directors and Officers and the Fiscal 

Council m embers (if the council is active) are bound by the 

Novo Mercado +ÐÚÛÐÕÎɯ1ÜÓÌÚɯȹɁNovo Mercado +ÐÚÛÐÕÎɯ1ÜÓÌÚɂȺɯ 

Sole paragraph . The shares of BM&FBOVESPA S.A. ɬ Bolsa 

ËÌɯ5ÈÓÖÙÌÚȮɯ,ÌÙÊÈËÖÙÐÈÚɯÌɯ%ÜÛÜÙÖÚɯȹɁ!,ȫ%!.5$2/ ɂȺȮɯÛÏÌɯ

Brazilian Securities and Derivatives Stock Exchange, have 

been listed to trade on the Stock Exchange special listing 

segment named Novo Mercado. Accordingly, the Company, 

the shareholders, the Directors and Officers and the Fiscal 

Council members (if the council is active) are bound by the 

Novo Mercado +ÐÚÛÐÕÎɯ1ÜÓÌÚɯȹɁNovo Mercado +ÐÚÛÐÕÎɯ1ÜÓÌÚɂȺɯ 

 

Article 2 . The Company has registered office and jurisdiction 

in the city of São Paulo, state of São Paulo. Upon a decision 

of the Executive Management Board, the Company may 

open and close branches, offices or other establishments and 

Article 2 . The Company has registered office and jurisdiction 

in the city of São Paulo, state of São Paulo. Upon a decision 

of the Executive Management Board, the Company may 

open and close branches, offices or other establishments and 
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facilities anywhere in Brazil or abroad.  facilities anywhere in Brazil or abroad.  

Article 3ȭɯ3ÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÊÖÙ×ÖÙÈÛÌɯ×ÜÙ×ÖÚÌɯÐÚɯÛÖɯÊÖÕËÜÊÛɯÖÙɯ

hold shares in the capital of companies undertaking the 

following activities:  

Article 3 . The "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÊÖÙ×ÖÙÈÛÌɯ×ÜÙ×ÖÚÌɯÐÚɯÛÖɯÊÖÕËÜÊÛɯÖÙɯ

hold shares in the capital of companies undertaking the 

following activities:  

 

I ɬ Surveillance of exchange markets for the organization, 

development and maintenance of free and open markets for 

the trading of  all types of securities, titles or contracts that 

have as references or are backed to spot or future indexes, 

indicators, rates, merchandise, currencies, energies, 

transportation, commodities and other assets or rights 

directly or indirectly related to th em, in terms of cash or 

future settlement;  

I ɬ Surveillance of exchange markets for the organization, 

development and maintenance of free and open markets for 

the trading of all types of securities, titles or contracts that 

have as references or are backed to spot or future indexes, 

indicators, rates, merchandise, currencies, energies, 

transportation, commodities and other assets or rights 

directly or indirectly related to them, in terms of cash or 

future settlement;  

 

II ɬ Maintenance of systems for the trade and auction and 

special operations of securities, derivatives, rights and titles 

in the organized exchange market or in the over-the-counter 

market; 

II ɬ Maintenance of systems for the trade and auction and 

special operations of securities, derivatives, rights and titles 

in the organized exchange market or in the over-the-counter 

market; 

 

III ɬ Rendering of registration, clearing and physical and 

financial settlement services, through an internal body or a 

company specially incorporated for this purp ose, as main 

and guarantor counterparty for the final clearance or not, 

ÈÊÊÖÙËÐÕÎɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯÓÈÞɯÐÕɯÌÍÍÌÊÛɯÈÕËɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÙÌÎÜÓÈÛÐÖÕÚȯ 

III ɬ Rendering of registration, clearing and physical and 

financial settlement services, through an internal body or a 

company specially incorporated for this purpose, as main 

and guarantor counterparty for the final clearance or not, 

ÈÊÊÖÙËÐÕÎɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯÓÈÞɯÐÕɯÌÍÍÌÊÛɯÈÕËɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÙÌÎÜÓÈÛÐÖÕÚȯ 

 

(a) of the transactions carried out and/or registered in any of 

the systems listed in ÐÛÌÔÚɯɁ(ɂɯÈÕËɯɁ((ɂɯÈÉÖÝÌȰɯÖÙ 

(a) of the transactions carried out and/or registered in any of 

ÛÏÌɯÚàÚÛÌÔÚɯÓÐÚÛÌËɯÐÕɯÐÛÌÔÚɯɁ(ɂɯÈÕËɯɁ((ɂɯÈÉÖÝÌȰɯÖÙ 

 

(b) of the transactions carried out and/or registered with 

other exchanges, markets or trading systems, 

(b) of the transactions carried out and/or registered with 

other exchanges, markets or trading systems, 

 

IV ɬ Rendering of services of centralized depositary and 

fungible and non -fungible custody of commodities, securities 

IV ɬ Rendering of services of centralized depositary and 

fungible and non -fungible custody of commodities, securities 
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and any other physical and financial assets; and any other physical and financial assets; 

V ɬ Rendering of customization, classification, analysis, 

quotation, preparation of  statistics, training of personnel, 

preparation of studies, publications, information, library and 

ÚÖÍÛÞÈÙÌɯ ËÌÝÌÓÖ×ÔÌÕÛɯ ÚÌÙÝÐÊÌÚɯ ÙÌÓÈÛÌËɯ ÛÖɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

interests and the participants of the markets under the 

"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯËÐÙÌÊÛɯÖÙɯÐÕËÐÙÌÊÛɯÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌɯÈÕËɯits interests; 

V ɬ Rendering of customization, classification, analysis, 

quotation, preparation of statistics, training of personnel, 

preparation of studies, publications, information, library and 

ÚÖÍÛÞÈÙÌɯ ËÌÝÌÓÖ×ÔÌÕÛɯ ÚÌÙÝÐÊÌÚɯ ÙÌÓÈÛÌËɯ ÛÖɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

interests and the participants of the markets under the 

"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯËÐÙÌÊÛɯÖÙɯÐÕËÐÙÌÊÛɯÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌɯÈÕËɯÐÛÚɯÐÕÛÌÙÌÚÛÚȰ 

 

VI ɬ Rendering of technical, administrative, and 

management support for  market development, as well as 

undertaking of educational, promotion al and publishing 

activities related to its corporate purpose and to the markets 

ÞÏÐÊÏɯÈÙÌɯÜÕËÌÙɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌȰ 

VI ɬ Rendering of technical, administrative, and 

management support for  market development, as well as 

undertaking of educational,  promotional and publishing 

activities related to its corporate purpose and to the markets 

ÞÏÐÊÏɯÈÙÌɯÜÕËÌÙɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌȰ 

 

VII ɬ Undertaking of other similar or related activities 

expressly authorized by the Securities Commission; and 

VII ɬ Undertaking of other similar or related activities 

expressly authorized by the Securities Commission; and 

 

VIII ɬ Holding shares in the capital of other companies or 

associations, headquartered in Brazil or abroad, whether as a 

partner, shareholder or associate, under the regulations in 

effect. 

VIII ɬ Holding shares in the capital of other companies or 

associations, headquartered in Brazil or abroad, whether as a 

partner, shareholder or associate, under the regulations in 

effect. 

 

Sole Paragraph. Withi n the powers that are conferred to it by 

Law 6,385/1976 and by the regulations in effect, the 

Company must:  

Sole Paragraph. Within the powers that are conferred to it by 

Law 6,385/1976 and by the regulations in effect, the 

Company must:  

 

(a) issue regulations relating to the granting of access 

authorizations to different trading, registration and 

ÚÌÛÛÓÌÔÌÕÛɯÚàÚÛÌÔÚɯÜÕËÌÙɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌɯÖÙɯ

Éàɯ ÊÖÔ×ÈÕÐÌÚɯ ÛÏÈÛɯ ÈÙÌɯ ÊÖÕÛÙÖÓÓÌËɯ Éàɯ ÐÛɯ ȹɁ ÊÊÌÚÚɯ

 ÜÛÏÖÙÐáÈÛÐÖÕÚɂȺȮɯÌÚÛÈÉÓÐÚÏÐÕÎɯÛÏÌɯÛÌÙÔÚȮɯÊÖÕËÐÛÐÖÕÚɯÈÕËɯ

procedures for the granting of such authorizations 

ȹɁ ÊÊÌÚÚɯ1ÌÎÜÓÈÛÐÖÕɂȺȰ 

(a) issue regulations relating to the granting of access 

authorizations to different trading, registration and 

ÚÌÛÛÓÌÔÌÕÛɯÚàÚÛÌÔÚɯÜÕËÌÙɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌɯÖÙɯ

by companies that ÈÙÌɯ ÊÖÕÛÙÖÓÓÌËɯ Éàɯ ÐÛɯ ȹɁ ÊÊÌÚÚɯ

 ÜÛÏÖÙÐáÈÛÐÖÕÚɂȺȮɯÌÚÛÈÉÓÐÚÏÐÕÎɯÛÏÌɯÛÌÙÔÚȮɯÊÖÕËÐÛÐÖÕÚɯÈÕËɯ

procedures for the granting of such authorizations 

ȹɁ ÊÊÌÚÚɯ1ÌÎÜÓÈÛÐÖÕɂȺȰ 
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(b) establish rules safekeeping equitable commercial and 

trading principles and high ethical standards for people 

who act in the markets under the direct or indirect 

surveillance of the Company, as well as to regulate the 

transactions and decide operating questions involving 

the holders of Access Authorizations to the same 

markets; 

(b) establish rules safekeeping equitable commercial and 

trading principles and high ethical standards for people 

who act in the markets under the direct or indirect 

surveillance of the Company, as well as to regulate the 

transactions and decide operating questions involving 

the holders of Access Authorizations to the same 

markets; 

 

(c) regulate the activities of the holders of Access 

Authorizations in the systems and markets under the 

"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌȰ 

(c) regulate the activities of the holders of Access 

Authorizations in the systems and markets under the 

"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌȰ 

 

(d) establish mechanisms and rules to mitigate the risk of 

default of obligations by the holders of Access 

Authorizations, as to the transactions undertaken and/or 

registered in ÈÕàɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÛÙÈËÐÕÎȮɯÙÌÎÐÚÛÙÈÛÐÖÕɯ

and clearing systems; 

(d) establish mechanisms and rules to mitigate the risk of 

default of obligations by the holders of Access 

Authorizations, as to the transactions undertaken and/or 

registered in any of the CoÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÛÙÈËÐÕÎȮɯÙÌÎÐÚÛÙÈÛÐÖÕɯ

and clearing systems; 

 

(e) monitor the transactions traded and/or registered in any 

ÖÍɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ ÛÙÈËÌȮɯ ÙÌÎÐÚÛÙÈÛÐÖÕȮɯ ÊÓÌÈÙÐÕÎɯ ÈÕËɯ

settlement systems, as well as all of those regulated by it; 

(e) monitor the transactions traded and/or registered in any 

ÖÍɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ ÛÙÈËÌȮɯ ÙÌÎÐÚÛÙÈÛÐÖÕȮɯ ÊÓÌÈÙÐÕÎɯ ÈÕËɯ

settlement systems, as well as all of those regulated by it; 

 

(f) monitor the activities of the holders of Access 

Authorizations, as participants and/or intermediaries to 

the transactions undertaken and/or registered in any of 

the trade, registration and clearing systems under the 

surveillance of the Company, as well as all those 

regulated by it; and  

(f) monitor the activities of the holders of Access 

Authorizations, as part icipants and/or intermediaries to 

the transactions undertaken and/or registered in any of 

the trade, registration and clearing systems under the 

surveillance of the Company, as well as all those 

regulated by it; and  

 

(g) impose penalties to those who violate legal, regulatory 

and operating rules, under the surveillance of the 

Company. 

(g) impose penalties to those who violate legal, regulatory 

and operating rules, under the surveillance of the 

Company. 

 

Article 4 . The Company has an unlimited duration.  Article 4 . The Company has an unlimited duration.   
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CHAPTER II  CHAPTER II  

 

CAPITAL STOCK, SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS CAPITAL STOCK, SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS  

Article 5 . The capital stock of the company amounts to 

R$2,540,239,563.88, representing 2,044,014,295 common 

registered shares, fully paid-in and with no par value. The 

Company shall not be permitted to issue preferred shares or 

participation certificates.  

Article 5 . The capital stock of the Company amounts to 

R$2,540,239,563.88 representing 1,980,000,000  2,044,014,295 

common registered shares, fully paid -in and with no par 

value. The Company shall not be permitted to issue 

preferred shares or participation certificates.  

Consistent with the decision of the 

Board of Directors at a meeting held on 

December 13, 2011, the Company 

cancelled 64,014,295 shares of treasury 

stock previously repurchased within the 

scope of its share buyback programs, 

without for this reason reducing the 

capital stock amount. 

Article 6 . All of the shares issued by the Company are book-

entry and deposited with a financial institution authorized 

by the Brazilian Securities Commission (Comissão de Valores 

Mobiliários), or CVM, in the name of their holders.  

Article 6 . All of the shares issued by the Company are book-

entry and deposited with a financial institution authorized 

by the Brazilian Securities Commission (Comissão de Valores 

Mobiliários), or CVM, in the name of their holders.  

 

Sole paragraph . The cost of the transfer and registration, as 

well as the cost of the service related to book-entry shares 

can be charged directly to the shareholder by the transfer 

agent, as may come to be defined in the book-entry share 

contract. 

Sole paragraph . The cost of the transfer and registration, as 

well as the cost of the service related to book-entry shares 

can be charged directly to the shareholder by the transfer 

agent, as may come to be defined in the book-entry share 

contract. 

 

Article 7 . Each common share entitles the holder to one vote 

in decisions taken in AnnuaÓɯÖÙɯ$ßÛÙÈÖÙËÐÕÈÙàɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meetings, provided however that, due regard given to the 

provision in item (d) of paragraph 5 of Article 70, no 

shareholder or Group of Shareholders (as defined under 

Article 73) shall be entitled to vote shares in excess of 7% of 

the total number of shares issued, observed as provided in 

item (d) of paragraph 5 of article 70. . 

Article 7 . Each common share entitles the holder to one vote 

ÐÕɯËÌÊÐÚÐÖÕÚɯÛÈÒÌÕɯÐÕɯ ÕÕÜÈÓɯÖÙɯ$ßÛÙÈÖÙËÐÕÈÙàɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meetings, provided however that, due regard given to the 

provision in item (d) of paragraph 5 of Article 70, no 

shareholder or Group of Shareholders (as defined under 

Article 73) shall be entitled to vote shares in excess of 7% of 

the total number of shares issued, observed as provided in 

item (d) of paragraph 5 of article 70. . 
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Paragraph 1. For purposes of the voting cap established in 

the main provision, but without prejudice to the provision 

set forth in paragraph 2 of this Article, where two or more 

shareholders enter into voti ng agreement, or any other 

agreement for concerted exercise of voting rights, each and 

all of the signatory parties to such agreement shall be 

deemed to constitute, and vote as a Group of Shareholders, 

subject therefore to the voting cap. 

Paragraph 1. For purposes of the voting cap established in 

the main provision, and without prejudice to the provision 

set forth in paragraph 2 of this Article, where two or more 

shareholders enter into voting agreement, or any other 

agreement for concerted exercise of voting rights, each and 

all of the signatory parties to such agreement shall be 

deemed to constitute, and vote, as a Group of Shareholders, 

subject therefore to the voting cap. 

 

Paragraph 2. The pre-constitution of majority of shareholders 

in the ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ÔÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯ ÛÏÙÖÜÎÏɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯ

Agreement, filed or not at the Company, concerning the 

exercise of voting rights, that form block with number of 

votes higher than the individual limit set in the caput of this 

Article is forbidden.  

Paragraph 2. The pre-constitution of majority of shareholders 

ÐÕɯ ÛÏÌɯ ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ÔÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯ ÛÏÙÖÜÎÏɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯ

Agreement, filed or not at the Company, concerning the 

exercise of voting rights, that form block with number of 

votes higher than the individual limit set  in the caput of this 

Article is forbidden  

 

Paragraph 3ȭɯ(ÕɯÈɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÔÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÛÏÌɯÊÏÈÐÙɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÉÌɯ

responsible for enforcing the provisions of this Article, and 

for declaring the number of votes each shareholder or Group 

of Shareholders is entitled to cast when polled. 

Paragraph 3ȭɯ(ÕɯÈɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÔÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÛÏÌɯÊÏÈÐÙɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÉÌɯ

responsible for enforcing the provisions of this Article, and 

for declaring the number of votes each shareholder or Group 

of Shareholders is entitled to cast when polled. 

 

Paragraph 4. Any vote in excess of the limits set forth in this 

Article shall be disregarded.  

Paragraph 4. Any vote in excess of the limits set forth in this 

Article shall be disregarded.  

 

Article 8 . Pursuant to a decision of the Board of Directors, 

the Company is authorized to increase the shares of capital 

stock up to the limit of two billion five hundred million 

(2,500,000,000) common shares, irrespective of amending the 

bylaws. 

Article 8 . Pursuant to a decision of the Board of Directors, 

the Company is authorized to increase the shares of capital 

stock up to the limit of two billion five hundred million 

(2,500,000,000) common shares, irrespective of amending the 

bylaws. 

 

Paragraph 1. In the case provided for in the main provision 

of this Article, the  Board of Directors shall determine the 

issuance price and number of shares to be issued, as well as 

the payment date and conditions for paying the shares. 

Paragraph 1. In the case provided for in the main provision 

of this Article, the Board of Directors shall determine the 

issuance price and number of shares to be issued, as well as 

the payment date and conditions for paying the shares. 
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Paragraph 2. Within the limit of the authorized capital, the 

Board of Directors can also: (i) decide regarding the issuance 

of warrants; (ii) in accordance with a plan approved by the 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÎÙÈÕÛɯÚÛÖÊÒɯ×ÜÙÊÏÈÚÌɯÖ×ÛÐÖÕÚɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ

management and employees of the Company or of a 

controlled company, or to individuals who provide services 

to it, without the share holders having  preemptive rights in 

the granting or subscription for these shares; and (iii) decide 

on the increase of the capital stock through the capitalization 

of profits or reserves, with or without bonus shares.  

Paragraph 2. Within the limit of the authorized capital, the 

Board of Directors can also: (i) decide regarding the issuance 

of warrants; (ii) in accordance with a plan approved by the 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÎÙÈÕÛɯÚÛÖÊÒɯ×ÜÙÊÏÈÚÌɯÖ×ÛÐÖÕÚɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ

management and employees of the Company or of a 

controlled company, or to individuals who provide services 

to it, without the shareholders having  preemptive rights in 

the granting or subscription for these shares; and (iii) decide 

on the increase of the capital stock through the capitalization 

of profits  or reserves, with or without bonus shares. 

 

Article 9 . Any delay by a shareholder in paying in the capital 

subscribed for shall result in a 1% a month interest charge, 

monetary correction accrued on the basis of the General 

Market Price Index ( Índice Geral de Preços ɬ Mercado), or 

IGPM, accrued with the lowest frequency legally applicable, 

and a fine of 10% of the amount of the outstanding amount, 

without prejudice to other applicable legal sanctions.  

Article 9 . Any delay by a shareholder in paying in th e capital 

subscribed for shall result in a 1% a month interest charge, 

monetary correction accrued on the basis of the General 

Market Price Index ( Índice Geral de Preços ɬ Mercado), or 

IGPM, accrued with the lowest frequency legally applicable, 

and a fine of 10% of the amount of the outstanding amount, 

without prejudice to other applicable legal sanctions.  

 

Article 10 . Every shareholder or Group of Shareholders must 

disclose, through a notice to the Company, which must 

contain the information provided for  in Article 12 of CVM 

Instruction No. 358/2002, the acquisition of shares, that 

together with those already owned, exceed 5% of the capital 

of the Company, as well as, after reaching that percentage, 

the acquisition of shares that correspond to the acquisition of 

an additional 2.5% of the capital of the Company or 

multiples of that percentage. 

Article 10 . Every shareholder or Group of Shareholders must 

disclose, through a notice to the Company, which must 

contain the information provided for in Article 12 o f CVM 

Instruction No. 358/2002, the acquisition of shares, that 

together with those already owned, exceed 5% of the capital 

of the Company, as well as, after reaching that percentage, 

the acquisition of shares that correspond to the acquisition of 

an addit ional 2.5% of the capital of the Company or 

multiples of that percentage. 

 

Paragraph 1. In cases in which the acquisition results in or 

had been undertaken for change of control or management of 

the Company, as well as in cases in which this acquisition 

creates the obligation to make a tender offer for the 

acquisition of shares, in accordance with the terms of 

Paragraph 1. In cases in which the acquisition results in or 

had been undertaken for change of control or management of 

the Company, as well as in cases in which this acquisition 

creates the obligation to make a tender offer for the 

acquisition of shares, in accordance with the terms of 
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CHAPTER VIII and the legislation and regulation in effect, 

the acquiring shareholder or Group of Shareholders must 

also cause the publication of a notice containing the 

information provided for in Article 12 of CVM Instruction 

No. 358/2002, in widely-known newspapers commonly used 

by the Company. 

CHAPTER VIII and the legislation and regulation in effect, 

the acquiring shareholder or Group of Shareholders must 

also cause the publication of a notice containing the 

information provided for in Article 12 of CVM Instruction 

No. 358/2002, in widely-known newspapers commonly used 

by the Company. 

Paragraph 2. The obligations provided for in this Article also 

apply to the owners of debentures convertible into shares, 

warrants and stock purchase options that assure to their 

owners the acquisition of shares in the percentages provided 

here. 

Paragraph 2. The obligations provided for in this Article also 

apply to the owners of debentures convertible into shares, 

warrants and stock purchase options that assure to their 

owners the acquisition of shares in the percentages provided 

here. 

 

Paragraph 3. The shareholders or Groups of Shareholders 

shall also disclose, as provided for in the main provision of 

this Article, any time their shareholding is reduced by 5% of 

the total number shares issued by the Company due to any 

alienation or extinction of shares and other securities 

mentioned in the previous paragraph.  

Paragraph 3. The shareholders or Groups of Shareholders 

shall also disclose, as provided for in the main provision of 

this Article, any time their shareholding is reduced by 5% of 

the total number shares issued by the Company due to any 

alienation or extinction of shares and other securities 

mentioned in the prev ious paragraph. 

 

Paragraph 4. The breach of the provisions of this Article shall 

subject the breaching party(ies) to the penalty provided for in 

Article 16, item (i), and in Article 18.  

Paragraph 4. The breach of the provisions of this Article shall 

subject the breaching party(ies) to the penalty provided for in 

Article 16, item (i), and in Article 18.  

 

Paragraph 5. The Investor Relations Officer must send the 

communications provided for in this Article, to the CVM and 

to the stock exchanges on which the securities issued by the 

Company are traded, as soon as they are received. 

Paragraph 5. The Investor Relations Officer must send the 

communications provided for in this Article, to the CVM and 

to the stock exchanges on which the securities issued by the 

Company are traded, as soon as they are received. 

 

Article 11 . The issuance of new shares, debentures 

convertible into shares or warrants placed by sale on a stock 

exchange, public subscription or share swap in tender offers 

for the acquisition of control  under Articles 257 through 263 

of Brazilian Corporate Law*, or, also, under a special tax 

incentive law, can take place without the shareholders being 

Article 11 . The issuance of new shares, debentures 

convertible into shares or warrants placed by sale on a stock 

exchange, public subscription or share swap in tender offers 

for the acquisition of control under Articles 257 through 263 

of Brazilian Corporate Law*, or, also, under a special tax 

incentive law, can take place without the shareholders being 
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given a preemptive right in the subscription or with a 

reduction in the minimum period provided for in l aw to 

exercise it. 

given a preemptive right in the subscription or with a 

reduction in the minimum period provided for in law to 

exercise it. 

CHAPTER III  CHAPTER III  

 

2' 1$'.+#$12ɀɯ,$$3(-& 2' 1$'.+#$12ɀɯ,$$3(-&  

Article 12 . The shareholders shall meet ordinarily within the 

last four months after the close of the fiscal year, to decide 

regarding the matters provided for in Article 132 of Brazilian 

Corporate Law*, and, extraordinarily, in the interests of the 

Company. 

Article 12 . The shareholders shall meet ordinarily within the 

last four months after the close of the fiscal year, to decide 

regarding the matters provided for in Article 132 of Brazili an 

Corporate Law*, and, extraordinarily, in the interests of the 

Company. 

 

Paragraph 1ȭɯ3ÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÏÈÚɯÛÏÌɯÈÜÛÏÖÙÐÛàɯÛÖɯ

decide on all acts related to the Company, as well as to 

decide in the best interests of the Company. 

Paragraph 1. The 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÏÈÚɯÛÏÌɯÈÜÛÏÖÙÐÛàɯÛÖɯ

decide on all acts related to the Company, as well as to 

decide in the best interests of the Company. 

 

Paragraph 2ȭɯ 3ÏÌɯ  ÕÕÜÈÓɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÈÕËɯ ÛÏÌɯ

$ßÛÙÈÖÙËÐÕÈÙàɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÊÈÕɯ ÉÌɯ ÊÈÓÓÌËɯ

cumulatively and held at the same place, date and time, and 

recorded in a single set of minutes. 

Paragraph 2ȭɯ 3ÏÌɯ  ÕÕÜÈÓɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÈÕËɯ ÛÏÌɯ

$ßÛÙÈÖÙËÐÕÈÙàɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÊÈÕɯ ÉÌɯ ÊÈÓÓÌËɯ

cumulatively and held at the same place, date and time, and 

recorded in a single set of minutes. 

 

Paragraph 3ȭɯ ɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÉÌɯÊÈÓÓÌËɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯ

Board of Directors on the decision of the majority of its 

members or, also, in the cases provided for in these Bylaws 

and in the sole paragraph of Artic le 123 of Brazilian 

Corporate Law*.  

Paragraph 3ȭɯ ɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÉÌɯÊÈÓÓÌËɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯ

Board of Directors on the decision of the majority of its 

members or, also, in the cases provided for in these Bylaws 

and in the sole paragraph of Article 123 of Brazilian 

Corporate Law*.  

 

Paragraph 4. The documents pertinent to the matter to be 

ËÌÊÐËÌËɯÖÕɯ ÈÛɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯ ÔÜÚÛɯ ÉÌɯ ÔÈËÌɯ

available to the shareholders, at the headquarters of the 

Company, on the date of the publication of the first call  

Paragraph 4. The documents pertinent to the matter to be 

ËÌÊÐËÌËɯÖÕɯ ÈÛɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯ ÔÜÚÛɯ ÉÌɯ ÔÈËÌɯ

available to the shareholders, at the headquarters of the 

Company, on the date of the publication of the first call 
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notice, except in those cases in which the law or a regulation 

in effect requires that they be made available for a longer 

period.  

notice, except in those cases in which the law or a regulation 

in effect requires that they be made available for a longer 

period.  

Paragraph 5. The ShaÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÉÌɯÏÌÓËȮɯÖÕɯÛÏÌɯ

first call, with the presence of shareholders representing at 

least 25% of the capital stock, except when the law requires a 

higher quorum; and, on the second call, with any number of 

shareholders. 

Paragraph 5. The 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÉÌɯÏÌÓËȮɯÖÕɯÛÏÌɯ

first call, with the presence of shareholders representing at 

least 25% of the capital stock, except when the law requires a 

higher quorum; and, on the second call, with any number of 

shareholders. 

 

Paragraph 6.  Õɯ$ßÛÙÈÖÙËÐÕÈÙàɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÏÈÛɯ

has as its purpose the amendment of these Bylaws shall be 

held, on the first call, with the presence of shareholders who 

represent, at least, two thirds of the capital stock, but may be 

instated on the second call with any number of presents.  

Paragraph 6ȭɯ Õɯ$ßÛÙÈÖÙËÐÕÈÙàɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÏÈÛɯ

has as its purpose the amendment of these Bylaws shall be 

held, on the first call, with the presence of shareholders who 

represent, at least, two thirds of the capital stock, but may be 

instated on the second call with any number of presents. 

 

Paragraph 7. 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÉÌɯ×ÙÌÚÐËÌËɯÖÝÌÙɯ

by the Chair of the Board of Directors or by a person 

appointed by the Chair.  In the absence of the Chair, a 

ShareholdÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÉÌɯ×ÙÌÚÐËÌËɯÖÝÌÙɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯ5ÐÊÌɯ

Chair or an appointee.ȭɯ ɯ 3ÏÌɯ ÊÏÈÐÙɯ ÖÍɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting shall appoint one of the attendees to act as secretary. 

Paragraph 7. 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÉÌɯ×ÙÌÚÐËÌËɯÖÝÌÙɯ

by the Chair of the Board of Directors or by a person 

appointed by the Chair.  In the absence of the Chair, a 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÉÌɯ×ÙÌÚÐËÌËɯÖÝÌÙɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯ5ÐÊÌɯ

Chair or an appointee.ȭɯ ɯ 3ÏÌɯ ÊÏÈÐÙɯ ÖÍɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting shall appoint one of the attendees to act as secretary. 

 

Paragraph 8. It shall be the exclusive responsibility of the 

Chair of the Meeting, subject to the rules established in these 

Bylaws, to make any decision regarding the number of votes 

of each shareholder, which decision may be appealed to the 

ShareholdÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÐÛÚÌÓÍȮɯÐÕɯÞÏÐÊÏɯËÌÊÐÚÐÖÕɯÛÏÌɯÐÕÛÌÙÌÚÛÌËɯ

party shall not vote.  

Paragraph 8. It shall be the exclusive responsibility of the 

Chair of the Meeting, subject to the rules established in these 

Bylaws, to make any decision regarding the number of vo tes 

of each shareholder, which decision may be appealed to the 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÐÛÚÌÓÍȮɯÐÕɯÞÏÐÊÏɯËÌÊÐÚÐÖÕɯÛÏÌɯÐÕÛÌÙÌÚÛÌËɯ

party shall not vote.  

 

Article 13ȭɯ!ÌÍÖÙÌɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÐÚɯÐÕÚÛÈÛÌËȮɯÛÏÌɯ

ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÚÐÎÕɯÛÏÌɯɁ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙɯ ÛÛÌÕËÈÕÊÌɯ!ÖÖÒȮɂɯ

stating their name and residence and the number of shares 

they own.  

Article 13ȭɯ!ÌÍÖÙÌɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÐÚɯÐÕÚÛÈÛÌËȮɯÛÏÌɯ

ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÚÐÎÕɯÛÏÌɯɁ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙɯ ÛÛÌÕËÈÕÊÌɯ!ÖÖÒȮɂɯ

stating their name and residence and the number of shares 

they own.  
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Paragraph 1. The list of shareholders present shall be closed 

by the Chair of the Meeting, immediately after the 

ÐÕÚÛÈÛÌÔÌÕÛɯÖÍɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȭ 

Paragraph 1. The list of shareholders present shall be closed 

by the Chair of the Meeting, immediately after the 

ÐÕÚÛÈÛÌÔÌÕÛɯÖÍɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȭ 

 

Paragraph 2. The shareholders who appear at Meeting after 

the closing of the list of shareholders present shall be able to 

participate in the meeting, but they shall not have the right to 

vote in any corporate decision. 

Paragraph 2. The shareholders who appear at Meeting after 

the closing of the list of shareholders present shall be able to 

participate in the meeting, but they shall not have the right to 

vote in any corporate decision. 

 

Article 14 . The Company must begin the registration of the 

ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯÛÖɯÛÈÒÌɯ×ÈÙÛɯÐÕɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÈÛɯ

least forty-eight (48) hours in advance, it being the 

responsibility of the shareholder to present: (i) certificate 

issued by the transfer institution for the book -entry shares 

owned, in accordance of terms and conditions of Article 126 

of Brazilian Corporate Law*.  This proof shall be dated no 

ÓÈÛÌÙɯÍÐÝÌɯËÈàÚɯÉÌÍÖÙÌɯÛÏÌɯËÈÛÌɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȭɯɯ

The Company, at its discretion, may dispense the 

presentation of this proof; and (ii) a proxy statement and/or 

documents that evidence the powers of legal representation 

of the shareholder.  The shareholder or its legal 

ÙÌ×ÙÌÚÌÕÛÈÛÐÝÌÚɯ ÚÏÈÓÓɯ ×ÙÌÚÌÕÛɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ

documents that prove his or her identity.  

Article 14 . The Company must begin the registration of the 

ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯÛÖɯÛÈÒÌɯ×ÈÙÛɯÐÕɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÈÛɯ

least forty-eight (48) hours in advance, it being the 

responsibility of the shareholder to present: (i) certific ate 

issued by the transfer institution for the book -entry shares 

owned, in accordance of terms and conditions of Article 126 

of Brazilian Corporate Law*.  This proof shall be dated no 

ÓÈÛÌÙɯÍÐÝÌɯËÈàÚɯÉÌÍÖÙÌɯÛÏÌɯËÈÛÌɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȭɯɯ

The Company, at its discretion, may dispense the 

presentation of this proof; and (ii) a proxy statement and/or 

documents that evidence the powers of legal representation 

of the shareholder.  The shareholder or its legal 

representatives shall present the ShareholderÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ

documents that prove his or her identity.  

 

Article 15 . Unless otherwise provided by law, and giving 

due regard to the provisions of Article 7 and of paragraph 2 

ÖÍɯ  ÙÛÐÊÓÌɯ ƚƗɯ ÖÍɯ ÛÏÌÚÌɯ !àÓÈÞÚȮɯ ÈÛɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯ

decisions shall pass by the affirmative vote of holders of 

record of a majority of the shares represented at the meeting, 

not computing abstentions.  

Article 15 . Unless otherwise provided by law, and giving 

due regard to the provisions of Article 7 and of paragraph 2 

of Article 63 oÍɯ ÛÏÌÚÌɯ !àÓÈÞÚȮɯ ÈÛɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯ

decisions shall pass by the affirmative vote of holders of 

record of a majority of the shares represented at the meeting, 

not computing abstentions.  

 

Paragraph 1ȭɯ#ÌÊÐÚÐÖÕÚɯÛÈÒÌÕɯÐÕɯÈɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÔÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯ

amend or eliminate any of the provisions set forth under 

Article 69, in particular where the effects thereof curtail 

Paragraph 1ȭɯ#ÌÊÐÚÐÖÕÚɯÛÈÒÌÕɯÐÕɯÈɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÔÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯ

amend or eliminate any of the provisions set forth under 

Article 69, in particular where the effects thereof curtail 
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shareholder rights under a tender offer requirement, shall 

strictly adhere to the voting ca p set forth in Article 7 of these 

Bylaws. 

shareholder rights under a tender offer requirement, shall 

strictly adhere to the voting cap set forth in Article 7 of these 

Bylaws. 

Paragraph 2. 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯ ÚÏÈÓÓɯ ËÌÓÐÉÌÙÈÛÌɯ ÈÕËɯ

decide only on matters included in the order of business, 

such as announced in the related call notice, with no open-

ended discussions. 

Paragraph 2. 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯ ÚÏÈÓÓɯ ËÌÓÐÉÌÙÈÛÌɯ ÈÕËɯ

decide only on matters included in the order of business, 

such as announced in the related call notice, with no open-

ended discussions. 

 

Paragraph 3. The minutes ÖÍɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯshall be 

prepared based business transacted and action taken at the 

meetings, certified by the proper officers and signed by the 

attending shareholders 

Paragraph 3. The minutes ÖÍɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯshall be 

prepared based business transacted and action taken at the 

meetings, certified by the proper officers and signed by the 

attending shareholders 

 

Article 16 . It shall be incumbent on shareholders convening 

ÐÕɯÈɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÈÔÖÕÎɯÖÛÏÌÙɯÈÊÛÐÖÕÚɯ×ÙÌÚÊÙÐÉÌËɯ

by law and these Bylaws to decide on the matters set forth 

below. : 

Article 16 . It shall be incumbent on shareholders convening 

ÐÕɯÈɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÈÔÖÕÎɯÖÛÏÌÙɯÈÊÛÐÖÕÚɯ×ÙÌÚÊÙÐÉÌËɯ

by law and these Bylaws to decide on the matters set forth 

below. : 

 

(a) Review and judge the management report and financial 

statements; 

(a) Review and judge the management report and financial 

statements; 

 

(b) Determine the allocation of net income for the year and 

approve dividend distributions based on the 

management proposal; 

(b) Determine the allocation of net income for the year and 

approve dividend distributions based on the 

management proposal; 

 

(c) Elect and remove the Directors and the members of the 

Fiscal Council, if active; 

(c) Elect and remove the Directors and the members of the 

Fiscal Council, if active; 

 

(d) Set the aggregate compensation of the members of the 

Board of Directors and the Executive Management 

Board, as well as the compensation of fiscal council 

members, if elected, having regard for the provisions of 

Article 17; 

(d) Set the aggregate compensation of the members of the 

Board of Directors and the Executive Management 

Board, as well as the compensation of fiscal council 

members, if elected, having regard for the provisions of 

Article 17; 
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(e) Approve stock option plans of any type concerning 

options attributable to officers, employees and service 

providers of the subsidiaries;  

(e) Approve stock option plans of any type concerning 

options attributable to officers, employees and service 

providers of the subsidiaries;  

 

(f) Approve profit sharing programs for management 

members giving regard to applicable legal limits, and 

employee profit sharing plans, in accordance with the 

human resources policy of the Company; 

(f) Approve profit shari ng programs for management 

members giving regard to applicable legal limits, and 

employee profit sharing plans, in accordance with the 

human resources policy of the Company; 

 

(g) Approve proposals for the Company to delist from the 

Novo Mercado listing segment or a going private process 

ultimately resulting in cancellation of the registration as 

a public company;  

(g) Approve proposals for the Company to delist from the 

Novo Mercado listing segment or a going private process 

ultimately resulting in cancella tion of the registration as 

a public company;  

 

(h) Based on a list of selected firms provided by the Board of 

Directors, appoint a specialized firm to determine the 

economic value of the Company shares and prepare the 

valuation report, in the event of a g oing private process 

for cancellation of the registration as a public company, 

or of delisting from the Novo Mercado, as contemplated 

under CHAPTER VIII hereof;  

(h) Based on a list of selected firms provided by the Board of 

Directors, appoint a specialized firm to determine the 

economic value of the Company shares and prepare the 

valuation report, in the event of a going private process 

for cancellation of the registration as a public company, 

or of delisting from the Novo Mercado, as contemplated 

under CHA PTER VIII hereof; 

 

(i) Suspend the rights of a shareholder, as provided under 

Article 120 of Brazilian Corporate Law* and Article 18 of 

these Bylaws; 

(i) Suspend the rights of a shareholder, as provided under 

Article 120 of Brazilian Corporate Law* and Article 18 of 

these Bylaws; 

 

(j) Approve acquisitions of ownership interest in other 

companies and/or associations or joint ventures or 

consortia, where the value of any such interest is in 

excess of three times the Reference Amount; 

(j) Approve acquisiti ons of ownership interest in other 

companies and/or associations or joint ventures or 

consortia, where the value of any such interest is in 

excess of three times the Reference Amount; 

 

(k) Approve any disposition of a material portion of the 

Company assets or its trademarks; and 

(k) Approve any disposition of a material portion of the 

Company assets or its trademarks; and 
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(l) Approve transactions for the Company or its shares to be 

merged into another company, and for a consolidation or 

spin-off transaction, or a transformation of corporate 

Ûà×ÌȮɯ ÖÙɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ ËÐÚÚÖÓÜÛÐÖÕȮɯ ÍÖÙɯ ÛÏÐÚɯ ×ÜÙ×ÖÚÌɯ

giving regard to the legally prescr ibed quorum to 

resolve, unless the CVM shall have given prior consent 

for a lower quorum to prevail, such as foreseen in 

paragraph 2 of article 136 of Brazilian Corporate Law.  

(l) Approve transactions for the Company or its shares to be 

merged into another company, and for a consolidation or 

spin-off transaction, or a transformation of corporate 

Ûà×ÌȮɯ ÖÙɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ ËÐÚÚÖÓÜÛÐÖÕȮɯ ÍÖÙɯ ÛÏÐÚɯ ×ÜÙ×ÖÚÌɯ

giving regard to the legally prescribed quorum to 

resolve, unless the CVM shall have given prior consent 

for a lower quorum to prevail, such as foreseen in 

paragraph 2 of article 136 of Brazilian Corporate Law.  

 

Article 17 . 3ÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÚÌÛɯÛÏÌɯÈÎÎÙÌÎÈÛÌɯ

compensation of the members of the Board of Directors and 

Executive Management Board, and shall allocate the portion 

attributable to each body. 

Article 17 . 3ÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÚÌÛɯÛÏÌɯÈÎÎÙÌÎÈÛÌɯ

compensation of the members of the Board of Directors and 

Executive Management Board, and shall allocate the portion 

attributable to each body. 

 

Paragraph 1. Due regard given to the compensation 

ÈÓÓÖÊÈÛÐÖÕɯ ÌÚÛÈÉÓÐÚÏÌËɯ Éàɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯ ÈÚɯ

provided in the main provision of this Article, the Board of 

Directors shall set the compensation of the Chief Executive 

Officer, and the latter  shall determine the individual 

compensation of each Executive Officer. 

Paragraph 1. Due regard given to the compensation 

ÈÓÓÖÊÈÛÐÖÕɯ ÌÚÛÈÉÓÐÚÏÌËɯ Éàɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯ ÈÚɯ

provided in the main provision of this Article, the Board of 

Directors shall set the compensation of the Chief Executive 

Officer, and the latter shall determine the individual 

compensation of each Executive Officer. 

 

Paragraph 2. The Directors and Executive Officers shall only 

be entitled to profit sharing payments relative to year s in 

which profits are sufficient to ensure the shareholders are 

paid the mandatory dividend established under Article 202 

of Brazilian Corporate Law *. 

Paragraph 2. The Directors and Executive Officers shall only 

be entitled to profit sharing payments rela tive to years in 

which profits are sufficient to ensure the shareholders are 

paid the mandatory dividend established under Article 202 

of Brazilian Corporate Law *. 

 

Article 18 . 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯ ÊÖÕÝÌÕÐÕÎɯ ÐÕɯ Èɯ ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

meeting shall be entitled to approve  a suspension of the 

rights, including voting rights, of any shareholder or Group 

of Shareholders for noncompliance with any legal or 

regulatory provision or the provision of these Bylaws . 

Article 18 . 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯ ÊÖÕÝÌÕÐÕÎɯ ÐÕɯ Èɯ ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

meeting shall be entitled to approve a suspension of the 

rights, including voting rights, of any shareholder or Group 

of Shareholders for noncompliance with any legal or 

regulatory provision or the provision of these Bylaws . 

 

Paragraph 1. In the event contemplated in this Article, Paragraph 1. In the event contemplated in this Article,  
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shareholders individually or jointly representing at least 5% 

of the outstanding shares shall be entitled to call a 

ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÔÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯËÌÊÐËÌɯÖÕɯÚÜÚ×ÌÕËÐÕÎɯÛÏÌɯÙÐÎÏÛÚɯÖÍɯ

a noncompliant shareholder if, having given reasoned notice 

requesting the Board of Directors to do so, the latter were to 

let eight days elapse without calling the meeting. The notice 

to the Board of Directors shall identify the event of 

noncompliance and the noncompliant shareholder or Group 

of Shareholders. 

shareholders individually or jointly representing at least 5% 

of the outstanding shares shall be entitled to call a 

ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÔÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯËÌÊÐËÌɯÖÕɯÚÜÚ×ÌÕËÐÕÎɯÛÏÌɯÙÐÎÏÛÚɯÖÍɯ

a noncompliant shareholder if, hav ing given reasoned notice 

requesting the Board of Directors to do so, the latter were to 

let eight days elapse without calling the meeting. The notice 

to the Board of Directors shall identify the event of 

noncompliance and the noncompliant shareholder or G roup 

of Shareholders. 

Paragraph 2ȭɯ Õàɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÏÈÛɯËÌÊÐËÌÚɯÍÖÙɯ

suspending the rights of a shareholder or Group of 

Shareholders shall be responsible, among other things, for 

deciding on the extent and period of suspension, provided, 

ÏÖÞÌÝÌÙȮɯÕÖɯÚÜÊÏɯÈÊÛÐÖÕɯÔÈàɯÚÜÚ×ÌÕËɯÈɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙɀÚɯÓÌÎÈÓÓàɯ

prescribed rights to monitor corporate management and 

request information from management.  

Paragraph 2ȭɯ Õàɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÏÈÛɯËÌÊÐËÌÚɯÍÖÙɯ

suspending the rights of a shareholder or Group o f 

Shareholders shall be responsible, among other things, for 

deciding on the extent and period of suspension, provided, 

ÏÖÞÌÝÌÙȮɯÕÖɯÚÜÊÏɯÈÊÛÐÖÕɯÔÈàɯÚÜÚ×ÌÕËɯÈɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙɀÚɯÓÌÎÈÓÓàɯ

prescribed rights to monitor corporate management and 

request information fr om management. 

 

Paragraph 3. The suspension of rights shall cease as soon as 

the shareholder resumes compliance and fulfills the 

obligation.  

Paragraph 3. The suspension of rights shall cease as soon as 

the shareholder resumes compliance and fulfills the 

obligation.  

 

Article 19 . Where a shareholder has or represents interests 

that conflict with the interest of the Company in any matter 

ÚÜÉÔÐÛÛÌËɯÍÖÙɯÊÖÕÚÐËÌÙÈÛÐÖÕɯÈÛɯÈɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÔÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÚÜÊÏɯ

shareholder shall be required to abstain from interfering i n 

the deliberations and voting the relevant motion. Under 

article 115 of Brazilian Corporate Law*, a shareholder that 

interferes in, or votes on any matter in which he or she or it 

has or represents conflicting interest, shall be deemed to be 

acting in abuse of voting power.  

Article 19 . Where a shareholder has or represents interests 

that conflict with the interest of the Company in any matter 

ÚÜÉÔÐÛÛÌËɯÍÖÙɯÊÖÕÚÐËÌÙÈÛÐÖÕɯÈÛɯÈɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÔÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÚÜÊÏɯ

shareholder shall be required to abstain from interfe ring in 

the deliberations and voting the relevant motion. Under 

article 115 of Brazilian Corporate Law*, a shareholder that 

interferes in, or votes on any matter in which he or she or it 

has or represents conflicting interest, shall be deemed to be 

acting in abuse of voting power.  

 

CHAPTER IV  CHAPTER IV  
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MANAGEMENT  MANAGEMENT   

Section I ɬ General Provisions for the Management Bodies Section I ɬ General Provisions for the Management Bodies  

Article 20 . The management of the Company is comprised 

by the Board of Directors and the Executive Management 

Board. 

Article 20 . The management of the Company is comprised 

by the Board of Directors and the Executive Management 

Board. 

 

Sole paragraph. The roles of Board Chair and Chief 

Executive Officer are separate, and no person may 

accumulate the two functions.  

Sole paragraph. The roles of Board Chair and Chief 

Executive Officer are separate, and no person may 

accumulate the two functions.  

 

Article  21. The members of the Board of Directors and of the 

Executive Management Board shall take office in their 

respective positions by signing, in the 30 days after their 

respective election, the instrument of instatement in the 

appropriate book and the Statement of Consent from the 

Managers that is referred to in the Novo Mercado Listing 

Regulations, and shall remain in their positions until the new 

managers elected take office. 

Article 21 . The members of the Board of Directors and of the 

Executive Management Board shall take office in their 

respective positions by signing, in the 30 days after their 

respective election, the instrument of instatement in the 

appropriate book and the Statement of Consent from the 

Managers that is referred to in the Novo Mercado Listing 

Regulations, and shall remain in their positions until the new 

managers elected take office. 

 

Sole paragraph . The managers of the Company must adhere 

to the Manual for the Disclosure and Use of Information and 

Policy for Trading Securities Issued by the Company, by 

signing the respective Instrument.  

Sole paragraph . The managers of the Company must adhere 

to the Manual for the Disclosure and Use of Information and 

Policy for Trading Securities Issued by the Company, by 

signing the respective Instrument.  

 

Section II ɬ Board of Directors Section II ɬ Board of Directors  

Subsection I ɬ Composition Subsection I ɬ Composition  

Article 22 . The Board of Directors shall comprise at least 

seven and at most 11 members, elected by the 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Article 22 . The Board of Directors shall comprise at least 

seven and at most 11 members, elected by the 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ
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Meeting for  unified two -year terms, removal and reelection 

being permitted.  

Meeting for  unified two -year terms, removal and reelection 

being permitted.  

Paragraph 1. The Directors shall not hold positions in the 

Executive Management Boards of either the Company or its 

subsidiaries. 

Paragraph 1. The Directors shall not hold positions in the 

Executive Management Boards of either the Company or its 

subsidiaries. 

 

Paragraph 2. The Board of Directors shall adopt an Internal 

Regulation establishing its own operating guidelines, rules 

on the rights and responsibilities of the Directors and the 

relationships with the Executive Management Board and 

with other corporate bodies.  

Paragraph 2. The Board of Directors shall adopt an Internal 

Regulation establishing its own operating guidelines, rules 

on the rights and responsibilities of the Directors and the 

relationships with the Executive Management Board and 

with other corporate bodies.  

 

Paragraph 3. With regard to the voting process for election of 

Directors, it shall be incumbent on the Chair of the 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯËÌÛÌÙÔÐÕÌɯÛÏÌɯÝÖÛÐÕÎɯÚàÚÛÌm by 

which the shareholders will be polled, while having due 

regard for the provisions of Articles 23 and 24 of these 

Bylaws. 

Paragraph 3. With regard to the voting process for election of 

Directors, it shall be incumbent on the Chair of the 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯMeeting to determine the voting system by 

which the shareholders will be polled, while having due 

regard for the provisions of Articles 23 and 24 of these 

Bylaws. 

 

Paragraph 4ȭɯ4ÕÓÌÚÚɯÖÛÏÌÙÞÐÚÌɯËÌÊÐËÌËɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting, eligible candidates for  the Board of Directors shall 

be those persons that meet all applicable legal and regulatory 

requirements and the following additional requirements, to 

the exclusion of any other person: 

Paragraph 4ȭɯ4ÕÓÌÚÚɯÖÛÏÌÙÞÐÚÌɯËÌÊÐËÌËɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting, eligible candidates for the Board of Directors shall 

be those persons that meet all applicable legal and regulatory 

requirements and the following additional requirements, to 

the exclusion of any other person: 

 

(a) being over 25 years old; (a) being over 25 years old;  

(b) having an upstanding reputation, and knowledge of the 

functions, operations and practices of the capital markets 

operated and managed by the Company and/or its 

subsidiaries; 

(b) having an upstanding reputation, and knowledge of the 

functions, operations and practices of the capital markets 

operated and managed by the Company and/or its 

subsidiaries; 

 

(c) not having a spouse, domestic partner or relative to the 

second degree serving as director or officer of, or 

(c) not having a spouse, domestic partner or relative to the 

second degree serving as director or officer of, or 
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employed with, the Compan y or any of its subsidiaries; 

and 

employed with, the Company or any of its subsidiaries ; 

and 

(d) not holding a position in any company deemed  to be a 

competitor of the Company or its subsidiaries, and 

neither having, nor representing any party that has, a 

conflict of interest with the Company or its subsidiaries. 

A conflict of interest is presumed to exist relative to any 

person that, cumulativ ely: (i ) has been elected by a 

shareholder that has also elected a director in a 

competitor company; and ( ii ) has ties arising from a 

ȿÚÜÉÖÙËÐÕÈÛÌɯÙÌÓÈÛÐÖÕÚÏÐ×ɀɯÞÐÛÏɯÛÏÌɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙɯÝÖÛÐÕÎɯ

for his or her election 

(d) not holding a position in any company d eemed to be a 

competitor of the Company or its subsidiaries, and 

neither having, nor representing any party that has, a 

conflict of interest with the Company or its subsidiaries. 

A conflict of interest is presumed to exist relative to any 

person that, cumulatively: ( i ) has been elected by a 

shareholder that has also elected a director in a 

competitor company; and ( ii ) has ties arising from a 

ȿÚÜÉÖÙËÐÕÈÛÌɯÙÌÓÈÛÐÖÕÚÏÐ×ɀɯÞÐÛÏɯÛÏÌɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙɯÝÖÛÐÕÎɯ

for his or her election. 

 

Paragraph 5. For the purposes of item (d) of the above 

paragraph 4 of this Article 22, a Director shall be deemed to 

have been elected by: (i) the shareholder of Group of 

Shareholders whose individual votes were sufficient to elect 

a Director; or (ii) the shareholder or Group of Sharehold ers 

whose individual votes were sufficient to elect a Director in a 

cumulative voting process (or would have been sufficient 

based on the total of attendee shareholders, had the 

cumulative voting system been adopted); or (iii) the 

shareholder or Group of Shareholders whose individual 

votes were sufficient to meet the percentage thresholds 

required under paragraph 4 of Article 141 of Brazilian 

Corporate Law*, which allow for the election of Directors in 

a separate voting process. 

Paragraph 5. For the purposes of item (d) of the above 

paragraph 4 of this Article 22, a Director shall be deemed to 

have been elected by: (i) the shareholder of Group of 

Shareholders whose individual votes were sufficient to elect 

a Director; or (ii) the shareholder or Group of Shar eholders 

whose individual votes were sufficient to elect a Director in a 

cumulative voting process (or would have been sufficient 

based on the total of attendee shareholders, had the 

cumulative voting system been adopted); or (iii) the 

shareholder or Group  of Shareholders whose individual 

votes were sufficient to meet the percentage thresholds 

required under paragraph 4 of Article 141 of Brazilian 

Corporate Law*, which allow for the election of Directors in 

a separate voting process. 

 

Paragraph 6. A majori ty of the Directors of the Company 

shall be Independent Directors, herein defined as persons 

that meet the following requirements : 

Paragraph 6. A majority of the Directors of the Company 

shall be Independent Directors, herein defined as persons 

that meet the following requirements : 

 

(a) all of the independence standards established in the Novo 

Mercado Listing Rules and in CVM Instruction No. 461/07, 

(a) all of the independence standards established in the Novo 

Mercado Listing Rules and in CVM Instruction No. 461/07, 
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cumulatively ; and  cumulatively ; and  

(b) not holding, and not having ties with any shareholder 

that holds, whether directly or indirectly, ownership 

interest in 5% or more of the issued and outstanding 

shares of stock, or voting stock of the Company. 

(b) not holding, and not having ties with any shareholder 

that holds, whether directly or indirectly, ownership 

interest in 5% or more of the issued and outstanding 

shares of stock, or voting stock of the Company. 

 

Paragraph 7. Directors elected under paragraphs 4 and 5 of 

article 141 of Brazilian Corporate Law* shall also be 

considered Independent Directors, regardless of whether 

they meet the independence standards established in this 

Article.  

Paragraph 7. Directors elected under paragraphs 4 and 5 of 

article 141 of Brazilian Corporate Law* shall also be 

considered Independent Directors, regardless of whether 

they meet the independence standards established in this 

Article.  

 

Paragraph 8. In addition to the requirements set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs, the members of the Board of Directors 

shall at no time include more than one Director having ties 

ÞÐÛÏɯÈɯÏÖÓËÌÙɯÖÍɯ×ÌÙÔÐÛɯÍÖÙɯÈÊÊÌÚÚɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÔÈÙÒÌÛÚȮɯ

or having ties with the same entity, conglomerate or 

economic group. 

Paragraph 8. In addition to the requirements set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs, the members of the Board of Directors 

shall at no time include more than one Director having ties 

ÞÐÛÏɯÈɯÏÖÓËÌÙɯÖÍɯ×ÌÙÔÐÛɯÍÖÙɯÈÊÊÌÚÚɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÔÈÙÒÌÛÚȮɯ

or having ties with the same entity, conglomerate or 

economic group. 

 

Paragraph 9. For the purposes of this Article, ÏÈÝÐÕÎɯɁÛÐÌÚɂɯ

with a party is defined as : 

Paragraph 9. For the purposes of this Article, ÏÈÝÐÕÎɯɁÛÐÌÚɂɯ

with a party is defined as : 

 

(a) an employment relationship, or one arising from any 

agreement for provision of professional services on a 

continuing basis or from participation in any 

management or advisory or deliberative body or fiscal 

council of an entity;  

(a) an employment relationship, or one arising from any 

agreement for provision of professional services on a 

continuing basis or from participation in any 

management or advisory or deliberative body or fiscal 

council of an entity;  

 

(b) any direct or indirect ownership interest in exceeds 10% 

of the issued and outstanding shares of stock or voting 

stock of the Company; or 

(b) any direct or indirect ownership interest in exceeds 10% 

of the issued and outstanding shares of stock or voting 

stock of the Company; or 

 

(c) a relationship established through a spouse, domestic (c) a relationship established through a spouse, domestic  
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partner or relative to the second degree. partner or relative to the second degree. 

Paragraph 10. Any Director that ceases to meet the eligibility 

requirements established in this Articl e, due to a 

supervening event or circumstance unknown at the time of 

the election, shall be replaced promptly upon disclosure of 

such event or circumstance. 

Paragraph 10. Any Director that ceases to meet the eligibility 

requirements established in this Art icle, due to a 

supervening event or circumstance unknown at the time of 

the election, shall be replaced promptly upon disclosure of 

such event or circumstance. 

 

Subsection II ɬ Election Subsection II ɬ Election  

Article 23 . Without prejudice to the provision  of Article 24, a 

slate system shall be adopted in elections of the members of 

the Board of Directors. 

Article 23 . Without prejudice to the provision  of Article 24, a 

slate system shall be adopted in elections of the members of 

the Board of Directors. 

 

Paragraph 1. In the election provided for in this Article 23, 

only the following slates of candidates may run: (i) those 

nominated by the Board of Directors, as advised by the 

Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee; or (ii) 

those that are appointed by any shareholder or group of 

shareholders in the manner provided for in paragraph 3 of 

this Article.  

Paragraph 1. In the election provided for in this Article 23, 

only the following slates of candidates may run: (i) those 

nominated by the Board of Directors, as advised by the 

Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee; or (ii) 

those that are appointed by any shareholder or group of 

shareholders in the manner provided for in paragraph 3 of 

this Article.  

 

Paragraph 2. The Board of Directors, as advised by the 

Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee shall, 

ÖÕɯÛÏÌɯËÈÛÌɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÏÈÛɯÐÚɯÛÖɯÌÓÌÊÛɯÛÏÌɯ

members of the Board of Directors is called, make available 

ÈÛɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÏÌÈËØÜÈÙÛÌÙÚɯÈÕàɯÚÛÈÛÌment signed by each 

of the members of the slate of candidates appointed, 

containing: (i) his or her complete identification information; 

(ii) a complete description of his or her professional 

experience, including previous work experience 

qualifications  and academic qualifications; and (iii) 

information regarding disciplinary or judicial proceedings in 

which a judgment of guilty has been entered under a final 

and unappealable decision issued, in addition to information 

Paragraph 2. The Board of Directors, as advised by the 

Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee shall, 

ÖÕɯÛÏÌɯËÈÛÌɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÏat is to elect the 

members of the Board of Directors is called, make available 

ÈÛɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÏÌÈËØÜÈÙÛÌÙÚɯÈÕàɯÚÛÈÛÌÔÌÕÛɯÚÐÎÕÌËɯÉàɯÌÈÊÏɯ

of the members of the slate of candidates appointed, 

containing: (i) his or her complete identification information; 

(ii) a complete description of his or her professional 

experience, including previous work experience 

qualifications  and academic qualifications; and (iii) 

information regarding disciplinary or judicial proceedings in 

which a judgment of guilty has been ent ered under a final 

and unappealable decision issued, in addition to information 
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on impediments or conflict of interest  with the Company, if 

any, such as prescribed under Article 147, paragraph 3, of 

Brazilian Corporate Law*.  

on impediments or conflict of interest with the Company, if 

any, such as prescribed under Article 147, paragraph 3, of 

Brazilian Corporate Law*.  

Paragraph 3. Where a shareholder or group of shareholders 

wishes to propose a different slate of candidate nominations 

to the Board of Directors, it shall forward to the Board of 

Directors at least five days before the date of the 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÚÛÈÛÌÔÌÕÛÚɯÚÐÎÕÌËɯÐÕËÐÝÐËÜÈÓÓàɯby the 

candidates they nominate, containing the information 

required in the preceding paragraph. The Board of Directors, 

as advised by the Nominations and Corporate Governance 

"ÖÔÔÐÛÛÌÌɯ ÚÏÈÓÓɯ ×ÙÖÔ×ÛÓàɯ ×ÖÚÛɯ ÕÖÛÐÊÌɯ ÐÕɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

Internet site advising shareholders that the documents 

concerning other slates and related information are available 

at the registered office, and shall forward the same 

information via computer to the CVM and BM&FBOVESPA..  

Paragraph 3. Where a shareholder or group of shareholders 

wishes to propose a different slate of candidate nominations 

to the Board of Directors, it shall forward to the Board of 

Directors at least five days before the date of the 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÚÛÈÛÌÔÌÕÛÚɯÚÐÎÕÌËɯÐÕËÐÝÐËÜÈÓÓàɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯ

candidates they nominate, containing the information 

required in the preceding paragraph. The Board of Directors, 

as advised by the Nominations and Corporate Governance 

"ÖÔÔÐÛÛÌÌɯ ÚÏÈÓÓɯ ×ÙÖÔ×ÛÓàɯ ×ÖÚÛɯ ÕÖÛÐÊÌɯ ÐÕɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

Internet site advising shareholders that the documents 

concerning other slates and related information are available 

at the registered office, and shall forward the same 

information via computer to the CVM and BM&FBOVESPA..  

 

Paragraph 4. Candidates nominated by the Board of 

Directors or any shareholder to serve as independent 

directors shall be identified as such, due regard being given 

to the eligibility requirements set forth in Paragraphs 6 and 7 

of Article 22 of these Bylaws.. 

Paragraph 4. Candidates nominated by the Board of 

Directors or any shareholder to serve as independent 

directors shall be identified as such, due regard being given 

to the eligibility requirements set forth in Paragraphs 6 and 7 

of Article 22 of these Bylaws.. 

 

Paragraph 5. A single person may be nominated in two or 

more slates, including the one proposed by the Board of 

Directors. 

Paragraph 5. A single person may be nominated in two or 

more slates, including the one proposed by the Board of 

Directors. 

 

Paragraph 6. Any shareholder shall vote for just one slate, 

and the votes shall be computed in compliance with the 

limitations provided for in Article 7. The candidates 

nominated in the slate that receives the highest number of 

votes shall be declared elected. 

Paragraph 6. Any shareholder shall vote for just one slate, 

and the votes shall be computed in compliance with the 

limitations provided for in Article 7. The candidates 

nominated in the slate that receives the highest number of 

votes shall be declared elected. 

 

Paragraph 7. Where the candidates are nominated Paragraph 7. Where the candidates are nominated  
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individually, the vo ting system shall dispense with the slate 

system and votes shall be cast relative to each individual 

candidate.  

individually, the voting system shall dispense with the slate 

system and votes shall be cast relative to each individual 

candidate.  

Article 24 . In elections of the members of the Board of 

Directors, shareholders individually or jointly representing 

interest in at least 5% of the outstanding shares are entitled to 

request adoption of cumulative vo ting system, provided they 

ÚÖɯ ÙÌØÜÌÚÛɯ ÈÛɯ ÓÌÈÚÛɯ ƘƜɯ ÏÖÜÙÚɯ ×ÙÐÖÙɯ ÛÖɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting. 

Article 24 . In elections of the members of the Board of 

Directors, shareholders individually or jointly representing 

interest in at least 5% of the outstanding shares are entitled to 

request adoption of cumulative voting system, provided they 

ÚÖɯ ÙÌØÜÌÚÛɯ ÈÛɯ ÓÌÈÚÛɯ ƘƜɯ ÏÖÜÙÚɯ ×ÙÐÖÙɯ ÛÖɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting. 

 

Paragraph 1. Promptly upon receiving the request, the 

Company shall release notice thereof ÐÕɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

Internet site advising shareholders that the election will take 

place in a cumulative voting process, and shall forward the 

same information, via computer, to the CVM and  

BM&FBOVESPA. 

Paragraph 1. Promptly upon receiving the request, the 

Company shall release notice thereof ÐÕɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

Internet site advising shareholders that the election will take 

place in a cumulative voting process, and shall forward the 

same information, via computer, to the CVM and 

BM&FBOVESPA. 

 

Paragraph 2. On convening the meeting, the presiding 

officers shall determine the number of eligible votes 

attributable to each shareholder or Group of Shareholders, 

ÉÈÚÌËɯ ÖÕɯ ÛÏÌɯ ÚÐÎÕÈÛÜÙÌÚɯ ÈÍÍÐßÌËɯ ÛÖɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Attendance List and number of shares of record, provided 

that for purposes of the voting cap established in Article 7 of 

these Bylaws, the number of board seats to be filled in the 

election shall be multiplied by the number of eligible votes, 

meaning votes not exceeding the cap threshold of 7% of the 

outstanding shares. 

Paragraph 2. On convening the meeting, the presiding 

officers shall determine the number of eligible votes 

attributable to each shareholder or Group of Shareholders, 

based on the signatures affixed to ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Attendance List and number of shares of record, provided 

that for purposes of the voting cap established in Article 7 of 

these Bylaws, the number of board seats to be filled in the 

election shall be multiplied by the number of eligible vo tes, 

meaning votes not exceeding the cap threshold of 7% of the 

outstanding shares.  

 

Paragraph 3. Where the election of Directors adopts a 

cumulative voting process, the slate system shall be 

dispensed with and votes shall be cast individually on the 

candidates nominated in slates presented by the Board and 

shareholders according to Article 23, provided each 

candidate shall have signed and presented to the meeting a 

Paragraph 3. Where the election of Directors adopts a 

cumulative voting process, the slate system shall be 

dispensed with and votes shall be cast individually on the 

candidates nominated in slates presented by the Board and 

shareholders according to Article 23, provided each 

candidate shall have signed and presented to the meeting a 
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statement containing the information required under 

paragraph 2 of Article 23 of these Bylaws.. 

statement containing the information required under 

paragraph 2 of Article 23 of these Bylaws.. 

Paragraph 4. Any shareholder or Group of Shareholders 

shall be entitled to allot all of its votes to a single candidate 

or spread out the votes among several.  Candidates that 

receive the highest number of votes shall be declared elected. 

Paragraph 4. Any shareholder or Group of Shareholders 

shall be entitled to allot all of it s votes to a single candidate 

or spread out the votes among several.  Candidates that 

receive the highest number of votes shall be declared elected. 

 

Paragraph 5. Where a tie is determined to have occurred for 

any given board seat, an additional voting ro und shall take 

place after the number of eligible votes attributable to each 

shareholder or Group of Shareholders. 

Paragraph 5. Where a tie is determined to have occurred for 

any given board seat, an additional voting round shall take 

place after the number of eligible votes attributable to each 

shareholder or Group of Shareholders. 

 

Paragraph 6. Where the election of Directors is carried out in 

a cumulative voting process, the removal of one shall result 

in removal of all the Directors for a new election process to 

take place. Otherwise, where a board seat becomes vacant, 

elections shall be held to elect the entire Board of Directors in 

ÛÏÌɯÕÌßÛɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÔÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÈÒÐÕÎɯ×ÓÈÊÌɯÈÍÛÌÙɯÛÏÌɯÌÝÌÕÛȭɯȭ 

Paragraph 6. Where the election of Directors is carried out in 

a cumulative voting process, the removal of one shall result 

in removal of all the Directors for a new election process to 

take place. Otherwise, where a board seat becomes vacant, 

elections shall be held to elect the entire Board of Directors in 

the ÕÌßÛɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÔÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÈÒÐÕÎɯ×ÓÈÊÌɯÈÍÛÌÙɯÛÏÌɯÌÝÌÕÛȭɯȭ 

 

Paragraph 7. Where the Company is under control of any 

individual controlling shareholder or Group of Shareholders, 

(pursuant to Article 116 of Brazilian Corporate Law*), at 

elections of the members of the Board of Directors 

shareholders representing 10% of the outstanding shares of  

shall be entitled to request adoption of a separate voting 

system (plumping) for the election, as permitted under 

paragraphs 4 and 5 of Article 141 of Brazilian Corporate 

Law*. In this event the provisions of Article 23 of these 

Bylaws shall not apply.  

Paragraph 7. Where the Company is under control of any 

individual controlling shareholder or Group of Shareholders, 

(pursuant to Article 116 of Brazilian Corporate Law*), at 

elections of the members of the Board of Directors 

shareholders representing 10% of the outstanding shares of  

shall be entitled to request adoption of a separate voting 

system (plumping) for the election, as permitted under 

paragraphs 4 and 5 of Article 141 of Brazilian Corporate 

Law*. In this event the provisions of Ar ticle 23 of these 

Bylaws shall not apply.  

 

Article 25 . The Board of Directors shall appoint the 

Chairman and Vice Chairman from among its members.  The 

appointment shall take place in the first meeting held after 

the Directors take office or in the first  meeting after the 

Article 25 . The Board of Directors shall appoint the 

Chairman and Vice Chairman from among its members.  The 

appointment shall take place in the first meeting held after 

the Directors take office or in the fir st meeting after the 
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vacancy of these positions. vacancy of these positions. 

Subsection III ɬ Meetings and Substitutions Subsection III ɬ Meetings and Substitutions  

Article 26 . The Board of Directors shall meet, ordinarily, at 

least every two months, in accordance with the calendar to 

be published in the first month of each fiscal year by the 

Chairman, and extraordinarily, whenever necessary, when 

convened in the manner described in paragraph 1 of this 

Article or two thirds of its members.  

Article 26 . The Board of Directors shall meet, ordinarily, at 

least every two months, in accordance with the calendar to 

be published in the first month of each fiscal year by the 

Chairman, and extraordinarily, whenever necessary, when 

convened in the manner described in paragraph 1 of this 

Article or two thirds of its members.  

 

Paragraph 1. The Chairman or the Vice Chairman, if the 

former is absent, shall issue call notices of meetings of the 

Board of Directors. 

Paragraph 1. The Chairman or the Vice Chairman, if the 

former is absent, shall issue call notices of meetings of the 

Board of Directors. 

 

Paragraph 2. The call notice for the meetings of the Board of 

Directors shall be in writing, b y letter, telegram, fax, e-mail 

or other manner which allows proof of receipt of the called 

notice by the addressee, and must contain, in addition to the 

place, date and time of the meeting, and the agenda.  

Paragraph 2. The call notice for the meetings of the Board of 

Directors shall be in writing, by letter, telegram, fax, e -mail 

or other manner which allows proof of receipt of the called 

notice by the addressee, and must contain, in addition to the 

place, date and time of the meeting, and the agenda.  

 

Paragraph 3. The meetings of the Board of Directors shall be 

convened with, at least, three days notice. Regardless of the 

formalities for convening a meeting, the meeting shall be 

considered regular when all of the members of the Board of 

Directors attend. 

Paragraph 3. The meetings of the Board of Directors shall be 

convened with, at least, three days notice. Regardless of the 

formalities for convening a meeting, the meeting shall be 

considered regular when all of the members of the Board of 

Directors attend. 

 

Paragraph 4. The Directors may take part in the meetings of 

the Board of Directors by conference call, videoconference or 

by any other means  of communication that allows the 

identification of the Director and the simultaneous 

communication with all of the other people present at the 

meeting. In this case, the Directors shall be considered 

present at the meeting and must sign the respective minutes. 

Paragraph 4. The Directors may take part in the meetings of 

the Board of Directors by conference call, videoconference or 

by any other means  of communication that allows the 

identification of the Director and the simultaneous 

communication with all of the other people present at the 

meeting. In this case, the Directors shall be considered 

present at the meeting and must sign the respective minutes. 
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Paragraph 5. No member of the Board of Directors may have 

access to information, take part in decisions and discussions 

of the Board of Directors or any other management bodies, 

exercise the right to vote or, in any manner, intervene in the 

matters in which he or she, directly or indirectly, has a 

conflict of interests with those of the Company, under the 

terms of the law. 

Paragraph 5. No member of the Board of Directors may have 

access to information, take part in decisions and discussions 

of the Board of Directors or any other management bodies, 

exercise the right to vote or, in any manner, intervene in the 

matters in which he or she, directly or indirectly, has a 

conflict of interests with those of the Compan y, under the 

terms of the law. 

 

Paragraph 6. The quorum for the instatement of the meetings 

of the Board of Directors, on first call, shall be the absolute 

majority of its members. On second call, which shall be the 

object of a new communication to the Di rectors in the 

manner described in paragraph 1 of this Article, sent 

immediately after the date set for the first call, the meeting 

shall be instated with any number of Directors present.  

Paragraph 6. The quorum for the instatement of the meetings 

of the Board of Directors, on first call, shall be the absolute 

majority of its members. On second call, which shall be the 

object of a new communication to the Directors in the 

manner described in paragraph 1 of this Article, sent 

immediately after the date set for the first call, the meeting 

shall be instated with any number of Directors present.  

 

Paragraph 7. Except otherwise provided for in these Bylaws, 

the decisions of the Board of Directors shall be taken by 

majority vote of the members present at the meetings. The 

Chairman of the Board of Directors shall cast the deciding 

vote in case of tie.  

Paragraph 7. Except otherwise provided for in these Bylaws, 

the decisions of the Board of Directors shall be taken by 

majority vote of the members present at the meetings. The 

Chairman of the Board of Directors shall cast the deciding 

vote in case of tie.  

 

Paragraph 8. The Chief Executive Officer, or his or her 

substitute, shall take part in the meetings of the Board of 

Directors, but shall withdraw on request of the  directors. 

Paragraph 8. The Chief Executive Officer, or his or her 

substitute, shall take part in the meetings of the Board of 

Directors, but shall withdraw on request of the directors.  

 

Article 27 . Except otherwise provided for in paragraph 6 of 

Article  24 and observing the Sole paragraph of this Article, if 

there is a vacancy as a member of the Board of Directors, the 

replacement shall be appointed by the other Directors based 

on a recommendation of the Nominations and Corporate 

Governance Committee to ÚÌÙÝÌɯÜÕÛÐÓɯÛÏÌɯÕÌßÛɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting, when a new Director must be elected to complete 

the term of office of the replaced Director. Where there is a 

Article 27 . Except otherwise provided for in paragraph 6 of 

Article 24 and observing the Sole paragraph of this Article,  if 

there is a vacancy as a member of the Board of Directors, the 

replacement shall be appointed by the other Directors based 

on a recommendation of the Nominations and Corporate 

&ÖÝÌÙÕÈÕÊÌɯ"ÖÔÔÐÛÛÌÌɯÛÖɯÚÌÙÝÌɯÜÕÛÐÓɯÛÏÌɯÕÌßÛɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting, when a new Director must be elected to complete 

the term of office of the replaced Director. Where there is a 
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vacancy of the majority of positions of the Board of Directors, 

Èɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÔÜÚÛɯ ÉÌɯ ÊÖÕÝÌÕed, within a 

maximum of 15 days from the event, to elect the alternates, 

who must complete the terms of office of those being 

replaced. 

vacancy of the majority of positions of the Board of Directors, 

Èɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÔÜÚÛɯ ÉÌɯ ÊÖÕÝÌÕÌËȮɯ ÞÐÛÏÐÕɯ Èɯ

maximum of 15 days from the event, to elect the alternates, 

who must complete the terms of office of those being 

replaced. 

Sole paragraph . In the event of vacancy in the position of 

Board Chairman, the Vice Chairman shall fill in the position 

until such time as a new Chairman is elected.  

Sole paragraph . In the event of vacancy in the position of 

Board Chairman, the Vice Chairman shall fill in the position 

until such time as a new Chairman is elected.  

 

Article 28 .  In cases of absence or temporary 

impediment, the absent or temporarily impeded  Director 

may be represented in the meetings of the Board of Directors 

by another Director appointed in writing, who, in addition to 

having his or her own vote, shall present the vote of the 

absent or temporarily impeded Director.  

Article 28 .  In cases of absence or temporary 

impediment, the absent or temporarily impeded Director 

may be represented in the meetings of the Board of Directors 

by another Director appointed in writing, who, in addition to 

having his or her own vote, shall present the vote of th e 

absent or temporarily impeded Director.  

 

Paragraph 1. If the Director to be represented is an 

Independent Director, the Director who represents him or 

her must also fall within the classification of Independent 

Director.  

Paragraph 1. If the Director t o be represented is an 

Independent Director, the Director who represents him or 

her must also fall within the classification of Independent 

Director.  

 

Paragraph 2. In the event of absence or temporary 

impediment of the Chairman of the Board, his or her 

functions shall be provisionally filled in by the Vice 

Chairman or another director appointed by the Vice 

Chairman. 

Paragraph 2. In the event of absence or temporary 

impediment of the Chairman of the Board, his or her 

functions shall be provisionally fille d in by the Vice 

Chairman or another director appointed by the Vice 

Chairman. 

 

Paragraph 3. In the event of absence or temporary 

impediment of the Vice Chairman, the Chairman shall 

appoint a replacement from among the other Directors.  

Paragraph 3. In the event of absence or temporary 

impediment of the Vice Chairman, the Chairman shall 

appoint a replacement from among the other Directors.  

 

Subsection IV ɬ Duties Subsection IV ɬ Duties  

Article 29 . The responsibilities of the Board of Directors Article 29 . The responsibilities of the Board of Directors  
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include the following:  include the following:  

(a) determining the general business guidelines of the 

Company and its subsidiaries; including the approval 

the annual budget and budget revisions of the Compan y 

and its subsidiaries; and setting strategic plans and 

targets for future periods, overseeing execution; 

(a) determining the general business guidelines of the 

Company and its subsidiaries; including the approval 

the annual budget and budget revisions of the Company 

and its subsidiaries; and setting strategic plans and 

targets for future periods, overseeing execution; 

 

(b) electing and removing the Executive Officers of the 

Company and approving the Executive Management 

Internal Regulation, whereas giving  regard to the 

provisions of these Bylaws; 

(b) electing and removing the Executive Officers of the 

Company and approving the Executive Management 

Internal Regulation, whereas giving regard to the 

provisions of these Bylaws; 

 

(c) overseeing management of the Officers; examining the 

books and records of the Company at any time, 

requesting information on previous or impending 

transactions and any other management acts; 

(c) overseeing management of the Officers; examining the 

books and records of the Company at any time, 

requesting information on previous or impending 

transactions and any other management acts; 

 

(d) deciding on the convening of the 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meetings; 

(d) deciding on the convening of the 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meetings; 

 

(e) submitting the Management Report and accounts, and 

the annual financial statements to the 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting, along with its recommendations;  

(e) submitting the Management Report and accounts, and 

the annual financial statements to the 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting , along with its recommendations;  

 

(f) ×ÙÌÚÌÕÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÏÌɯ×ÙÖ×ÖÚÈÓɯÖÕɯ

allocation of the net income for the year; 

(f) ×ÙÌÚÌÕÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÏÌɯ×ÙÖ×ÖÚÈÓɯÖÕɯ

allocation of the net income for the year; 

 

(g) granting prior authorization for the execution of 

agreements of any kind, as well as settlements or waivers 

of rights, which in any event imply liabilities for the 

Company at amounts in excess of the Reference Amount, 

as defined in the sole paragraph of this Article, to the 

extent they have not been contemplated in the annual 

budget, except however for the agreements set forth in 

(g) granting prior authorization for the execution of 

agreements of any kind, as well as settlements or waivers 

of rights, which in any event imply liabilities for the 

Company at amounts in excess of the Reference Amount, 

as defined in the sole paragraph of this Article, to the 

extent they have not been contemplated in the annual 

budget, except however for the agreements set forth in 
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item (e) of Article 38 of these Bylaws; item (e) of Article 38 of these Bylaws; 

(h) granting prior authorization for investments of a single 

nature not contemplated in the annual budget and 

whose aggregate amount exceeds the Reference Amount; 

(h) granting prior authorization for investments of a single 

nature not contemplated in the annual budget and 

whose aggregate amount exceeds the Reference Amount; 

 

(i) granting prior authorization for any loan, financing, 

bond issuance, or cancellation of simple, non-convertible 

debentures not secured by collateral, or for the giving of 

collateral or personal guarantees by the Company on 

behalf of its subsidiaries, where the amount involved is 

in excess of the Reference Amount and the transaction 

has not been contemplated in the annual budget;  

(i) granting prior authorization for any loan, financing, 

bond issuance, or cancellation of simple, non-convertible 

debentures not secured by collateral, or for the giving of 

collateral or personal guarantees by the Company on 

behalf of its subsidiaries, where the amount involved is 

in excess of the Reference Amount and the transaction 

has not been contemplated in the annual budget; 

 

(j) authorizing the Executive Management Board to acquire, 

or dispose of, or give collateral or create liens of any kind 

on permanent assets of the Company, where the amount 

involved implies liability in excess of the Reference 

Amount and the transaction has not been contemplated 

in the annual budget;  

(j) authorizing the Executive Management Board to acquire, 

or dispose of, or give collateral or create liens of any kind 

on permanent assets of the Company, where the amount 

involved implies liability in excess of the Reference 

Amount and the transaction has not been contemplated 

in the annual budget;  

 

(k) granting prior authorization for the Company or a 

subsidiary to enter into partnership or shareholders 

agreements involving the Company or its subsidiaries;  

(k) granting prior authorization for the Company or a 

subsidiary to enter into partnership or  shareholders 

agreements involving the Company or its subsidiaries;  

 

(l) deciding on the voting instructions where the Company 

ÐÚɯ ÛÖɯ ÈÛÛÌÕËɯ ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ÔÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯ ÖÍɯ ÊÖÔ×ÈÕÐÌÚɯ ÐÕɯ

which it holds ownership interest, and granting prior 

consent for approval of amendments to the articles of 

association or bylaws of any investees, where the interest 

value  is in excess of the Reference Amount, due regard 

being given to the provision under item 0 of Article 16; 

(l) deciding on the voting instructions where the Company 

ÐÚɯ ÛÖɯ ÈÛÛÌÕËɯ ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ÔÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯ ÖÍɯ ÊÖÔ×ÈÕÐÌÚɯ ÐÕɯ

which it holds ownership interest, and granting prior 

consent for approval of amendments to the articles of 

association or bylaws of any investees, where the interest 

value  is in excess of the Reference Amount, due regard 

being given to the provision under item 0 of Article 16; 

 

(m) appointing the Executive Officers of the subsidiaries, 

provided that, unless otherwise decided by 75% of the 

(m) appointing the Executive Officers of the subsidiaries, 

provided that, unless otherwise decided by 75% of the 
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Directors, the appointment of the lead executives will 

coincide with that of the Chief Executive Officer; 

Directors, the appointment of the lead executives will 

coincide with that of the Chief Executive Officer;  

(n) deciding on proposals for the Company to repurchases 

of its own shares whether for the shares to be kept as 

treasury stock or for cancellation or subsequent reissue; 

(n) deciding on proposals for the Company to repurchases 

of its own shares whether for the shares to be kept as 

treasury stock or for cancellation or subsequent reissue; 

 

(o) having due regard for the corporate purposes stated in 

Article 3, deciding on acquisitions of ownership interest 

in other companies, and membership in philanthropic 

associations and organizations, where the amount 

involved is in excess of the Reference Amount and 

except for interest acquired within the scope of the 

"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ×ÖÓÐÊàɯÖÕɯÍÐÕÈÕÊÐÈÓɯÐÕÝÌÚÛÔÌÕÛÚȰ 

(o) having due regard for the corporate purposes stated in 

Article 3, deciding  on acquisitions of ownership interest 

in other companies, and membership in philanthropic 

associations and organizations, where the amount 

involved is in excess of the Reference Amount and 

except for interest acquired within the scope of the 

"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ×ÖÓicy on financial investments;  

 

(p) granting authorization, regardless of the amount 

involved, for the Company to guarantee third -party 

obligations under transactions unrelated to the Company 

business or not arising from its operations, in particular 

in connection with its role as central counterparty 

clearing (and whether involving the Company or a 

subsidiary);  

(p) granting authorization, regardless of the amount 

involved, for the Company to guarantee third -party 

obligations under transactions unrelated to  the Company 

business or not arising from its operations, in particular 

in connection with its role as central counterparty 

clearing (and whether involving the Company or a 

subsidiary);  

 

(q) defining the three nominations list of selected specialized 

firm s, proposed for a valuation of the Company shares 

and preparation of the valuation report, in the event a 

tender offer is to be conducted in a going private process 

(and cancellation of the public company registration) or 

for the Company to delist from the  Novo Mercado, as 

provided in paragraph 2 of Article 63 of these Bylaws;  

(q) defining the three nominations list of selected specialized 

firms, proposed for a valuation of the Company shares 

and preparation of the valuation report, in the event a 

tender offer is to be conducted in a going private process 

(and cancellation of the public company registration) or 

for the Company to delist from the Novo Mercado, as 

provided in paragraph 2 of Article 63 of these Bylaws;  

 

(r) approving the hiring of a registrar to provide securities 

bookkeeping services;  

(r) approving the hiring of a registrar to provide securities 

bookkeeping services;  

 

(s) deciding on distributions (for payment or crediting to (s) deciding on distributions (for payment or crediting to  
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ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚȺɯ ÖÍɯ ÐÕÛÌÙÌÚÛɯ ÖÕɯ ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ÌØÜÐÛàȮɯ

pursuant to applicable legislation;  

ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚȺɯ ÖÍɯ ÐÕÛÌÙÌÚÛɯ ÖÕɯ ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ÌØÜÐÛàȮɯ

pursuant to applicable legislation;  

(t) appointing and removing the independent auditors, 

while giving regard to item (a ) of Article 47,  

(t) appointing and removing the independent auditors, 

while giving regard to item (a) of Article 47,  

 

(u) appointing the members of standing Advisory 

Committees from among the Directors, and the members 

of other committees or temporary working groups 

established by the Board of Directors; and 

(u) appointing the members of standing Advisory 

Committees from among the Directors, and the members 

of other committees or temporary working groups 

established by the Board of Directors; and 

 

(v) expressing and disclosing to the market, within fifteen 

(15) days after publication of the announcement of any 

type of tender offer initiated for shares issued by the 

Company, a reasoned opinion advising shareholders on 

(i) the timing and convenience of th e bid vis-à-vis the 

interests of shareholders and the liquidity of their 

shares; (ii) the impact of the offer on the business 

ÐÕÛÌÙÌÚÛÚɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàȰɯȹÐÐÐȺɯÛÏÌɯÉÐËËÌÙɀÚɯÈÕÕÖÜÕÊÌËɯ

strategic plans for the Company; and (iv) any other 

point of consideration the Board may deem relevant, in 

addition to information required under the applicable 

CVM rules.  

(v) expressing and disclosing to the market, within fifteen 

(15) days after publication of the announcement of any 

type of tender offer initiated for shares is sued by the 

Company, a reasoned opinion advising shareholders on 

(i) the timing and convenience of the bid vis -à-vis the 

interests of shareholders and the liquidity of their 

shares; (ii) the impact of the offer on the business 

interests of the Company; (iiÐȺɯÛÏÌɯÉÐËËÌÙɀÚɯÈÕÕÖÜÕÊÌËɯ

strategic plans for the Company; and (iv) any other 

point of consideration the Board may deem relevant, in 

addition to information required under the applicable 

CVM rules.  

 

Sole paragraph . For purposes of these Bylaws, the Reference 

Amount shall equal 1% of the net equity value of the 

Company, as determined at the end of the immediately 

preceding year. 

Sole paragraph . For purposes of these Bylaws, the Reference 

Amount shall equal 1% of the net equity value of the 

Company, as determined at the end of the immediately 

preceding year. 

 

Article 30 . The Board of Directors shall also have powers to: Article 30 . The Board of Directors shall also have powers to:  

(a) approve the Access Regulations, as well as the rules 

relating to the admission, suspension and exclusion are 

the holders of the Access Authorizations, and also the 

remaining regulatory, operating and liquidation rules 

(a) approve the Access Regulations, as well as the rules 

relating to the admission, suspension and exclusion are 

the holders of the Access Authorizations, and also the 

remaining regulatory, operating and liquidation rules 
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that shall discipline and define the o perations performed 

with the securities, contracts admitted for trading and/or 

registered in any of the systems for trading, registration, 

clearance and settlement administered by the Company 

and by its subsidiaries; 

that shall discipline and define the operations performed 

with the securi ties, contracts admitted for trading and/or 

registered in any of the systems for trading, registration, 

clearance and settlement administered by the Company 

and by its subsidiaries; 

(b) approve the rules relating to listing, suspension and 

delisting of securities and contracts and respective 

issuers, as applicable; 

(b) approve the rules relating to listing, suspension and 

delisting of securities and contracts and respective 

issuers, as applicable; 

 

(c) approve the operating regulations and rules relating  to 

the Clearing Houses and systems that provide 

registration, clearing and settlement services for 

transactions performed in markets administered by the 

Company and its subsidiaries; 

(c) approve the operating regulations and rules relating to 

the Clearing Houses and systems that provide 

registration, clearing and settlement services for 

transactions performed in markets administered by the 

Company and its subsidiaries; 

 

(d) approve the Code of Ethics of Market Participants 

administered by the Company, tha t must contain rules of 

conduct necessary for the proper functioning of the 

markets, and for the maintenance of high ethical 

standards of negotiation in these markets, as well as to 

regulate the functioning and composition of the Ethics 

Committee and to elect its members; 

(d) approve the Code of Ethics of Market Participants 

administered by the Company, that must contain rules of 

conduct necessary for the proper functioning of the 

markets, and for the maintenance of high ethical 

standards of negotiation in these markets, as well as to 

regulate the functioning and composition of the Ethics 

Committee and to elect its members; 

 

(e) establish the penalties that may apply to breaches of the 

rules approved by the Board of Directors;  

(e) establish the penalties that may apply to breaches of the 

rules approved by the Board of Directors;  

 

(f) decide on the granting of the Access Authorizations, this 

decision being subject, within thirty (30) days, to a 

ÙÌØÜÌÚÛɯÍÖÙɯÙÌÝÐÌÞɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÞÏÐÊÏɯ

must prov ide a definitive decision on the subject, 

observing the provisions in the law in effect;  

(f) decide on the granting of the Access Authorizations, this 

decision being subject, within thirty (30) days, to a 

ÙÌØÜÌÚÛɯÍÖÙɯÙÌÝÐÌÞɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÞÏich 

must provide a definitive decision on the subject, 

observing the provisions in the law in effect;  

 

(g) decide concerning the suspension and the cancellation of 

the Access Authorizations, as well as to analyze the cases 

(g) decide concerning the suspension and the cancellation of 

the Access Authorizations, as well as to analyze the cases 
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where there is a change in the control and 

recommendations of new administrators of companies 

that are holders of Access Authorizations; 

where there is a change in the control and 

recommendations of new administrators of companies 

that are holders of Access Authorizations; 

(h) order the  full or partial recess of the markets 

administered by the Company and by its subsidiaries, 

where a gross emergency situation has been recognized 

that may affect the normal functioning of market 

activities, immediately communicating the decision, duly 

founded, to the CVM;  

(h) order the  full or partial recess of the markets 

administered by the Company and by its subsidiaries, 

where a gross emergency situation has been recognized 

that may affect the normal functioning of market 

activities, immediately communicating the decision, duly 

founded, to the CVM;  

 

(i) approve the annual report on the operating risks control 

systems and the business continuity plan of the Company 

and of its subsidiaries; 

(i) approve the annual report on the operating risks control 

systems and the business continuity plan of the Company 

and of its subsidiaries; 

 

(j) decide concerning the creation, allocation and 

maintenance of funds and the other safeguarding 

mechanisms, for the operations performed in the systems 

and markets administered by the Company and its 

subsidiaries, regulating the situations and procedures for 

their use. 

(j) decide concerning the creation, allocation and 

maintenance of funds and the other safeguarding 

mechanisms, for the operations performed in the systems 

and markets administered by the Company and its 

subsidiaries, regulating the situations and procedures for 

their use. 

 

Sole paragraph .  The Board of Directors may delegate to the 

Executive Management Board of the Company the setting of 

technical, financial and operating criteria that complement 

the rules and regulations stated in items (a), (b) and (c) of this 

Article.  

Sole paragraph.  The Board of Directors may delegate to the 

Executive Management Board of the Company the setting of 

technical, financial and operating criteria that complement 

the rules and regulations stated in items (a), (b) and (c) of this 

Article.  

 

Section II ɬ Executive Management Board Section II ɬ Executive Management Board  

Article 31 . The Executive Management Board is the body 

that represents the Company, having the power to perform 

all acts of the management of corporate business. The 

Officers have the power to: (i) observe and enforce the terms 

Article 31 . The Executive Management Board is the body 

that represents the Company, having the power to perform 

all acts of the management of corporate business. The 

Officers have the power to: (i) observe and enforce the terms 
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and conditions of these Bylaws, the decisions of the Board of 

#ÐÙÌÊÛÖÙÚɯ ÈÕËɯ ÖÍɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȰɯ ȹÐÐȺɯ ×ÌÙÍÖÙÔȮɯ

within its powers, all of the acts necessary for the ordinary 

operation of the Company and consecution of the corporate 

purpose, and (iii) coordinate the activities of the CoÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

subsidiaries. 

and conditions of these Bylaws, the decisions of the Board of 

#ÐÙÌÊÛÖÙÚɯ ÈÕËɯ ÖÍɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȰɯ ȹÐÐȺɯ ×ÌÙÍÖÙÔȮɯ

within its powers, all of the acts necessary for the ordinary 

operation of the Company and consecution of the corporate 

purpose, and (iii) cooÙËÐÕÈÛÌɯÛÏÌɯÈÊÛÐÝÐÛÐÌÚɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

subsidiaries. 

Article 32 . The Executive Management Board shall be 

comprised of five up to nine Officers, one being the Chief 

Executive Officer and eight Executive Officers. All of the 

Officers are elected and removable by the Board of Directors, 

with a term of office of two years, with reelection to 

consecutive terms of office being permitted. 

Article 32 . The Executive Management Board shall be 

comprised of five up to nine Officers, one being the Chief 

Executive Officer and eight Executive Officers. All of the 

Officers are elected and removable by the Board of Directors, 

with a term of office of two years, with reelection to 

consecutive terms of office being permitted. 

 

Sole paragraph . The Board of Directors shall designate, from 

among the Officers of the Company, the one (those) who 

shall fulfill the duties of Finance and Investor Relations 

Officer. 

Sole paragraph . The Board of Directors shall designate, from 

among the Officers of the Company, the one (those) who 

shall fulfill the duties of Finance and Investor Relations 

Officer. 

 

Article 33 . The Executive Officers work for the Company on 

an exclusive dedication basis and are not permitted while in 

office to have ties (as defined in paragraph 9 of Article 22): (i ) 

with  ÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯ ÖÍɯ Èɯ ×ÌÙÔÐÛɯ ÍÖÙɯ ÈÊÊÌÚÚɯ ÛÖɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

markets, (ii ) with  a shareholder or Group of Shareholders 

owning interest in 5% or more of the issued and outstanding 

shares of voting stock of the Company, (iii ) with  any 

institution that is a particip ant in the Brazilian or other 

international securities distribution system, (iv ) with  other 

public companies; (v) with portfolio management firms; and 

(vi ) with institutional investors.  

Article 33 . The Executive Officers work for the Company on 

an exclusive dedication basis and are not permitted while in 

office to have ties (as defined in paragraph 9 of Article 22): (i ) 

with  ÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯ ÖÍɯ Èɯ ×ÌÙÔÐÛɯ ÍÖÙɯ ÈÊÊÌÚÚɯ ÛÖɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

markets, (ii ) with  a shareholder or Group of Shareholders 

owning interest in 5% or more of the issued and outstanding 

shares of voting stock of the Company, (iii ) with  any 

institution that is a participant in the Brazilian or other 

international securities distribution system, (iv ) w ith  other 

public companies; (v) with portfolio management firms; and 

(vi ) with institutional investors.  

 

Article 34 . Persons eligible to act as Chief Executive Officer 

are those that meet all applicable legal and regulatory 

requirements and the requirements established in paragraph 

4 of Article 22, provided due regard shall be given to the 

Article 34 . Persons eligible to act as Chief Executive Officer 

are those that meet all applicable legal and regulatory 

requirements and the requirements established in paragraph 

4 of Article 22, provided due regard shall be  given to the 
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provision in the sole paragraph  of Article 20 of these Bylaws.  provision in the sole paragraph of Article 20 of these Bylaws.  

Paragraph 1. All remaining Officers shall be recommended 

to the Board of Directors by the Chief Executive Officer. 

Should the Board of Directors not approve the presented 

recommendations, new names must be recommended, until 

they are approved by the Board of Directors. 

Paragraph 1. All remaining Officers shall be recommended 

to the Board of Directors by the Chief Executive Officer. 

Should the Board of Directors not approve the p resented 

recommendations, new names must be recommended, until 

they are approved by the Board of Directors. 

 

Paragraph 2. The Chief Executive Officer may order the 

immediate removal of any Officer of the Company until the 

meeting of the Board of Directors at which such removal will 

be decide. 

Paragraph 2. The Chief Executive Officer may order the 

immediate removal of any Officer of the Company until the 

meeting of the Board of Directors at which such removal will 

be decide. 

 

Article 35 . The Chief Executive Officer has the following 

powers, additionally to the other attributions established in 

these Bylaws: 

Article 35 . The Chief Executive Officer has the following 

powers, additionally to the other attributions established in 

these Bylaws: 

 

(a) convene and chair the meetings of the Executive 

Management Board; 

(a) convene and chair the meetings of the Executive 

Management Board; 

 

(b) propose to the Board of Directors the rules and 

composition of the Executive Management Board;  

(b) propose to the Board of Directors the rules and 

composition of the Executive Management Board;  

 

(c) guide and coordinate the activities of the remaining 

Officers;  

(c) guide and coordinate the activities of the remaining 

Officers;  

 

(d) undertake the general planning of the Company and of 

its subsidiaries;  

(d) undertake the general planning of the Company and of 

its subsidiaries;  

 

(e) approve the organizational structure of the Company, 

contracting and controlling the executive staff, the 

technicians, auxiliaries and consultants it believes are 

convenient or necessary, defining positions, functions 

and compensation and setting their duties and powers, 

observing the directives imposed by the budget 

(e) approve the organizational structure of the Company, 

contracting and controlling the executive staff, the 

technicians, auxiliaries and consultants it believes are 

convenient or necessary, defining positions, functions 

and compensation and setting their duties and powers, 

observing the directives imposed by the budget 
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approved by the Board of Directors;  approved by the Board of Directors;  

(f) establish the Market Risk Technical Committee, and 

regulate its operation, membership, roles and 

responsibilities, setting member compensation, as 

applicable and with due regard for the standards 

established by the Compensation Committee; 

(f) establish the Market Risk Technical Committee, and 

regulate its operation, membership, roles and 

responsibilities, setting member compensation, as 

applicable and with due regard for the standards 

established by the Compensation Committee; 

 

(g) create other Technical Committees, Consulting or 

Operating Committees, Technical Commissions for the 

Customization, Classification and Arbitration, 

workgroups and advisory bodies, defining their 

composition, roles and responsibilities;  

(g) create other Technical Committees, Consulting or 

Operating Committees, Technical Commissions for the 

Customization, Classification and Arbitration, 

workgroups and advisory bodies, defining  their 

composition, roles and responsibilities;  

 

(h) determine prices, charges, compensation, commissions 

and contributions and any other costs to be charged to 

holders of Access Authorizations  and to third parties, for 

the services arising from the compliance of the functional, 

operating, regulatory, super vision and classifying 

services of the Company, ensuring their broad disclosure 

to interested parties;  

(h) determine prices, charges, compensation, commissions 

and contributions and any other costs to be charged to 

holders of Access Authorizations  and to  third parties, for 

the services arising from the compliance of the functional, 

operating, regulatory, supervision and classifying 

services of the Company, ensuring their broad disclosure 

to interested parties;  

 

(i) propose to the Board of Directors the regulatory, 

operating and clearing rules that shall govern and define 

the operations performed with the securities and 

contracts admitted for trading in the systems 

administered by the Company or by its subsidiaries 

and/or listed in any of their respective  trading, 

registration, clearing and settlement systems;  

(i) propose to the Board of Directors the regulatory, 

operating and clearing rules that shall govern and define 

the operations performed with the securities and 

contracts admitted for trading in the  systems 

administered by the Company or by its subsidiaries 

and/or listed in any of their respective trading, 

registration, clearing and settlement systems;  

 

(j) determine the securities, certificates and contracts that 

shall be admitted for trading, reg istration, clearing and 

settlement in the environment and systems administered 

by the Company, as well as to determine the suspension 

or cancellation of the trading, registration, clearing and 

(j) determine the securities, certificates and contracts that 

shall be admitted for trading, registration, clearing and 

settlement in the environment and systems administered 

by the Company, as well as to determine the suspension 

or cancellation of the trading, registrati on, clearing and 
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settlement of these securities and contracts;  settlement of these securities and contracts;  

(k) supervise in real-time and inspect the transactions traded 

and/or registered in any of the trading, registration, 

ÊÓÌÈÙÐÕÎɯÈÕËɯÚÌÛÛÓÌÔÌÕÛɯÚàÚÛÌÔÚɯÜÕËÌÙɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

surveillance; 

(k) supervise in real-time and inspect the transactions traded 

and/or registered in any of the trading, registration, 

ÊÓÌÈÙÐÕÎɯÈÕËɯÚÌÛÛÓÌÔÌÕÛɯÚàÚÛÌÔÚɯÜÕËÌÙɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

surveillance; 

 

(l) take measures and adopt procedures to prevent the 

realization of operations that may constitute breaches of 

legal and regulatory rules, compliance with which is a 

duty of the Company to oversee; 

(l) take measures and adopt procedures to prevent the 

realization of operations that may constitute breaches of 

legal and regulatory rules, compliance with which is a 

duty of the Company to oversee; 

 

(m) in cases of gross emergencies, to declare the total or 

partial recess of the markets under the Company and its 

ÚÜÉÚÐËÐÈÙÐÌÚɀɯ ÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌȮɯ ÐÔÔÌËÐÈÛÌÓàɯ ÊÖÔÔÜÕÐÊÈÛÐÕÎɯ

the decision to the Board of Directors and the CVM;  

(m) in cases of gross emergencies, to declare the total or 

partial recess of the markets under the Company and its 

ÚÜÉÚÐËÐÈÙÐÌÚɀɯ ÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌȮɯ ÐÔÔÌËÐÈÛÌÓàɯ ÊÖÔÔÜÕÐÊÈÛÐÕÎɯ

the decision to the Board of Directors and the CVM;  

 

(n) to cautiously order the suspension, for the maximum 

period of 90 days, of the activities of holders of Access 

Authorizations, in cases provided in the Access 

Regulation or the remaining rules passed by the Board of 

Directors, or, also, where there is an apparent breach of 

the Code of Ethics, immediately communicating the 

suspension to the CVM and the Brazilian Central Bank; 

(n) to cautiously order the suspension, for the maximum 

period of 90 days, of the activities of holders of Access 

Authorizat ions, in cases provided in the Access 

Regulation or the remaining rules passed by the Board of 

Directors, or, also, where there is an apparent breach of 

the Code of Ethics, immediately communicating the 

suspension to the CVM and the Brazilian Central Bank; 

 

(o) prevent the performance of the operations in negotiation, 

registration, clearing and settlement systems of the 

Company, when there is evidence that these may 

constitute breaches of the legal and regulatory rules with 

which compliance is a duty of th e Company to oversee; 

(o) prevent the performance of the operations in negotiation, 

registration, clearing and settlement systems of the 

Company, when there is evidence that these may 

constitute breaches of the legal and regulatory rules with 

which complia nce is a duty of the Company to oversee; 

 

(p) cancel trades and/or registration of any of the 

negotiation, registration, clearance or settlement of any 

transactions undertaken at the environment and systems 

of the Company, even if they are not yet liquida ted, as 

(p) cancel trades and/or registration of any of the 

negotiation, registration, clearance or settlement of any 

transactions undertaken at the environment and systems 

of the Company, even if they are not yet liquidated, as 
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well as suspend their liquidation, in case of infraction to 

the legal and regulatory rules overseen by the Company; 

well as suspend their liquidation, in c ase of infraction to 

the legal and regulatory rules overseen by the Company; 

(q) determine special procedures for any operations 

performed and/or registered in any of the negotiation, 

registration, clearance or settlement systems of the 

Company, as well as to establish conditions for their 

liquidation;  

(q) determine special procedures for any operations 

performed and/or registered in any of the negotiation, 

registration, clearance or settlement systems of the 

Company, as well as to establish conditions for their 

liquidation;  

 

(r) immediately inform the CVM of the occurrence of events 

that affect, even if only temporarily, the operation of the 

ÔÈÙÒÌÛÚɯÜÕËÌÙɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌȮɯÈÕË 

(r) immediately inform the CVM of the occurrence of events 

that affect, even if only temporarily, the operation of the 

ÔÈÙÒÌÛÚɯÜÕËÌÙɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌȮɯÈÕË 

 

(s) send to the CVM, within the deadline and in the manner 

specified by it, the information and the reports relating to 

the operations performed and/or regis tered in any of the 

negotiation, registration, compensation and liquidation 

systems of the Company.  

(s) send to the CVM, within the deadline and in the manner 

specified by it, the information and the reports relating to 

the operations performed and/or reg istered in any of the 

negotiation, registration, compensation and liquidation 

systems of the Company.  

 

Paragraph 1. The decisions taken by the Chief Executive 

Officer in exercising the powers that are dealt with in lines 

(n) to (q) of the main provision of this Article, may be 

appealed, by any interested party, to the Board of Directors. 

Paragraph 1. The decisions taken by the Chief Executive 

Officer in exercising the powers that are dealt with in lines 

(n) to (q) of the main provision of this Article, ma y be 

appealed, by any interested party, to the Board of Directors. 

 

Paragraph 2. The period for and the effects of filing an 

appeal provided in paragraph 1 of this Article, as well as the 

other situations where an appeal is appropriate, shall be 

established by the Board of Directors.  

Paragraph 2. The period for and the effects of filing an 

appeal provided in paragraph 1 of this Article, as well as the 

other situations where an appeal is appropriate, shall be 

established by the Board of Directors.  

 

Paragraph 3. The Market Risk Technical Committee referred 

to in item (f) of this Article shall be comprised by Executive 

.ÍÍÐÊÌÙÚɯÈÕËɯÖÛÏÌÙɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÌÔ×ÓÖàÌÌÚɯÈ××ÖÐÕÛÌËɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯ

Chief Executive Officer and shall have the following 

responsibilities: (i) analyze the macroeconomic scenario and 

related risks to the markets in which the Company 

Paragraph 3. The Market Risk Technical Committee referred 

to in item (f) of this Article shall be comprised by Executive 

.ÍÍÐÊÌÙÚɯÈÕËɯÖÛÏÌÙɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÌmployees appointed by the 

Chief Executive Officer and shall have the following 

responsibilities: (i) analyze the macroeconomic scenario and 

related risks to the markets in which the Company 
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participates; (ii) define the criteria and parameters to 

calculate margin values; (iii) define the criteria and 

parameters for the valuation of assets received as collateral; 

(iv) define types and amounts of collateral used in the stock 

exchanges and/or registered in any trade, registration, 

settlement or clearing systems under the Company and its 

ÚÜÉÚÐËÐÈÙÐÌÚɀɯÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌȮɯÛÖɯÉÌɯÜÚÌËȮɯÐÕÊÓÜÚÐÝÌȮɯÍÖÙɯÖ×ÌÕÌËɯ

contracts; (v) propose a policy for deposited margin 

surveillance; (vi) analyze the market leverage; (vii) 

recommend any criteria, limits and parameters for the credit 

risk management of the market participants; (viii) analyze 

and recommend solutions for the enhancement of the risk 

management systems; and (ix) prepare any other analysis 

related to the abovementioned activities. 

participates; (ii) define the criteria and parameters to 

calculate margin values; (iii) define the criteria and 

parameters for the valuation of assets received as collateral; 

(iv) define types and amounts of collateral used in the stock 

exchanges and/or registered in any trade, registration, 

settlement or clearing systems under the Company and its 

ÚÜÉÚÐËÐÈÙÐÌÚɀɯÚÜÙÝÌÐÓÓÈÕÊÌȮɯÛÖɯÉÌɯÜÚÌËȮɯÐÕÊÓÜÚÐÝÌȮɯÍÖÙɯÖ×ÌÕÌËɯ

contracts; (v) propose a policy for deposited margin 

surveillance; (vi) analyze the market leverage; (vii) 

recommend any criteria, limits and parameters for the credi t 

risk management of the market participants; (viii) analyze 

and recommend solutions for the enhancement of the risk 

management systems; and (ix) prepare any other analysis 

related to the abovementioned activities. 

Article 36 . The Officer who performs th e duties of Finance 

Officer has the power to: (i) plan and write budgets and 

work plans and of investments of the Company,  annual or 

multiannual relating to the activities of the Company; (ii) 

answer for the control of the execution of budgets that are 

referred to in the previous line; (iii) administer and invest the 

financial resources of the Company, and supervise the same 

ÈÊÛÐÝÐÛÐÌÚɯ×ÌÙÍÖÙÔÌËɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÜÉÚÐËÐÈÙÐÌÚȮɯÈÕËɯȹÐÝȺɯɯ

manage the accounts, financial and fiscal/tax planning 

sectors of the Company. 

Article 36 . The Officer who performs the duties of Finance 

Officer has the power to: (i) plan and write budgets and 

work plans and of investments of the Company,  annual or 

multiannual relating to the activities of the Company; (ii) 

answer for the control of the execution of budgets that are 

referred to in the previous line; (iii) administer and invest the 

financial resources of the Company, and supervise the same 

ÈÊÛÐÝÐÛÐÌÚɯ×ÌÙÍÖÙÔÌËɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÜÉÚÐËÐÈÙÐÌÚȮɯÈÕËɯȹÐÝȺɯɯ

manage the accounts, financial and fiscal/tax planning 

sectors of the Company. 

 

Article 37 . The Investor Relations Officer has the power to 

disclose information to investors, the CVM and the stock 

exchange or over-the-ÊÖÜÕÛÌÙɯÔÈÙÒÌÛɯÞÏÌÙÌɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

securities will be negotiated, as well as to maintain the 

registration of the Company in compliance with applicable 

CVM rules.  

Article 37 . The Investor Relations Officer has the power to 

disclose information to investors, the CVM and the stock 

exchange or over-the-counter market whÌÙÌɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

securities will be negotiated, as well as to maintain the 

registration of the Company in compliance with applicable 

CVM rules.  

 

Article 38 . The responsibilities of the Executive Management Article 38 . The responsibilities of the Executive Management  
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Board include the following:  Board include the following:  

(a) authorize the opening or closing and moving of 

branches, agencies, deposits, offices or any other 

establishment of the Company in Brazil or elsewhere; 

(a) authorize the opening or closing and moving of 

branches, agencies, deposits, offices or any other 

establishment of the Company in Brazil or elsewhere; 

 

(b) submit annually, for the consideration of the Board of 

Directors, the Management Report and the financial 

statemenÛÚȮɯÈÊÊÖÔ×ÈÕÐÌËɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯÐÕËÌ×ÌÕËÌÕÛɯÈÜËÐÛÖÙÚɀɯ

report, as well as the proposal on allocation of net 

income for the year; 

(b) submit annually, for the consideration of the Board of 

Directors, the Management Report and the financial 

statements, accompanied by ÛÏÌɯÐÕËÌ×ÌÕËÌÕÛɯÈÜËÐÛÖÙÚɀɯ

report, as well as the proposal on allocation of net 

income for the year; 

 

(c) prepare and propose to the Board of Directors the 

annual budget, multi -year budgets, strategic plans, 

expansion plans and investment programs; 

(c) prepare and propose to the Board of Directors the 

annual budget, multi -year budgets, strategic plans, 

expansion plans and investment programs; 

 

(d) grant prior authorization for the Company or any 

subsidiary to acquire or dispose of movable assets or 

real property assets, to establish possessory lien or non-

possessory lien or other encumbrances on these assets, 

or to take out a loan, or agree a financing arrangement, 

or give security interest or personal guarantees, for an 

amount representing liability bel ow the Reference 

Amount provided in the sole paragraph of Article 29; 

and 

(d) grant prior authorization for the Company or any 

subsidiary to acquire or dispose of movable assets or 

real property assets, to establish possessory lien or non-

possessory lien or other encumbrances on these assets, 

or to take out a loan, or agree a financing arrangement, 

or give security interest or personal guarantees, for an 

amount representing liability below the Reference 

Amount provided in the sole paragraph of Article 29; 

and 

 

(e)  authorize the Company to enter into and/or renew 

liquidity facility transactions, whether or not 

collateralized, and/or asset monetization schemes with 

the aim of ensuring timely compliance with obligations 

of the Company related to its activiti es as central 

counterparty clearing, regardless of the amount involved 

in the transaction; and 

(e)  authorize the Company to enter into and/or renew 

liquidity facility transactions, whether or not 

collateralized, and/or asset monetization schemes with 

the aim of ensuring timely compliance with obligations 

of the Company related to its activities as central 

counterparty clearing, regardless of the amount involved 

in the transaction; and 

 

(f) on request of the Chief Executive Officer, decide on any (f) on request of the Chief Executive Officer, decide on any  
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matters not included within the scope of exclusive 

ÈÜÛÏÖÙÐÛàɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÖÙɯÛÏÌɯ!ÖÈÙËɯÖÍɯ

Directors. 

matters not included within the scope of exclusive 

ÈÜÛÏÖÙÐÛàɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐng or the Board of 

Directors. 

Subsection I - Replacements and Vacancy  

 in the Executive Management Board 

Subsection I - Replacements and Vacancy  

 in the Executive Management Board 

 

Article 39 . The Chief Executive Officer shall be substituted: 

(i) in the event of absence or impediment for a maximum 30-

day period, by another Officer appointed by him; (ii) when 

on leave for over 30 days and less than 120 days, by the 

Officer appointed by the Board of Directors at a meeting 

called specifically for this pu rpose; and (iii) when on leave 

for 120 days or more, or when vacancies fall open, the Board 

of Directors shall be convened to elect the new Chief 

Executive Officer pursuant to the proceedings established in 

these Bylaws. 

Article 39 . The Chief Executive Officer shall be substituted: 

(i) in the event of absence or impediment for a maximum 30-

day period, by another Officer appointed by him; (ii) when 

on leave for over 30 days and less than 120 days, by the 

Officer appointed by the Board of Directors at a meeti ng 

called specifically for this purpose; and (iii) when on leave 

for 120 days or more, or when vacancies fall open, the Board 

of Directors shall be convened to elect the new Chief 

Executive Officer pursuant to the proceedings established in 

these Bylaws. 

 

Article 40 . The other Officers shall be substituted: (i) for 

absence or impediment or leave for a period not exceeding 

120 days, by an Officer appointed by the Chief Executive 

Officer; and (ii) when the absence if for a period of 120 days 

or more, or there is a vacancy, the Board of Directors shall be 

convened to elect the new Officer, under the procedures 

established in paragraph 1 of Article 34. 

Article 40 . The other Officers shall be substituted: (i) for 

absence or impediment or leave for a period not exceeding 

120 days, by an Officer appointed by the Chief Executive 

Officer; and (ii) when the absence if for a period of 120 days 

or more, or there is a vacancy, the Board of Directors shall be 

convened to elect the new Officer, under the procedures 

established in paragraph 1 of Article 34. 

 

Subsection II ɬ Meetings of the Executive Management Board Subsection II ɬ Meetings of the Executive Management Board  

Article 41 . Except as provided in Article 42 below, the 

meetings of the Executive Management Board shall be 

deemed valid with the presence of at least half plus one of 

the elected Officers and resolutions shall require a majority 

vote of those present. The Chief Executive Officer shall cast 

the deciding vote in case of tie. 

Article 41 . Except as provided in Article 42 below, the 

meetings of the Executive Management Board shall be 

deemed valid with the presence of at least half plus one of 

the elected Officers and resolutions shall require a majority 

vote of those present. The Chief Executive Officer shall cast 

the deciding vote in case of tie. 
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Article 42 . Without prejudice to the specific attributes of the 

Chief Executive Officer and the other Officers, the Officers 

responsible for the respective areas must be present for 

decisions: 

Article 42 . Without prejudice to the specific attributes of the 

Chief Executive Officer and the other Officers, the Officers 

responsible for the respective areas must be present for 

decisions: 

 

(a) Declaration of breach by a participant of any of the 

Clearing Houses, specifying the relevant measures taken 

in accordance with applicable regulations;  

(a) Declaration of breach by a participant of any of the 

Clearing Houses, specifying the relevant measures taken 

in accordance with applicable regulations;  

 

(b) Establishment of operating, credit and risk limits for 

Clearing Houses direct or indirect participants, acting 

individually or as a group, each subject to the specific 

procedures;  

(b) Establishment of operating, credit and risk limits for 

Clearing Houses direct or indirect participants, acting 

individually or as a group, each subject to the specific 

procedures;  

 

(c) Definition of the Clearing Houses ordinary procedures, 

as well as the procedure for the implementation of trade 

systems and guarantee and risk systems by them; and 

(c) Definition of the Clearing Houses ordinary procedures, 

as well as the procedure for the implementation of trade 

systems and guarantee and risk systems by them; and 

 

(d) Remittance of orders regarding the partial or full 

settlement of opened positions in one or more markets 

held by holders of Access Authorizations or their clients.  

(d) Remittance of orders regarding the partial or full 

settlement of opened positions in one or more markets 

held by holders of Access Authorizations or their clients.  

 

Subsection III - Company Representation Subsection III - Company Representation  

Article 43 . Except as provided otherwise in the paragraphs of 

this Article, the Company shall be represented and shall only 

be deemed bound by an act or signature:  

Article 43 . Except as provided otherwise in the paragraphs of 

this Article, the Company shall be repr esented and shall only 

be deemed bound by an act or signature:  

 

(a)  of two Officers;  (a)  of two Officers;   

(b)  of any Officer jointly with an attorney -in-fact with 

specific powers; or 

(b)  of any Officer jointly with an attorney -in-fact with 

specific powers; or 

 

(c)  two attorneys -in-fact with specific powers.  (c)  two attorneys -in-fact with specific powers.   
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Paragraph 1. No acts for which these Bylaws require prior 

authorization from the Board of Directors shall be valid 

without this approval.  

Paragraph 1. No acts for which these Bylaws require prior 

authorization from the Board of Directors shall be valid 

without this approval.  

 

Paragraph 2. The Company may be represented by a single 

Officer or attorney -in-fact holding specific powers to: 

Paragraph 2. The Company may be represented by a single 

Officer or attorney -in-fact holding specific powers to:  

 

(a) represent the Company in routine activities performed 

ÖÜÛÚÐËÌɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ×ÙÐÕÊÐ×ÈÓɯ×ÓÈÊÌɯÖÍɯÉÜÚÐÕÌÚÚȰ 

(a) represent the Company in routine activities performed 

ÖÜÛÚÐËÌɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ×ÙÐÕÊÐ×ÈÓɯ×ÓÈÊÌɯÖÍɯÉÜÚÐÕÌÚÚȰ 

 

(b) ÙÌ×ÙÌÚÌÕÛɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɯÈÛɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯÈÕËɯ

meetings of the partners at companies in which the 

Company holds an interest; 

(b) represent the Company at SharÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯÈÕËɯ

meetings of the partners at companies in which the 

Company holds an interest; 

 

(c) represent the Company in court, except for acts that 

entail waiving rights; or  

(c) represent the Company in court, except for acts that 

entail waiving rights; or  

 

(d) represent the Company in simple administrative 

routines, including those related to public agencies, 

mixed-capital companies, boards of trade, labor courts, 

the National Social Security Institute ( Instituto Nacional do 

Seguro SocialȺȮɯÖÙɯ(-22ȮɯÛÏÌɯ$Ô×ÓÖàÌÌɀÚɯ3ÐÔÌɯÐÕɯ2ÌÙÝÐÊÌɯ

Guarantee Fund (Fundo de Garantia do Tempo de Serviço), 

or FGTS, and banks receiving such payments and other 

activities of a similar nature.  

(d) represent the Company in simple administrative 

routines, including those related to public agencies, 

mixed-capital companies, boards of trade, labor courts, 

the National Social Security Institute ( Instituto Nacional do 

Seguro SocialȺȮɯÖÙɯ(-22ȮɯÛÏÌɯ$Ô×ÓÖàÌÌɀÚɯ3ÐÔÌɯÐÕɯ2ÌÙÝÐÊÌɯ

Guarantee Fund (Fundo de Garantia do Tempo de Serviço), 

or FGTS, and banks receiving such payments and other 

activities of a similar nature.  

 

Paragraph 3. The Board of Directors may authorize specific 

acts that shall be binding on the Company subject to 

signature of only one Officer or attorney -in-fact, or 

furthermore establish authority and jurisdiction for a single 

representative to perform such acts. 

Paragraph 3. The Board of Directors may authorize specific 

acts that shall be binding on the Company subject to 

signature of only one Officer or attorne y-in-fact, or 

furthermore establish authority and jurisdiction for a single 

representative to perform such acts. 

 

Article 4 4. Powers of attorney shall always be granted or 

revoked by two Officers, including the Chief Executive 

Article 44 . Powers of attorney shall always be granted or 

revoked by two Officers, including the Chief Executive 
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Officer, establishing the powers of the attorney-in-fact and, 

except powers of attorney issued for judicial purposes, these 

powers shall always be granted for a limited period.  

Officer, establishing the powers of the attorney -in-fact and, 

except powers of attorney issued for judicial purposes, these 

powers shall always be granted for a limited period.  

Section III - Ancillary Administrative Bodies Section III - Ancillary Administrative Bodies  

Article 45 . The Company shall have the following mandatory 

committees to advise the Board of Directors: 

Article 45 . The Company shall have the following mandatory 

committees to advise the Board of Directors: 

 

(a) Audit Committee;  (a) Audit Committee;   

(b) Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee;  (b) Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee;   

(c) Compensation Committee; and (c) Compensation Committee; and  

(d) Risk Committee. (d) Risk Committee.  

Paragraph 1. The Committees shall likewise perform their 

functions with regard to companies in which the Company 

has an interest. 

Paragraph 1. The Committees shall likewise perform their 

functions with regard to companies in which the Company 

has an interest. 

 

Paragraph 2. The Board of Directors may establish additional 

committees charged with advising Management on specific 

matters of limited scope, for a limited time perio d. In this 

event, the Board will also appoint the committee members .  

Paragraph 2. The Board of Directors may establish additional 

committees charged with advising Management on specific 

matters of limited scope, for a limited time period. In this 

event, the Board will also appoint the committee members .  

 

Paragraph 3. The Board of Directors shall also establish the 

responsibilities and compensation of the committee 

members. 

Paragraph 3. The Board of Directors shall also establish the 

responsibilities and  compensation of the committee 

members. 

 

Subsection I - Audit Committee Subsection I - Audit Committee  

Article 46 . The Audit Committee shall be composed of five 

members, all of them shall be independent. No more than 

Article 46 . The Audit Committee is established as a standing 

board advisory committee which shall be composed of five 

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 
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two audit committee members shall be  Independent 

Directors; the other members shall be external independent 

ÔÌÔÉÌÙÚɯȹɁ$ßÛÌÙÕÈÓɯ,ÌÔÉÌÙÚɂȺɯÈÕËɯÍÜÓÍÐÓÓɯÛÏÌɯÙÌØÜÐÙÌÔÌÕÛÚɯ

set forth in paragraph 2 of Article 46 of these Bylaws. 

members, all of them independent. No more than two audit 

committee members shall be Independent Directors; the 

other members shall be external independent members 

ȹɁ$ßÛÌÙÕÈÓɯ,ÌÔÉÌÙÚɂȺɯÈÕËɯÍÜÓÍÐÓÓɯÛÏÌɯÙÌØÜÐÙÌÔents set forth 

in paragraph 2 of Article 46 of these Bylaws. At least one 

audit committee member shall be required to have 

recognized experience in corporate accounting matters.  

509/2011. 

Paragraph 1. The Nominations and Corporate Governance 

Committee shall nominate candidates for the Audit 

Committee, whose members shall be appointed by the Board 

of Directors. 

Paragraph 1. The Nominations and Corporate Governance 

Committee shall nominate candidates for the Audit 

Committee, whose members shall be appointed by the Board 

of Directors for a two years term, reappointment being 

permitted , provided  the combined terms shall not exceed ten 

years. 

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011. 

Paragraph 2. The External Members of the Audit Committee 

shall meet the following requirements:  

Paragraph 2. The External Members of the Audit Committee 

shall meet the following requirements:  

 

(a) being knowledgeable about, or experienced in auditing, 

compliance and controls, accounting and taxation and 

other related matters; 

(a) being knowledgeable about, or experienced in auditing, 

compliance and controls, accounting and taxation and 

other related matters; 

 

(b) holding no position in the Board of Directors or 

Executive Management Board of the Company or its 

subsidiaries; 

(b) holding no position in the Board of Directors or 

Executive Management Board of the Company or its 

subsidiaries; 

 

(c) holding  no interest in Company shares, including no 

interest held by a spouse or domestic partner; 

(c) holding no interest in Company shares, including no 

interest held by a spouse or domestic partner; 

 

(d) holding no controlling or minority interest in, and not  

acting as, management member or employee of, a 

shareholder of the Company or its subsidiaries;  

(d) holding no controlling or minority interest in, and not 

acting as, management member or employee of, a 

shareholder of the Company or its subsidiaries;  

 

(e) in the 12-month period preceding their appointment, not 

having had ties with: ( i ) the Company, its subsidiaries or, 

(e) in the 12-month period preceding their appointment, not 

having had ties with: ( i ) the Company, its subsidiaries or, 

Rephrased 
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as the case may be, its direct or indirect controlling 

shareholders or companies under common control; (ii ) 

any of the directors and offi cers of the Company and its 

subsidiaries or, as the case may be, the direct or indirect 

controlling shareholders or companies under common 

control, as applicable; (iii ) holders of permits for access to 

the Company markets; and (iv ) a shareholder or Group 

of Shareholders holding an interest in 10% or more of the 

issued and outstanding shares of voting stock of the 

Company; and 

as the case may be, its direct or indirect controlling 

shareholders or companies under common control; (ii ) 

any of the directors and officers of the Company and its 

subsidiaries or, as the case may be, the direct or indirect 

controlling shareholders or companies under common 

control, as applicable; (iii ) holders of permits for access to 

the Company markets; and (iv ) a shareholder or Group 

of Shareholders holding an interest in 10% or more of the 

issued and outstanding shares of voting stock of the 

Company; and 

Currently non-existing (f) not holding at the time, and in the 5 year period 

preceding their appointment  not having held , a position 

as: (i) officer or employee of the Company, its 

subsidiaries and affiliates or, its direct or indirect 

controlling shareholders or companies under common 

control ; or (ii) member and lead auditor of the audit team 

in charge of auditing the financial information of the 

Company; 

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011. 

 

Currently non-existing (g) not being a spouse, or lineal or collateral blood relative to 

the third degree, or relative by affinity to the second 

degree, of any of the persons alluded to in item (f) above; 

and  

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011. 

(f) fulfill the requirements set forth in paragraphs 4 and 5 of 

Article 22 of these Bylaws. 

(fh) fulfill the requirements set forth in paragraphs 4 and 5 of 

Article 22 of these Bylaws and those of article 147 of 

Brazilian Corporate Law *. 

Renumbered and amended for 

consistency with the requirements of 

CVM Instruction No. 509/2011. 

Paragraph 3. The members of the Audit Committee shall be 

nominated by the Nominations and Corporate Govern ance 

Committee and appointed by the Board of Directors for two -

year terms, reappointment being permitted.  

Eliminated. Content moved to paragraph 1 of this 

Article 46.  

Paragraph 4. While in office, committee members may be Paragraph 43. While in office, committee members may be Renumbered. 
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replaced in the following circumstances: replaced in the following circumstances:  

(a) death or resignation; (a) death or resignation;  

(b) unjustified absence at 3 consecutive or 6 nonconsecutive 

meetings over a one-year period; or 

(b) unjustified absence at 3 consecutive or 6 nonconsecutive 

meetings over a one-year period; or 

 

(c) pursuant to a well -founded decision of the Board of 

Directors, passed with the affirmative vote of at least 5 

Directors, a majority o f whom shall fulfill the 

requirements in paragraph 5 of Article 22.  

(c) pursuant to a well -founded decision of the Board of 

Directors, passed with the affirmative vote of at least 5 

Directors, a majority of whom shall fulfill the 

requirements in paragraph 5 6 of Article 22. 

Reference adjusted. 

Paragraph 5. If seats on the committee fall vacant, the Board 

of Directors shall elect a person to conclude the term of the 

outgoing member, as recommended by the Nominations and 

Corporate Governance Committee. 

Paragraph 54. If seats on the committee fall vacant, the Board 

of Directors shall elect a person to conclude the term of the 

outgoing member, as recommended by the Nominations and 

Corporate Governance Committee. 

Renumbered. 

Currently non-existing Paragraph 5. After stepping down, regardless of length of 

time previously served, a former committee member may 

only be reappointed to a committee seat after at least three 

(3) years shall have expired from the end of the relevant 

term. 

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011. 

Article 47 . The Audit Committee shall report to the Board of 

Directors, and its responsibilities include, among other 

matters: 

Article 47 . The Audit Committee shall report to the Board of 

Directors, subject to the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 of 

this Article 47, and its responsibilities include, among other 

matters: 

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011. 

(a) making recommendations to the Board of Directors 

regarding retention or replacement of the independent 

auditors the Company;  

(a) making recommendations to the Board of Directors 

regarding the retention or replacement of the 

independent auditor s the Company, and about hiring 

audit firms to perform audit -unrelated services; 

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011. 

Currently non-existing (b) supervising the activities of the independent auditors to  

evaluate (i) their objectiveness (independence standard); 

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 
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(ii) quality of the ir  services; and (iii) their suitability vis -

à-vis the "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÙÌØÜÐÙÌÔÌÕÛÚ; 

509/2011. 

(b) overseeing the results of Company and controlled 

internal audits, as well as submitting proposals to the 

Board of Directors to improve such audits;  

(bc) overseeing the results supervising the work of Company 

and controlled internal audits , monitoring the adequacy 

and integrity o f the internal audit structure , and the 

quality and integrity of internal and independent audit 

processes, in addition to recommending improvements 

as may be necessary; 

Renumbered and amended for 

consistency with the requirements of 

CVM Instruction No. 509/2011 

 

Currently non-existing (d) supervisi ng the financial reporting activities of the 

Company and the subsidiaries; 

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011 

Currently non-existing (e) supervising the internal controls activities of the 

Company and the subsidiaries; 

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011 

(c) analyzing management reports and financial statements 

issued by the Company and its subsidiaries, issuing 

recommendations to the Board of Directors as may be 

necessary; 

(cf) analyzing management reports monitoring the quality 

and integrity of quarterly financial information, and of 

interim and other financial statements prepared by the 

Company and its subsidiaries, issuing recommendations 

to the Board of Directors as may be necessary; 

Renumbered and amended for 

consistency with the requirements of 

CVM Instruction No. 509/2011 

(d) analyzing the quarterly information and  the financial 

statements produced periodically by the Company;  

Eliminated Content moved to the preceding item  

(e) evaluating the effectiveness and adequacy of internal 

and independent audit processes and internal control 

structures at the Company and its subsidiaries, 

submitting recomme ndations to improve policies, 

practices and processes, as may be necessary;  

(eg) evaluating the effectiveness and adequacy monitoring 

the quality and integrity of internal and independent 

audit processes and internal control s mechanisms 

structures at of the Company and its subsidiaries, 

submitting recommendations to improve policies, 

practices and processes, as may be necessary;  

Renumbered and amended for 

consistency with the requirements of 

CVM Instruction No. 509/2011. 

 

6ÖÙËÐÕÎɯÔÖÝÌËɯÛÖɯÐÕËÌÕÛɯɁÊɂɯÈÉÖve. 

(f) evaluating the effectiveness and adequacy of risk control 

and risk management systems, including as related to 

(fh) evaluating the effectiveness and adequacy of risk control 

and risk management systems, including as related to 

Renumbered 
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legal, tax and labor risks; legal, tax and labor risks; 

(g) advising the Board of Directors, prior to release, about 

ÛÏÌɯ ÈÕÕÜÈÓɯ ÙÌ×ÖÙÛɯ ÈÚÚÌÚÚÐÕÎɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯinternal 

controls and corporate risk management systems; 

(gi) advising the Board of Directors, prior to release, about 

ÛÏÌɯ ÈÕÕÜÈÓɯ ÙÌ×ÖÙÛɯ ÈÚÚÌÚÚÐÕÎɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ ÐÕÛÌÙÕÈÓɯ

controls and corporate risk management systems; 

Renumbered 

(h) on request of the Board of Directors, making 

recommendations on proposals by management set to 

ÉÌÐÕÎɯÚÜÉÔÐÛÛÌËɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÙÌÎÈÙËÐÕÎɯ

changes to capital stock (share issues), issuance of 

debenture or warrant, the capital expenditure budgets, 

dividend distributio ns, transformation of corporate type, 

or merger, consolidation or spin -off transactions; and 

(hj) on request of the Board of Directors, making 

recommendations on proposals by management set to 

ÉÌÐÕÎɯÚÜÉÔÐÛÛÌËɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÙÌÎÈÙËÐÕÎɯ

changes to capital stock (share issues), issuance of 

debenture or warrant, the capital expenditure budgets, 

dividend distributions, transformation of corporate type, 

or merger, consolidation or spin -off transactions; and 

Renumbered 

Currently non-existing (k) monitoring the quality and integrity of the  informa tion 

and measurements released on the basis of adjusted 

financial or non -financial information , which add 

information unanticipated in the reporting structure of 

customary financial statements; 

Amended for  consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011 

Currently non-existing (l) monitoring and assessing risk exposures incurred by the 

Company, for this purpose being permitted to request 

detailed information on policies and processes related to 

(i) management compensation; (ii) use of Company 

assets; and (iii) expenses incurred by the Company; 

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011 

Currently non-existing (m) monitoring and assessing the internal audit department 

of the Company, the adequacy of transactions with 

related parties and the relevant documentation ; 

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011 

(i) advising the Board of Directors on matters the directors 

may refer to the committee and on any other matter it 

may deem to be relevant. 

(in) advising  the Board of Directors on matters the directors 

may refer to the committee and on any other matter it 

may deem to be relevant. 

Renumbered. 

Sole paragraph . At the end of each six-month period, the Sole pParagraph 1. At the end of each six-month period, Amended for consistency with the 
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Audit Committee shall prepare a report containing at least  

the following information: (i) activities carried out during the 

period; (ii) an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal 

controls and risk management systems adopted by the 

Company; (iii) a description of recommendations made to 

management and evidence of implementation; (iv) an 

evaluation of the effectiveness of both internal and 

independent audit work; and (v) an evaluation of the quality 

of the financial reports and the internal audit report 

regarding internal controls and risk management processes 

prepared for the period.  

tThe Audit Committee shall prepare a annual summary 

report to be submitted along with the financial statements, 

containing at least the following information: (i) the activities 

carried out during the period , its findings and 

recommendations; (ii) an evaluation of the effectiveness of 

internal controls and risk management systems adopted by 

the Company; (iii) a description of recommendations made 

to management and evidence of implementation; (iv) an 

evaluation of the effectiveness of both internal and 

independent audit work; and (v) an evaluation of the quality 

of the financial reports and the internal audit report 

regarding internal controls and risk management processes 

prepared for the period;  and (vi) any instance denoting 

significant disagreement amongst management, the 

independent auditors and the committee relative to the 

financial statements of the Company. 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011 

 

The amendment is consistent with the 

requirements of article 31-#ȮɯÐÕËÌÕÛɯɁÝÐɂɯ

of CVM Instruction No. 509/2011, and 

also with the fact that the Audit 

Committee shall report to the Board at 

least every three months, at the time the 

quarterly information of the Company is 

prepared, according to paragraph 2 to 

be included in this article 47. 

 

Currently non-existing Paragraph 2. The Coordinator of the Audit Committee, or in 

the case of absence or vacancy, another member of the Audit 

Committee appointed by him, shall convene with  the Board 

of Directors at least quarterly, to report the activities of the 

Committee. If necessary or appropriate, the Coordinator or 

the other member, as the case may be, will be accompanied 

by other members of the Audit Committee.  

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011. 

The provision of quarterly reports of the 

Audit Committee to the Board of 

Directors, which already occur in 

practice during the period of preparing 

the CÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ ØÜÈÙÛÌÙÓàɯ ÍÐÕÈÕÊÐÈÓɯ

statements, also operates as a 

ɁÊÖÔ×ÌÕÚÈÛÐÖÕɤÖÍÍÚÌÛɂɯ ÛÖɯ ÛÏÌɯ

amendment related to the periodicity of 

the reports of the Audit Committee, in 

terms of the paragraph above. 

 

 

Currently non-existing Paragraph 3. The Audit Committee shall have means to Amended for consistency with the 
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receive claims of improper practices within the scope of the 

activities it oversees, including  those confidential, internal or 

external claims. 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011 

Article 48 . The Audit Committee shall approve, by a majority 

of votes, the proposed Regulation to govern its own 

operation, which it shall forwarded for approval by the 

Board of Directors 

Article 48 . The Audit Committee shall approve, by a majority 

of votes, the proposed Regulation to govern its own 

operation, which it shall forwarded for approval by the 

Board of Directors. 

 

Sole paragraph . In order to perform its functions, the Audit 

Committee shall be granted full access to any information it 

may require and a suitable administrative structure, as well 

as funds to contract independent advisers. 

Sole paragraph . In performing its functions, the Audit 

Committee shall be granted full access to any information it 

may require. The Audit Committee shall b e functionally 

autonomous and operate on funds appropriated in the 

budget, as approved by the Board of Directors, so it may 

carry out or order, or retain external, independent 

consultants or specialists to perform, special evaluations, 

assessments or investigations within the realm of the 

"ÖÔÔÐÛÛÌÌɀÚɯÙÌÚ×ÖÕÚÐÉÐÓÐÛÐÌÚȭ 

Amended for consistency with the 

requirements of CVM Instruction No. 

509/2011 

Subsection II - Compensation Committee Subsection II - Compensation Committee  

Article 4 9. The Board of Directors shall establish a standing 

Compensation Committee which shall be composed of three 

members of the Board of Directors, two of whom shall be 

Independent Directors.  

Article 49 . The Board of Directors shall establish a standing 

Compensation Committee which shall be composed of three 

members of the Board of Directors, two of whom shall be 

Independent Directors.  

 

Paragraph 1. The Compensation Committee shall be 

responsible for: 

Paragraph 1. The Compensation Committee shall be 

responsible for: 

 

(a) recommending to the Board of Directors, and revising 

annually, the standards and guidelines that shape the 

policy, and the policy concerning compensation of the 

"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÔÈÕÈÎÌÙÚɯÈÕËɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔÔÐÛÛÌÌɯÔÌÔÉÌÙÚɯ

and members of other board advisory groups  

(a) recommending to the Board of Directors, and revising 

annually, the standards and guidelines that shape the 

policy, and the policy concerning compensation of the 

"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÔÈÕÈÎÌÙÚɯÈÕËɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔÔÐÛÛÌÌɯÔÌÔÉÌÙÚɯ

and members of other board advisory groups  
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(b) annually proposing to the Board of Directors the 

compensation of directors and officers of the Company, 

ÍÖÙɯÚÜÉÔÐÚÚÐÖÕɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȰɯ 

(b) annually proposing to the Board of Directors the 

compensation of directors and officers of the Company, 

ÍÖÙɯÚÜÉÔÐÚÚÐÖÕɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȰɯ 

 

(c) reviewing and submitting to the Board of Directors the 

goals and targets related to the Chief Executive Officer 

compensation plan, as well as evaluating his or her 

performance; 

(c) reviewing and submi tting to the Board of Directors the 

goals and targets related to the Chief Executive Officer 

compensation plan, as well as evaluating his or her 

performance; 

 

(d) reviewing and submitting to the Board the Chief 

Executive Officer proposal on the goals and targets 

concerning the senior executive compensation plans, and 

assessing the evaluation process implemented by the 

Chief Executive Officer with respect to his or her 

subordinates, monitoring implementation of conclusions 

and resulting actions; 

(d) reviewi ng and submitting to the Board the Chief 

Executive Officer proposal on the goals and targets 

concerning the senior executive compensation plans, and 

assessing the evaluation process implemented by the 

Chief Executive Officer with respect to his or her 

subordinates, monitoring implementation of conclusions 

and resulting actions; 

 

(e) take necessary measures so that the Company be 

adequately and previously prepared for the succession of 

its executive officers, in particular for the Chief Executive 

Officer and the principal executives; and 

(e) take necessary measures so that the Company be 

adequately and previously prepared for the succession of 

its executive officers, in particular for the Chief Executive 

Officer and the principal executives; and  

 

(f) ensuring the Company adopts a competencies and 

leadership model, including to attract, retain and 

ÔÖÛÐÝÈÛÌɯ ÛÈÓÌÕÛȮɯ ÞÏÐÊÏɯ ÐÚɯ ÐÕɯ ÓÐÕÌɯ ÞÐÛÏɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

strategic plan. 

(f) ensuring the Company adopts a competencies and 

leadership model, including to attract, re tain and 

ÔÖÛÐÝÈÛÌɯ ÛÈÓÌÕÛȮɯ ÞÏÐÊÏɯ ÐÚɯ ÐÕɯ ÓÐÕÌɯ ÞÐÛÏɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ

strategic plan. 

 

Paragraph 2. The Chief Executive Officer will be invited to 

participate of the meetings of the Compensation Committee 

whenever necessary. 

Paragraph 2. The Chief Executive Officer will be invited to 

participate of the meetings of the Compensation Committee 

whenever necessary. 

 

Subsection III ɬ Nominations and Corporate Governance 

Committee 

Subsection III ɬ Nominations and Corporate Governance 

Committee 
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Article 50 . The Board of Directors shall establish a standing 

Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee, which 

shall comprise three members, at least two of them being 

independent members.  

Article 50 . The Board of Directors shall establish a standing 

Nominatio ns and Corporate Governance Committee, which 

shall comprise three members, at least two of them being 

independent members.  

 

Sole paragraph . With the main purpose of preserving the 

credibility and legitimacy of Company and its subsidiaries, 

the Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee 

shall: 

Sole paragraph . With the main purpose of preserving the 

credibility and legitimacy of Company and its subsidiaries, 

the Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee 

shall: 

 

(a) Identify, recruit and nominate potential board members 

ÍÖÙɯÌÓÌÊÛÐÖÕɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯËÜÌɯÙÌÎÈÙËɯ

being given to applicable legal requirements and 

requirements of these Bylaws; 

(a) Identify, recruit and nominate potential board members 

for election by the ShareholderÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯËÜÌɯÙÌÎÈÙËɯ

being given to applicable legal requirements and 

requirements of these Bylaws; 

 

(b) Identify, recruit and nominate potential Board Advisory 

Committee members for appointment by the Board of 

Directors persons, due regard being given to applicable 

legal requirements and requirements of these Bylaws;  

(b) Identify, recruit and nominate potential Board Advisory 

Committee members for appointment by the Board of 

Directors persons, due regard being given to applicable 

legal requirements and requirements of these Bylaws;  

 

(c) identify, recruit and nominate potential replacements to 

fill in vacant Corporate Governance Committee seats, 

whose term of office shall extend through to the date of 

ÛÏÌɯÚÜÉÚÌØÜÌÕÛɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȰ 

(c) identify,  recruit and nominate potential replacements to 

fill in vacant Corporate Governance Committee seats, 

whose term of office shall extend through to the date of 

ÛÏÌɯÚÜÉÚÌØÜÌÕÛɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȰ 

 

(d) Make recommendations to the Board of Directors about 

membership and operations of the Board;  

(d) Make recommendations to the Board of Directors about 

membership and operations of the Board;  

 

(e) Make recommendations to the Board of Directors about 

advisory committee or work groups (commission) 

membership, in addition to conducting periodic reviews 

of the competencies and qualifications required from 

Board members, including as to diversity of expertise 

and leadership style;   

(e) Make recommendations to the Board of Directors about 

advisory committee or wor k groups (commission) 

membership, in addition to conducting periodic reviews 

of the competencies and qualifications required from 

Board members, including as to diversity of expertise 

and leadership style;   
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(f) Support the Board Chair in organizing a fo rmal and 

periodic self -evaluation process both by the Chair and by 

the Board as a collective body; 

(f) Support the Board Chair in organizing a formal and 

periodic self -evaluation process both by the Chair and by 

the Board as a collective body; 

 

(g) Support the Board of Directors in the process of 

recruiting and nominating the Chief Executive Officer, in 

addition to supporting the latter in recruiting and 

nominating the other Executive Officers;  

(g) Support the Board of Directors in the process of 

recruiting and nominating the Chief Executive Officer, in 

addition to supporting the latter in recruiting and 

nominating the other Executive Officers;  

 

(h) Promote and monitor adoption of best recommended 

corporate governance practices, as well as monitoring 

effectiveness of corporate governance processes, 

suggesting changes, updates and improvements, as 

necessary;  

(h) Promote and monitor adoption of best re commended 

corporate governance practices, as well as monitoring 

effectiveness of corporate governance processes, 

suggesting changes, updates and improvements, as 

necessary;  

 

(i) Prepare or update, for approval by the Board of 

Directors, the Corporate Governance Guidelines and the 

governance documents of the Company (Regulations, 

Codes and Policies); 

(i) Prepare or update, for approval by the Board of 

Directors, the Corporate Governance Guidelines and the 

governance documents of the Company (Regulations, 

Codes and Policies); 

 

(j) Prepare, for approval by the Board of Directors, the 

Code of Conduct of the Company, which shall apply to 

directors, executive officers, employees and other 

collaborators and providers of the Company and its 

subsidiaries. The Code of Conduct shall be prepared 

based on the following principles and Company values: 

ethical conduct, equality of rights, respect for diversity 

and accountability;  

(j) Prepare, for approval by the Board of Directors, the 

Code of Conduct of the Company, whi ch shall apply to 

directors, executive officers, employees and other 

collaborators and providers of the Company and its 

subsidiaries. The Code of Conduct shall be prepared 

based on the following principles and Company values: 

ethical conduct, equality of r ights, respect for diversity 

and accountability;  

 

(k) Promote and monitor practices aimed at preserving 

ethical and democratic values, while ensuring 

transparency, visibility and access to markets managed 

by the Company and its subsidiaries;  

(k) Promote and monitor practices aimed at preserving 

ethical and democratic values, while ensuring 

transparency, visibility and access to markets managed 

by the Company and its subsidiaries;  
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(l) Promote and monitor practices for dissemination 

amongst all Company constituencies of the Company 

values and principles of protection of human rights, 

respect for diversity of gender, race and faith, while 

promoting citizenship and social inclusion rights;  

(l) Promote and monitor practices for dissemination 

amongst all Company constituencies of the Company 

values and principles of protection of human rights, 

respect for diversity of gender, race and faith, while 

promoting citizenship and social inclusion rights;  

 

(m) Evaluate and make strategy recommendations that add 

or maintain value to the institutional image of the 

Company; and 

(m) Evaluate and make strategy recommendations that add 

or maintain value to the institutional image of the 

Company; and 

 

(n) Monitor business from the perspectives of sustainability 

and social responsibility, whereas supporting the Board 

in perfecting the Company vision in this regard.  

(n) Monitor business from the perspectives of sustainability 

and social responsibility, whereas supporting the Board 

in perfecting the Company vision in this rega rd. 

 

Subsection IV ɬ Risk Committee Subsection IV ɬ Risk Committee  

Article 51 . The Board of Directors shall establish a standing 

Risk Committee, composed of, at least, four members, all of 

them Directors, whether or not Independent.  

Article 51 . The Board of Directors shall establish a standing 

Risk Committee, at least, four members, all of them 

Directors, whether or not Independent.  

 

Sole paragraph . The Risk Committee shall be responsible for:  Sole paragraph . The Risk Committee shall be responsible for:   

(a) assessing and monitoring exposure to risks intrinsic to 

the business activities of the Company, with particular 

focus on structural and strategic risk management;  

(a) assessing and monitoring exposure to risks intrinsic to 

the business activities of the Company, with particular 

focus on structural and strategic risk management;  

 

(b) ÈÚÚÌÚÚÐÕÎɯ ÈÕËɯ ÙÌÊÖÔÔÌÕËÐÕÎɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ ÙÐÚÒɯ

management guidelines and strategies; and  

(b) ÈÚÚÌÚÚÐÕÎɯ ÈÕËɯ ÙÌÊÖÔÔÌÕËÐÕÎɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ ÙÐÚÒɯ

management guidelines and strategies; and  

 

(c) conducting periodic reassessments of the risk 

management strategies adopted by the Company. 

(c) conducting periodic reassessments of the risk 

management strategies adopted by the Company. 

 

CHAPTER V CHAPTER V 
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FISCAL COUNCIL  FISCAL COUNCIL   

Article 52 . The Company shall have a Fiscal Council, which 

shall be comprised of three to five members, and the same 

number of alternates, with the powers and authority granted 

by Brazilian Corporate Law* and operating on a non -

permanent basis. The Fiscal Council shall only be instated by 

ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯ Ü×ÖÕɯ ÙÌØÜÌÚÛɯ Éàɯ ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯ

representing the percentage required by law or CVM 

regulations. 

Artic le 52. The Company shall have a Fiscal Council, which 

shall be comprised of three to five members, and the same 

number of alternates, with the powers and authority granted 

by Brazilian Corporate Law* and operating on a non -

permanent basis. The Fiscal Council shall only be instated by 

ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯ Ü×ÖÕɯ ÙÌØÜÌÚÛɯ Éàɯ ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯ

representing the percentage required by law or CVM 

regulations. 

 

Paragraph 1. Fiscal Council members shall be elected by the 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÞÏÐÊÏɯÈ××ÙÖÝÌÚɯÐÛÚɯcreation. Their 

term of office shall expire at the time of the Annual 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÍÖÓÓÖÞÐÕÎɯÛÏÌÐÙɯÌÓÌÊÛÐÖÕȭ 

Paragraph 1. Fiscal Council members shall be elected by the 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÞÏÐÊÏɯÈ××ÙÖÝÌÚɯÐÛÚɯÊÙÌÈÛÐÖÕȭɯ3ÏÌÐÙɯ

term of office shall  expire at the time of the Annual 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÍÖÓÓÖÞÐÕÎɯÛÏÌÐÙɯÌÓÌÊÛÐÖÕȭ 

 

Paragraph 2. If the Company is at any time controlled by a 

shareholder or controlling group, as defined in Article 116 of 

Brazilian Corporate Law*, Fiscal Council member el ections 

shall be subject to paragraph 4, Article 161, of Brazilian 

Corporate Law*.  

Paragraph 2. If the Company is at any time controlled by a 

shareholder or controlling group, as defined in Article 116 of 

Brazilian Corporate Law*, Fiscal Council member elections 

shall be subject to paragraph 4, Article 161, of Brazilian 

Corporate Law*.  

 

Paragraph 3. After the Fiscal Council is instated, instatement 

in office shall be registered in a specific book, signed by the 

member of the Fiscal Council taking office, and by previous 

execution of the Fiscal Council Member Statement of 

Consent according to the terms of the Novo Mercado Listing 

Regulations. 

Paragraph 3. After the Fiscal Council is instated, instatement 

in office shall be registered in a specific book, signed by the 

member of the Fiscal Council taking office, and by previous 

execution of the Fiscal Council Member Statement of 

Consent according to the terms of the Novo Mercado Listing 

Regulations. 

 

Paragraph 4. Members of the Fiscal Council shall be replaced 

by their respective alternates, when absent they are or 

prevented from exercising the position. If a seat on the Fiscal 

Council falls vacant, the respective alternate shall take up the 

Paragraph 4. Members of the Fiscal Council shall be replaced 

by their respective alternates, when absent they are or 

prevented from exercising the position. If a seat on the Fiscal 

Council falls  vacant, the respective alternate shall take up the 
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×ÖÚÐÛÐÖÕȭɯ(ÍɯÕÖɯÈÓÛÌÙÕÈÛÌɯÐÚɯÈÝÈÐÓÈÉÓÌȮɯÈɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ

shall be convened to elect a member to conclude the term of 

office. 

×ÖÚÐÛÐÖÕȭɯ(ÍɯÕÖɯÈÓÛÌÙÕÈÛÌɯÐÚɯÈÝÈÐÓÈÉÓÌȮɯÈɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ

shall be convened to elect a member to conclude the term of 

office. 

Paragraph 5. Members of the Fiscal Council shall receive 

compensation ÛÖɯ ÉÌɯ ÌÚÛÈÉÓÐÚÏÌËɯ Éàɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting, which, for each active member, shall be now lower 

than 10% of the average amount paid to each Officer, not 

including benefits, representation fees and profit -sharing. 

Paragraph 5. Members of the Fiscal Council shall receive 

ÊÖÔ×ÌÕÚÈÛÐÖÕɯ ÛÖɯ ÉÌɯ ÌÚÛÈÉÓÐÚÏÌËɯ Éàɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting, which, for each active member, shall be now lower 

than 10% of the average amount paid to each Officer, not 

including benefits, representation fees and profit -sharing. 

 

CHAPTER VI  CHAPTER VI  

 

FISCAL YEAR, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 

EARNINGS 

FISCAL YEAR, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 

EARNINGS 
 

Article 53 . The financial year shall coincide with the calendar 

year. The financial statements required by law shall be 

drawn up at the end of each financial year. 

Article 53 . The financial year shall coincide with the calendar 

year. The financial statements required by law shall be 

drawn up at the end of each financial year. 

 

Paragraph 1. Alongside the financial statements for the year, 

the Company management bodies shall present the Annual 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÈɯ×ÙÖ×ÖÚÈÓɯÖÕɯÛÏÌɯÐÕÛÌÕËÌËɯÜÚÌɯÖÍɯÕÌÛɯ

profits, in accordance with the rules of these Bylaws and 

Brazilian Corporate Law*.  

Paragraph 1. Alongside the financial statements for the year, 

the Company management bodies shall present the Annual 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÈɯ×ÙÖ×ÖÚÈÓɯÖÕɯÛÏÌɯÐÕÛÌÕËÌËɯÜÚÌɯÖÍɯÕÌÛɯ

profits, in accordance with the rules of these Bylaws and 

Brazilian Corporate Law*.  

 

Paragraph 2. In addition to the financial statements for the 

year, the Company shall also prepare semi-annual financial 

statements and produce monthly balance sheets. 

Paragraph 2. In addition to the financial statements for the 

year, the Company shall also prepare semi-annual financial 

statements and produce monthly balance sheets. 

 

Article 54 . Any accumulated losses and the income tax 

provision shall be deducted from the annual income prior to 

any profit sharing.  

Article 54 . Any accumulated losses and the income tax 

provision shall be deducted from the annual i ncome prior to 

any profit sharing.  

 

Sole paragraph . After carrying out the deductions referred to Sole paragraph . After carrying out the deductions referred to  
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ÐÕɯ ÛÏÐÚɯ  ÙÛÐÊÓÌȮɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÔÈàɯ ×Èàɯ ÛÏÌɯ

Company management a percentage of up to 10% over the 

remaining earnings, subject to the limits established by 

Brazilian Corporate Law* and these Bylaws. 

ÐÕɯ ÛÏÐÚɯ  ÙÛÐÊÓÌȮɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÔÈàɯ ×Èàɯ ÛÏÌɯ

Company management a percentage of up to 10% over the 

remaining earnings, subject to the limits established by 

Brazilian Corporate Law* and these Bylaws. 

Article 55 . Following the deductions established in the 

preceding Article, 5% of the net profit for the year shall be 

used to establish the Legal Reserve, up to the limit 

established by law.  

Article 55 . Following the deductions established in the 

preceding Article, 5% of the net profit for the year shall be 

used to establish the Legal Reserve, up to the limit 

established by law. 

 

Paragraph 1. After establishing the Legal Reserve, the 

remaining earnings, adjusted for contingency reserves and 

respective write -off, if applicable, shall be allocated in the 

following order: (i) 25%, at least, shall be allocated to 

payment of the mandatory dividend due to shareholders 

(which may be limited  to the amount of realized net profit 

for the fiscal year, unless the difference is recorded as 

realizable profit reserve); and (ii) except for the provision of 

the paragraph 3 of this Article, the total amount of remaining 

net profits shall be used to establish the statutory reserve, 

which can be used for investments and assuring necessary 

funds and safeguard mechanisms  for the proper 

ËÌÝÌÓÖ×ÔÌÕÛɯ ÖÍɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɯ ÈÕËɯ ÐÛÚɯ ÊÖÕÛÙÖÓÓÌËɯ ÌÕÛÐÛÐÌÚɀɯ

activities, guaranteeing full settlement of the transactions to 

be carried out and/or registered on any of its trading, 

registration, clearing and settlement systems and 

environment and custody services. 

Paragraph 1. After establishing the Legal Reserve, the 

remaining earnings, adjusted for contingency reserves and 

respective write-off, if applicable, shall be allocated in the 

following order: (i) 25%, at least, shall be allocated to 

payment of the mandatory dividend due to shareholders 

(which may be limited to the amount of realized net profit 

for the fiscal year, unless the difference is recorded as 

realizable profit reserve); and (ii) except for the provision of 

the paragraph 3 of this Article, the total amount of remaining 

net profits shall be used to establish the statutory reserve, 

which can be used for investments and assuring necessary 

funds and safeguard mechanisms  for the proper 

ËÌÝÌÓÖ×ÔÌÕÛɯ ÖÍɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɯ ÈÕËɯ ÐÛÚɯ ÊÖÕÛÙÖÓÓÌËɯ ÌÕÛÐÛÐÌÚɀɯ

activities, guaranteeing full settlement of the transactions to 

be carried out and/or registered on any of its trading, 

registration, clearing and settlement systems and 

environment and custody services. 

 

Paragraph 2. The total amount to be allocated to form the 

reserve set forth in (ii) of the preceding paragraph shall not 

exceed the capital. 

Paragraph 2. The total amount to be allocated to form the 

reserve set forth in (ii) of the preceding paragraph shall not 

exceed the capital. 

 

Paragraph 3. If the Board of Directors deems that the 

1ÌÚÌÙÝÌɀÚɯÈÔÖÜÕÛɯËÌÍÐÕÌËɯÐÕɯ×ÈÙÈÎÙÈ×ÏɯƕɯÖÍɯÛÏÐÚɯ ÙÛÐÊÓÌɯÐÚɯ

sufficient to meet its objectives, it may: (i) propose that the 

Paragraph 3. If the Board of Directors deems that the 

1ÌÚÌÙÝÌɀÚɯÈÔÖÜÕt defined in paragraph 1 of this Article is 

sufficient to meet its objectives, it may: (i) propose that the 
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2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÐÕɯÈɯÎÐÝÌÕɯÍÐÕÈÕÊÐÈÓɯàÌÈÙȮɯÈÓÓÖÊÈÛÌÚɯÈɯ

percentage of net profits lower than the level in item (ii) of 

paragraph 1 of this Article to form such Reserve; and/or (ii) 

propose the distribution of part of the that Reserve funds to 

ÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚȭ 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÐÕɯÈɯÎÐÝÌÕɯÍÐÕÈÕÊÐÈÓɯàÌÈÙȮɯÈÓÓÖÊÈÛÌÚɯÈɯ

percentage of net profits lower than the level in item (ii) of 

paragraph 1 of this Art icle to form such Reserve; and/or (ii) 

propose the distribution of part of the that Reserve funds to 

ÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚȭ 

Paragraph 4. After making the allocations established in 

×ÈÙÈÎÙÈ×ÏɯƕɯÖÍɯÛÏÐÚɯ ÙÛÐÊÓÌȮɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÔÈàɯ

decide to retain a portion of the annual net profits allocated 

in the previously approved capital budget, under Article 196 

of Brazilian Corporate Law*.  

Paragraph 4. After making the allocations established in 

×ÈÙÈÎÙÈ×ÏɯƕɯÖÍɯÛÏÐÚɯ ÙÛÐÊÓÌȮɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎ may 

decide to retain a portion of the annual net profits allocated 

in the previously approved capital budget, under Article 196 

of Brazilian Corporate Law*.  

 

Paragraph 5. The dividend established in item (i) of 

paragraph 1 of this Article may be suspended in any year in 

which the Board of Directors advises the Annual 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÛÏÈÛɯ ÛÏÌɯ ËÐÚÛÙÐÉÜÛÐÖÕɯ ÞÖÜÓËɯ ÉÌɯ

ÐÕÈËÝÐÚÈÉÓÌɯÎÐÝÌÕɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÍÐÕÈÕÊÐÈÓɯÊÖÕËÐÛÐÖÕȭɯ(ÕɯÊÈÚÌɯɯ

the Fiscal Council is  active, it shall issue an opinion on the 

matter, and management shall file, within five days after the 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÈɯÙÌÈÚÖÕÌËɯÙÌ×ÖÙÛɯÞÐÛÏɯÛÏÌɯ"5,ɯÛÖɯ

justify the recommendation . 

Paragraph 5. The dividend established in item (i) of 

paragraph 1 of this Article may be suspended in any year in 

which t he Board of Directors advises the Annual 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÛÏÈÛɯ ÛÏÌɯ ËÐÚÛÙÐÉÜÛÐÖÕɯ ÞÖÜÓËɯ ÉÌɯ

ÐÕÈËÝÐÚÈÉÓÌɯÎÐÝÌÕɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÍÐÕÈÕÊÐÈÓɯÊÖÕËÐÛÐÖÕȭɯ(ÕɯÊÈÚÌɯɯ

the Fiscal Council is  active, it shall issue an opinion on the 

matter, and management shall file, w ithin five days after the 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÈɯÙÌÈÚÖÕÌËɯÙÌ×ÖÙÛɯÞÐÛÏɯÛÏÌɯ"5,ɯÛÖɯ

justify the recommendation . 

 

Paragraph 6. The profits that are not distributed under 

paragraph 5 of this Article shall be recorded as a special 

reserve and, if not absorbed by losses in subsequent years, 

they shall be paid out as dividends, as soon as the 

"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÍÐÕÈÕÊÐÈÓɯÊÖÕËÐÛÐÖÕɯÈÓÓÖÞÚȭ 

Paragraph 6. The profits that are not distributed under 

paragraph 5 of this Article shall be recorded as a special 

reserve and, if not absorbed by losses in subsequent years, 

they shall be paid out as dividends, as soon as the 

"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÍÐÕÈÕÊÐÈÓɯÊÖÕËÐÛÐÖÕɯÈÓÓÖÞÚȭ 

 

Article 56 . Upon resolution of the Board of Directors, the 

Company may:  

Article 56 . Upon resolution of the Board of Directors, the 

Company may:  

 

(a) distribute dividends based on profits ascertained in the 

semi-annual balance sheets; 

(a) distribute dividends based on profits ascertained in the 

semi-annual balance sheets; 

 

(b) prepare balance sheets for periods of shorter than six (b) prepare balance sheets for periods of shorter than six  
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months and distribute dividends based on the profits 

ascertained therein, provided that total dividends paid 

in each semi-annual period of the financial year do not 

exceed the capital reserves mentioned in Article 182, 

paragraph 1, of Brazilian Corporate Law*;  

months and distribute dividends based on the profits 

ascertained therein, provided that total dividends paid 

in each semi-annual period of the f inancial year do not 

exceed the capital reserves mentioned in Article 182, 

paragraph 1, of Brazilian Corporate Law*;  

(c) distribute intermediate dividends based on retained 

earnings account or existing profit reserves in the most 

recent annual or semi-annual balance sheets; and 

(c) distribute intermediate dividends based on retained 

earnings account or existing profit reserves in the most 

recent annual or semi-annual balance sheets; and 

 

(d) credit  or pay to the shareholders interest on 

ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ÊÈ×ÐÛÈÓȮɯ ÞÏÐÊÏɯ ÚÏÈÓÓɯ ÉÌɯ ÈÚÊÙÐÉÌËɯ ÛÖɯ ÛÏÌɯ

value of dividends to be distributed by the Company, 

and shall be an integral part thereof for all legal 

purposes. 

(d) credit or pay to the shareholders, by resolution of the 

!ÖÈÙËɯ ÖÍɯ #ÐÙÌÊÛÖÙÚȮɯ ÐÕÛÌÙÌÚÛɯ ÖÕɯ ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ÊÈ×ÐÛÈÓȮɯ

which shall be ascribed to the value of dividends to be 

distributed by the Company, and shall be an integral 

part thereof for all legal purposes.  

 

Article 57 . Shareholders which not receive or claim 

dividends within a period of three years counted from the 

date they were made available for distribution shall lose the 

rights to receive such dividends, which shall revert to the 

Company. 

Article 57 . Shareholders which not receive or claim 

div idends within a period of three years counted from the 

date they were made available for distribution shall lose the 

rights to receive such dividends, which shall revert to the 

Company. 

 

CHAPTER VII  CHAPTER VII  

 

2' 1$'.+#$12ɀɯ(-3$1$23ɯ,.-(3.1(-& 

 

2' 1$'.+#$12ɀɯ(-3$1$23ɯ,.-(3.1(-& 

 
 

Article 58 . Without prejudice to the other provisions of these 

Bylaws, the Company, represented by the Investor Relations 

Officer, shall monitor changes in shareholder ownership 

interest in order to prevent and, as the case may be, report on 

violations of these Bylaws (as per paragraph 1 of this 

 ÙÛÐÊÓÌȺȮɯÈÕËɯ×ÙÌÚÌÕÛɯÔÖÛÐÖÕɯÍÖÙɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯ

Article 58 . Without prejudice to the other provisions of t hese 

Bylaws, the Company, represented by the Investor Relations 

Officer, shall monitor changes in shareholder ownership 

interest in order to prevent and, as the case may be, report on 

violations of these Bylaws (as per paragraph 1 of this 

Article), and preÚÌÕÛɯÔÖÛÐÖÕɯÍÖÙɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯ

 



 

PRACTICAL GUIDE TO THE COMBINED ANNUAL AND EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS MEETINGS TO BE HELD ON 03/27/2012 
 

146 

impose penalty as provided in Article 71 of these Bylaws.  impose penalty as provided in Article 71 of these Bylaws.  

Paragraph 1. If, at any time, the Investor Relations Officer 

identifies a violation of any of the share limit restrictions 

relating to any shareholder or Group of Shareholders limits, 

he or she must, within a maximum period of 30 days, report 

such circumstances on the Company website on the Internet 

and report to: (i) the Chairman of the Board of Directors; (ii) 

the Chief Executive Officer; (iii) the mem bers of the Fiscal 

Council, if instated; (iv) BM&FBOVESPA; and (v) CVM.  

Paragraph 1. If, at any time, the Investor Relations Officer 

identifies a violation of any of the share limit restrictions 

relating to any shareholder or Group of Shareholders limits, 

he or she must, within a maximum period of 30 days, report 

such circumstances on the Company website on the Internet 

and report to: (i) the Chair of the Board of Directors; (ii) the 

Chief Executive Officer; (iii) the members of the Fiscal 

Council, if insta ted; (iv) BM&FBOVESPA; and (v) CVM.  

 

Paragraph 2. The Investor Relations Officer, by his own 

discretion or in fulfillment to a request of a regulatory entity, 

may require that any shareholder or Group of Shareholders 

provides information on ones or the gr ÖÜ×ɯÔÌÔÉÌÙÚɀɯËÐÙÌÊÛɯ

and indirect ownership structure, composition of the group, 

including as the case may be, controlling block or corporate 

group (whether in fact or by law) in which it or each of them 

belongs. 

Paragraph 2. The Investor Relations Officer, by his own 

discretion or in fulfillment to a request of a regulatory entity, 

may require that any shareholder or Group of Shareholders 

×ÙÖÝÐËÌÚɯÐÕÍÖÙÔÈÛÐÖÕɯÖÕɯÖÕÌÚɯÖÙɯÛÏÌɯÎÙÖÜ×ɯÔÌÔÉÌÙÚɀɯËÐÙÌÊÛɯ

and indirect ownership structure, composition of the group, 

including as the case may be, controlling block or corporate 

group (whether in fact or by law) in which it or each of them 

belongs. 

 

CHAPTER VIII  CHAPTER VIII  

 

DISPOSITION OF CONTROL; GOING PRIVATE PROCESS 

(CANCELLATION OF PUBLIC COMPANY 

REGISTRATION); DELISTING FROM NOVO MERCADO ; 

PROTECTION OF WIDESPREAD OWNERSHIP 

DISPOSITION OF CONTROL; GOING PRIVATE PROCESS 

(CANCELLATION OF PUBLIC COMPANY 

REGISTRATION); DELISTING FROM NOVO MERCADO ; 

PROTECTION OF WIDESPREAD OWNERSHIP 

 

Section I - Disposition of Control Section I - Disposition of Control  

Article 59 . Any Disposition of Control, whether carried 

through in a single or series of successive transactions, shall 

be agreed under condition precedent or dissolving condition 

that the Acquirer of Control undertakes to conduct tender 

Ar ticle 59. Any Disposition of Control, whether carried 

through in a single or series of successive transactions, shall 

be agreed under condition precedent or dissolving condition 

that the Acquirer of Control undertakes to conduct tender 
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offer to purchase all shares held by other shareholders, 

subject to the conditions and deadlines established by 

applicable legislation and the Novo Mercado Listing Rules, so 

as to ensure all shareholders are extended equal treatment as 

afforded the Selling Controlling Shareholder.  

offer to purchase all shares held by other shareholders, 

subject to the conditions and deadlines established by 

applicable legislation and the Novo Mercado Listing Rules, so 

as to ensure all shareholders are extended equal treatment as 

afforded the Selling Controlling Shareho lder. 

Article 60 . A tender offer shall likewise be required per 

Article 59: (i) where warrants or other securities or 

instruments convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable 

for shares issued by the Company are sold or transferred in 

any way giving rise to a Disposition of Control; or (ii) where 

control over a Controlling Shareholder of the Company is 

disposed of giving rise to an indirect Disposition of Control, 

in which case the Selling Controlling Shareholder shall give 

notice of the selling price to BM&FBOVESPA, in addition to 

providing documentary evidence justifying the price.  

Article 60 . A tender offer shall likewise be required per 

Article 59: (i) where warrants or other securities or 

instruments convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable 

for shares issued by the Company are sold or transferred in 

any way giving rise to a Disposition of Control; or (ii) where 

control over a Controlling Shareholder of the Company is 

disposed of giving rise to an indirect Disposition of Control, 

in which case the Selling Controlling Shareholder shall give 

notice of the selling price to BM&FBOVESPA, in addition to 

providing documentary evidence justifying the price.  

 

Article 61 . Any person acquiring Control under a private 

transaction entered into with a Con trolling Shareholder 

(regardless of the number of shares thus acquired) shall be 

required to ( i ) carry out a tender offer to purchase all other 

shares, such as provided in Article 59, and (ii ) reimburse any 

sellers of shares in stock market transactions (regardless of 

buying counterparties) carried out in the same trading 

sessions at which the acquirer of control was trading to buy 

shares in the market over the six-month period preceding the 

date of acquisition of Control, which reimbursement shall 

compensate these sellers for the difference between the 

selling market price per share and the tender offer bid price, 

as adjusted for inflation through to the reimbursement date. 

BM&FBOVESPA, as central counterparty clearing to these 

transactions shall be responsible, pursuant to applicable 

regulations, for allocating the aggregate of such differences 

amongst the stock market sellers of the shares in proportion 

Article 61 . Any person acquiring Control under a private 

transaction entered into with a Controlling Shareholder 

(regardless of the number of shares thus acquired) shall be 

required to ( i ) carry out a tender offer to purchase all other 

shares, such as provided in Article 59, and (ii ) reimburse any 

sellers of shares in stock market transactions (regardless of 

buying counterparties) carried out in the same trading 

sessions at which the acquirer of control was trading to buy 

shares in the market over the six-month period preceding the 

date of acquisition of Control, which reimbursement shall 

compensate these sellers for the difference between the 

selling market price per share and the tender offer bid price, 

as adjusted for inflation through to the reimbursement date. 

BM&FBOVESPA, as central counterparty clearing to these 

transactions shall be responsible, pursuant to applicable 

regulations, for allocating the aggregate of such differences 

amongst the stock market sellers of the shares in proportion 
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to the daily net settlement balances of such transactions, as 

registered in its records.  

to the daily net settlement balances of such transactions, as 

registered in its records.  

Article 62 . The Company shall not register any share 

transfers to an Acquirer of Control or subsequent holders of 

Control unt il such time as the latter two shall have signed the 

required Instrument of Adherence to the Novo Mercado 

Listing Rules. 

Article 62 . The Company shall not register any share 

transfers to an Acquirer of Control or subsequent holders of 

Control until such ti me as the latter two shall have signed the 

required Instrument of Adherence to the Novo Mercado 

Listing Rules. 

 

Paragraph 1. The Company shall not register any 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ÎÙÌÌÔÌÕÛɯÎÖÝÌÙÕÐÕÎɯÛÏÌɯÌßÌÙÊÐÚÌɯÖÍɯ"ÖÕÛÙÖÓɯ

until such time as the parties thereto shall have signed the 

Instrument of Adherence to the Novo Mercado Listing Rules 

referred to in the main provision of this Article.  

Paragraph 1. The Company shall not register any 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ÎÙÌÌÔÌÕÛɯÎÖÝÌÙÕÐÕÎɯÛÏÌɯÌßÌÙÊÐÚÌɯÖÍɯ"ÖÕÛÙÖÓɯ

until such time a s the parties thereto shall have signed the 

Instrument of Adherence to the Novo Mercado Listing Rules 

referred to in the main provision of this Article.  

 

Paragraph 2. Within the six -month period following any 

Disposition of Control and the ensuing tender offer 

conducted pursuant to Article 59 above, the Acquirer of 

Control shall, as the case may be,  take appropriate action to 

restore the minimum free float mandated b y the Novo 

Mercado Listing Rules. 

Paragraph 2. Within the six -month period following any 

Disposition of Control and the ensuing tender offer 

conducted pursuant to Article 59 above, the Acquirer of 

Control shall, as the case may be,  take appropriate action to 

restore the minimum free float mandated by the Novo 

Mercado Listing Rules. 

 

Article 63 . In the event the shareholders take action at a 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯÈ××ÙÖÝÌȯɯȹÐȺɯÈɯÎÖÐÕÎɯ×ÙÐÝÈÛÌɯ×ÙÖÊÌÚÚɯ

ÙÌÚÜÓÛÐÕÎɯÐÕɯÊÈÕÊÌÓÓÈÛÐÖÕɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÙÌÎÐÚÛÙÈÛÐÖn as a 

public company, the Company or the Controlling 

Shareholder(s), if any, shall conduct a tender offer to 

purchase all other shares, wherein the bid price shall at least 

equal the Economic Value per share, as determined pursuant 

to a valuation report p repared under paragraphs 1 to 3 of 

this Article, due regard given to other applicable legal and 

regulatory rules; or (ii) a delisting from the Novo Mercado 

listing segment for the shares to trade on another market or 

market segment, or if the shareholders take action to 

implement a corporate restructuring process where the 

Article 63 . In the event the shareholders take action at a 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯÈ××ÙÖÝÌȯɯȹi) a going private process 

ÙÌÚÜÓÛÐÕÎɯÐÕɯÊÈÕÊÌÓÓÈÛÐÖÕɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÙÌÎÐÚÛÙÈÛÐÖÕɯÈÚɯÈɯ

public company, the Company or the Controlling 

Shareholder(s), if any, shall conduct a tender offer to 

purchase all other shares, wherein the bid price shall at least 

equal the Economic Value per share, as determined pursuant 

to a valuation report prepared under paragraphs 1 to 3 of 

this Article, due regard given to other applicable legal and 

regulatory rules; or (ii) a delisting from the Novo Mercado 

listing segment for  the shares to trade on another market or 

market segment, or if the shareholders take action to 

implement a corporate restructuring process where the 
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unlisted surviving company fails to list the shares to trade on 

the Novo Mercado withi n one hundred and twenty (120) days 

after the date of the meeting approving such action, then the 

Controlling Shareholder shall be required to conduct a 

tender offer for all other shares at a bid price at least equal to 

the Economic Value per share, as determined pursuant to a 

valuation report prepared according to paragraphs 1 to 3 of 

this Article, due regard given to other applicable legal and 

regulatory rules.  

unlisted surviving company fails to list the shares to trade on 

the Novo Mercado within one hundred and tw enty (120) days 

after the date of the meeting approving such action, then the 

Controlling Shareholder shall be required to conduct a 

tender offer for all other shares at a bid price at least equal to 

the Economic Value per share, as determined pursuant to a 

valuation report prepared according to paragraphs 1 to 3 of 

this Article, due regard given to other applicable legal and 

regulatory rules.  

Paragraph 1. Any valuation reports prepared according to 

the main provision of this Article shall be prepared by  an 

experienced, independent, specialist valuation firm, which is 

not influenced by the decisions of the Board or Management, 

or of the Company or the Controlling Shareholder(s), if any. 

In addition, any such valuation firm shall meet the 

requirements of paragraph 1 of Article 8 of Brazilian 

Corporate Law* and perform the work subject to the liability 

clause contemplated under paragraph 6 of the 

abovementioned legal provision.  

Paragraph 1. Any valuation reports prepared according to 

the main provision of t his Article shall be prepared by an 

experienced, independent, specialist valuation firm, which is 

not influenced by the decisions of the Board or Management, 

or of the Company or the Controlling Shareholder(s), if any. 

In addition, any such valuation firm shall meet the 

requirements of paragraph 1 of Article 8 of Brazilian 

Corporate Law* and perform the work subject to the liability 

clause contemplated under paragraph 6 of the 

abovementioned legal provision.  

 

Paragraph 2ȭɯ3ÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÏÈÚɯÛÏÌ discretion to 

select the specialized company or institution for the 

determination of the Economic Value of the Company, from 

a list of the three names presented by the Board of Directors. 

This resolution shall be approved by a majority of 

shareholders preÚÌÕÛɯ ÈÛɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯ

ËÐÚÙÌÎÈÙËÐÕÎɯÉÓÈÕÒɯÝÖÛÌÚȭɯ3ÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÚÏÈÓÓɯ

require the presence of at least 20% of all Outstanding Shares 

if instated on the first call, or any number of shareholders 

representing Outstanding Shares if instated on the second 

call. 

Paragraph 2ȭɯ3ÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÏÈÚɯÛÏÌɯËÐÚÊÙÌÛÐÖÕɯÛÖɯ

select the specialized company or institution for the 

determination of the Economic Value of the Company, from 

a list of the three names presented by the Board of Directors. 

This resolution shall be approved by a majority of 

ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯ ×ÙÌÚÌÕÛɯ ÈÛɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯ

ËÐÚÙÌÎÈÙËÐÕÎɯÉÓÈÕÒɯÝÖÛÌÚȭɯ3ÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÚÏÈÓÓɯ

require the presence of at least 20% of all Outstanding Shares 

if instated on the fir st call, or any number of shareholders 

representing Outstanding Shares if instated on the second 

call. 

 

Paragraph 3. The costs of the valuation report shall be borne Paragraph 3. The costs of the valuation report shall be borne  
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in full by the offeror.  in full by the offeror.  

Article 64 . Absent a clear Controlling Shareholder, if 

ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯÊÖÕÝÌÕÐÕÎɯÐÕɯÈɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÈ××ÙÖÝÌɯ

action consisting of: (i) a going private process for 

ÊÈÕÊÌÓÓÈÛÐÖÕɯ ÖÍɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ ÙÌÎÐÚÛÙÈÛÐÖÕɯ ÈÚɯ Èɯ ×ÜÉÓÐÊɯ

company, the Company shall conduct a tender offer to 

repurchase its own shares, in which case it shall only 

complete the transaction with holders that voted to approve 

the action after having completed the transaction with 

holders that voted against the action; whereas if the 

shareholders approve (ii) a delisting from the Novo Mercado 

segment in order for the shares to trade on another market or 

market segment, or approve action to implement a corporate 

restructuring process, where, however, the unlisted 

surviving com pany fails to list the shares to trade on the 

Novo Mercado within the assigned deadline, such as provided 

in item (ii) of the main provision of Article 63 above, then 

any such action shall be contingent on a tender offer being 

conducted under the same terms and conditions established 

in Article 63 above. 

Article 64 . Absent a clear Controlling Shareholder, if 

ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯÊÖÕÝÌÕÐÕÎɯÐÕɯÈɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÈ××ÙÖÝÌɯ

action consisting of: (i) a going private process for 

ÊÈÕÊÌÓÓÈÛÐÖÕɯ ÖÍɯ ÛÏÌɯ "ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ ÙÌÎÐÚÛÙÈÛion as a public 

company, the Company shall conduct a tender offer to 

repurchase its own shares, in which case it shall only 

complete the transaction with holders that voted to approve 

the action after having completed the transaction with 

holders that voted against the action; whereas if the 

shareholders approve (ii)  a delisting from the Novo Mercado 

listing segment in order for the shares to trade on another 

market or market segment, or approve action to implement a 

corporate restructuring process, where, however, the 

unlisted surviving company fails to list the shares to trade on 

the Novo Mercado within the assigned deadline , such as 

provided in item (ii) of the main provision of Article 63 

above, then any such action shall be contingent on a tender 

offer being conducted under the same terms and conditions 

established in Article 63 above. 

Text deleted because article 4 of 

Brazilian Corporate Law and article 16 

of CVM Instruction No. 361/02 provide 

that a going private process requires a 

tender offer to be carried out for 

purchase of all outstanding shares of the 

Company, such that it is not appropriate 

to establish a different treatment for 

shareholders voting for or against the 

action.  

Paragraph 1. 3ÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÐÕɯÈÕàɯÌÝÌÕÛɯ

name the shareholder or shareholders in attendance of the 

meeting that shall be responsible for conducting the tender 

offer, which app ointed party or parties shall be required to 

commit expressly to carrying out the tender offer.  

Paragraph 1. 3ÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÐÕɯÈÕàɯÌÝÌÕÛɯ

name the shareholder or shareholders in attendance of the 

meeting that shall be responsible for conducting the tender 

offer, which appointed party or parties shall be required to 

commit expressly to carrying out the tender offer.  

 

Paragraph 2.  6ÏÌÙÌɯÛÏÌɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÔÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÈ××ÙÖÝÌÚɯÈɯ

corporate restructuring process but fails to appoint the 

shareholder(s) responsible for conducting a tender offer if the 

unlisted surviving company fails to arrange the listing on the 

Novo Mercado segment, then the obligation to conduct a 

tender offer shall lie with all the shareholders that voted for 

Paragraph 2.  6ÏÌÙÌɯÛÏÌɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÔÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÈ××ÙÖÝÌÚɯÈɯ

corporate restructuring process but fails to appoint the 

shareholder(s) responsible for conducting a tender offer if the 

unlisted surviving company fails to arrange the listing on the 

Novo Mercado segment, then the obligation to conduct a 

tender offer shall lie with all the shareholders that voted for 
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the corporate restructuring process.  the corporate restructuring process.  

Article 65.  A delisting from the Novo Mercado segment 

triggered by noncompliance with the Listing Rules, shall 

require a tender offer to be conducted for all shares at a bid 

price at least equivalent to the Economic Value per share, as 

determined pursuant to a valuation report prepared 

according to Article 63 and paragraphs of these Bylaws and 

other applicable legal and regulatory rules.  

Article 65.  A delisting from the Novo Mercado segment 

triggered by noncompliance with the Listing Rules,  shall 

require a tender offer to be conducted for all shares at a bid 

price at least equivalent to the Economic Value per share, as 

determined pursuant to a valuation report prepared 

according to Article 63 and paragraphs of these Bylaws and 

other applicable legal and regulatory rules.  

 

Paragraph 1. In the event contemplated in the main 

provision of this Article, the Controlling Shareholder (if any) 

shall bear the responsibility for conducting the tender offer.  

Paragraph 1. In the event contemplated in th e main 

provision of this Article, the Controlling Shareholder (if any) 

shall bear the responsibility for conducting the tender offer.  

 

Paragraph 2. Where the event of noncompliance with the 

Novo Mercado Listing Rules is triggered by action taken at a 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÈÉÚÌÕÛɯÈɯControlling Shareholder to 

conduct the tender offer, the obligation shall lie with the 

shareholders that voted for the motion  leading to 

noncompliance with the Listing Rules.  

Paragraph 2. Where the event of noncompliance with the 

Novo Mercado Listing Rules is triggered by action taken at a 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎȮɯÈÉÚÌÕÛɯÈɯControlling Shareholder to 

conduct the tender offer, the obligation shall lie with the 

shareholders that voted for the motion  leading to 

noncompliance with the Listing Rules.  

 

Paragraph 3. Where the event of noncompliance with Novo 

Mercado Listing Rules (set forth in the main provision) is 

ÛÙÐÎÎÌÙÌËɯÉàɯÈÊÛÐÖÕɯÛÈÒÌÕɯÉàɯ,ÈÕÈÎÌÔÌÕÛȮɯÐȭÌȭȮɯÈÕɯɁÈÊÛɯÖÙɯÍÈÊÛɯ

ÖÍɯ,ÈÕÈÎÌÔÌÕÛȮɂɯÛÏÌÕɯÛÏÌɯ#ÐÙÌÊÛÖÙÚɯÈÕËɯ.ÍÍÐÊÌÙÚɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÉÌɯ

ÙÌØÜÐÙÌËɯ×ÙÖÔ×ÛÓàɯÛÖɯÊÈÓÓɯÈɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯȹ×ÜÙÚÜÈÕÛɯ

to Article 123 of Brazil ian Corporate Law*) for the 

shareholders to resolve on action required to be taken to 

remedy the event of noncompliance with the Listing Rules 

or, otherwise, decide for a delisting from the Novo Mercado.. 

Paragraph 3. Where the event of noncompliance with Novo 

Mercado Listing Rules (set forth in the main provision) is 

ÛÙÐÎÎÌÙÌËɯÉàɯÈÊÛÐÖÕɯÛÈÒÌÕɯÉàɯ,ÈÕÈÎÌÔÌÕÛȮɯÐȭÌȭȮɯÈÕɯɁÈÊÛɯÖÙɯÍÈÊÛɯ

ÖÍɯ,ÈÕÈÎÌÔÌÕÛȮɂɯÛÏÌÕɯÛÏÌɯ#ÐÙÌÊÛÖÙÚɯÈÕËɯ.ÍÍÐÊÌÙÚɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÉÌɯ

ÙÌØÜÐÙÌËɯ×ÙÖÔ×ÛÓàɯÛÖɯÊÈÓÓɯÈɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯȹ×ÜÙÚÜÈÕÛɯ

to Article 1 23 of Brazilian Corporate Law*) for the 

shareholders to resolve on action required to be taken to 

remedy the event of noncompliance with the Listing Rules 

or, otherwise, decide for a delisting from the Novo Mercado.. 

 

Paragraph 4. 6ÏÌÙÌɯÈɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,Ìeting called pursuant 

to paragraph 3 above decides for delisting from the Novo 

Mercado segment, it shall also be required to name one or 

more attending shareholders to conduct the tender offer, and 

Paragraph 4. 6ÏÌÙÌɯÈɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÊÈÓÓÌËɯ×ÜÙÚÜÈÕÛɯ

to paragraph 3 above decides for delisting from the Novo 

Mercado segment, it shall also be required to name one or 

more attending shareholders to conduct the tender offer, and 
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the latter shall be required to commit expressly to carrying 

out the tender offer.  

the latter shall be required to commit expressly to carrying 

out the tender offer.  

Article 66 . Registration of a single tender offer to acquire 

shares is permitted for more than one of the purposes 

established in this CHAPTER, in the Novo Mercado Listing 

Regulations, in Brazilian Corporate Law* or in CVM 

regulations, so long as all tender offer methods can be made 

used, provided there are no losses to the tender offers 

addressees and the CVM authorization has been granted. 

Article 66 . Registration of a single tender offer to acquire 

shares is permitted for more than one of the purposes 

established in this CHAPTER, in the Novo Mercado Listing 

Regulations, in Brazilian Corporate Law* or in CVM 

regulations, so long as all tender offer methods can be made 

used, provided there are no losses to the tender offers 

addressees and the CVM authorization has been granted. 

 

Article 67 . The Company, any third -party or the 

shareholders may undertake the tender offer determined in 

these bylaws, the Novo Mercado Listing Regulations, Brazilian 

corporate law and CVM regulations. The Company or the 

shareholder, as applicable, shall not be exempt from the duty 

to undertake the tender offer until it has been conclud ed, as 

provided for in the applicable rules.  

Article 67 . Where these bylaws, the Novo Mercado Listing 

Regulation, Brazilian Corporate Law or the CVM regulations 

require a tender offer to be carried out by the Company or 

one or some of the shareholders, the settlement of the tender 

offer may be discharged through any willing shareholder or 

third party. The Company, any third -party or the 

shareholders may undertake the tender offer determined in 

these bylaws, the Novo Mercado Listing Regulations, Brazilian 

corporate law and CVM regulations.  However, Tthe 

Company or the shareholder(s), as applicable, shall not be 

exempt from the duty to undertake the tender offer until it 

has been concluded, as provided for in the applicable rules. 

Amended to make it clear that the 

parties charged with conducting a 

tender offer (as prescribed by applicable 

regulations and the Novo Mercado 

Listing Regulation) may arrange for a 

third  party - but not the Company -  to 

settle the offer. The Company will 

conduct a tender offer only when legally 

required to do so.  

 

Section II - Protection of Widespread Ownership Section II - Protection of Widespread Ownership  

Article 68 . Any shareholder or Group of Shareholders 

ȹɁ ÊØÜÐÙÐÕÎɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙɂȺɯÐÕÛÌÕËÐÕÎɯÛÖɯÈÊØÜÐÙÌȯɯȹÈȺɯËÐÙÌÊÛɯÖÙɯ

indirect ownership interest in 15% or more of the shares then 

issued and outstanding; or (b) other shareholder rights 

(including rights as usufruct hol der) giving the holder a 15% 

voting interest in the shares then issued and outstanding, 

shall be required to obtain prior consent from the CVM in the 

manner established under the CVM rules, while giving due 

Article 68 . Any shareholder or Group of Shareholders 

ȹɁ ÊØÜÐÙÐÕÎɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙɂȺɯÐÕÛÌÕËÐÕÎɯÛÖɯÈÊØÜÐÙÌȯɯȹÈȺɯËÐÙÌÊÛɯÖÙɯ

indirect ownership interest in 15% or more of the shares then 

issued and outstanding; or (b) other shareholder rights 

(including rights as usufruct holder) giving the holder a 15% 

voting interest in the shares then issued and outstanding, 

shall be required to obtain prior consent from the CVM in the 

manner established under the CVM rules, while giving due 
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regard to the Novo Mercado Listing Rules, other 

BM&FBOVESPA rules and the provisions under this 

Chapter. 

regard to the Novo Mercado Listing Rules, other 

BM&FBOVESPA rules and the provisions under this 

Chapter. 

Sole paragraph . Upon delivering the application to the 

CVM, the Acquiring Shareholder shall on the same date 

forward a copy to the Investor Relations Officer. Pursuant to 

CVM Instruction No. 358/2002, the Investor Relations Officer 

shall thereafter promptly release notice to the market 

disclosing the application.  

Sole paragraph . Upon delivering the application to the 

CVM, the Acquirin g Shareholder shall on the same date 

forward a copy to the Investor Relations Officer. Pursuant to 

CVM Instruction No. 358/2002, the Investor Relations Officer 

shall thereafter promptly release notice to the market 

disclosing the application.  

 

Article 69 . Where an Acquiring Shareholder ( a) accumulates 

direct or indirect ownership interest in 30% or more of the 

shares then issued and outstanding; or (b) purchases other 

shareholder rights (including rights as usufruct holder) 

giving the holder a 30% voting interest in the shares then 

issued and outstanding, such Acquiring Shareholder shall be 

required, within 30 days after obtaining authorization from 

the CVM, to initiate or register a tender offer for all other 

shares, whereas having due regard for the provisions of 

Brazilian Corporate Law*, the CVM rules, the Listing Rules 

and other stock market regulations, and the rules prescribed 

in these Bylaws.  

Ar ticle 69. Where an Acquiring Shareholder (a) accumulates 

direct or indirect ownership interest in 30% or more of the 

shares then issued and outstanding; or (b) purchases other 

shareholder rights (including rights as usufruct holder) 

giving the holder a 30% voting interest in the shares then 

issued and outstanding, such Acquiring Shareholder shall be 

required, within 30 days after obtaining authorization from 

the CVM, to initiate or register a tender offer for all other 

shares, whereas having due regard for the provisions of 

Brazilian Corporate Law*, the CVM rules, the Listing Rules 

and other stock market regulations, and the rules prescribed 

in these Bylaws.  

 

Sole paragraph . The Acquiring Shareholder shall respond to 

any CVM demands and requests within the  deadlines 

established under applicable regulations. 

Sole paragraph . The Acquiring Shareholder shall respond to 

any CVM demands and requests within the deadlines 

established under applicable regulations. 

 

Article 70 . The bid price per share in a tender ofÍÌÙɯȹɁ!ÐËɯ

/ÙÐÊÌɂȺɯÛÙÐÎÎÌÙÌËɯÉàɯÈÊÊÜÔÜÓÈÛÐÖÕɯÖÍɯƗƔǔɯÖÙɯÔÖÙÌɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ

shares material interest shall at least equal the highest market 

price per share paid by the Acquiring Shareholder in the six -

month period preceding the date on which the material 

interest threshold set under Article 69 was attained, as 

adjusted for corporate actions, such as distributions of 

Article 70ȭɯ3ÏÌɯÉÐËɯ×ÙÐÊÌɯ×ÌÙɯÚÏÈÙÌɯÐÕɯÈɯÛÌÕËÌÙɯÖÍÍÌÙɯȹɁ!ÐËɯ

/ÙÐÊÌɂȺɯÛÙÐÎÎÌÙÌËɯÉàɯÈÊÊÜÔÜÓÈÛÐÖÕɯÖÍɯƗƔǔɯÖÙɯÔÖÙÌɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ

shares material interest shall at least equal the highest market 

price per share paid by the Acquiring Shareholder in the six -

month  period preceding the date on which the material 

interest threshold set under Article 69 was attained, as 

adjusted for corporate actions, such as distributions of 
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ËÐÝÐËÌÕËÚɯÖÙɯÐÕÛÌÙÌÚÛɯÖÕɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÌØÜÐÛàȮɯÚÛÖÊÒɯÚ×ÓÐÛÚȮɯ

reverse splits and bonus shares, but not for actions related to 

corporate restructuring pro cesses.  

ËÐÝÐËÌÕËÚɯÖÙɯÐÕÛÌÙÌÚÛɯÖÕɯÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯÌØÜÐÛàȮɯÚÛÖÊÒɯÚ×ÓÐÛÚȮɯ

reverse splits and bonus shares, but not for actions related to 

corporate restructuring processes.  

Paragraph 1. The tender offer shall meet the requirements set 

forth below, and any other requirements contemplated under 

CVM Instruction No. 361/02, as amended or substituted from 

time to time. 

Paragraph 1. The tender offer shall meet the requirements set 

forth below, and any other requirements contemplated under 

CVM Instruction No. 361/02, as amended or substituted from 

time to time.  

 

(a) it shall be open to all shareholders; (a) it shall be open to all shareholders;  

(b) it shall be carried out in an auction held at the premises 

of the stock exchange operated by BM&FBOVESPA; 

(b) it shall be carried out in an auction held at the premises 

of the stock exchange operated by BM&FBOVESPA; 

 

(c) it shall extend fair and equitable treatment to all 

shareholders, provide adequate information regarding 

the Company and the bidder, and every other element 

required for shareholders to make an independent and 

informed decision on whether to tender their shares; 

(c) it shall extend fair and equitable treatment to all 

shareholders, provide adequate information regarding 

the Company and the bidder, and every other element 

required for shareholders to make an independent and 

informed decision on whether  to tender their shares; 

 

(d) it shall be irrevocable and irreversible upon publication 

of the tender offer announcement, per CVM Instruction 

No. 361/02; 

(d) it shall be irrevocable and irreversible upon publication 

of the tender offer announcement, per CVM Instruction 

No. 361/02; 

 

(e) it shall offer a bid price set in accordance with the main 

provision of this Article for settlement in cash, in 

Brazilian currency; and  

(e) it shall offer a bid price set in accordance with the main 

provision of this Articl e for settlement in cash, in 

Brazilian currency; and  

 

(f) it shall attach a report of the valuation of the Company, 

which shall have been prepared according to the main 

provision of this Article.  

(f) it shall attach a report of the valuation of the Company, 

which shall have been prepared according to the main 

provision of this Article.  

 

Paragraph 2. The tender offer requirement set forth in the 

main provision of Article 69 shall not preclude other 

shareholders, or even the Company, if it is the case, from 

Paragraph 2. The tender offer requirement set forth in the 

main provision of Article 69 shall not preclude other 

shareholders, or even the Company, if it is the case, from 
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conducting their own concurrent tender offers, as permitted 

by applicable regulations.  

conducting their own concurrent tender offers, as permitted 

by applicable regulations.  

Paragraph 3. Meeting the requirements set forth under 

Article 254-A of Brazilian Corporate Law* and Article 59 of 

these Bylaws shall not exempt the Acquiring Shareholder 

from fulfilling the requirements set forth in this Article . 

Paragraph 3. Meeting the requirements set forth under 

Article 254-A of Brazilian Corporate Law* and Article 59 of 

these Bylaws shall not exempt the Acquiring Shareholder 

from fulfilling the requirements set forth in this Article . 

 

Paragraph 4. The tender offer requirement established in 

Article 69 shall not apply in the event a person becomes the 

holder of a material interest in 30% or more of the issued and 

outstanding shares as a result of any of the following:  

Paragraph 4. The tender offer requirement established in 

Article 69 shall not apply in the event a person becomes the 

holder of a material interest in 30% or more of the issued and 

outstanding shares as a result of any of the following:  

 

(a) Subscription for shares in a single primary offering of 

shares issued pursuant to a decision taken at a 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÊÈÓÓÌËɯÉàɯÛÏÌɯ!ÖÈÙËɯÖÍɯ#ÐÙÌÊÛÖÙÚȮɯ

where the issue price is determined on the basis of the 

Economic Value determined pursuant to a valuation 

report prepared by a specialist firm according to the 

requirements in the paragraphs of Article 63; or  

(a) Subscription for shares in a single primary offering of 

shares issued pursuant to a decision taken at a 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÊÈÓÓÌËɯÉàɯÛÏe Board of Directors, 

where the issue price is determined on the basis of the 

Economic Value determined pursuant to a valuation 

report prepared by a specialist firm according to the 

requirements in the paragraphs of Article 63; or  

 

(b) A tender offer conducted for the acquisition of the totality 

ÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÏÈÙÌÚȭ 

(b) A tender offer conducted for the acquisition of the totality 

ÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯÚÏÈÙÌÚȭ 

 

Paragraph 5. Following the published announcement of any 

tender offer (or exchange offer) made in response to the 

provisions of these Bylaws, including as to Bid Price, or in 

accordance with applicable regulations, for settlement in 

cash or in exchange for shares of another public company, 

the Board of Directors shall within 10 days consider the 

tender or exchange offer based on the following guidelines: 

Paragraph 5. Following the published announcement of any 

tender offer (or exchange offer) made in response to the 

provisions of these Bylaws, including as to Bid Price, or in 

accordance with applicable regulations, for settlement in 

cash or in exchange for shares of another public company, 

the Board of Directors shall within 10 days consider the 

tender or exchange offer based on the following guidelines : 

 

(a) the Board of Directors may retain a specialist firm that 

meets the requirements set forth in paragraph 1 of Article 

63, to assess the timing and convenience of the  offer and, 

(a) the Board of Directors may retain a specialist firm that 

meets the requirements set forth in paragraph 1 of Article 

63, to assess the timing and convenience of the  offer and, 
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as the case may be, the liquidity of the shares in the 

exchange offer, and whether the offer suits the interests 

of shareholders and the industry in which the Company 

and its subsidiaries operate;  

as the case may be, the liquidity of the shares in the 

exchange offer, and whether the offer suits the interests 

of shareholders and the industry in which the Company 

and its subsidiaries operate;  

(b) the Board of Directors shall be responsible for releasing a 

reasoned opinion concerning the offer, in accordance 

with item (v) of Article 29 of these Bylaws.  

(b) the Board of Directors shall be responsible for releasing a 

reasoned opinion concerning the offer, in accordance 

with item (v) of Article 29 of these Bylaws.  

 

(c) in the event the Directors, acting on their fiduciary duties, 

take the position that adhering to the offer is in the best 

interest of a majority of the shareholders and the 

domestic capital markets , which is the economic segment 

in which the Company and subsidiaries operate, the 

!ÖÈÙËɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÊÈÓÓɯÈÕɯ$ßÛÙÈÖÙËÐÕÈÙàɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ

to be held within 20 days to consider eliminating the 

voting cap established in Article 7, provided howev er 

this shall be contingent on the bidder (and, for purposes 

of these Bylaws, Acquiring Shareholder) completing the 

offer and becoming the owner and holder of a minimum 

of two -thirds (2/3) of the issued and outstanding shares, 

not including treasury stock.   

(c) in the event the Directors, acting on their fiduciary duties, 

take the position that adhering to the offer is in the best 

interest of a majority of the shareholders and the 

domestic capital markets, which is the economic segment 

in which the Company and subsidiaries operate, the 

!ÖÈÙËɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÊÈÓÓɯÈÕɯ$ßÛÙÈÖÙËÐÕÈÙàɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ

to be held within 20 days to consider eliminating the 

voting cap established in Article 7, provided however 

this shall be contingent on the bidder (and, for purposes 

of these Bylaws, Acquiring Shareholder) completing the 

offer and becoming the owner and holder of a minimum 

of two -thirds (2/3) of the issued and outstanding shares, 

not including treasury stock.  

 

(d) as an exception, the voting cap established in Article 7 

shall not prevail for the decision to be taken at the 

$ßÛÙÈÖÙËÐÕÈÙàɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÊÖÕÛÌÔ×ÓÈÛÌËɯ ÐÕɯ

item (c) above, but solely it the meeting shall have been 

called on the initiative of the Board of Directors;  

(d) as an exception, the voting cap established in Article 7 

shall not prevail for the decision to be taken at the 

$ßÛÙÈÖÙËÐÕÈÙàɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÊÖÕÛÌÔ×ÓÈÛÌËɯ ÐÕɯ

item (c) above, but solely it the meeting shall have been 

called on the initiative of the Board of Directors;  

 

(e) the offer shall be made on an irrevocable and irreversible 

basis. Where the offer is carried out on a voluntary basis, 

it may be subject to minimum tender condition requiring 

shareholders tendering at least an aggregate of 2/3 of the 

outstanding shares, as provided in item (c) above in this 

paragraph 5, and condition also that the shareholders 

(e) the offer shall be made on an irrevocable and irreversible 

basis. Where the offer is carried out on a voluntary basis, 

it may be subject to minimum tender condition requiring 

shareholders tendering at least an aggregate of 2/3 of the 

outstanding shares, as provided in item (c) above in this 

paragraph 5, and condition also that the shareholders 
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shall have approved the elimination of the voting cap 

established in Article 7 of these Bylaws. 

shall have approved the elimination of the voting cap 

established in Article 7 of these Bylaws. 

Paragraph 6. Without prejudice to the provision of 

paragraph 3 above, the calculation of a 30% interest in the 

issued and outstanding shares of the Company (as provided 

in the main provision of Article 69) shall not include 

involuntary increments resulting from cancellation of 

treasury shares, or share redemption or a reduction in the 

capital stock amount resulting in cancellation of a 

proportionate number of shares.  

Paragraph 6. Without prejudice to the provision of 

paragraph 3 above, the calculation of a 30% interest in the 

issued and outstanding shares of the Company (as provided 

in the main provision of Article 69) shall not include 

involuntary increments resulting from cancellation of 

treasury shares, or share redemption or a reduction in the 

capital stock amount resulting in cancellation of a 

proportionate number of shares.  

 

Article 71 . If the Acquiring Shareholder fails to comply with 

the obligations foreseen in this Chapter, including 

compliance with the deadlines for (i) initiating or applying to 

register a tender offer; or (ii) responding to CVM demands or 

requests, the Board of Directors shall call an Extraordinary 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯÊÖÕÚÐËÌÙɯÚÜÚ×ÌÕËÐÕÎɯÛÏÌɯÙÐÎÏÛÚɯÖÍɯ

the Acquiring Shareholders, pursuant to Article 120 of 

Brazilian Corporate Law*, at which meeting the Acquiring 

Shareholder shall not be entitled to vote.  

Articl e 71. If the Acquiring Shareholder fails to comply with 

the obligations foreseen in this Chapter, including 

compliance with the deadlines for (i) initiating or applying to 

register a tender offer; or (ii) responding to CVM demands or 

requests, the Board of Directors shall call an Extraordinary 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯÛÖɯÊÖÕÚÐËÌÙɯÚÜÚ×ÌÕËÐÕÎɯÛÏÌɯÙÐÎÏÛÚɯÖÍɯ

the Acquiring Shareholders, pursuant to Article 120 of 

Brazilian Corporate Law*, at which meeting the Acquiring 

Shareholder shall not be entitled to vote.  

 

Article 72 . Where a tender offer required under the 

provisions of these Bylaws is materially detrimental to the 

rights of shareholders, the Novo Mercado Listing Rules shall 

prevail over the provisions of these Bylaws.  

Article 72 . Where a tender offer required under the 

provisions of these Bylaws is materially detrimental to the 

rights of shareholders, the Novo Mercado Listing Rules shall 

prevail over the provisions of these Bylaws.  

 

CHAPTER IX CHAPTER IX 

 

DEFINITIONS  DEFINITIONS   

Article 73 . For the purposes of these Bylaws, the capitalized 

terms below shall have the following meanings:  

Article 73 . For the purposes of these Bylaws, the capitalized 

terms below shall have the following meanings:  
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(a) Ɂ ÊØÜÐÙÐÕÎɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙɂɯÔÌÈÕÚɯÈÕàɯ×ÌÙÚÖÕɯȹÐÕÊÓÜËÐÕÎȮ 

for example, any natural or legal person, mutual or 

investment fund, open or closed- end condominium, 

securities portfolio, universality of rights or other form 

of organization, resident, domiciled or based in Brazil or 

elsewhere), including a Group of Shareholders, or group 

of persons bound under a voting agreement with the 

Acquiring Shareholder, and/or sharing similar interests 

with the Acquiring Shareholder, where any such person 

subscribes for, or acquires shares issued by the 

Company. Examples of persons sharing similar interests 

with the Acquiring Shareholder include any person (i) 

controlled or managed by an Acquiring Shareholder; (ii) 

controlling and managing the Acquiring Shareholder in 

any way; (iii) controlled or managed by any person that 

direct ly or indirectly controls or manages the Acquiring 

Shareholder; (iv) in which the controlling shareholder of 

the Acquiring Shareholder directly or indirectly holds 

ownership interest in at least 30% of the outstanding 

shares; (v) in which the Acquiring Shareholder has a 

direct or indirect interest in at least 30% of the 

outstanding shares; or (vi) which directly or indirectly 

holds an interest in at least 30% of the outstanding 

shares of the Acquiring Shareholder; 

(a) Ɂ ÊØÜÐÙÐÕÎɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙɂɯÔÌÈÕÚɯÈÕàɯ×ÌÙÚÖn (including, 

for example, any natural or legal person, mutual or 

investment fund, open or closed- end condominium, 

securities portfolio, universality of rights or other form 

of organization, resident, domiciled or based in Brazil or 

elsewhere), including a Group of Shareholders, or group 

of persons bound under a voting agreement with the 

Acquiring Shareholder, and/or sharing similar interests 

with the Acquiring Shareholder, where any such person 

subscribes for, or acquires shares issued by the 

Company. Examples of persons sharing similar interests 

with the Acquiring Shareholder include any person (i) 

controlled or managed by an Acquiring Shareholder; (ii) 

controlling and managing the Acquiring Shareholder in 

any way; (iii) controlled or managed by any perso n that 

directly or indirectly controls or manages the Acquiring 

Shareholder; (iv) in which the controlling shareholder of 

the Acquiring Shareholder directly or indirectly holds 

ownership interest in at least 30% of the outstanding 

shares; (v) in which the Acquiring Shareholder has a 

direct or indirect interest in at least 30% of the 

outstanding shares; or (vi) which directly or indirectly 

holds an interest in at least 30% of the outstanding 

shares of the Acquiring Shareholder; 

 

Eliminated. Eliminated.  

(b) Ɂ&ÙÖÜ×ɯÖÍɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɂɯÔÌÈÕÚɯÈɯÎÙÖÜ×ɯÖÍɯ×ÌÙÚÖÕÚȯɯȹÐȺɯ

bound by oral or written agreement or contract of any 

nature, including Shareholder Agreements, either 

directly or through subsidiaries, controlling companies 

or companies under common control; or ( ii) between 

which there is a control relationship; or (iii) under 

common control; or (iv) representing common interests. 

(b) Ɂ&ÙÖÜ×ɯÖÍɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɂɯÔÌÈÕÚɯÈɯÎÙÖÜ×ɯÖÍɯ×ÌÙÚÖÕÚȯɯȹÐȺɯ

bound by oral or written agreement or contract of any 

nature, including Shareholder Agreements, either 

directly or through subsidiaries, controlling companies 

or companies under common control; or (ii) betw een 

which there is a control relationship; or (iii) under 

common control; or (iv) representing common interests. 
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Examples of persons representing a common interest 

include: (v) the direct or indirect owner of a 

shareholding representing 15% or more of the capital 

stock of another entity; and (vi) two persons with a 

common third -party investor directly or indirectly 

holding shares equivalent to 15% or more of the capital 

stock of each of these two persons. Any joint ventures, 

funds for investment clu bs, foundations, associations, 

trusts, tenancies in common, cooperatives, securities 

portfolios, universality is of rights or any other manner 

of organization or venture, established in Brazil or 

abroad, shall be considered part of a single Group of 

Shareholders, whenever two or more of these entities 

are: (vii) managed or administered by the same legal 

entity or parties related to a single legal entities; or (viii) 

when the majority of their management is common to 

both entities, however for investment fun ds with the 

same manager, only those for which the manager is 

responsible for any decision on votes cast at 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚȮɯ ÈÛɯ ÐÛÚɯ ËÐÚÊÙÌÛÐÖÕȮɯ ÚÏÈÓÓɯ ÉÌɯ

considered members of the Group of Shareholders, 

subject to the respective regulations. 

Examples of persons representing a common interest 

include: (v) the direct or indirect owner of a 

shareholding representing 15% or more of the capital 

stock of another entity; and (vi) two persons with a 

common third -party investor directly or indirectly 

holding shares equivalent to 15% or more of the capital 

stock of each of these two persons. Any joint ventures, 

funds for investment clubs, foun dations, associations, 

trusts, tenancies in common, cooperatives, securities 

portfolios, universality is of rights or any other manner 

of organization or venture, established in Brazil or 

abroad, shall be considered part of a single Group of 

Shareholders, whenever two or more of these entities 

are: (vii) managed or administered by the same legal 

entity or parties related to a single legal entities; or (viii) 

when the majority of their management is common to 

both entities, however for investment funds with the 

same manager, only those for which the manager is 

responsible for any decision on votes cast at 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚȮɯ ÈÛɯ ÐÛÚɯ ËÐÚÊÙÌÛÐÖÕȮɯ ÚÏÈÓÓɯ ÉÌɯ

considered members of the Group of Shareholders, 

subject to the respective regulations. 

(c) ɁIndependent Director ɂɯÔÌÈÕÚɯÈɯ#ÐÙÌÊÛÖÙɯÛÏÈÛɯÔÌÌÛÚɯÛÏÌɯ

independence standards set forth in Paragraphs 6 and 7 

of Article 22 of these Bylaws.  

(c) ɁIndependent Director ɂɯÔÌÈÕÚɯÈɯ#ÐÙÌÊÛÖÙɯÛÏÈÛɯÔÌÌÛÚɯÛÏÌɯ

independence standards set forth in Paragraphs 6 and 7 

of Article 22 of these Bylaws.  

 

(d) ɁInstitutional Investor ɂɯ ÔÌÈÕÚ any investor that (i ) 

ÜÕËÌÙɯ"5,ɯÙÜÓÌÚɯØÜÈÓÐÍàɯÈÚɯȿØÜÈÓÐÍÐÌËɯÉÜàÌÙɀȰɯÈÕËɯȹii ) 

those that are required by law or regulation or the 

bylaws (whether or not exclusively) to invest proprietary 

resources in securities issued by public companies. 

(d) ɁInstitutional Investor ɂɯ ÔÌÈÕÚ any investor that (i ) 

ÜÕËÌÙɯ"5,ɯÙÜÓÌÚɯØÜÈÓÐÍàɯÈÚɯȿØÜÈÓÐÍÐÌËɯÉÜàÌÙɀȰɯÈÕËɯȹii ) 

those that are required by law or regulation or the 

bylaws (whether or not exclusively) to i nvest proprietary 

resources in securities issued by public companies. 

 

Sole paragraph. Capitalized terms used herein which are not 

defined in these Bylaws have the meaning ascribed to them 

Sole paragraph. Capitalized terms used herein which are not 

defined in these Bylaws have the meaning ascribed to them 
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under the Novo Mercado Listing Rules. under the Novo Mercado Listing Rules. 

CHAPTER X CHAPTER X 

 

LIQUIDATION  LIQUIDATION   

Article 74 . The Company shall be dissolved and enter 

liquidation in the events prescribed by law. It shall be 

ÐÕÊÜÔÉÌÕÛɯ ÖÕɯ ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯ ÊÖÕÝÌÕÐÕÎɯ ÐÕɯ Èɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting to establish the liquidation method and elect the 

liquidator or liquidators and the Fiscal Council, if so 

requested by shareholders individually or jointly 

representing proportionate interest in the shares as 

prescribed by law or the CVM rules, including as to 

applicable formalities, and to determine their responsibilities 

and set their compensation. 

Article 74 . The Company shall be dissolved and enter 

liquidation in the events prescribed by law. It shall be 

ÐÕÊÜÔÉÌÕÛɯ ÖÕɯ ÚÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɯ ÊÖÕÝÌÕÐÕÎɯ ÐÕɯ Èɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ

Meeting to establish the liquidation method and elect the 

liquidator or liquidators and the Fiscal Council, if so 

requested by shareholders individually or jointly 

representing proportionate interest in the shares as 

prescribed by law or the CVM rules, including as to 

applicable formalities, and to determine their responsibilities 

and set their compensation. 

 

CHAPTER XI CHAPTER XI 

 

SELF-REGULATION  SELF-REGULATION   

Article 75 . Without prejudice to the responsibilities of the 

Chief Executive Officer, as established under applicable 

regulations, the activities entailing surveillance and oversight 

of (i) transactions carried out in markets managed and 

operated by BM&FBOVESPA and its subsidiaries, (ii) the 

activities of market participants holding permits for access to 

these markets; and (iii) the market organization and 

oversight activities performed by the Company and  its 

subsidiaries shall be incumbent on a subsidiary of the 

Company organized for this special purpose.  

Article 75 . Without prejudice to the responsibilities of the 

Chief Executive Officer, as established under applicable 

regulations, the activities entail ing surveillance and oversight 

of (i) transactions carried out in markets managed and 

operated by BM&FBOVESPA and its subsidiaries, (ii) the 

activities of market participants holding permits for access to 

these markets; and (iii) the market organization and 

oversight activities performed by the Company and its 

subsidiaries shall be incumbent on a subsidiary of the 

Company organized for this special purpose.  
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CHAPTER XII  CHAPTER XII  

 

ARBITRATION  ARBITRATION   

Article 76 . The Company, the shareholders, the directors and 

officers and the fiscal council members (when the Fiscal 

Council is active) are required to commit to settle by 

arbitration any and all disputes involving any of them, 

related to, or arising from the applica tion, validity, 

effectiveness, interpretation, violation and effects of violation 

of the provisions of these Bylaws, the Brazilian Corporate 

Law*, the rules and regulations of the Brazilian National 

Monetary Council, the Central Bank of Brazil and the 

Brazilian Securities Commission, the Novo Mercado Listing 

and Sanctions Regulations, the Novo Mercado Listing 

Agreement, and the Arbitration Regulation adopted by the 

Market Arbitration Chamber, as well as other rules and 

regulations applicable to the Brazilia n capital markets. Any 

arbitration proceedings will be conducted by the Market 

Arbitration Chamber (established by BM&FBOVESPA) 

under its adopted Arbitration Regulation.  

Article 76 . The Company, the shareholders, the directors and 

officers and the fiscal council members (when the Fiscal 

Council is active) are required to commit to settle by 

arbitration any and all disputes involving any of them, 

related to, or arising from the application, validity, 

effectiveness, interpretation, violation and effects of vi olation 

of the provisions of these Bylaws, the Brazilian Corporate 

Law*, the rules and regulations of the Brazilian National 

Monetary Council, the Central Bank of Brazil and the 

Brazilian Securities Commission, the Novo Mercado Listing 

and Sanctions Regulations, the Novo Mercado Listing 

Agreement, and the Arbitration Regulation adopted by the 

Market Arbitration Chamber, as well as other rules and 

regulations applicable to the Brazilian capital markets. Any 

arbitration proceedings  will be conducted by the Market 

Arbitration Chamber (established by BM&FBOVESPA) 

under its adopted Arbitration Regulation.  

 

CHAPTER XIII  CHAPTER XIII  

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS GENERAL PROVISIONS  

Article 77 . The Company shall observe the terms and 

ÊÖÕËÐÛÐÖÕÚɯ ÖÍɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ  ÎÙÌÌÔÌÕÛÚɯ ÍÐÓÌËɯ ÈÛɯ ÛÏÌɯ

"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ ÏÌÈËØÜÈÙÛÌÙÚɯ ÞÏÐÊÏɯ ËÖɯ ÕÖÛɯ ÊÖÕÍÓÐÊÛɯ ÞÐÛÏɯ ÛÏÌɯ

provisions of these Bylaws. Management shall not register 

share transfers or transfers of other securities that fail to 

Article 77 . The Company shall observe the terms and 

ÊÖÕËÐÛÐÖÕÚɯ ÖÍɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ  ÎÙÌÌÔÌÕÛÚɯ ÍÐÓÌËɯ ÈÛɯ ÛÏÌɯ

"ÖÔ×ÈÕàɀÚɯ ÏÌÈËØÜÈÙÛÌÙÚɯ ÞÏÐÊÏɯ ËÖɯ ÕÖÛɯ ÊÖÕÍÓÐÊÛɯ ÞÐÛÏɯ ÛÏÌɯ

provisions of these Bylaws. Management shall not register 

share transfers or transfers of other securities that fail to 
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comply with the terms of Shareholder Agreements and the 

/ÙÌÚÐËÌÕÛɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÕÖÛɯÐÕÊÓÜËÌɯ

votes cast that breach terms of such agreements, under item 

(k) Article 29. 

comply with the terms of  Shareholder Agreements and the 

/ÙÌÚÐËÌÕÛɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎÚɯÚÏÈÓÓɯÕÖÛɯÐÕÊÓÜËÌɯ

votes cast that breach terms of such agreements, under item 

(k) Article 29. 

Article 78 . The Company shall issue all notices, information, 

financial statements and periodical information published or 

filed with the CVM by e -mail to all shareholders registering 

for this information in writing, for a period not exceeding 

two years and indicating their e -mail address; this 

communication shall not the supersede legally -required 

publications and shall be subject to express shareholder 

waiver of any Company liability for transmission errors or 

omissions. 

Article 78 . The Company shall issue all notices, information, 

financial statements and periodical information published o r 

filed with the CVM by e -mail to all shareholders registering 

for this information in writing, for a period not exceeding 

two years and indicating their e -mail address; this 

communication shall not the supersede legally -required 

publications and shall be subject to express shareholder 

waiver of any Company liability for transmission errors or 

omissions. 

 

Article 79 . Any omission in these Bylaws shall be corrected 

Éàɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÈÕËɯ ÎÖÝÌÙÕÌËɯ Éàɯ ÛÏÌɯ

provisions of Brazilian Corporate Law*.  

___________________ 

* References herein to Brazilian Corporate Law are to Law 

No. 6,404 dated December 15, 1976, as amended. 

** References herein to CVM are to the Brazilian Securities 

Commission (Comissão de Valores Mobiliários). 

Article 79 . Any omission in these Bylaws shall be corrected 

Éàɯ ÛÏÌɯ 2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ ,ÌÌÛÐÕÎɯ ÈÕËɯ ÎÖÝÌÙÕÌËɯ Éàɯ ÛÏÌɯ

provisions of Brazilian Corporate Law , pursuant to  the 

provisions  of the Novo Mercado Listing Rules  *. 

___________________ 

* References herein to Brazilian Corporate Law are to Law 

No. 6,404 dated December 15, 1976, as amended. 

** References herein to CVM are to the Brazilian Securities 

Commission (Comissão de Valores Mobiliários). 

To expressly set forth a provision in the 

Bylaws in the sense that when the 

2ÏÈÙÌÏÖÓËÌÙÚɀɯ,ÌÌÛÐÕg solves an 

omission, it must observe the Novo 

Mercado Listing Rules, since BVMF had 

adhered to this listing segment.  

 

 

 


